GEOMETRY OF POLYNOMIALS

By MORRIS MARDEN



MATHEMATICAL SURVEYS AND MONOGRAPHS

NUMBER 3

Published by the American Mathematical Society

MATHEMATICAL SURVEYS · Number 3

GEOMETRY OF POLYNOMIALS

BY MORRIS MARDEN

AMERICAN MATHEMATICAL SOCIETY Providence, Rhode Island 1966 Copyright © 1949, 1966 by the American Mathematical Society

First edition: 1949 Second edition: 1966

Library of Congress Catalog Number: 66-20882

Printed in the United States of America

All rights reserved except those granted to the United States Government. Otherwise, this book, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form without permission of the publishers *To* MIRIAM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prefaces	vii
ABBREVIATIONS	xiii

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1. Sc	Some basic theorems	
2. T	The zeros of the derivative	
3. Pl	Physical interpretations	
4. G	Geometric interpretation	
5. Fi	Function-theoretic interpretations. Infrapo	ynomials 13

CHAPTER II

THE CRITICAL POINTS OF A POLYNOMIAL

6.	The convex hull of critical points	21
7.	The critical points of a real polynomial	25
8.	Some generalizations	29
9.	Polynomial solutions of Lamé's differential equation	36

CHAPTER III

INVARIANTIVE FORMULATION

10.	The derivative under linear transformations	43
11.	Covariant force fields	45
12.	Circular regions	48
13.	Zeros of the polar derivative	49
14.	Generalization to abstract spaces	55

CHAPTER IV

Composite Polynomials

15.	Apolar polynomials	60
16.	Applications	65
17.	Linear combinations of polynomials	74
18.	Combinations of a polynomial and its derivatives	81

CHAPTER V

The Critical Points of a Rational Function Which Has Its Zeros and Poles in Prescribed Circular Regions

19.	A two-circle theorem for polynomials	89
20.	Two-circle theorems for rational functions	93
21.	The general case	96
22.	Some important special cases	102

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER VI

THE CRITICAL POINTS OF A POLYNOMIAL WHICH HAS ONLY SOME PRESCRIBED ZEROS

23.	Polynomials with two given zeros	107
24.	Mean-Value Theorems	110
25.	Polynomials with p known zeros	113
26.	Alternative treatment	118

CHAPTER VII

BOUNDS FOR THE ZEROS AS FUNCTIONS OF ALL THE COEFFICIENTS

27.	The moduli of the zeros	122
28.	The p zeros of smallest modulus	128
29.	Refinement of the bounds	130
30.	Applications	133
31.	Matrix methods	139

CHAPTER VIII

Bounds for p Zeros as Functions of p + 1 Coefficients

32.	Construction of bounds	147
33.	Further bounds	151
34.	Lacunary polynomials	156
35.	Other bounds for lacunary polynomials	163

CHAPTER IX

THE NUMBER OF ZEROS IN A HALF-PLANE OR A SECTOR

36.	Dynamic stability	166
37.	Cauchy indices	168
38.	Sturm sequences	171
39.	Determinant sequences	174
40.	The number of zeros with negative real parts	179
41.	The number of zeros in a sector	189

CHAPTER X

THE NUMBER OF ZEROS IN A GIVEN CIRCLE

 42. An algorithm	194 198 201
Bibliography	203 _. 207
Index	241

PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

Seventeen years have passed since the manuscript for the first edition of this book was submitted to the American Mathematical Society. The preparation of a new manuscript has presented a welcome opportunity to try to improve the first edition by rewriting and expanding some of its material, by eliminating known misprints and errors (with however the pious hope of not introducing too many new ones) and by including new material developed during the past seventeen years. It has also led to the replacement of the first edition's title, *The Geometry of the Zeros of a Polynomial in a Complex Variable*, by a simpler, more convenient one, *Geometry of Polynomials*.

For a subject about 150 years old, the analytic theory of polynomials has continued to show a surprising degree of vitality. A superficial measure of this is the extent to which our bibliography has had to be enlarged. Over 300 new titles have been added to the ones given in the first edition. These include a new, seventy-six page survey [Specht 7] written as part of the revised *Enzyklopädie der Mathematischen Wissenschaften*.

The new material has been incorporated into the text and into the exercises. Particularly significant is the new material on infrapolynomials beginning with sec. 5, on abstract polynomials beginning with sec. 14, and on matrix methods beginning with sec. 31.

The author wishes to express his appreciation to those who have offered corrections and suggestions regarding the first edition and to the following who generously read all or part of the new manuscript: Dr. Oved Shisha of the Wright Patterson A.F.B. Aerospace Research Laboratory, Professor Hans Schneider of the University of Wisconsin at Madison, Professor Robert Vermes of McGill University, and Mr. G. M. Shah of the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. He also wishes to thank the American Mathematical Society for authorizing the publication of this second edition and the Society's editorial staff, (Miss Ellen Swanson, Mrs. Patricia Wolf, Mrs. Fannie S. Balsama) for the patience and care with which they have processed the manuscript. Finally, he gratefully acknowledges the support given him by the National Science Foundation through the grants G-16315 and GP-2571.

MORRIS MARDEN

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee December 6, 1965.

PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION

The subject treated in this book is sometimes called the Analytic Theory of Polynomials or the Analytic Theory of Equations. The word analytic is intended to suggest a study of equations from a non-algebraic standpoint. Since, however, the point of view is largely that of the geometric theory of functions of a complex variable, we have preferred to use the title of the Geometry of the Zeros of a Polynomial in a Complex Variable.

The connection of our subject with the geometric theory of functions of a complex variable becomes clear when we examine the type of problems treated in the subject and the type of methods used in solving these problems.

The problems center very largely about the study of the zeros of a polynomial f(z) as functions of various parameters. The parameters are usually the coefficients of f(z), or the zeros or the coefficients of some related polynomial g(z). Regarded as points in the complex plane, the parameters are allowed to vary within certain prescribed regions. The corresponding locus R of the zeros of f(z) is then to be determined. The locus R may consist of several non-overlapping regions R_1, R_2, \dots, R_p . If so, we might ask how many zeros are contained in each R_k or in a specified subset of the R_k or, conversely, what subset of the R contains a prescribed number of zeros of f(z). It may happen that the determination of the exact locus R may be too difficult, too complicated, or for some reason unnecessary. If so, we may wish to replace R by a simpler region S containing R. If for example S is chosen as a circle with center at the origin, its radius would of course furnish an upper bound to the moduli of the zeros of f(z).

We may consider these questions regarding the locus R as pertaining to the geometric theory of functions for at least two reasons. First, we recognize that they are essentially questions concerning the mapping properties of the zeros viewed as analytic functions of the given parameters. Secondly, we recognize that, in determining the zeros of a polynomial f(z), we are finding the A-points of the polynomial g(z) = f(z) + A; that is, the points where the polynomial g(z) assumes a given value A. In other words, we may regard our problems as instances of the general problem of the value distribution of analytic functions. In fact, the solution to our problem may contribute to the solution of the general problem. For, if G(z) is an arbitrary analytic function, we may be able to construct a sequence of polynomials $F_n(z)$ which in some region R converge uniformly to the function F(z) = G(z) - A; the zeros of F(z), that is, the A-points of G(z), may be then sought in R as the limit points of the zeros of the $F_n(z)$.

Our methods for investigating these questions will involve mostly the geometric operations with complex numbers and certain principles which are based upon these operations and which are stated in Sec. 1. Among these is the principle that a sum of vectors cannot vanish if the vectors are all drawn from a point O on a line L to points all on the same side of L. Among these also is the so-called Principle of Argument and its corollaries such as the Rouché Theorem, the Cauchy Index Theorem, the theorem on the continuity of the zeros and the Hurwitz Theorem. Thus, due to the nature of not only its problems but also its methods, our subject may be considered as belonging to the geometric theory of functions.

Historically speaking, our subject dates from about the time when the geometric representation of complex numbers was introduced into mathematics. The first contributors to the subject were Gauss and Cauchy.

Incidental to his proofs of the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra (which might also be regarded as a part of our subject), Gauss showed that a polynomial $f(z) = z^n + A_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + A_n$ has no zeros outside certain circles |z| = R. In the case that the A_i are all real, he showed in 1799 that $R = \max(1, 2^{1/2}S)$ where S is the sum of the positive A_i and he showed in 1816 that $R = \max(2^{1/2} n |A|)^{1/k}$, $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$, whereas in the case of arbitrary, real or complex A_i , he showed in 1849 [Gauss 2] that R may be taken as the positive root of the equation $z^n - 2^{1/2}(|A_1| z^{n-1} + \cdots + |A_n|) = 0$. As a further indication of Gauss' interest in the location of the complex zeros of polynomials, we have his letter to Schumacher [Gauss 1, vol. X, pt. 1 p. 130, pt. 2 pp. 189-191] dated April 2, 1833, in which he tells of having written enough upon that topic to fill several volumes, but unfortunately the only results he subsequently published are those in Gauss [2]. The statement of his important result (our Th. (3,1)) on the mechanical interpretation of the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial comes to us only by way of a brief entry which he made presumably about 1836 in a notebook otherwise devoted to astronomy.

Cauchy also added much of value to our subject. About 1829 he derived for the moduli of the zeros of a polynomial more exact bounds than those given by Gauss. We shall describe these bounds in Sec. 27. To him we also owe the *Theory of Indices* (about 1837) as well as the even more fundamental *Principle* of Argument. (See Secs. 1 and 37.)

Since the days of Gauss and Cauchy, many other mathematicians have contributed to the further growth of the subject. In part this development resulted from the efforts to extend from the real domain to the complex domain the familiar theorems of Rolle, Descartes and Sturm. In part, also, it was stimulated by the discovery, in the general theory of functions of a complex variable, of such theorems as the Picard Theorem, theorems which had no previous counterpart in the domain of real variables. In view of the many as yet unsettled questions, our subject continues to be in an active state of development.

The subject has been partially surveyed in the addresses delivered before various learned societies by Curtiss [2], Van Vleck [4], Kempner [7], and Marden [9]. Parts of the subject have been treated in Loewy [1], in Pólya-Szegö [1, vol. 2, pp. 55-65, 242-252] and in Bauer-Bieberbach [1, pp. 187-192, 204-220].

The most comprehensive treatment to date has been Dieudonné [11], a seventyone page monograph devoted exclusively to our subject.

Though very excellent, these surveys have been handicapped by a lack of the space required for an adequate treatment of the subject. There still remains the need for a detailed exposition which would bring together results at present scattered throughout the mathematical journals and which would endeavor to unify and to simplify both the results and the methods of treatment.

The present book is an attempt to fill this need. In it an effort will be made to present the subject as completely as possible within the allotted space. Some of the results which could not be included in the main text have been listed as exercises, with occasional hints as to how they may be derived by use of the material in the main text. In addition, our bibliography refers each listed paper to the section of our text containing the material most closely allied to that in the paper, whether or not an actual reference to that paper is made in our text.

It is hoped that this book will serve the present and prospective specialist in the field by acquainting him with the current state of knowledge in the various phases of the subject and thus by helping him to avoid in the future the duplication of results which has occurred all too frequently in the past. It is hoped also that this book will serve the applied mathematician and engineer who need to know about the distribution of the zeros of polynomials when dealing with such matters as the formulation of stability criteria. Finally, it is hoped that this book will serve the general mathematical reader by introducing him to some relatively new, interesting and significant material of geometric nature—material which, though derived by essentially elementary methods, is not readily available elsewhere.

In closing, the author wishes to express his deep gratitude to Professor Joseph L. Walsh of Harvard University for having initiated the author into this field and for having encouraged his further development in it; also, for having made many helpful criticisms and suggestions concerning the present manuscript. The author wishes to acknowledge his indebtedness to The University of Wisconsin in Milwaukee for providing the assistance of Francis J. Stern in typing the manuscript and of Richard E. Barr, Jr. in drawing most of the accompanying figures; also his indebtedness to his colleagues at Madison for the opportunity of giving there, from February to June 1948, a course of lectures based upon the material in this book. Last but not least, the author wishes to thank the American Mathematical Society for granting him the privilege of publishing this manuscript in the Mathematical Surveys Series.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin November 1, 1947 and October 1, 1948.

MORRIS MARDEN

ABBREVIATIONS

eq. (m, n)	The equality given in the <i>n</i> th formula of section <i>m</i> .
ineq. (m, n)	The inequality given in the n th formula of section m .
Ex. (m, n)	The n th exercise given at the close of section m .
Fig. (<i>m</i> , <i>n</i>)	The nth figure accompanying section m.
Th. (<i>m</i> , <i>n</i>)	The <i>n</i> th theorem in section <i>m</i> .
Cor. (<i>m</i> , <i>n</i>)	A corollary to Th. (m, n)
Lem. (<i>m</i> , <i>n</i>)	A lemma used in proving Th. (m, n) . If several corollaries or lemmas go with Th. (m, n) , they are distinguished by use of a letter written following the number n . Thus, Cor. $(2, 3b)$ signifies the second corollary to Th. $(2, 3)$.
C(n, m)	The binomial coefficient $n!/m!(n-m)!$.
sg x	Sign of real number x; 1, 0, or -1 according as $x > 0$, $x = 0$, or $x < 0$.
$\Re(z)$	Real part of the complex number $z = x + iy$.
$\Im(z)$	Imaginary part of the complex number $z = x + iy$.
arg z	Argument (amplitude, phase angle) of z.
ž	x - iy, conjugate imaginary of z.
$f^{(k)}(z)$	kth derivative of $f(z)$; exc. $f'(z)$, $f''(z)$, $f'''(z)$ for $k = 1, 2, 3$.
∂ <i>R</i>	Boundary of the region R.
deg f	Degree of the polynomial f.
Smith [n] or [Smith n] Smith-Jones [n] or	The <i>n</i> th article listed under the name of Smith in the bibliography.
[Smith-Jones n]	The <i>n</i> th publication listed in the bibliography under the names of the joint authors Smith and Jones.

.

.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1. Some basic theorems. Before proceeding to the study of various specific problems connected with the zeros of polynomials, we shall find it useful to consider certain general theorems to which we shall make frequent reference.

The first of these theorems provides an intuitively obvious sufficient condition for the nonvanishing of a sum of complex numbers. It requires that each term in the sum be a vector drawn from the origin to a point on the same side of some line through the origin. This theorem may be stated as follows.

THEOREM (1,1). If each complex number w_i , $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$, has the properties that $w_i \neq 0$ and

(1,1)
$$\gamma \leq \arg w_j < \gamma + \pi, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, p,$$

where γ is a real constant, then their sum $w = \sum_{i=1}^{p} w_i$ cannot vanish.

In proving Th. (1,1), we begin with the case $\gamma = 0$ when the w_i are vectors drawn from the origin to points on the positive axis of reals or in the upper half-plane. If arg $w_i = 0$ for all j, then $\Re(w_j) > 0$ for all j and hence $\Re(w) > 0$. If arg $w_j \neq 0$ for some value of j, then $\Im(w_i) > 0$ for that j and hence $\Im(w) > 0$. Thus, if $\gamma = 0, w \neq 0.$

In the case that $\gamma \neq 0$, we may consider the quantities $w'_i = e^{-\gamma_i} w_i$. These satisfy ineq. (1,1) with $\gamma = 0$ and consequently their sum w' does not vanish. As $w' = e^{-\gamma_i w}$, it follows that $w \neq 0$.

This proof establishes not merely that $w \neq 0$, but also the following. The point w lies inside the convex sector consisting of the origin and all the points zfor which $\gamma \leq \arg z \leq \gamma + \delta$, $\delta < \pi$, if all the points w_i lie in the same sector. Our second theorem expresses the so-called Principle of Argument.

THEOREM (1,2). Let f(z) be analytic interior to a simple closed Jordan curve C and continuous and different from zero on C. Let K be the curve described in the w-plane by the point w = f(z) and let $\Delta_C \arg f(z)$ denote the net change in $\arg f(z)$ as the point z traverses C once over in the counterclockwise direction. Then the number p of zeros of f(z) interior to C, counted with their multiplicities, is

(1,2)
$$p = (1/2\pi) \Delta_C \arg f(z).$$

That is, it is the net number of times that K winds about the point w = 0.

We shall prove Th. (1,2) only in the case that f(z) is a polynomial. If z_1 , z_2 , \cdots , z_p denote the zeros of f(z) inside C and z_{p+1} , z_{p+2} , \cdots , z_n denote those outside C, then

$$f(z) = a_n(z - z_1) \cdots (z - z_p)(z - z_{p+1}) \cdots (z - z_n)$$

arg $f(z) = \arg a_n + \sum_{j=1}^p \arg (z - z_j) + \sum_{j=p+1}^n \arg (z - z_j).$

As the point z describes C counterclockwise (see Fig. (1,1)), $\arg(z - z_j)$ increases by 2π when $1 \leq j \leq p$, but has a zero net change when $p < j \leq n$. This fact leads at once to eq. (1,2).



FIG. (1,1)

As is well known, eq. (1,2) may be written as

(1,2)'
$$p = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C [f'(z)/f(z)] dz$$

when there is added to Th. (1,2) the hypothesis that C be a regular curve.

From Th. (1,2) we shall next derive the important

ROUCHÉ'S THEOREM (Th. (1,3)). If P(z) and Q(z) are analytic interior to a simple closed Jordan curve C and if they are continuous on C and

$$|P(z)| < |Q(z)|, \qquad z \in C,$$

then the function F(z) = P(z) + Q(z) has the same number of zeros interior to C as does Q(z) [Rouché 1].

For this purpose, we shall write

(1,4)
$$F(z) = wQ(z), \quad w = 1 + [P(z)/Q(z)].$$

If q denotes the number of zeros of Q(z) in C, then according to Th. (1,2)

(1,5)
$$\Delta_C \arg Q(z) = 2\pi q.$$

Since |P(z)/Q(z)| < 1 on C, the point w defined in eqs. (1,4) describes (see Fig. (1,2)) a closed curve Γ which lies interior to the circle with center at w = 1 and radius 1. Thus, point w remains always in the right half-plane. The net change



FIG. (1,2)

in arg w as w varies on Γ is therefore zero. This means according to eqs. (1,4) and (1,5) that $\Delta_C \arg F(z) = \Delta_C \arg w + \Delta_C \arg Q(z) = 2\pi q$

and according to Th. (1,2) that F(z) has also q zeros in C.

We shall now apply Rouche's Theorem to a proposition which we shall often use either explicitly or implicitly. It is the proposition that the zeros of a polynomial are continuous functions of the coefficients of the polynomial. In more precise language, it may be stated as

THEOREM (1,4). Let

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n = a_n \prod_{j=1}^p (z - z_j)^{m_j}, \qquad a_n \neq 0,$$

$$F(z) = (a_0 + \epsilon_0) + (a_1 + \epsilon_1)z + \dots + (a_{n-1} + \epsilon_{n-1})z^{n-1} + a_n z^n$$

and let

(1,6)
$$0 < r_k < \min |z_k - z_j|, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, k - 1, k + 1, \cdots, p.$$

There exists a positive number ϵ such that, if $|\epsilon_i| \leq \epsilon$ for $i = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$, then F(z) has precisely m_k zeros in the circle C_k with center at z_k and radius r_k .

To prove Th. (1,4), we have only to note (Bieberbach [1, p. 35]) that on C_k the polynomial

$$\zeta(z) = \epsilon_0 + \epsilon_1 z + \cdots + \epsilon_{n-1} z^{n-1}$$

has the property

$$|\zeta(z)| \leq \epsilon M_k, \qquad M_k = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (r_k + |z_k|)^j;$$

whereas on C_k

$$|f(z)| \ge |a_n| r_k^{m_k} \prod_{j=1, j \ne k}^p (|z_j - z_k| - r_k)^{m_j} = \delta_k > 0.$$

If we choose $\epsilon < \delta_k/M_k$, we have the relation $|\zeta(z)| < |f(z)|$ on C_k . This means according to Rouché's Theorem that F(z) has the same number of zeros in C_k as does f(z). Since ineq. (1,6) ensures that the only zero of f(z) in C_k is the one of multiplicity m_k at z_k , we see that F(z) has precisely m_k zeros in C_k .

For other proofs of Th. (1,4) and similar theorems, the reader is referred to Weber [1], Coolidge [1], Maluski [1], Cippola [1], Krawtchouk [1], Van der Waerden [1], Ostrowski [1, pp. 209–219], Kneser [1], and Iglisch [1].

Th. (1,4) may be regarded as a special case of the

HURWITZ THEOREM (Th. (1,5)). Let $f_n(z)$ $(n = 1, 2, \dots)$ be a sequence of functions which are analytic in a region R and which converge uniformly to a function $f(z) \neq 0$ in every closed subregion of R. Let ζ be an interior point of R. If ζ is a limit point of the zeros of the $f_n(z)$, then ζ is a zero of f(z). Conversely, if ζ is an m-fold zero of f(z), every sufficiently small neighborhood K of ζ contains exactly m zeros (counted with their multiplicities) of each $f_n(z)$, $n \geq N(K)$ [Hurwitz 1].

To prove Th. (1,5), let us first assume that $f(\zeta) \neq 0$. Since f(z) is analytic in R, it can have only a finite number of zeros in R. We may then choose a positive ρ such that $f(z) \neq 0$ (in and) on the circle K: $|z - \zeta| = \rho$. Let us set $\epsilon = \min|f(z)|$ for z on K. Since the $f_n(z)$ converge to f(z) uniformly in and on K, we can find a positive integer N = N(K) such that $|f_n(z) - f(z)| < \epsilon$ for all z in and on K and all $n \ge N$. Consequently, $|f_n(z) - f(z)| < |f(z)|$ on K and, by Rouché's Theorem, the sum function $f_n(z) = [f_n(z) - f(z)] + f(z)$ has as many zeros in K as does f(z). Since therefore $f_n(z) \neq 0$ in K for all $n \ge N$, a point ζ at which $f(\zeta) \neq 0$ cannot be a limit point of the zeros of the $f_n(z)$.

Conversely, if we assume that ζ is an *m*-fold zero of f(z), we may again choose a positive ρ so that $f(z) \neq 0$ on K. Reasoning as in the previous paragraph, we now conclude from Rouché's Theorem that each $f_n(z)$, $n \geq N$, has precisely *m* zeros in K.

Th. (1,5), whose proof we have now completed, will provide our principal means of passing from certain theorems on the zeros of polynomials to the corresponding theorems on the zeros of entire functions and perhaps of other analytic functions.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If each of p vectors w_j drawn from the origin lies in the closed half-plane $\gamma \leq \arg w \leq \gamma + \pi$ and if at least one of them lies in the open half-plane $\gamma < \arg w < \gamma + \pi$, then the sum $w = \sum_{j=1}^{p} w_j \neq 0$.

2. Th. (1,1) and ex. (1,1) hold for convergent infinite sums $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} w_j$ in which all the w_j satisfy ineq. (1,1); also for integrals $\int_a^b w(t) dt$ in which a and b are real numbers and in which w(t) is a continuous function of the real variable t and $\gamma \leq \arg w(t) < \gamma + \pi$ for $a \leq t \leq b$.

3. Let $w = \sum_{j=1}^{p+1} w_j$. If p of the points w_j lie in the circle $|z| \leq R_0$ and the remaining point w_j lies in the annulus $R_1 \leq |z| \leq R_2$, where $R_1 > pR_0$, then the point w lies in the annulus $R_1 - pR_0 \leq |z| \leq R_2 + pR_0$. Hence $w \neq 0$.

4. If the point z traverses a line L in a specified direction, then the net change in arg $(z - z_1)$ is π or $-\pi$ according as z_1 is to the left or to the right of L relative to the specified direction.

5. THEOREM (1,6). Let L be a line on which a given nth degree polynomial f(z) has no zeros. Let $\Delta_L \arg f(z)$ denote the net change in $\arg f(z)$ as point z traverses L in a specified direction and let p and q denote the number of zeros of f(z) to the left and to the right of this direction of L, respectively. Then

(1,7)
$$p-q = (1/\pi) \Delta_L \arg f(z)$$

and thus

(1,8)
$$p = (1/2)[n + (1/\pi) \Delta_L \arg f(z)],$$

(1,9)
$$q = (1/2)[n - (1/\pi) \Delta_L \arg f(z)].$$

6. The polynomial $g(z) = z^n + b_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + b_n$ has at least *m* zeros in an arbitrary neighborhood of the point z = c if $|g^{(k)}(c)| \leq \epsilon$ for $k = 0, 1, \cdots, m-1$ and for ϵ a sufficiently small positive number [Kneser 1, Iglisch 1]. Hint: Use Rouché's Theorem.

7. Rouché's Theorem is valid when $|P(z)| \leq |Q(z)|$ for $z \in C$ provided $F(z) = P(z) + Q(z) \neq 0$ for $z \in C$.

8. Rouché's Theorem is valid when C is the circle |z| = 1 and when $|P(z)| \leq |Q(z)|$ on C, provided that at each zero Z of F(z) on C the function $R(z) = \log (Q(z)/P(z))$ has the properties $R'(Z) \neq 0$, $\Re(ZR'(Z)) < 0$, $\Im(ZR'(Z)) = 0$ [Lipka 3].

9. Let C be a closed Jordan curve inside which P(z) and Q(z) are analytic. On C let P(z) and Q(z) be continuous, $Q(z) \neq 0$ and $\Re[P(z)/Q(z)] > 0$. Then inside C, P(z) has the same number of zeros as does Q(z).

10. Rouché's Theorem (1,3) follows from the continuity of the zeros of $F(z) = \lambda P(z) + Q(z)$ as functions of λ . Hint: Show that no zero of f may cross C as λ increases continuously from 0 to 1.

11. In $F(z) = 1 + a_1 z + b_2 z^2 + \cdots + b_n z^n$, the quantities n, b_2, b_3, \cdots, b_n may be so determined that all the zeros of F lie on the unit circle. Hint: Choose n

so that $|a_1| < n$ and choose the zeros ζ_j of $G(z) = z^n F(1/z)$ so that $|\zeta_j| = 1$ for all j, and so that the centroid of set $(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_n)$ is at $(-a_1/n)$.

12. Let the interior of a piccewise regular curve C contain the origin O and be star-shaped relative to O. (See sec. 8.) If a_1, a_2, \dots, a_m are given in

$$F(z) = 1 + a_1 z + \dots + a_m z^m + b_{m+1} z^{m+1} + \dots + b_n z^n,$$

then $n, b_{m+1}, b_{m+2}, \dots, b_n$ may be determined so that all the zeros of F lie on C [Gavrilov 2, 4, 5], [Čebotarev 1, 2]. Hint: As in ex. (1,11), choose the ζ_j so that $z_j = 1/\zeta_j$ are points of C and so that Newton's formulas

$$s_k + s_{k-1}a_1 + \cdots + ka_k = 0$$

are satisfied by the sums s_p of the *p*th powers of the ζ_j .

13. Let $p(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} a_k z^k$, $q(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k z^k$, n > m. If, given an $\epsilon > 0$, we can find $\delta > 0$ so that $|b_k - a_k| < \delta$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, m$ and $|b_k| < \delta$ for k = m + 1, $m + 2, \dots, n$, then the zeros β_j of q may be so ordered relative to the zeros α_j of p that $|\beta_j - \alpha_j| < \epsilon$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, m$ and $|\beta_j| > 1/\epsilon$ for $j = m + 1, \dots, u$ [Zedek 1].

14. Let $f(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$, $g(z) = z^n + b_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + b_n$ with $a_n b_n \neq 0$ satisfy

$$(1,10) \qquad \qquad |(b_k/a_k) - 1| \leq \epsilon \leq 4^{-n} n^{-n}$$

for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Then the zeros y_j of g(z) may be so ordered relative to the zeros x_k of f(z) that $|(y_k/x_k) - 1| < 8n\epsilon^{1/n}$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Ostrowski 1].

15. For the f, g and ϵ in ex. (1,14), let S_k and T_k be the least positive numbers such that

$$|a_k| \leq S_k$$
, $|b_k| \leq T_k$, $S_k^2 \geq S_{k-1}S_{k+1}$, $T_k^2 \geq T_{k-1}T_{k+1}$

for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$; let $\sigma = (1 + \epsilon^{1/n})/(1 - \epsilon^{1/n})$ and let N = n or n - 1 according as n is odd or even. If instead of ineq. (1,10) we have

$$|a_k - b_k| \leq \epsilon S_k$$
, $|a_k - b_k| \leq \epsilon T_k$, $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$,

then the zeros y_i of g(z) may be so ordered relative to the zeros x_i of f(z) that

$$\sigma^{-N} \leq |y_k/x_k| \leq \sigma^N \qquad \qquad [Ostrowski 2].$$

16. If the polynomial $f(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$ has distinct zeros x_j and if $b_j(w)$ are continuous and $b_j(w) = a_j + o(1)$ in sector $S = \{w: \alpha \leq \arg w \leq \beta, |w| > R\}$ for $j = 1, 2, \cdots, n$, then the zeros $y_k(w)$ of the polynomial $g(z, w) = z^n + b_1(w)z^{n-1} + \cdots + b_n(w)$ may be so paired with the x_j that $y_j = x_j + o(1)$ in S for $j = 1, 2, \cdots, n$ [Schumacher 1]. Hint: Use eq. (1,2)'.

2. The zeros of the derivative. Mindful of the importance of Rolle's Theorem in the theory of functions of a real variable, we shall begin our detailed treatment

PHYSICAL INTERPRETATIONS

of the zeros of polynomials in a complex variable by studying the location of the zeros of the derivative f'(z) of the polynomial

(2,1)
$$f(z) = (z - z_1)^{m_1} (z - z_2)^{m_2} \cdots (z - z_p)^{m_p}, \qquad n = \sum_{i=1}^r m_i,$$

in relation to the distinct zeros z_i of f(z).

Since f'(z) may be written as

$$f'(z) = f(z)[f'(z)/f(z)] = f(z)d[\log f(z)]/dz,$$

its zeros fall into two classes. First, there are the points z_j for which $m_j > 1$; as zeros of f'(z), they have the individual multiplicities of $m_j - 1$ and the total multiplicity of n - p. Secondly, there are the p - 1 zeros of the logarithmic derivative

(2,2)
$$F(z) = d[\log f(z)]/dz$$

In most of our problems, we shall prescribe the location of the zeros of f(z) and consequently we shall know *a priori* the location of the first class of zeros of f'(z). It will remain for us to determine the location of the second class of zeros of f'(z), namely those of F(z). From eqs. (2,1) and (2,2), we see that these are the zeros of the function

(2,3)
$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_j}{z - z_j}$$

in which the m_i are positive integers.

In order to gain some insight into the problems about to be considered, we shall now interpret the zeros of F from the standpoint of physics, geometry and function theory. Since our physical and geometrical interpretations will not use the fact that the m_i are positive integers, we shall express these interpretations as theorems concerning the zeros of a rational function F(z) = g(z)/f(z) whose decomposition into partial fractions has the form of eq. (2,3) with the m_i as arbitrary real constants. In our function-theoretic interpretation, however, we shall find it convenient to restrict the m_i to be positive constants.

3. Physical interpretations. In place of F(z), let us introduce its conjugate imaginary

(3,1)
$$\bar{F}(\bar{z}) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j} w_{j}, \qquad w_{j} = 1/(\bar{z} - \bar{z}_{j}).$$

If we write $z - z_j = \rho_j e^{i\phi_j}$, then the *j*th term in eq. (3,1) is

$$m_j w_j = m_j (1/\rho_j) e^{i \phi_j}.$$

It may hence be represented by a vector having the direction from z_i to z and having the magnitude of m_i times the reciprocal of the distance from z_i to z. In other words, the *j*th term may be regarded as the force with which a fixed mass (or electric charge) m_i at z_i repels (attracts if $m_i < 0$) a movable unit mass (or charge) at z, the law of repulsion being the inverse distance law.

An equivalent interpretation may be made in terms of masses repelling according to the inverse-square law. For this purpose let us recall a result derived in books on Newtonian Potential Theory [O. D. Kellogg, *Potential theory*, Springer, Berlin, 1929, p. 10, ex. 5]. If an infinite, thin rod L_j of linear mass (or charge) density $m_j/2$ passes through the point z_j at right angles to the z-plane, the resultant force upon a unit particle at z due to the particles of L_j repelling according to the inversesquare law is a force directed along the line from z_j to z and inversely proportional to the distance from z_j to z. This means that alternatively we may interpret the conjugate imaginary of F(z) as the resultant force at z, in the Newtonian field due to a system of n infinite thin rods (line charges) L_j at z_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$.

Still another interpretation is that $m_j w_j$ is the velocity vector in the twodimensional flow of an incompressible fluid due to a source of strength m_j at z_j (sink if $m_j < 0$). Thus $F(\bar{z})$ is the resultant velocity vector in a two-dimensional flow due to the systems of sources of strength m_j at the points z_j [L. M. Milne-Thomson, *Theoretical hydrodynamics*, Macmillan, New York, 1955, pp. 197-8].

Corresponding to each of these three physical interpretations of the function F(z), we have a physical interpretation of the zeros of F(z). In the first two cases, these zeros are the positions of equilibrium in the given force fields. In the third case, these zeros are the positions at which the velocity vanishes; that is, they are the so-called *stagnation points*.

We may summarize these results by stating two theorems. In the case that the m_j are positive integers, the first theorem is essentially due to Gauss [1], having been stated by him as a theorem on the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial. (Cf. our Preface.)

THEOREM (3,1). The zeros of the function $F(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} m_i/(z - z_i)$ with all m_i real are the points of equilibrium in the field of force due to the system of p masses (point charges) m_i at the fixed points z_i repelling a movable unit mass at z according to the inverse distance law.

THEOREM (3,2). The zeros of F(z) are the equilibrium points in the Newtonian field due to the system of p infinite, thin rods (line charges) of mass (or charge) density $m_j/2$ at the points z_j . They are also the stagnation points in the twodimensional flow of an incompressible fluid due to p sources of strength m_j at the points z_j .

A further interpretation concerns Green's function G(x, y), with pole at infinity, for an infinite region R bounded by a finite set B of Jordan curves. The function G(x, y) is the potential of a charge induced on a grounded cylindrical sheet conductor whose cross-section is B, by a unit charge at infinity.

If B is the lemniscate $|f(z)| = \rho$, $\rho > 0$, where f is given by eq. (2,1), then $G(x, y) = (1/n) \log |f(z)/\rho|$. This is the real part of the function

(3,2)
$$\Phi(z) = (1/n) \log [f(z)/\rho].$$

The equilibrium points in this potential field are the *critical points* of G(x, y). These points are the zeros of the derivative of $\Phi(z)$; that is, *the zeros of* F(z) given by eq. (2,3).

More generally [Walsh 20, p. 246], we may write G as

(3,3)
$$G(x, y) = \kappa + \int_{B} \log |z - t| d\mu(t),$$

 $d\mu = (1/2\pi)(\partial G/\partial v) ds$, where $\kappa = \text{constant}$ and $d\mu > 0$ if v is taken as the normal to B pointing into R. This G is the real part of the function

(3,4)
$$\Phi(z) = k + \int_B \log \left(z - t \right) d\mu(t)$$

whose critical points are the zeros of the function

(3,5)
$$F(z) = \int_{B} \frac{d\mu}{z-t}.$$

Since this function has the same form as eq. (2,3), the results on the zeros of F in eq. (2,3) may carry over to form (3,5) when these results are independent of p.

EXERCISE. Prove the following concerning F in eq. (2,3).

1. Each finite zero Z of F(z) is the centroid of a system of p particles of mass $\mu_j = m_j/|Z - z_j|^2$ situated at point z_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$.

4. Geometric interpretation. Let us begin with the case p = 3 when eq. (2,3) becomes

(4,1)
$$F(z) = \frac{m_1}{z - z_1} + \frac{m_2}{z - z_2} + \frac{m_3}{z - z_3}$$

We note that F(z) has two zeros z'_1 and z'_2 , unless $n = m_1 + m_2 + m_3 = 0$ when it has only one finite zero z'_1 . Hence, if $n \neq 0$,

(4,2)
$$F(z) = \frac{n(z-z_1')(z-z_2')}{(z-z_1)(z-z_2)(z-z_3)}$$

The location of points z'_1 , z'_2 relative to the triangle with vertices z_1 , z_2 , z_3 is specified in

THEOREM (4,1). The zeros z'_1 and z'_2 of the function $F(z) = \sum_1^3 m_j(z-z_j)^{-1}$ are the foci of the conic which touches the line segments $(z_1, z_2), (z_2, z_3)$ and (z_3, z_1) in the points ζ_3 , ζ_1 , and ζ_2 that divide these segments in the ratios $m_1:m_2, m_2:m_3$ and $m_3:m_1$, respectively. If $n = m_1 + m_2 + m_3 \neq 0$, the conic is an ellipse or hyperbola according as $nm_1m_2m_3 > 0$ or <0; whereas, if n = 0 but $v = m_1z_1 + m_2z_2 + m_3z_3 \neq 0$, the conic is a parabola whose axis is parallel to the line joining the origin to point v.



FIG. (4,1)

To prove Th. (4,1) when m_1 , m_2 , m_3 have the same sign, we shall use the wellknown property that in any ellipse E the lines from the foci to a point z_1 on or exterior to E make equal angles with the tangents drawn from z_1 to E.

Let us draw (Fig. (4,1)) the ellipse E having foci z'_1 , z'_2 and line z_1z_2 as tangent. To show line z_1z_3 to be tangent to E, let us set

$$\gamma = \arg [(z_3 - z_1)/(z_1' - z_1)], \quad \delta = \arg [(z_2' - z_1)/(z_2 - z_1)].$$

Since from eqs. (4,1) and (4,2)

$$\lim_{z \to z_1} (z - z_1)(z - z_2)(z - z_3)F(z) = m_1(z_1 - z_2)(z_1 - z_3) = n(z_1 - z_1')(z_1 - z_2'),$$

and thus from

$$\{(z_3 - z_1)/(z_1' - z_1)\}/\{(z_2' - z_1)/(z_2 - z_1)\} = n/m_1$$

it follows that

(4,3)
$$\gamma - \delta = \arg(n/m_1) = 0 \qquad \text{if } nm_1 > 0.$$

Hence, line $z_1 z_3$ is tangent to E.

Let us now show that

(4,4)
$$\zeta_3 = (m_1 z_2 + m_2 z_1)/(m_1 + m_2)$$

is the point of tangency of the line z_1z_2 to E. We may write (4,4) as

$$\frac{m_1}{\zeta_3 - z_1} + \frac{m_2}{\zeta_3 - z_2} = 0$$

so that from (4,1) and (4,2) we infer

$$F(\zeta_3) = \frac{m_3}{\zeta_3 - z_3} = \frac{n(\zeta_3 - z_1)(\zeta_3 - z_2)}{(\zeta_3 - z_1)(\zeta_3 - z_2)(\zeta_3 - z_3)}.$$

That is,

(4,5)

$$\frac{(z_1'-\zeta_3)(z_2'-\zeta_3)}{(z_1-\zeta_3)(z_2-\zeta_3)}=\frac{m_3}{n}$$

If we set

 $\alpha = \arg [(z_1' - \zeta_3)/(z_1 - \zeta_3)], \quad \beta = \arg [(z_2 - \zeta_3)/(z_2' - \zeta_3)],$

then from (4,5) we learn that

(4,6)
$$\alpha - \beta = \arg(n/m_3) = 0 \qquad \text{if } nm_3 > 0.$$

Hence, ζ_3 is the contact point of line $z_1 z_2$ with E.

Similar considerations suffice to show that lines z_2z_3 and z_3z_1 are tangent to E, respectively, at points

$$(4,7) \quad \zeta_1 = (m_2 z_3 + m_3 z_2)/(m_2 + m_3), \quad \zeta_2 = (m_3 z_1 + m_1 z_3)/(m_3 + m_1).$$

Hence, the theorem has been established when the m_i have all the same sign. The proof of Th. (4,1) in the remaining cases is left to the reader.

The theorem just established is a special case of the following:

THEOREM (4,2). The zeros of the function

(4,8)
$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_{j}}{z - z_{j}}, \qquad m_{j} real, m_{j} \neq 0,$$

are the foci of the curve of class p-1 which touches each line-segment $z_j z_k$ in a point dividing the line segment in the ratio $m_j:m_k$.

The proof of Th. (4,2) is necessarily less elementary than that of Th. (4,1). The one which follows will make use of line-co-ordinates and some abridged notation.

We may write eq. (4,8) in the form

(4,9)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_j}{tx_j + ity_j - 1} = 0, \qquad t = 1/(x + iy).$$

Let us compare (4,9) with the equation

(4,10)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_j}{\mathscr{L}_j} = 0, \qquad \mathscr{L}_j = \lambda x_j + \mu y_j - 1.$$

When cleared of fractions this equation has the form

$$(4,11) \qquad \begin{array}{l} \Phi(\mu,\lambda) \\ = m_1 \mathscr{L}_2 \mathscr{L}_3 \cdots \mathscr{L}_p + m_2 \mathscr{L}_1 \mathscr{L}_3 \cdots \mathscr{L}_p + \cdots + m_p \mathscr{L}_1 \mathscr{L}_2 \cdots \mathscr{L}_{p-1} \\ = 0 \end{array}$$

and hence represents a curve C of class p - 1. Eq. (4,9) tells us that eq. (4,10) is satisfied by the line with the co-ordinates

(4,12)
$$\lambda = 1/(x + iy), \quad \mu = i/(x + iy),$$

a line which, consequently, is tangent to curve C. Since line (4,12) is an isotropic line through point (x, y), point (x, y) must be a focus of curve C. Furthermore, the line (λ_0, μ_0) joining the two points $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2)$ satisfies simultaneously the two equations $\mathscr{L}_1 = 0$ and $\mathscr{L}_2 = 0$; viz.,

(4,13)
$$\lambda_0 x_1 + \mu_0 y_1 - 1 = 0, \quad \lambda_0 x_2 + \mu_0 y_2 - 1 = 0.$$

That is, it satisfies eq. (4,11) and is hence tangent to curve (4,11).

Now the point of contact of a tangent line (λ_0, μ_0) has the line equation

(4,14)
$$(\lambda - \lambda_0) \left(\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \lambda} \right)_0 + (\mu - \mu_0) \left(\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mu} \right)_0 = 0$$

where the subscript 0 indicates values at (λ_0, μ_0) . In view of eq. (4,11),

(4,15)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \lambda} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}_{0} = (\mathscr{L}_{3}\mathscr{L}_{4}\cdots \mathscr{L}_{p})_{0}[m_{1}x_{2} + m_{2}x_{1}],$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mu} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}_{0} = (\mathscr{L}_{3}\mathscr{L}_{4}\cdots \mathscr{L}_{p})_{0}[m_{1}y_{2} + m_{2}y_{1}].$$

On discarding the common factor in eqs. (4,15), we may write (4,14) as

(4,16)
$$\begin{aligned} & [\lambda(m_1x_2+m_2x_1)+\mu(m_1y_2+m_2y_1)] \\ & -[\lambda_0(m_1x_2+m_2x_1)+\mu_0(m_1y_2+m_2y_1)]=0. \end{aligned}$$

According to eqs. (4,13), the second bracket in (4,16) has the value $(m_1 + m_2)$ and thus (4,16) may be written in the form

$$(4,17) mmodes m_2 \mathscr{L}_1 + m_1 \mathscr{L}_2 = 0.$$

If $m_1 + m_2 \neq 0$, this clearly is a line equation for the point

$$\left(\frac{m_2x_1+m_1x_2}{m_2+m_1},\frac{m_2y_1+m_1y_2}{m_2+m_1}\right).$$

Hence, the line-segment $z_1 z_2$ has the desired properties.

In a like manner the same may be shown concerning the other line-segments $z_j z_k$, thus completing the proof of Th. (4,2).

Th. (4,2) was proved first by Siebeck [1] and later by Van den Berg [1], Vries [1], Juhel-Rénoy [1], Heawood [1], Occhipinti [1], Fujiwara [2], Linfield [1] and Haensel [1]. A proof covering only the special case p = 3, that is Th. (4,1), was given by Bôcher [2] and Grace [1] for the subcase $m_j > 0$, all *j*, and by Marden [13] for arbitrary m_j . Furthermore, Th. (4,2) has been extended to the *k*th derivative of a rational function by Fujiwara [2] and Linfield [1] and to certain entire functions

by Reutter [1]. Also, in the case p = 3 and $m_1 = m_2 = m_3 = 1$, the result has been applied by Walsh [4] to the ruler-and-compass construction of the zeros of the derivative of a cubic polynomial. More recently, proofs have been given by Jung [1] and Kuipers-Veldkamp [1].

EXERCISE. Prove the following.

1. The zeros ζ_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p-1)$ of F(z) in eq. (4,8) are such that for every k

$$\sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \arg \left(\zeta_{j} - z_{k} \right) = \sum_{j=1, j \neq k}^{p} \arg \left(z_{j} - z_{k} \right)$$

[Motzkin-Walsh 2]. Hint: Choose k = 1, $z_1 = 0$ and $\sum_{j=1}^p m_j = 1$. From (4,8) then $\zeta_1 \zeta_2 \cdots \zeta_{p-1} = m_1 z_2 z_3 \cdots z_p$.

5. Function-theoretic interpretations. Infrapolynomials. We now give two additional interpretations. The first, treated briefly, is connected with the mapping properties of polynomials and the second, discussed at greater length, is related to the minimization of certain norms on given point sets.

First, for a polynomial f let us interpret the q distinct zeros z'_i of its derivative f'

$$f'(z) = n \prod_{1}^{q} (z - z_j)^{p_j}, \qquad \sum_{1}^{q} p_j = n - 1,$$

from the point of view that f is an analytic function of the complex variable z. This means, as is well known, that w = f(z) maps any finite region R of the z-plane upon a finite region S of the w-plane, the map being conformal except at the q points z'_j . Specifically, if two curves of the z-plane intersect at z'_j at an angle of ψ , they map into two curves of the w-plane that intersect at an angle of $(p_j + 1)\psi$. For this reason the zeros of f'(z) are called the *critical points* of f(z).

To introduce our second interpretation [Marden 21], we begin by defining an infrapolynomial. Let us denote by \mathscr{P}_n : $\{z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n\}$ the class of all *n*th degree polynomials with leading coefficient one and by E a bounded set of points in the complex plane. The set E could consist of discrete points, arcs of curves, regions or a combination of these. If $p \in \mathscr{P}_n$ and $q \in \mathscr{P}_n$ with $p(z) \neq q(z)$ for $z \in E$, we say that q is an *underpolynomial* of p on E [abbreviated $q \in U(p, E)$] if

(5,1)
$$\begin{aligned} |q(z)| < |p(z)| & \text{for } z \in E, \ p(z) \neq 0, \\ q(z) = 0 & \text{for } z \in E, \ p(z) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

If, however, p has no underpolynomial on E [i.e., $U(p, E) = \emptyset$], then we say that p is an *infrapolynomial* on E [abbreviated $p \in I(E)$ or $I_n(E)$].

Among the best known infrapolynomials are polynomials which minimize certain given norms. An example is the Tchebycheff norm

(5,2)
$$||q||_{\tau} = \max_{z \in E} |q(z)|,$$

the polynomial $T_n \in \mathscr{P}_n$ such that

$$\|T_n\|_{\tau} = \min \{ \|q\|_{\tau} ; q \in \mathscr{P}_n \}$$

being called the Tchebycheff polynomial on E. For instance, when $E: -1 \leq x \leq 1$, let us verify that $T_n(z) \equiv \psi(z)$, where

$$p(z) = 2^{-n} \{ [z + (z^2 - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}]^n + [z - (z^2 - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}]^n \} = 2^{-n+1} \cos [n \arccos z].$$

Clearly, $\|\psi\|_r = |\psi(\cos k\pi/n)| = 2^{-n+1}$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, n$. If $\|q\|_r < \|\psi\|_r$ for some real $q \in \mathscr{P}_n$, then the polynomial $Q(z) = \psi(z) - q(z)$ would have alternate signs at $z = \cos(k\pi/n)$, $k = 0, 1, \dots, n$ and hence would have at least *n* real zeros, in contradiction to the fact that deg Q(z) < n. Hence, $\psi(z) \equiv T_n(z)$. Since $q \in U(\psi; E)$ implies $\|q\|_r < \|\psi\|_r$, it follows also that $T_n \in I(E)$. Thus ψ is not only the Tchebycheff polynomial on *E*, but also an infrapolynomial on *E*.

Another example is the Bessel norm defined, when E is a rectifiable curve, as $||q||_{B}$, where

(5,3)
$$(||q||_{\beta})^{k} = \int_{E} |q(z)|^{k} ds,$$

and defined by means of appropriate sums or integrals for other pointsets E. The polynomial $B_n(z)$ such that

$$\|B_n\|_{\beta} = \min \{ \|q\|_{\beta} : q \in \mathscr{P}_n \}$$

is called the Bessel polynomial of degree *n*. For instance, if k = 2 and $E: -1 \leq x \leq 1$, let us verify that $B_n(z) \equiv c_0 L_n(z)$, where L_n is the Legendre polynomial of degree *n* and $c_0 = 2^n (n!)^2 (2n!)^{-1}$. If we choose any $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$, we may write it in the form

$$q(z) = c_0 L_n(z) + c_1 L_{n-1}(z) + \cdots + c_n L_0(z).$$

Substituting this into (5,3) with k = 2, and using the orthogonal relations

$$\int_{-1}^{1} L_j(x) L_k(x) \, dx = 0 \quad \text{if } j \neq k; \qquad 2(2k+1)^{-1} \quad \text{if } j = k,$$

we find

$$(\|q\|_{\beta})^{2} = 2\sum_{j=0}^{n} |c_{j}|^{2} (2n - 2j + 1)^{-1} \ge 2c_{0}^{2} (2n + 1)^{-1} = (\|c_{0}L_{n}\|_{\beta})^{2}.$$

This establishes that $B_n(z) \equiv c_0 L_n(z)$. Since $q \in U(c_0 L_n; E)$ implies $||q||_{\beta} < ||c_0 L_n||_{\beta}$, it follows also that $c_0 L_n \in I(E)$.

In fact, if we introduce suitable weight functions into the integral (5,3) with k = 2 and $E: -1 \le x \le 1$, we obtain the other classical orthogonal polynomials. More generally, any $p \in \mathscr{P}_n$ is an infrapolynomial on E if it minimizes some "monotonically increasing norm" ||q(z)||, i.e., a norm with the property

(5,4)
$$||q(z)|| < ||p(z)||$$
 if $q \in U(p, E)$

Thus these extremal polynomials form a subclass of I(E).

We shall consider next how to construct and represent the infrapolynomials associated with a given bounded pointset E.

The simplest case is that in which $E = (z_1, z_2, \dots, z_k)$, $1 \le k \le n$. All polynomials $p(z) = (z - z_1)(z - z_2) \cdots (z - z_k) \phi(z)$, $\phi \in \mathcal{P}_{n-k}$, are clearly infrapolynomials since here p(z) = 0 for all $z \in E$. As this case is trivial, we shall assume hereafter that E contains at least n + 1 points. We have then the following:

THEOREM (5,1) [FEKETE 8]. Let (z_0, z_1, \dots, z_n) be any subset of n + 1 distinct points in E and let λ_j be any positive constants such that $\lambda_0 + \lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_n = 1$. Then $p \in I(E)$ if

(5,5)
$$p(z) = \omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\lambda_j}{z - z_j}, \qquad \omega(z) = \prod_{j=0}^{n} (z - z_j)$$

Proof. Let us suppose on the contrary that $p \notin I(E)$. Then there exists $q \in U(p, E)$. We expand p and q according to the Lagrange Interpolation Formula

(5,6)
$$p(z) = \omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)(z-z_j)}, \quad q(z) = \omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{q(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)(z-z_j)}$$

Comparison of p(z) in (5,5) and (5,6) shows that $\lambda_j = p(z_j)/\omega'(z_j)$. Since $q \in \mathscr{P}_n$, its leading coefficient is one; thus,

(5,7)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} q(z_j)/\omega'(z_j) = 1.$$
But, since $q \in U(p, E)$,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} \left| \frac{q(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)} \right| < \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left| \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)} \right| = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \lambda_j = 1,$$

which contradicts (5,7). Hence $U(p, E) = \emptyset$ and $p \in I(E)$, as was to be proved. In certain cases, Th. (5,1) has a converse which we may state as follows.

THEOREM (5,2) [FEKETE 8]. Let E be a closed bounded pointset containing at least n + 1 points. Let $p \in I_n(E)$ such that $p(z) \neq 0$ for $z \in E$. Then there exist an integer m with $n \leq m \leq 2n$, a set of positive constants λ_i with $\lambda_0 + \lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_m = 1$ and a set of m + 1 points $(z_0, z_1, \cdots, z_m) \subset E$ such that p(z) is a factor of the polynomial F(z):

(5,8)
$$F(z) = \Omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{\lambda_j}{z - z_j}, \quad \Omega(z) = \prod_{j=0}^{m} (z - z_j).$$

If E consists only of points on a line, we may take m = n.

To establish Th. (5,2) we shall need a number of lemmas. In the first we denote by \mathcal{Q}_n the class of all polynomials $a_0 z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$.

LEMMA (5,1). Let E be a closed bounded pointset. Then for a given $p \in \mathscr{P}_n$ with $p(z) \neq 0$ for $z \in E$, there exists $q \in U(p, E)$ if and only if for some $r \in \mathscr{Q}_{n-1}$

the function w = r(z)/p(z) maps E onto a pointset S whose convex hull H(S) does not contain the origin w = 0.

PROOF. If such a q exists, then

(5,9)
$$\left|\frac{p(z)-q(z)}{p(z)}-1\right| = \left|\frac{q(z)}{p(z)}\right| < 1.$$

Thus, with r(z) = p(z) - q(z), the set S and hence H(S) both lie in the disk $\Gamma: |w - 1| < 1$, and so $w = 0 \notin H(S)$.

Conversely, if, for some $r \in \mathcal{Q}_{n-1}$, H(S) does not contain w = 0, there exists a line L through w = 0 which does not intersect H(S). Thus H(S) lies in some disk

$$|w-\gamma| < |\gamma|, \qquad \gamma \neq 0.$$

This inequality implies that $w = \gamma^{-1}[r(z)/p(z)]$ lies in the disk Γ for every $z \in E$ and hence that

$$q(z) = p(z) - \gamma^{-1} r(z)$$

is an underpolynomial of p on E.

This lemma has the following counterpart in the Euclidean space of 2ndimensions.

LEMMA (5,2). Let E be a closed bounded set and let $p \in \mathcal{P}_n$ and $p(z) \neq 0$ for $z \in E$. Let Z be the corresponding 2n-dimensional set whose points ζ are expressed in the n complex valued co-ordinates $\zeta = (\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_n)$, where $\zeta_j = z^{n-j}/p(z)$ and $z \in E$. Then $p \in I(E)$ if and only if the origin lies in the convex hull H(Z) of Z.

PROOF. Using the notation of Lems. (5,1) and (5,2), we may write

$$w = \frac{r(z)}{p(z)} = \frac{c_1 z^{n-1} + c_2 z^{n-2} + \cdots + c_n}{p(z)} = c_1 \zeta_1 + c_2 \zeta_2 + \cdots + c_n \zeta_n.$$

If $p \notin I(E)$, there would exist $q \in U(p, E)$ and hence by ineq. (5,9) with $c_k = c_{k1} + ic_{k2}$ and $\zeta_k = \xi_k + i\eta_k$,

$$\Re[r(z)/p(z)] = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (c_{k1}\xi_k - c_{k2}\eta_k) > 0$$

for all $z \in E$. Thus the points ζ for all $z \in E$ lie to one side of a hyperplane through the origin and hence H(Z) does not contain the origin of 2*n*-dimensional space.

We may prove the converse statement similarly.

PROOF OF THEOREM (5,2). By Lem. (5,2), the origin is a point of H(Z) if $p \in I(E)$. Hence the origin is the centroid of m + 1 points ζ corresponding to m + 1 points $z_j \in E$, with $m \leq 2n$, according to a theorem of Carathéodory [Eggleston 1, pp. 34–38]. That is, we may find non-negative constants λ_j with $\lambda_0 + \cdots + \lambda_m = 1$ such that we have the orthogonality relations

(5,10)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \lambda_j [z_j^{n-k}/p(z_j)] = 0 \qquad (k = 1, 2, \cdots, n).$$

Writing $p(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$, multiplying the kth equation in (5,10) by a_k for each k and adding the resulting equations, we are led to the further equation

$$\sum_{j=0}^m \lambda_j \frac{[p(z_j) - z_j^n]}{p(z_j)} = 0$$

which because $\sum \lambda_i = 1$ is the same as

(5,11)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \lambda_j [z_j^n / p(z_j)] = 1.$$

The n + 1 equations (5,11) and (5,10) may be regarded as involving the m + 1 unknowns λ_i of which at least one is different from zero.

The matrix of the coefficients

$$\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{z_0^n}{p(z_0)} & \frac{z_1^n}{p(z_1)} & \dots & \frac{z_m^n}{p(z_m)} \\ \frac{z_0^{n-1}}{p(z_0)} & \frac{z_1^{n-1}}{p(z_1)} & \dots & \frac{z_m^{n-1}}{p(z_m)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \frac{1}{p(z_0)} & \frac{1}{p(z_1)} & \dots & \frac{1}{p(z_m)} \end{bmatrix}$$

has in the lower left corner a minor whose order is k + 1 and whose determinant has the value

$$\Lambda_{01\cdots k} = \frac{V(z_0, z_1, \cdots, z_k)}{p(z_0)p(z_1)\cdots p(z_k)},$$

where $V(z_0, z_1, \dots, z_k)$, as the Vandermonde determinant for the distinct numbers z_0, z_1, \dots, z_k , is different from zero.

If m < n, we may solve for the λ_j using the last *m* equations (5,10). Since these are homogeneous equations with nonvanishing determinant, all λ_j would be zero—a contradiction. Hence $m \ge n$.

If m = n, we use the m + 1 equations (5,10) and (5,11) and thus get the results

(5,12)
$$\lambda_j = (-1)^j \frac{\Lambda_{01\cdots j-1 \ j+1\cdots n}}{\Lambda_{01\cdots n}} = \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)},$$

where

$$\omega(z) = \prod_{j=0}^{n} (z - z_j).$$

Here therefore

(5,13)
$$p(z) = \omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)(z-z_j)} = \omega(z) \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\lambda_j}{z-z_j}.$$

If m > n, we solve for λ_0 , λ_1 , \cdots , λ_n in terms of λ_{n+1} , \cdots , λ_m , thus obtaining for $j = 0, 1, \cdots, n$

$$\begin{split} \lambda_j &= \Lambda_{01\cdots n}^{-1} \left\{ (-1)^j \Lambda_{01\cdots j-1 \ j+1\cdots n} - \sum_{k=n+1}^m \lambda_k \Lambda_{01\cdots j-1 \ k \ j+1\cdots n} \right\} \\ &= \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)} - \sum_{k=n+1}^m \lambda_k \frac{\omega(z_k) p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)(z_k - z_j) p(z_k)}. \end{split}$$

Hence

(5,14)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\lambda_{j}}{z-z_{j}} = \frac{p(z)}{\omega(z)} - \sum_{k=n+1}^{m} \lambda_{k} \frac{\omega(z_{k})}{p(z_{k})} \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{p(z_{j})}{\omega'(z_{j})(z_{k}-z_{j})(z-z_{j})}$$

Let

$$\omega_k(z) = \omega(z)(z-z_k) \qquad (k=n+1,\cdots,m).$$

Then

$$\omega'_k(z) = \omega'(z)(z - z_k) + \omega(z)$$

so that

$$\omega'_k(z_j) = \omega'(z_j)(z_j - z_k) \qquad (j = 0, 1, \cdots, n)$$

and

$$\omega'_k(z_k) = \omega(z_k) \qquad (k = n + 1, \cdots, m).$$

By the Lagrange Interpolation Formula

$$\frac{p(z_k)}{\omega'_k(z_k)(z-z_k)} - \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{p(z_j)}{\omega'(z_j)(z_k-z_j)(z-z_j)} = \frac{p(z)}{\omega_k(z)}.$$

Eq. (5,14) now becomes

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\lambda_j}{z-z_j} = \frac{p(z)}{\omega(z)} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{m} \lambda_k \frac{\omega(z_k)}{p(z_k)} \left\{ \frac{p(z)}{\omega_k(z)} - \frac{p(z_k)}{\omega_k'(z_k)(z-z_k)} \right\}$$
$$= \frac{p(z)}{\omega(z)} \left\{ 1 + \sum_{k=n+1}^{m} \frac{\lambda_k \omega(z_k)}{p(z_k)(z-z_k)} \right\} - \sum_{k=n+1}^{m} \frac{\lambda_k}{z-z_k}.$$

Transposing the last sum to the left side and multiplying both sides by $\Omega(z)$, we obtain

$$\Omega(z)\sum_{j=0}^{m}\frac{\lambda_j}{z-z_j}=p(z)\left\{\left[1+\sum_{k=n+1}^{m}\frac{\lambda_k\omega(z_k)}{p(z_k)(z-z_k)}\right]\prod_{k=n+1}^{m}(z-z_k)\right\}.$$

This proves that p(z) is a factor of F(z) as required for Th. (5,2).

Extension of Th. (5,2) is possible to an infrapolynomial p which has as zeros the pointset $K: \zeta_1, \zeta_2, \cdots, \zeta_k$ on E, where $1 \leq k < n$. If we write $p(z) = p_1(z)p_2(z)$, where $p_1(z) = (z - \zeta_1)(z - \zeta_2) \cdots (z - \zeta_k)$ and where $p_2 \in \mathscr{P}_{n-k}$, then $p_2 \in I_{n-k}(E)$. For, if there exists $q_2 \in U(p_2, E)$, then $(p_1q_2) \in U(p, E)$, a contradiction. Thus, if in Th. (5,2) p has the zeros $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \cdots, \zeta_k \in E$, then p has the representation

$$p(z) = (z - \zeta_1) \cdots (z - \zeta_k) p_2(z),$$

where $p_2(z)$ is a factor of a polynomial of the form (5,8) with $n - k \leq m \leq 2(n - k)$.

[1]

REMARKS ON THS. (5,1) AND (5,2). These theorems say in effect that the zeros of function F(z) given by eq. (2,3) are the zeros of an infrapolynomial on a set E which includes the points z_j . Comparing eqs. (5,5) and (5,8) with eq. (2,3), we see that the pointset E and the zeros of an infrapolynomial on E play roles respectively like those of the zeros of a given polynomial and the zeros of its derivative. Therefore we may expect that certain theorems on the relative location of the zeros of a polynomial and those of its derivative will lead to analogous theorems about the relative location of a pointset E and the zeros of any infrapolynomial on E, and vice-versa.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If f(z) is an *n*th degree polynomial and f'(z) its derivative, the multiple points of each curve $\Re[f(z)] = a$, $\Im[f(z)] = b$, |f(z)| = c, arg f(z) = d, where a, b, c and d are constants, lie at the zeros z'_i of f'(z).

2. In ex. (5,1) let K be the arc z_1z_2 of curve $\Im[f] = 0$ joining a pair z_1 , z_2 of zeros of f. Then at least one zero of f' lies on K [Liouville 1].

3. If a polynomial p has a zero at a point z_0 outside H(E), the convex hull of a closed, bounded pointset E, then p is not an infrapolynomial on E. Hint: Show that there exists at least one point $z_1 \in H(E)$ such that $|z - z_1| < |z - z_0|$ for all $z \in E$ and that $q \in U(E, p)$ for $q(z) = p(z)(z - z_1)/(z - z_0)$ [Fejér 3]. Show that an analogous result holds in three dimensions [Shisha 1].

4. If *E* is a circle |z| = 1 or the disk $|z| \leq 1$, then $p(z) = z^n$ is an infrapolynomial on *E*. Hint: Show for fixed $z_1, |z_1| \leq 1$,

$$\max_{|z| \le 1} |z - z_1| \le 1 + |z_1| \text{ and } \min_{|z_1| \le 1} (1 + |z_1|) = 1.$$

5. Let $p \in I_n(E)$ and $p(z) = p_1(z)p_2(z)$, where $p_1(z)$ and $p_2(z)$ are polynomials of degrees n_1 and $n_2 = n - n_1$. Then $p_1 \in I_{n_1}(E)$ and $p_2 \in I_{n_2}(E)$ [Motzkin-Walsh 3]. Hint: Assume $q_1 \in U(p_1, E)$. Show $q(z) = q_1(z)p_2(z) \in U(p, E)$.

6. In Th. (5,1) p given by eq. (5,5) is the unique (Tchebycheff) polynomial for which max $[\mu(z) | q(z) |, z \in E]$ is a minimum for $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$ and μ a weight function with $\mu(z_j) = 1/[\lambda_j | \omega'(z_j) |]$ for $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$ [Fekete-von Neumann 1], [Motzkin-Walsh 1].

7. Let \mathscr{P}_n^* be the class of all polynomials $z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$ which differ from one another only with respect to the coefficients $a_{k+1}, a_{k+2}, \cdots, a_m$, where k and m are fixed integers with $0 \leq k < m \leq n$. Let E be a compact set containing at least m + 1 points but with $0 \notin E$. Let a restricted infrapolynomial p^* on E relative to \mathscr{P}_n^* mean that $p^* \in \mathscr{P}_n^*$ and p_n^* has on E no underpolynomial $q^* \in \mathscr{P}_n^*$. If k = 0, then a necessary and sufficient condition for p_n^* to be a restricted infrapolynomial with $p_n^* \in \mathscr{P}_n^*, p_n^*(z) \neq 0$ $z \in E$, is that there exist N points $z_k \in E$ and N positive numbers λ_i satisfying orthogonality relations

$$\sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j z_j^{n-m+\alpha} = 0 \qquad (\alpha = 0, 1, \cdots, m-1)$$

with $m \leq N \leq 2m + 1$ [Walsh 24]. Hint: Use method of proof for Th. (5,2).

8. If in ex. (5,7) p^* is an infrapolynomial, then p^* is a factor of F^* where

$$F^*(z) = \omega(z) \bigg[\phi(z) + \alpha z^{k+1} \sum_{j=0}^N \frac{\lambda_j}{z - z_j} \bigg], \qquad \omega(z) = \prod_{j=0}^N (z - z_j)$$

where $\lambda_i > 0$ for all j, $\lambda_0 + \lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_N = 1$, where α is a constant and $\phi(z)$ is a polynomial of degree less than n - N + 1 such that $[\omega(z)\phi(z) + \alpha z^{m+1}]$ is of degree not exceeding n [Shisha-Walsh 1]. Hint: Modify proof of Th. (5,2) by noting under Lem. (5,2) that $c_j = 0$ if $j = 1, 2, \cdots, k, m + 1, \cdots, n$ [Shisha 3].

9. In ex. (5,7) the determination of an infrapolynomial p^* is equivalent to that of finding the polynomial r^* of class \mathscr{S}^*

$$\mathscr{S}^* = \{a_{k+1}z^{m-k-1} + a_{k+2}z^{m-k-2} + \cdots + a_m\}$$

which is *nearest* to the given function

 $f(z) = z^{-n+m}[z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_k z^k + a_{m+1} z^{n-m-1} + \dots + a_n]$

in the sense

$$|f(z) + r^*(z)| \le |f(z) + s^*(z)|$$

for all $s^* \in \mathscr{S}^*$ and all $z \in E$, with the equality holding only where $r^*(z) = s^*(z)$. Hint: Apply definition of restricted infrapolynomial.

10. Let $R(z) = \sum_{1}^{m} (z - \alpha_{j})^{m_{j}} \sum_{1}^{n} (z - \beta_{j})^{-n_{j}}$ where all the α_{j} and β_{j} are distinct and the m_{j} , n_{j} , m and n are positive integers. Let $N = \sum_{1}^{m} m_{j} - \sum_{1}^{n} n_{j}$ and $\omega(z) = \sum_{1}^{m} (z - \alpha_{j}) \sum_{1}^{n} (z - \beta_{j})$. Then every finite zero of R'(z), not an α_{j} , is a zero of the extremal polynomial of form $p(z) = Nz^{m+n-1} + b_{1}z^{m+n-2} + \cdots$ for which $p(\alpha_{j}) = m_{j}\omega'(\alpha_{j})$ $(j = 1, 2, \cdots, m)$ and the Tchebycheff norm max $|p(\beta_{j})|/n_{j}\omega'(\beta_{j})|$ is a minimum on the set $\{\beta_{1}, \cdots, \beta_{n}\}$ [Shisha-Walsh 3]. Hint: Cf. ex. (5,6).

CHAPTER II

THE CRITICAL POINTS OF A POLYNOMIAL

6. The convex hull of critical points. In the previous chapter, we found that any critical point (zero of the derivative) of the polynomial

(6,1)
$$f(z) = (z - z_1)^{m_1} (z - z_2)^{m_2} \cdots (z - z_p)^{m_p},$$

if not a multiple zero of f(z), is a zero of the function

(6,2)
$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_j}{z - z_j}, \quad \text{all } m_j > 0.$$

We found also that the zeros of F(z) can be interpreted in various ways from the standpoint of physics, geometry and function theory. In the present chapter we shall employ these interpretations and some additional analysis to determine the relative positions of the zeros of F(z) and of the points z_j . We shall also, by the same analysis, determine the location of the zeros of rational functions of a more general form than (6,2), as well as the zeros of certain systems of functions of a form similar to (6,2).

The relative position of the real zeros and critical points of a real differentiable function is described in the well-known Theorem of Rolle that between any two zeros of the function lies at least one zero of its derivative. However, Rolle's Theorem is not generally true for analytic functions of a complex variable. For example, the function $f(z) = e^{2\pi z i} - 1$ vanishes for z = 0 and z = 1, but its derivative $f'(z) = 2\pi i e^{2\pi i z}$ never vanishes. This leads to the question as to what generalizations or analogues of Rolle's Theorem are valid for at least a suitably restricted class of analytic functions, such as the polynomials in a complex variable. [Cf. Dieudonné 1].

In the present section we shall answer this question, not with respect to Rolle's Theorem, but rather with respect to a particular corollary of Rolle's Theorem. This says that any interval of the real axis which contains all the zeros of a polynomial f(z) also contains all the zeros of the derivative f'(z). This corollary may be replaced (see ex. (10,1)) by the more general theorem that a line-segment L (not necessarily on the real axis) which contains all the zeros of a polynomial f(z) also contains all the zeros of its derivative. But this theorem is only a special case of the following result proved in 1874 by Lucas [1, 2, 3] and subsequently by Legebeke [1], De Boer [1], Berlothy [1], Cesàro [1], Bôcher [2], Grace [1], Hayashi [3], Irwin [1], Gonggryp [1], Porter [1], Uchida [1], Krawtchouck [2] and Nagy [1 and 5].
THEOREM (6,1) [LUCAS]. All the critical points of a non-constant polynomial f lie in the convex hull H of the set of zeros of f. If the zeros of f are not collinear, no critical point of f lies on the boundary of H unless it is a multiple zero of f.

From a physical point of view, this theorem is an obvious consequence of Gauss' Theorem (Th. (3,1)) with the m_j as positive integers. For, if the zeros (see Fig. (6,1)) of f'(z) are either multiple zeros of f(z) or the positions of equilibrium in the field of force due to masses at the zeros of f(z), then in either case the zeros of f'(z) must lie in or on any convex polygon enclosing the zeros of f(z).



FIG. (6,1)

To prove the theorem analytically, let us apply Th. (1,1). If z', a zero of f'(z), were exterior to H, it could not be a multiple zero of f(z). Furthermore, the angle subtended at z' by H would be A(z'), where $0 < A(z') < \pi$. Hence, if drawn from z', each of the vectors $(-w_j)$ of formula (3,1) would lie in A(z') as would therefore each of the vectors $W_j = -m_j w_j$. Hence by Th. (1,1), $\overline{F(z')} = -(W_1 + W_2 + \cdots + W_p) \neq 0$. As this contradicts our assumption that z' is a zero of f'(z), no zero of f'(z) may lie exterior to polygon H.

In fact we have proved the following more general result.

THEOREM (6,1)'. For arbitrary positive constants m_i each zero of the function F in eq. (6,2) lies in the convex hull H of the points z_i and none lies on the boundary of H unless the points z_i are collinear.

From Th. (6,1) we may infer

THEOREM (6,2). Any circle C which encloses all the zeros of a polynomial f(z) also encloses all the zeros of its derivative f'(z).

For, if K is the smallest convex polygon enclosing the zeros of f(z), then K lies in C and therefore by Th. (6,1) all the zeros of f'(z), being in K, also lie in C. Conversely, Th. (6,1) follows from Th. (6,2). For, if Th. (6,2) were valid,

Conversely, Th. (6,1) follows from Th. (6,2). For, if Th. (6,2) were valid, through each pair of vertices of the polygon H of Th. (6,1) we could draw a circle C_k which contains H and hence the zeros of both f(z) and f'(z). The region K' common to all these disks C_k would also contain all the zeros of f(z) and f'(z). Since this holds for all choices of circles C_k passing through pairs of vertices of H and containing H, all the zeros of f'(z) must lie in the region common to all possible regions K', that is, in the polygon H.

Thus, as stated in Walsh [2(a)], Ths. (6,1) and (6,2) are actually equivalent. Furthermore, they are the best possible theorems in the sense that, if the zeros of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z), n > 1, are allowed to vary independently in and on a convex polygon K or circle C, every point in or on K or C is a possible multiple point of f(z) and therefore a possible zero of f'(z). If, however, the zeros of f(z) are fixed and not all collinear, no zero of f'(z) other than a multiple zero of f(z) may lie on the polygon K or circle C or may lie in a certain neighborhood of each zero of f(z). Cf. ex. (6,1) and ex. (26,5).

In view of the similarity of forms (5,8) and (6,2), we may state for infrapolynomials the following analogue to Lucas' Theorem (6,1) due to [Fejér 3].

THEOREM (6,3). Let E be a closed bounded pointset and let p be an infrapolynomial on E. Then all the zeros of p lie in H(E), the convex hull of E; no zero lies on the boundary $\partial H(E)$ of H(E) except perhaps at a point of E on $\partial H(E)$.

As an application of Lucas' Theorem (6,1), we state

THEOREM (6,4). Let ∂K be the boundary of a convex domain K in the z-plane and let P and Q be polynomials such that (i) deg $P \leq \deg Q$; (ii) $|P(z)| \leq |Q(z)|$ for $z \in \partial K$; (iii) all zeros of Q lie in $K \cup \partial K$. Then $|P'(z)| \leq |Q'(z)|$ for $z \in \partial K$.

Th. (6,4), due to Bernstein [1] when K: $|z| \leq 1$ and De Bruijn [2] in the general case, may be proved as follows. We note that the function f(z) = P(z)/Q(z) is holomorphic in the complement D of $K \cup \partial K$ and that $|f(z)| \leq 1$ for $z \in \partial K$. Hence by the maximum modulus principle $|f(z)| \leq 1$ for $z \in D$. If now z_0 is any zero of

$$g(z) = P(z) - \lambda Q(z), \qquad |\lambda| > 1,$$

and if $Q(z_0) \neq 0$, then

$$|P(z_0)| = |\lambda| |Q(z_0)| > |Q(z_0)|.$$

That is, $|f(z_0)| > 1$ and thus $z_0 \in K$. From Lucas' Theorem (6,1) follows that every zero of g'(z) also lies in K. This means that for no λ with $|\lambda| > 1$ is $P'(z)/Q'(z) = \lambda$ for $z \in D \cup \partial K$. Hence $|P'(z)| \leq |Q'(z)|$ for $z \in D \cup \partial K$.

An important corollary of Th. (6,4) is the well-known theorem:

COROLLARY (6,4). Let P(z) be a polynomial of degree not exceeding n such that $|P(z)| \leq 1$ for $|z| \leq 1$. Then $|P'(z)| \leq n$ for $|z| \leq 1$.

This result follows from taking $Q(z) = z^n$ in Th. (6,4), and noting that

 $|P(z)| \leq 1 = |z^n|$ for |z| = 1.

We may also state results analogous to Lucas' Theorem (6,1) for three real variables [see ex. (6,10)], for a quaternion variable [see Scheelbeek 1] and for an abstract field [see Zervos 3].

Finally, we may state the following theorem due to Walsh [20, p. 249] regarding the critical points of Green's function.

THEOREM (6,5). Let R be an infinite region whose boundary B consists of a finite set of Jordan curves, and G the Green's function for R with pole at infinity. Then all the critical points of G in R lie in the convex hull H of B; none lies on the boundary of H unless the points of B are collinear.

This theorem is analogous to Lucas' Theorem and may be proved in a similar way, since eq. (3,5) has the same form as eq. (2,1).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (6,1) may be deduced from ex. (3,1).

2. The zeros of the kth derivative $f^{(k)}(z)$, $1 \le k \le n-1$, also lie in polygon H of Th. (6,1) and in the circle of Th. (6,2).

3. Any infinite convex region which contains all the zeros of an entire function f of genus zero also contains all the zeros of f'. Hint: By definition $f(z) = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1 - z/a_i)$. Use Ths. (1,5) and (6,1) [Porter 1].

4. If r is the smallest number such that all zeros of f', the derivative of a polynomial f, lie in $|z| \leq r$, then at least one zero of f(z) lies in $|z| \geq r$. Hint: Use Th. (6,2).

5. Ths. (6,3) and (6,5) may be established by the method used to prove Th. (6,1).

6. Let $f(z) = c_k z^k + c_{k+1} z^{k+1} + \cdots + c_n z^n$, $c_k c_n \neq 0$, have all its zeros in a half-plane bounded by a line *L* through the origin, not all the zeros of f(z) being on *L*. Then $c_j \neq 0$ for $k \leq j \leq n$ [Laguerre 1c, Weisner 3]. Hint: $c_j = f^{(j)}(0)/j! \neq 0$ by Lucas' Theorem.

7. The zeros of F in eq. (6,2) with all $m_i > 0$ lie in the convex hull of the points

$$\zeta_{jk} = (1/n) [(n - m_j)z_j + m_j z_k], \quad j, k = 1, 2, \cdots, p, j \neq k,$$

[Specht 9]. Hint: With Z as in ex. (3,1), show $\Re(\alpha Z + \beta) \ge 0$ for arbitrary constants α , β if $\Re(\alpha \zeta_{jk} + \beta) \ge 0$ for all j, k.

8. For f a given nth degree polynomial and c an arbitrary constant, let K_c and K' be respectively the convex hulls of the zeros of [f(z) + c] and of those of f'(z) and let $K^* = \bigcap K_c$ for all c. If a side S of ∂K_c passes through only two simple zeros of f(z) + c, then $S \cap K^* = \emptyset$ unless n = 2 when $S \subset K^*$ [Chamberlin-Wolfe 2].

9. If the polynomials P and Q satisfy the relations $Q(z) \neq 0$, $|P(z)| \leq |Q(z)|$ for $\Im(z) \geq 0$, then $|P'(z)| \leq |Q'(z)|$ for $\Im(z) \geq 0$ [De Bruijn 5]. Hint: All zeros of $F(z) = P(z) - \lambda Q(z)$, $|\lambda| > 1$, lie in half-plane $\Im(z) < 0$. Apply Th. (6,1) to F.

10. In 3-dimensional Euclidean space, let $\rho = xi + yj + zk$ be the position vector to point (x, y, z) and let

$$F(\boldsymbol{\rho}) = C \prod_{k=1}^{n} |\boldsymbol{\rho} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_{k}|^{2}, \qquad F'(\boldsymbol{\rho}) = [4F(\boldsymbol{\rho})]^{-1} |\nabla F(\boldsymbol{\rho})|^{2}$$

be a "distance polynomial" and its derivative respectively with C an arbitrary real constant and ∇F the gradient of F. Then all the zeros of F' lie in the convex hull H of the zeros of F; no zero lies on ∂H unless it is also a zero of F [Nagy 18]. Hint: As in ex. (3,1) each zero of F' is the centroid of suitable masses placed at the zeros of F.

11. If E is a closed convex set of more than one point, every polynomial having all its zeros on E is an infrapolynomial on E [Motzkin-Walsh 4]. Hint: Reread sec. 5.

12. If in Th. (6,4) hypothesis (ii) is replaced by the assumption that $w = P(z)/Q(z) \in S$ for $z \in \partial K$ where S is a simply-connected domain in the w-plane, then also $[P'(z)/Q'(z)] \in S$ for all $z \in \partial K$ [De Bruijn 2].

13. If all the zeros of an *n*th degree polynomial f lie in the unit circle, then

$$\max_{|z| \le 1} |f'(z)| \ge (n/2) \max_{|z| \le 1} |f(z)|$$
[Turán 1].

7. The critical points of a real polynomial. In the Lucas Theorem (6,1) we treated the zeros z_j of f(z) as independent parameters. Obviously, if we impose some mutual restraints upon the z_j , such as the requirements that the z_j be symmetrical in a line or point, we may expect the locus of the zeros of f'(z) to be a smaller region than that given by the Lucas Theorem.

Let us in particular assume that f(z) is a real polynomial and thus that its non-real zeros occur in conjugate imaginary pairs. Let us construct the circles whose diameters are the line-segments joining the pairs of conjugate imaginary zeros of f(z). These circles we shall call the Jensen circles of f(z). (See Fig. (7,1).)

We shall now state a theorem which was announced without proof by Jensen [1] in 1913. It was proved by Walsh [4] in 1920 and later by Echols [1] and Nagy [3].



25

JENSEN'S THEOREM (Th. (7,1)). Every non-real zero of the derivative of a real polynomial f(z) lies in or on at least one of the Jensen circles of f(z).

To establish this theorem, we note that in the equation

$$f'(z)/f(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} [1/(z - z_j)]$$

the sum of the terms $w_1 = 1/(x + iy - x_1 - iy_1)$ and $w_2 = 1/(x + iy - x_1 + iy_1)$ corresponding to the pair of zeros $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$ and $z_2 = x_1 - iy_1$ has the imaginary part

$$\Im(w_1 + w_2) = \frac{-2y[(x - x_1)^2 + y^2 - y_1^2]}{[(x - x_1)^2 + (y - y_1)^2][(x - x_1)^2 + (y + y_1)^2]}$$

whereas the term $w_3 = 1/(x + iy - x_3)$ corresponding to a real zero $z_3 = x_3$ of f(z) has the imaginary part

$$\Im(w_3) = -y/[(x - x_3)^2 + y^2].$$

Thus, sg $\Im(w_1 + w_2) = -\operatorname{sg} y$ for every point z outside all the Jensen circles and sg $\Im(w_3) = -\operatorname{sg} y$ for every point z. In other words, outside all the Jensen circles

(7,1)
$$\operatorname{sg} \Im[f'(z)/f(z)] = -\operatorname{sg} y.$$

In particular, if z is a non-real point outside all the Jensen circles, $f'(z) \neq 0$, a result which proves the Jensen Theorem.

Actually, from the above expressions we may derive the following more specific result:

THEOREM (7,1)'. If a real polynomial f has at least one real zero, each non-real critical point of f lies interior to at least one Jensen circle of f. If f has no real zeros, each non-real critical point of f lies either on all the Jensen circles of f or interior to at least one Jensen circle of f.

In fact we have also proved the following more general result.

THEOREM (7,1)''. If in eq. (6,2) the pointset $S = \{z_i\}$ is symmetric in the axis of reals and if $m_k = m_j$ when $z_k = \bar{z}_j$, then each non-real zero of F lies in or on at least one Jensen circle of S.

The Jensen Theorem supplements Rolle's Theorem in describing the location of the zeros of f' relative to those of f. A theorem which describes the number of zeros of f' is the following one due to Walsh [4].

THEOREM (7,2). Let I: $\alpha \leq x \leq \beta$ be an interval of the real axis such that neither α nor β is a zero of the real polynomial f(z) or is a point in or on any Jensen

circle of f(z). Let R be the configuration consisting of I and of the closed interiors of all the Jensen circles which intersect I. Then, if R contains k zeros of f(z), it contains at least k - 1 and at most k + 1 zeros of f'(z).

We shall prove this theorem with the aid of Th. (1,2), the Principle of Argument. Let us denote by K the boundary of the smallest rectangle which has sides parallel to the co-ordinate axes and which encloses R. In view of eq. (7,1) K is mapped by the function w = f'(z)/f(z) upon the w-plane into a curve which encircles the origin at most once. Hence, $\Delta_K \arg[f'(z)/f(z)]$ is 0 or $\pm 2\pi$ and by eq. (1,2) the number of zeros of f'(z) within K differs by at most one from the number of zeros of f(z) in K.

An immediate consequence of Th. (7,2) is the following result also due to Walsh [4].

COROLLARY (7,2). Any closed interval of the real axis contains at most one zero of f'(z) if it contains no zero of f(z) and if it is exterior to all the Jensen circles for f(z).

An analogous theorem, due to Fekete and von Neumann [1], holds for infrapolynomials [see sec. 5]. It is the following:

THEOREM (7,3). Let the pointset E be symmetric in the real axis and let J denote the circles having as diameters the pairs of conjugate imaginary points of E. If p is a real infrapolynomial on E, then any non-real zero of p must be in or on at least one circle J.

PROOF. Any non-real zero of p on E clearly satisfies Th. (7,3). Because of the symmetry of E and p in the real axis, the zeros of p, not on E, will satisfy not only the equation

 $\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{\lambda_j}{z-z_j} = 0 \qquad (\lambda_j > 0, j = 0, 1, \cdots, m)$

obtained from (5,8) for suitable points $z_i \in E$, but also the equation

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{\lambda_j}{z - \bar{z}_j} = 0, \qquad \qquad \bar{z}_j = x_j - iy_j,$$

and hence the equation

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \lambda_j \left(\frac{1}{z-z_j} + \frac{1}{z-\overline{z}_j} \right) = 0.$$

Using now the same reasoning as for the proof of the Jensen Theorem (7,1), we complete the proof of Th. (7,3).

Finally, we may state results analogous to Th. (7,1) for certain rational functions of three real variables [see ex. (7,11)] or for certain functions of a quaternion variable [see Scheelbeek 1].

Also an analogous theorem, due to Walsh [20, p. 255], holds for Green's function. It is the following:

THEOREM (7,4). Let G be the Green's function with pole at infinity, for an infinite region R having as boundary a finite set B of Jordan curves, which are symmetric in the real axis. Then every non-real critical point of G lies in or on at least one of the circles whose diameters join the pairs of symmetric points of B.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If a is a real constant and if f(z) is a real polynomial whose derivative is f'(z), none of the imaginary zeros of $F_1(z) = (D + a)f(z) = f'(z) + af(z)$ lies outside the Jensen circles of f(z). Hint: Study the imaginary part of a + f'(z)/f(z) [Jensen 1, Nagy 3].

2. Let $E_m(A, \overline{A})$ denote the ellipse having as minor axis the line-segment joining the pair of conjugate imaginary points A and \overline{A} and as major axis a line-segment $m^{\frac{1}{2}}$ times as long as the minor axis. Then the envelope of the circles whose diameters are the vertical chords of $E_m(A, \overline{A})$ is the ellipse $E_{m+1}(A, \overline{A})$.

3. If a and b are real constants and f(z) is a real polynomial whose first two derivatives are f'(z) and f''(z), then none of the imaginary zeros of

$$F_2(z) = f''(z) + (a+b)f'(z) + abf(z)$$

lies outside the ellipses having as minor axes the lines joining the pairs of conjugate imaginary zeros of f(z) and having major axes $2^{\frac{1}{2}}$ times as large as the minor axes. Hint: Noting that $F_2(z) = (D + b)(D + a)f(z) = (D + b)F_1(z)$, apply twice the results of exs. 1 and 2 [Jensen 1, Nagy 3].

4. If f(z) is a real polynomial and g(z) an *m*th degree polynomial with only real zeros, then the non-real zeros of the polynomial

$$F_m(z) = g(D)f(z), \qquad D = d/dz,$$

lie in the ellipses which have as minor axes the lines joining the pairs of conjugate imaginary zeros of f(z) and which have major axes $m^{1/2}$ times as long as their minor axes [Jensen 1, Nagy 3].

5. If f is any polynomial whose zeros are symmetric in the origin, then

(a) all the zeros of f'(z) lie in any double sector $|\arg(\pm z)| < \gamma < \pi/4$ containing the zeros of f(z);

(b) all the zeros of f'(z) (except perhaps one at the origin) lie inside, outside or on any equilateral hyperbola H with center at 0 according as all the zeros of f(z) also lie inside, outside or on H. Hint: By hypothesis $f(z) = z^k \phi(z^2)$. Show that the zeros of $F(W) = [f(W^{\frac{1}{2}})]^2$ lie in a convex point set, which by the Lucas Theorem must contain the zeros of F'(W) [Walsh 13].

6. If Z is a non-real critical point of a real polynomial f, then the equilateral hyperbola with vertices at Z and \overline{Z} either passes through all the zeros of f or separates them. Hint: If Z = X + iY, $(X - x_1)^2 - y_1^2 + Y^2 > 0$ implies that z_1 is outside H.

7. If C is a real constant and if $m_k > 0$, $R(z_k) > 0$ for all k, then all the non-real zeros of the function

$$F(z) = Cz^{-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k [(z - z_k)^{-1} + (z - \bar{z}_k)^{-1}]$$

lie in the closed interiors of the circles Γ_k tangent at z_k and \bar{z}_k to the lines joining z_k and \bar{z}_k to the origin [Walsh 9, 23]. Hint: Consider $\Im[F(z)]$.

8. Under the conditions of ex. (7,7) the closed interiors of the circles Γ_k also contain the zeros of

$$F(z) = Bz^{-2} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k [(z - z_k)^{-1} + (z - \bar{z}_k)^{-1}], \quad B < 0 \quad [Walsh 9, 23].$$

9. Let all the zeros of the real polynomial p lie in the strip $S: \alpha < \Re(z) < \beta$ and let γ be a a real point not in S. Through the pair z_k , \bar{z}_k of conjugate imaginary zeros of p let the circle Γ_k be drawn tangent to lines γz_k and $\gamma \bar{z}_k$ at z_k and \bar{z}_k respectively. Then every non-real critical point of p lies in or on at least one circle Γ_k [Walsh 23]. Hint: Show that

$$\operatorname{sg} \Im[(z - \gamma)f'(z)/f(z)] = \pm \operatorname{sg} y$$

at any point z outside all Γ_k .

10. Let H_k be the equilateral hyperbola with vertices at a_k and \bar{a}_k , where $\Im(a_k) > 0$. Then no critical point of the function

$$F(z) = \prod_{k=1}^{m} \left[(z - a_k) / (z - \bar{a}_k) \right]$$

lies either outside all H_k or inside all H_k [Nagy 19]. Hint: Examine $\Im[F'(z)/F(z)]$.

11. Let all the zeros of the distance polynomial F in ex. (6,10) be symmetric in the plane E. Then any zero of F' not on E lies in at least one of the spheres having as diameters the line-segments joining pairs of zeros of F symmetric in E [Nagy 18].

12. Let the *n*th degree polynomial *f* have only real zeros and the *m*th degree real polynomial *g* have all its non-real zeros in the sector $|\arg z| \leq \phi$ where $0 \leq \phi \leq n^{-\frac{1}{2}}$. Then all the zeros of h(z) = g(d/dz) f(z) are also real [Obrechkoff 12]. Hint: For $\phi = 0$, this is the Poulain-Hermite Theorem. It remains valid as ϕ increases from 0 to ϕ_0 when *h* has a multiple real zeros. For $\phi > \phi_0 + \epsilon$, ϵ a sufficiently small positive number, *h* has non-real zeros. Prove theorem first for $g(z) = (e^{i\phi} - \rho z)(e^{-i\phi} - \rho z)$, $\rho > 0$.

13. Let *E* be a bounded point set consisting of at least n + 1 points lying on a line *L*. If $p \in I(E)$ (see sec. 5) but $p(z) \neq 0$ for $z \in E$, then *p* has only simple zeros, all on *L* and separated by the points of *E*. If conversely $p \in \mathscr{P}_n$ and *p* has only simple zeros separated by the points of *E*, then $p \in I(E)$ [Marden 22]. Hint: Use Th. (5,2).

8. Some generalizations. From the proofs given in the last two sections, it is clear that the Lucas and Jensen Theorems are essentially results regarding

the zeros of the function

$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j / (z - z_j), \qquad m_j > 0,$$

and that these results are valid even when the positive numbers m_j are not integers. This expression is however only a special case of the linear combination

(8,1)
$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j f_j(z)$$

where

$$f_j(z) = \frac{(z - a_{j1})(z - a_{j2}) \cdots (z - a_{jp})}{(z - b_{j1})(z - b_{j2}) \cdots (z - b_{jq})}$$

and where the m_i are complex numbers such that

(8,2)
$$\mu \leq \arg m_j \leq \mu + \gamma < \mu + \pi, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

We ask now whether or not the Lucas Theorem (Th. (6,1)) may be generalized to functions F(z) of type (8,1).

We shall first prove

THEOREM (8,1). If K is a convex region which encloses all the zeros a_{jk} and poles b_{jk} of each $f_j(z)$ of eq. (8,1), then $F(\zeta) \neq 0$ at any point ζ at which K subtends an angle less than $\Psi = (\pi - \gamma)/(p + q)$.

Since ζ is necessarily exterior to K, we may find in K two points α and β such that (see Fig. (8,1) where, however, K subtends at ζ the angle ϕ)

$$\arg (\zeta - \beta)/(\zeta - \alpha) = \phi < \Psi$$



FIG. (8,1)

and for all j and k (8,3) $0 < \arg \sigma_{jk} < \Psi, \quad 0 < \arg \tau_{jk} < \Psi,$ where $\sigma_{jk} = (\zeta - a_{jk})/(\zeta - \alpha)$ and $\tau_{jk} = (\zeta - \beta)/(\zeta - b_{jk})$. Let us now set (8,4) $w_j = m_j f_j(z)[(\zeta - \beta)^q/(\zeta - \alpha)^p].$ Since $w_j = m_j \prod_{k=1}^p \sigma_{jk} \prod_{k=1}^q \tau_{jk}$, we may, on use of eqs. (8,2) and (8,3), obtain the inequality $\mu \leq \arg w_j < \mu + \gamma + (p+q)\Psi = \mu + \pi.$

It follows now from Th. (1,1) and eqs. (8,1) and (8,4) that

$$F(\zeta)[(\zeta - \beta)^q/(\zeta - \alpha)^p] = \sum_{j=1}^n w_j \neq 0,$$

as required in Th. (8,1).



FIG. (8,2)

If we define 2π to be the angle subtended by K at a point interior to K, we may say that the zeros of F(z) lie in the region $S(K, \Psi)$ comprised of all points at which K subtends an angle of at least Ψ . It is important therefore that we determine the nature of the region $S(K, \Psi)$.

For example, if K is a circle of radius r, then $S(K, \phi)$ is a concentric circle of radius r csc ($\phi/2$). If K is an ellipse, then $S(K, \phi)$ is an oval-shaped region bounded by a fourth-order curve. If K is the line-segment AB in Fig. (8,2), then $S(K, \phi)$ will be bounded by two arcs of circles which pass through A and B and are symmetric in the line AB. If K is the closed interior of the triangle ABC in Fig. (8,3), then $S(K, \Phi)$ will be a polygonal figure bounded by circular arcs.

As the last two examples show, the region $S(K, \phi)$ is not in general a convex region, though it always contains K and coincides with K when $\phi = \pi$. The region $S(K, \phi)$ is, however, always *star-shaped* with respect to K. That is, it has the property that, if P is any point of K and if Q is any point of $S(K, \phi)$, then the entire line-segment PQ lies in $S(K, \phi)$. (Cf. Fig. (8,3).)

This fact is obvious when Q is also a point of K. We need therefore only consider the case that $Q: \zeta$ is not a point of K. Then the angle ψ subtended at Q by K satisfies the inequality $\phi \leq \psi < \pi$ and two points α and β can be found



in K so that $\psi = \arg (\beta - \zeta)/(\alpha - \zeta)$. Let us choose any point $Q': \zeta'$ lying on the segment PQ and let us set $\psi' = \arg (\beta - \zeta')/(\alpha - \zeta')$. Obviously, $\psi' > \psi$. Since the angle subtended at Q' by K cannot be less than ψ' , we infer that it is greater than ϕ and that therefore Q' lies in the region $S(K, \phi)$.

In view of this discussion we may restate Th. (8,1) in the following form, which in the case $\gamma = 0$ is due to Nagy [2] but in the general case is due to Marden [4].

THEOREM (8,2). If all the zeros and poles of each rational function $f_j(z)$ entering in eq. (8,1) lie in a closed convex region K and if the m_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ are constants satisfying ineq. (8,2), then all the zeros of the linear combination $F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j f_j(z)$ lie in $S(K, \phi)$, a region which is star-shaped with respect to K and which consists of all points from which K subtends an angle of at least $\phi = (\pi - \gamma)/(p + q)$.

We may add that in Th. (8,2) the region $S(K, \phi)$ may not be replaced by a smaller region. (Cf. Marden [4].) For, if P:s is any point in $S(K, \phi)$, two points $Q_1:t_1$ and $Q_2:t_2$ may be found in K such that $\langle Q_1PQ_2 = \phi$. Let us denote by d_1 and d_2 the distances of Q_1 and Q_2 from P respectively and by ω the angle formed by the ray PQ_1 with the positive real axis. Also let us define

 $k_1 = [(s - t_1)/d_1]^{p+q}$ and $k_2 = [(s - t_2)/d_2]^{p+q}e^{i\gamma}$. Then, since $|k_1| = |k_2| = 1$,

$$\arg k_1 = (p+q)\omega$$

and

$$\arg k_2 = (p+q)(\omega + \phi) + \gamma = \pi + (p+q)\omega,$$

the vectors k_1 and k_2 are equal and opposite and thus

$$k_1+k_2=0.$$

This means that the function

$$G(z) = \left[\frac{d_2^q(z-t_1)^p}{d_1^p(z-t_2)^q} \right] + \frac{e^{\gamma i} \left[\frac{d_2^q(z-t_2)^p}{d_2^p(z-t_1)^q} \right]}{e^{\gamma i} \left[\frac{d_2^q(z-t_2)^p}{d_2^p(z-t_1)^q} \right]}$$

has a zero at the point s. In other words, every point s of $S(K, \phi)$ is a zero of at least one function F(z) of type (8,1).

Th. (8,1) is a generalization of the Lucas Theorem (6,1) as may be seen by setting $\gamma = 0$, p = 0 and q = 1. Like the Lucas Theorem, it has various physical interpretations.

If $\gamma \neq 0$, p = 0 and q = 1, the function F(z) in (8,1) has the form (2,3) and thus Th. (8,1) describes the location of the equilibrium points in a field of force due to complex masses m_j acting according to the inverse distance law. An example of such a field is the one due both to the charges carried by long straight wires at right angles to the z-plane and to the electromagnetic field induced by the currents flowing through these wires. Another example is the velocity field in the two-dimensional flow due to a vortex-source obtained by placing a source and vortex at the same point.

If $\gamma \neq 0$, p = 1 and q = 0, the zero of F(z) is the "centroid" of a system of complex masses and thus Th. (8,1) describes the location of this centroid in relation to these particles.

As another application of Th. (8,2), let us introduce a polynomial f(z) of degree p and n polynomials $h_j(z)$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$, each of degree at most p - 1. Then

$$F(z) = f(z) - \frac{m_1 h_1(z) + m_2 h_2(z) + \dots + m_n h_n(z)}{m_1 + m_2 + \dots + m_n}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^n m_j [f(z) - h_j(z)] / \sum_{j=1}^n m_j$$

is a polynomial of type (8,1) with q = 0 and with

$$f(z) - h_j(z) \equiv (z - a_{j1})(z - a_{j2}) \cdots (z - a_{jp}).$$

The a_{ip} are clearly the points at which $f(z) = h_i(z)$ and the zeros of F(z) are the points where

$$f(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j h_j(z) \bigg/ \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j \, .$$

In other words, we have established the following *Mean-Value Theorem* for polynomials.

[§8]

THEOREM (8,3). Let f(z) be a pth degree polynomial, let each $h_j(z)$ $(j = 1, 2, \cdots, n)$ be a polynomial of degree at most p - 1 and let m_j be complex constants satisfying ineq. (8,2). If all the points z at which $f(z) = h_j(z)$ for at least one j $(j = 1, 2, \cdots, n)$ lie in a convex region K, all the points at which

(8,5)
$$f(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j h_j(z) \bigg/ \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j$$

lie in the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/p)$.

Th. (8,3) is due to Marden [4]. When $\gamma = 0$, it reduces to the results of Nagy [2] and when in addition $h_j(z) = \text{const.}$, it reduces to the results stated by Jentsch [1] and proved by Fekete [2].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If the points a_{jk} and b_{jk} lie in a convex region K, then in the region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/(p+q))$ lies at least one of the points z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n which satisfy

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} m_{j} \frac{(z_{j} - a_{j1})(z_{j} - a_{j2}) \cdots (z_{j} - a_{jp})}{(z_{j} - b_{j1})(z_{j} - b_{j2}) \cdots (z_{j} - b_{jq})} = 0$$

where the m_i satisfy (8,2). Hint: Assume the contrary.

2. If all the points at which a given *p*th degree polynomial f(z) assumes *n* given values c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n are enclosed in a convex region *K*, and if the m_j are numbers satisfying (8,2), then all the points at which f(z) assumes the average value

$$c = \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j c_j \bigg/ \sum_{j=1}^{n} m_j$$

lie in the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/p$ [Marden 7 and 8; for cases $\gamma = 0$, Fekete 2 to 6 and Nagy 4].

3. Let K be a convex region which contains all the poles b_i of

$$f(z) = (z - a_1)(z - a_2) \cdots (z - a_p)/(z - b_1)(z - b_2) \cdots (z - b_q)$$

as well as all the points where f(z) assumes the values c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n . Let the m_j be constants satisfying ineq. (8,2) and let $c = \sum_{j=1}^n m_j c_j / \sum_{j=1}^n m_j$. Then $f(z) \neq c$ outside the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/(p + q))$.

4. For the values $r \leq t \leq s$ of the real variable *t*, let the equations $z = a_j(t)$ and $z = b_j(t)$ represent Jordan curves which lie in a convex region K and let z = m(t) represent a Jordan curve which lies in a sector with vertex at the origin and with an angular opening of $\gamma < \pi$.

Let furthermore

$$f(z, t) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \{ [z - a_j(t)] / [z - b_j(t)] \}$$

and $F(z) = \int_r^s m(t)f(z, t) dt$. Then, $F(z) \neq 0$ outside the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/(p + q))$ [Marden 4].

5. Let $f(z) = \prod_{k=1}^{n} (z - z_k)$ and g(z) = f(z + A) - Bf(z - A) where A and B are arbitrary complex numbers with, however, $0 < b = \arg B < \pi$. Then no zero Z of g(z) may lie outside of all the lens-shaped regions defined by the inequalities $b/n \leq \arg (z - z_k + A)/(z - z_k - A) \leq \pi$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, or may lie inside all these regions [Nagy 8].

If all z_k lie in a strip H bounded by two parallel lines making angles of ϕ with the real axis, if arg $A = \phi + \pi/2$ and if |B| = 1, then all zeros of g also lie in H [Obrechkoff 4].

6. Let f(z) be a real polynomial of degree *n* having *n* distinct zeros *c*, which consist of the *p* pairs of conjugate imaginary zeros c_j , $c_{p+j} = \tilde{c}_j$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p; 2p \leq n)$ and the n - 2p real zeros c_j $(j = 2p + 1, 2p + 2, \dots, n)$. Let $f_1(z)$ be a real polynomial of degree n - 1 which relative to f(z) has the partial fraction development

(8,6)
$$\frac{f_1(z)}{f(z)} = \sum_{j=1}^p \left(\frac{\gamma_j}{z - c_j} + \frac{\bar{\gamma}_j}{z - \bar{c}_j} \right) + \sum_{j=2p+1}^n \frac{\gamma_j}{z - c_j},$$

where $\gamma_j = m_j e^{i\mu_j}$ with $m_j > 0$ and μ_j real for all j and $\mu_j = 0$ for j > 2p. Let it be assumed that $|\mu_j| < \pi/2$ for $j \leq 2p$. Let $K(c_j, \mu_j)$ be the circle which passes through the conjugate imaginary pair c_j , \bar{c}_j and which has its center on the real axis at the point k_j such that angle \bar{c}_j , c_j , k_j is μ_j . Then (a) any interval containing all the real zeros of f(z) and all the points k_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ also contains all the real zeros of $f_1(z)$; (b) between two successive real zeros of f(z)lie an odd number of zeros of $f_1(z)$; (c) any interval of the real axis not containing any zero of f(z) and any interior point of any circle $K(c_j, \mu_j)$ contains at most one zero of $f_1(z)$ [Marden 17].

7. In eq. (8,6), assume that $m_j > 0$ for j > 2p but $m_j > 0$ or < 0 for $j \leq 2p$. Then each non-real zero of $f_1(z)$ lies either in at least one circle $K(c_j, \mu_j)$ corresponding to $m_j > 0$ or outside at least one circle $K(c_j, \mu_j)$ corresponding to $m_j < 0$ [Marden 17].

8. In eq. (8,6) assume that all $m_j > 0$. Let $I: \alpha \leq x \leq \beta$ be an interval of the real axis such that neither α nor β is a zero of f(z) or an interior point of any circle $K(c_j, \mu_j)$. Let N be the configuration comprised of I and all the circles $K(c_j, \mu_j)$ which intersect I. Then, if N contains ν zeros of f(z), it contains at least $\nu - 1$ and at most $\nu + 1$ zeros of $f_1(z)$ [Marden 17].

9. Let $f_0(z), f_1(z), \dots, f_q(z)$ be the set of real polynomials such that for $k = 0, 1, \dots, q-1$

$$\frac{f_{k+1}(z)}{f_k(z)} = \sum_{j=1}^{p_k} \left(\frac{\gamma_{jk}}{z - c_{jk}} + \frac{\bar{\gamma}_{jk}}{z - \bar{c}_{jk}} \right) + \sum_{j=2p_k+1}^{n-k} \frac{\gamma_{jk}}{z - c_{jk}}$$

where $|\arg \gamma_{jk}| \leq \omega_k < \pi/2$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, n-k$ and γ_{jk} and c_{jk} are real for $j > 2p_k$. For convenience, take $f_0(z) = f(z)$ and $c_{j0} = c_j$ for all j and set $\lambda_k = \cot [(\pi/4) - (\omega_k/2)]$ for all k. Let E_{jq} be the ellipse with center at the point $(c_j + \bar{c}_j)/2$, with a major axis $M_q |c_j - \bar{c}_j|$ along the axis of reals and with a minor axis $N_q |c_j - \bar{c}_j|$ where $N_q = \lambda_0 \lambda_1 \cdots \lambda_{q-1}$ and $M_q^2 = \sum_{k=1}^q N_k^2$. Then each non-real zero of $f_q(z)$ lies in at least one ellipse E_{jq} $(j = 1, 2, \cdots, p)$ [Marden 17].

10. Let $\phi(z, c) = [1/(z-c)] + (1/c) + (z/c^2) + \cdots + (z^{k-1}/c^k)$ and let F be the real meromorphic function

$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \phi(z, a_j) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} [B_j \phi(z, b_j) + \overline{B}_j \phi(z, \overline{b}_j)]$$

where A_j and a_j are real with $(A_j/a_j^k) > 0$ for all j, where $|\mu_j| < \pi/2$ for $\mu_j \equiv \arg(B_j/b_j^k) \pmod{2\pi}$ and where the series $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |A_j/a_j^{k+1}|$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |B_j/b_j^{k+1}|$ are convergent. Then each non-real zero of F(z) lies in at least one of the circles $K(b_j, \mu_j), j = 1, 2, \cdots$ [Marden 17].

11. Let K be the smallest convex region enclosing all the zeros of f, a polynomial of degree n. Then all the zeros of the mth derivative of F(z) = 1/f(z) lie in the star-shaped region $S = S(K, \pi/m)$. Hint: Let $f_1(z) = f(\omega z + t) = c \prod_{1}^{n} (1 - z_k z)$. If t is any point outside S, ω may be chosen so that $0 < \arg z_k < \pi/m$ for all k. But $F(\omega z + t) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} c_k z^k$ with $c_m = F^{(m)}(t)/t! = c^{-1} \sum z_1^{k_1} z_2^{k_2} \cdots z_n^{k_n}$ and $k_1 + k_2 + \cdots + k_n = m$. By Th. (1,1), $F^{(m)}(t) \neq 0$ [Obrechkoff 8].

12. In the hyperbolic non-Euclidean (N.E.) plane H: |z| < 1, the smallest N.E. convex polygon containing the points α_k also contains the critical points of the "N.E. *n*th degree polynomial"

(8,7)
$$f(z) = e^{i\nu} \prod_{k=1}^{n} [(z - \alpha_k)/(1 - \bar{\alpha}_k z)], \qquad |\alpha_k| < 1.$$

[Walsh 20, p. 157]. Hint: A "N.E. line" is a circle orthogonal to the unit circle. The function f maps H, n to 1, upon itself.

13. If, in ex. (8,12), E is a closed set of at least n points in |z| < r (< 1) and if p is a N.E. infrapolynomial on E (cf. sec. 5), then all the zeros of p lie in the smallest N.E. convex set K containing E [Walsh 22].

9. Polynomial solutions of Lamé's differential equation. In the previous section we studied the generalization of the Lucas Theorem from rational functions F(z) = g(z)/f(z) whose decomposition into partial fractions has the form $\sum m_j(z-z_j)^{-1}$ involving real m_j to those whose decomposition has the form $\sum m_j g_j(z)/f_j(z)$ involving complex m_j . In this section we shall extend the Lucas Theorem to systems of partial fraction sums. We shall be principally interested in the systems which arise in the study of the polynomial solutions of the generalized Lamé differential equation

(9,1)
$$\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^p \frac{\alpha_j}{z-a_j}\right) \frac{dw}{dz} + \frac{\Phi(z)}{\prod_{j=1}^p (z-a_j)} w = 0,$$

where Φ is a polynomial of degree not exceeding p - 2.

By a straightforward application of the method of undetermined coefficients Heine [1] shows the existence of at most C(n + p - 2, p - 2) polynomials V with deg $V \leq p - 2$ such that for $\Phi(z) = V(z)$ eq. (9,1) has a polynomial solution S(z) of degree *n*. We shall call each V(z) a Van Vleck polynomial and the corresponding S(z) a Stieltjes polynomial in recognition of the fact that Van Vleck [1] and Stieltjes [2] were the first to study the distribution of the zeros of the polynomials V(z) and S(z) respectively. (Cf. ex. (9,1) and ex. (9,2).)

If $S(z) = (z - z_1)(z - z_2) \cdots (z - z_n)$ is a Stieltjes polynomial, it follows from (9,1) that

(9,2)
$$S''(z_k) + \left(\sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_j / (z_k - a_j)\right) S'(z_k) = 0 \qquad (k = 1, 2, \cdots, n).$$

If $S'(z_k) = 0$ but $S''(z_k) \neq 0$, eq. (9,2) would be satisified only if $z_k = a_j$ for some value of j. If $S'(z_k) = S''(z_k) = 0$, the differential equations obtained on successively differentiating (9,1) would show that all derivatives of S(z) would vanish at $z = z_k$, an impossibility since $S_n(z)$ is an *n*th degree polynomial. If $S'(z_k) \neq 0$, we may write

$$S(z) = (z - z_k)T(z), \qquad T(z_k) \neq 0,$$

and obtain

$$\frac{S''(z_k)}{S'(z_k)} = \frac{2T'(z_k)}{T(z_k)} = \sum_{j=1, j \neq k}^n \frac{2}{z_k - z_j}.$$

Consequently, every zero z_k of S(z) is either a point a_j or a solution of the system

(9,3)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{(\alpha_j/2)}{z_k - a_j} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq k}^{n} \frac{1}{z_k - z_j} = 0, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

In the later case, the zero z_k has an interpretation similar to that assigned to the zeros of (6,2). The term $\frac{1}{2}\bar{\alpha}_j(\bar{a}_j - \bar{z}_k)^{-1}$ in the conjugate imaginary of (9,3) may be regarded as the force upon a unit mass at the variable point z_k due to the mass $\frac{1}{2}\bar{\alpha}_j$ situated at the fixed point a_j . The term $(\bar{z}_j - \bar{z}_k)^{-1}$ may be regarded as the force upon the unit mass at z_k due to the unit mass at the variable point z_j . In other words, the system (9,3) defines the z_k as the points of equilibrium of *n* movable unit particles in a field due to *p* fixed particles a_k of mass $\bar{\alpha}_k/2$.

Likewise, if t_k is a zero of the Van Vleck polynomial V(z) corresponding to S(z), then

(9,4)
$$S''(t_k) + \left[\sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_j / (t_k - a_j)\right] S'(t_k) = 0.$$

Thus t_k is either a zero of S'(z), which we may write as

$$S'(z) = n(z - z'_1)(z - z'_2) \cdots (z - z'_{n-1}),$$

or $S'(t_k) \neq 0$ and

(9,5)
$$\left[\sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_{j}/(t_{k}-a_{j})\right] + \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} 1/(t_{k}-z_{j}')\right] = 0.$$

We leave to the reader the physical interpretation of the t_k .

The location of the zeros of S(z) and of V(z) has been studied by Stieltjes, Van Vleck, Bôcher and Pólya when all $\alpha_i > 0$ their results being given below in exs. (9,1), (9,2) and (9,3). For the general case we shall now prove a theorem due to Marden [5].

THEOREM (9,1). If

$$(9,6) | \arg \alpha_j | \leq \gamma < \pi/2, j = 1, 2, \cdots, p,$$

and if all the points a_i lie in a circle C of radius r, then the zeros of every Stieltjes polynomial and the zeros of every Van Vleck polynomial lie in the concentric circle C' of radius $r' = r \sec \gamma$.



FIG. (9,1)

To prove the first part of this theorem, let us suppose that the Stieltjes polynomial

$$S(z) = (z - z_1)(z - z_2) \cdots (z - z_n)$$

has some zeros outside C' and that among these the one farthest from the center of C is z_1 . (See Fig. (9,1).) Then at z_1 circle C would subtend an angle $A_1(z_1)$ of magnitude less than $\pi - 2\gamma$. Through z_1 let us draw the circle Γ concentric with C and let us draw the line T tangent to Γ at z_1 . By the assumption concerning z_1 , all the points z_j lie in or on the circle Γ and hence the quantities $(\bar{z} - \bar{z_1})^{-1}$ are represented by vectors drawn from z_1 to points on the side of T containing circle C. Furthermore, since the quantity $(\bar{a}_j - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$ may be represented by a vector drawn from z_1 and lying in the angle $A_1(z_1)$, the quantity $\bar{\alpha}_j(\bar{a}_j - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$ may, due to (9,6), be represented by a vector drawn from z_1 and lying in the angle $A_2(z_1)$ formed by adding an angle γ to both sides of $A_1(z_1)$. The angle $A_2(z_1)$, being in magnitude less than $2\gamma + (\pi - 2\gamma) = \pi$, lies on the same side of T as does C. In short, both types of terms $(\bar{z}_j - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$ and $\bar{\alpha}_j(\bar{a}_j - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$ entering in eq. (9,3) are representable by vectors drawn from z_1 to points on the same side of T. This means according to Th. (1,1) that the left side of eq. (9,3) cannot vanish. Since this result contradicts eq. (9,3), our conclusion is that the point z_1 and consequently all z_j must lie in C'.

With the first part of Th. (9,1) thus proved, it remains to consider the second



FIG. (9,2)

part that concerns the zeros of V(z), the Van Vleck polynomial corresponding to S(z). Since we now know that all the zeros z_i of S(z) lie in circle C', we may infer from Th. (6,2) that all the zeros z'_i of the derivative S'(z) also lie in C'. Let us assume concerning V(z) that its zero t_1 , farthest from the center of C, were outside C' and let us draw through t_1 a circle Γ and its tangent T. By then repeating essentially the same reasoning as in the first part, we can show that our assumption concerning t_1 implies the non-vanishing of the left side of eq. (9,5) in contradiction to the hypothesis of the theorem.

In the case of real, positive α_j , the part of Th. (9,1) that concerns Stieltjes polynomials may be regarded as a generalization of the Lucas Theorem (Th. (6,2)). For this same case, Walsh [8] has given the following generalization of the Jensen Theorem (Th. (7,1)). (See Fig. (9,2).)

THEOREM (9,2). Let the α_i in eq. (9,1) be positive real numbers and let the nonreal a_i occur in conjugate imaginary pairs with $\alpha_k = \alpha_i$ whenever $a_k = \bar{a}_i$. Let $E_m(a, \bar{a})$ denote the ellipse whose minor axis is the line-segment joining points a and \bar{a} and whose major axis is $m^{\frac{1}{4}}$ times as long as the minor axis. Then no nonreal zero of any Stieltjes polynomial having m pairs of non-real zeros may lie exterior to all the ellipses $E_m(a_i, \bar{a}_i), j = 1, 2, \dots, p$. It is to be noted that $E_1(a, \bar{a})$ is the Jensen circle of the pair (a, \bar{a}) .

In the proof of this theorem, we shall use two lemmas. The first is one which may be easily verified by elementary calculus; namely,

LEMMA (9,2a). The circles whose diameters are the vertical chords of the ellipse $E_{m-1}(a, \bar{a})$ lie in the closed interior of the ellipse $E_m(a, \bar{a})$ and have this ellipse as their envelope.

For the statement of the second lemma, let us write S in the form

$$(9,7) \quad S(z) = (z - z_1)(z - \overline{z}_1) \cdots (z - z_m)(z - \overline{z}_m)(z - z_{2m+1}) \cdots (z - z_n)$$

with the z_j , j > 2m, representing the real zeros of S(z). The second lemma is then the following.

LEMMA (9,2b). If the non-real zero z_1 of S(z) lies outside the Jensen circles $E_1(a_j, \bar{a}_j), j = 1, 2, \dots, p$, it lies inside at least one Jensen circle $E_1(z_j, \bar{z}_j), 2 \leq j \leq m$.

For, eq. (9,3) becomes for (9,7) and for k = 1,

$$(9,8) \quad \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{\alpha_{j}}{z_{1}-a_{j}} + \frac{2}{z_{1}-\bar{z}_{1}} + \sum_{j=2}^{m} \left(\frac{2}{z_{1}-z_{j}} + \frac{2}{z_{1}-\bar{z}_{j}}\right) + \sum_{j=2m+1}^{n} \frac{2}{z_{1}-z_{j}} = 0.$$

Except for the term $(z_1 - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$, eq. (9,8) has the form of eq. (6,2). If z_1 were also outside the Jensen circles of the points z_j , $2 \leq j \leq m$, then we could apply the reasoning used to prove Th. (7,1). Thus for all terms in (9,8), except possibly $(z_1 - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$, the sign of the imaginary part would be that of $sg(-y_1)$. But, since $(z_1 - \bar{z}_1)^{-1} = -2i/y_1$, the sign of imaginary part of all terms would be that of $sg(-y_1)$. That is, if z_1 were outside of the Jensen circles for all the a_j , $1 \leq j \leq p$, and all the z_j , $2 \leq j \leq m$, then it would not satisfy eq. (9,8).

Now, to prove Th. (9,2), let us assume that point z_1 is exterior to all the Jensen circles $E_1(a_j, \bar{a}_j)$. By Lem. (9,2b) point z_1 is interior to, say, $E_1(z_2, \bar{z}_2)$. If, then, z_2 is also exterior to all the Jensen circles $E_1(a_j, \bar{a}_j)$, it lies interior to, say, $E_1(z_3, \bar{z}_3)$, and so forth. Eventually, we must come to a value of $k, k \leq m$, such that, although the point z_{k-1} lies exterior to all the circles $E_1(a_j, \bar{a}_j)$ and thus lies interior to the circle $E_1(z_k, \bar{z}_k)$, the point z_k lies interior to at least one circle $E_1(a_j, \bar{a}_j)$, say $E_1(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$.

Now applying Lem. (9,2a), we see that circle $E_1(z_k, \bar{z}_k)$ lies in ellipse $E_2(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$; that circle $E_1(z_{k-1}, \bar{z}_{k-1})$ therefore lies in ellipse $E_3(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$, etc., finally, that circle $E_1(z_2, \bar{z}_2)$ lies in the ellipse $E_k(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$. Since however, $k \leq m$, ellipse $E_k(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$ lies in the ellipse $E_m(a_1, \bar{a}_1)$. Thus we have completed the proof of Th. (9,2).

Instead of assuming that the α_i are positive real numbers, let us suppose that the α_i corresponding to a pair a_i , \bar{a}_i form a conjugate imaginary pair. We may then prove the following two theorems.

THEOREM (9,3). If the a_i and the corresponding α_i are real or appear in conjugate imaginary pairs and if $|\arg \alpha_i| < \pi/2$ for all j, then the zeros of every Stieltjes polynomial and those of the corresponding Van Vleck polynomial lie in the smallest convex region which encloses both all the real points a_i and all the ellipses having the pairs of points a_i and \bar{a}_j as foci and having eccentricities equal to $\cos(\arg \alpha_j)$.

THEOREM (9,4). Under the hypotheses of Th. (9,3), let S(z) be a Stieltjes polynomial possessing k pairs of conjugate imaginary zeros and let V(z) be the corresponding Van Vleck polynomial. Corresponding to each conjugate imaginary pair a_i , \bar{a}_i let the real point e_i be located such that angle \bar{a}_i , a_i , e_i is $\arg \alpha_i$ and let $E(a_i, q)$ denote the ellipse with center at e_i , with a minor axis $m_i = 2 |a_i - e_i|$ parallel to the imaginary axis and with a major axis $q^{1/2}m_i$. Then every non-real zero of S(z) lies in at least one of the ellipses $E(a_i, k)$ and every non-real zero of V(z) lies in at least one of the ellipses $E(a_i, k + 2)$.

Th. (9,3) is a Lucas type of theorem which may be proved with the aid of the lemma stated in ex. (9,5). The part which concerns the Stieltjes polynomials was first proved in Vuille [1]. The theorem in its entirety was established in Marden [5].

Th. (9,4) is a Jensen type of theorem which is a generalization of Th. (9,2) and which may be established with the aid of ex. (8,6) and of the method of proof used for Th. (9,2). Th. (9,4) is due to Marden [20].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If in eq. (9,6) $\gamma = 0$ and if all the a_i lie on a segment σ of the real axis, the zeros of every Stieltjes polynomial will also lie on σ [Stieltjes 2].

2. Under the hypothesis of ex. 1, the zeros of every Van Vleck polynomial will also lie on σ [Van Vleck 1].

3. If $\gamma = 0$, any convex region K containing all the points a_i will also contain all the zeros of every Stieltjes polynomial [Bôcher 1, Klein 1, and Pólya 1].

4. Under the hypothesis of ex. 3, K also contains all the zeros of every Van Vleck polynomial [Marden 5].

5. Let the "mass" α be at point $z = \lambda i$ ($\lambda > 0$) and the "mass" $\bar{\alpha}$ at point $z = -\lambda i$. The resultant force

$$\bar{\alpha}(-\lambda i - \bar{z}_1)^{-1} + \alpha(\lambda i - \bar{z}_1)^{-1}$$

at z_1 due to these two masses has a line of action which intersects the ellipse with $\pm \lambda i$ as foci and with cos (arg α_j) as eccentricity [Marden 5].

6. The zeros of the Legendre polynomials $P_n(z)$ lie on the interval $-1 \leq z \leq 1$ of the real axis. Hint: The Legendre polynomials $P_n(z)$ may be defined as the solutions of the differential equation

$$(1 - z2)P''_n(z) - 2zP'_n(z) + n(n + 1)P_n(z) = 0.$$

7. If the differential equation w'' + A(z)w' + B(z)w = 0, where A(z) and B(z) are functions analytic in a region R, has as a solution an *n*th degree polynomial P(z), the zeros of P(z) in R are the points of equilibrium of *n* movable unit particles in the plane field of force whose magnitude and direction at any point z of R is that of the vector $\overline{A(z)}$. The movable particles attract one another according to the inverse distance law [Bôcher 4].

8. The zeros of the Hermite polynomials $H_n(z)$ are all real and distinct. Hint: By definition, $w = H_n(z)$ is a solution of the differential equation w'' - zw' + nw = 0. Use ex. (9,7) [Bôcher 4].

9. The zeros of the Stieltjes polynomials S(z) are the critical points of the function |G|, where

$$G(z_1, \dots, z_n) = \prod_{k=1}^n \prod_{i=1}^n (z_k - a_i)^{\alpha_i} \prod_{j=k+1}^n (z_k - z_j)$$

If $\alpha_j > 0$, $l(a_j) = 0$, $a_j < a_{j+1}$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$, there are exactly C(n + p - 2, p - 2) polynomials S(z); a unique S(z) corresponds to each of the C(n + p - 2, p - 2) ways of distributing its *n* zeros z_j among the p - 1 intervals (a_j, a_{j+1}) [Stieltjes 2].

CHAPTER III

INVARIANTIVE FORMULATION

10. The derivative under linear transformations. In the last two chapters we were interested in proving some theorems concerning the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of the function

(10,1)
$$f(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{p} (z - z_j)^{m_j}, \qquad n = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_j,$$

and in extending these theorems to more general rational functions and to certain systems of rational functions. We obtained these results largely by use of Th. (1,1) and Th. (1,4).

We now wish to see what further generalizations, if any, may be derived by use of the method of conformal mapping. For instance, we know by virtue of Lucas' Theorem (6,2) that any circle C containing all the zeros of a polynomial f(z) also contains all the zeros of the derivative f'(z) of f(z). Since we may map the closed interior of C conformally upon the closed exterior of a circle C', can we then infer that, if all the zeros of f(z) lie exterior to C', so do all the zeros of f'(z)? Certainly not in general, as we see from the example $f(z) = z^3 - 8$ with C' taken as the exterior of the circle |z| = 1.

Let us consider how to generalize Th. (6,2) so as to obtain a result which will be invariant relative to the nonsingular linear transformations

(10,2)
$$z = \frac{\alpha Z + \beta}{\gamma Z + \delta}, \quad \Delta = \begin{vmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \gamma & \delta \end{vmatrix} \neq 0.$$

Specifically, let us denote by Z_i the points into which the zeros z_i of f(z) are transformed by (10,2) and by Z'_k the points into which the zeros z'_k of f'(z)/f(z) are transformed; that is

(10,3)
$$z_j = (\alpha Z_j + \beta)/(\gamma Z_j + \delta), \qquad z'_k = (\alpha Z'_k + \beta)/(\gamma Z'_k + \delta).$$

Clearly, the Z_j are the zeros of F(Z), the transform of f(z), where

(10,4)
$$F(Z) = (\gamma Z + \delta)^n f\left(\frac{\alpha Z + \beta}{\gamma Z + \delta}\right).$$

The Z'_k , however, are not in general the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of F(Z). Let us inquire as to the choice of the m_j necessary and sufficient for a finite Z'_k to be such a zero.

The logarithmic derivative of F(Z) calculated from eq. (10,4) is

(10,5)
$$\frac{F'(Z)}{F(Z)} = \frac{\gamma n}{\gamma Z + \delta} + \left\{ f'\left(\frac{\alpha Z + \beta}{\gamma Z + \delta}\right) \frac{\Delta}{(\gamma Z + \delta)^2} \left[f\left(\frac{\alpha Z + \beta}{\gamma Z + \delta}\right) \right]^{-1} \right\}.$$

We thereby obtain

(10,6)
$$\frac{F'(Z'_k)}{F(Z'_k)} = \frac{\gamma n}{\gamma Z'_k + \delta}$$

Thus a necessary and sufficient condition for $F'(Z'_k) = 0$ if $Z'_k \neq \infty$ is that $\gamma n = 0$.

This condition will be satisfied if we choose $\gamma = 0$; that is, if we select for (10,2) any nonsingular linear integral transformation

$$(10,7) z = AZ + B, A \neq 0.$$

Thus, if we restrict the transformations to translations, rotations and those of similitude, the zeros of f'(z)/f(z) transform into those of F'(Z)/F(Z) when the m_i are chosen as arbitrary positive or negative numbers.

To satisfy the condition when $\gamma \neq 0$ and $Z'_k \neq \infty$, we must choose n = 0. This implies that not all m_j may be positive. In other words, under the general transformation (10,2) the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of a polynomial are not carried into the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of F(Z).

This does, however, suggest that, in place of the derivative f'(z) of a given *n*th degree polynomial f(z), there be introduced the function

(10,8)
$$f_1(z) = nf(z) - (z - z_0)f'(z)$$

The polynomial $f_1(z)$ is of degree at most n-1. It generalizes the derivative in the sense that, if for a given $\epsilon > 0$ and R > 0 we take

$$|z_0| > 1/\epsilon$$
, $M = \max_{|z|=R} |nf(z) - zf'(z)|$, $F_1(z) = f_1(z)/z_0$,

then

$$|F_1(z) - f'(z)| = |nf(z) - zf'(z)|/|z_0| < M\epsilon.$$

That is,

(10,9)
$$\lim_{z_0 \to \infty} [f_1(z)/z_0] = f'(z)$$

uniformly with respect to z for $|z| \leq R$. The function $f_1(z)$ has been called by Laguerre [1, p. 48] the "émanant" of f(z) and by Pólya-Szegö [1, vol. 2, p. 61] "the derivative of f(z) with respect to the point z_0 ," but we shall call $f_1(z)$ the polar derivative of f(z) with respect to the pole z_0 or simply the *polar derivative* of f(z).

The zeros of the polar derivative are:

- (a) the point z_0 if $f(z_0) = 0$;
- (b) the multiple zeros of f(z), and

(c) the zeros of the function

(10,10)
$$\frac{f_1(z)}{(z-z_0)f(z)} = \frac{n}{z-z_0} - \sum_{j=1}^p \frac{m_j}{z-z_j}.$$

Since (10,10) is the logarithmic derivative of

$$-f(z)(z-z_0)^{-n},$$

a function of type (10,1) with a total "degree" of zero, the zeros of (10,10) and hence those of $f_1(z)$ are invariant under the general linear transformation (10,2).

In order to associate the polar derivative $f_1(z)$ with a more familiar invariant, let us introduce the homogeneous co-ordinates (ξ, η) by substituting $z = \xi/\eta$ into f(z) and $f_1(z)$. Thus,

$$F(\xi,\eta) = \eta^n f(\xi|\eta),$$

$$F_1(\xi,\eta) = \eta^{n-1} \eta_0 f_1(\xi|\eta)$$

$$= \frac{\eta_0}{\eta} \left\{ [nF(\xi,\eta)] - \frac{(\xi\eta_0 - \eta\xi_0)}{\eta_0} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} F(\xi,\eta) \right\}.$$

Since, as a homogeneous function of degree n, $F(\xi, \eta)$ satisfies the Euler identity

$$nF(\xi,\eta) = \xi \frac{\partial F}{\partial \xi} + \eta \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta},$$

we find

(10,11)
$$F_1(\xi,\eta) = \xi_0 \frac{\partial F}{\partial \xi} + \eta_0 \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta}.$$

In short, upon the introduction of homogeneous co-ordinates, the polynomial f(z) transforms into a homogeneous function $F(\xi, \eta)$ and $f_1(z)$ into $F_1(\xi, \eta)$, the first polar of $F(\xi, \eta)$. This result provides further evidence of the invariant character of the polar derivative.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If the zeros of a polynomial f(z) are symmetric in a line L, then between two successive zeros of f(z) on L lie an odd number of zeros of its derivative f'(z) and any interval of L which contains all the zeros of f(z) lying on L also contains all the zeros of f'(z) lying on L. Hint: Apply (10,7) to Rolle's Theorem.

2. Let z = g(Z) be a rational function which has as its only poles those of multiplicities q_j at the points Q_j with $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$. Let furthermore $h(Z) = \prod_{j=1}^{k} (Z - Q_j)^{q_j}$ and $F(Z) = h(Z)^n f(g(Z))$, where f(z) is the function (10,1). Then a given zero z'_j of f'(z)/f(z) is transformed by z = g(Z) into a zero Z'_j of F'(Z)/F(Z) if $h'(Z'_j) = 0$ whereas all zeros z'_j are transformed into zeros Z'_j if n = 0.

11. Covariant force fields. In order to throw some further light upon the invariant character of the zeros, not merely of the polar derivative of a polynomial, but also of the logarithmic derivative of any function f(z) of type (10,1) with n = 0, we shall use a physical interpretation similar to that in sec. 3 coupled with the method of stereographic projection. (See Fig. (11,1).)

At the fixed points P_j of a unit sphere S let us place masses m_j which repel (attract if $m_j < 0$) a unit mass at the variable point P of S according to the inverse distance law. Let us denote by $\Phi(P)$ resultant force at P.



FIG. (11,1)

By drawing lines from the north pole N of S through the points P and P_i let us project P and P_i stereographically upon the equatorial plane of S into the points z and z_i , respectively. At the points z_i let us place masses m_i which repel (attract if $m_i < 0$) a unit mass at z according to the inverse distance law. Let us denote by $\phi(z)$ the resultant force at z.

We ask: what is the relation between the resultant force $\Phi(P)$ in the spherical field and the resultant force $\phi(z)$ in the corresponding plane field?

The answer to the question, given by Bôcher [4], is contained in

THEOREM (11,1). Let $\Phi(P)$ be the resultant force upon a unit mass at a point P of a unit sphere S due to masses m_i at the p points P_i of S. Let z and z_i be the points into which P and P_i are carried by stereographic projection upon the equatorial plane of S. Let $\phi(z)$ be the resultant force upon a unit mass at z due to masses m_i at the points z_i . If the total mass $n = m_1 + m_2 + \cdots + m_p = 0$, then the force $\Phi(P)$ may be represented by a vector which is tangent to S and which projects into the vector $[(1 + |z|^2)/2]\phi(z)$.

To establish this theorem, we shall need

LEMMA (11,1). The lines of force in a field due to a mass -m at a point Q_1 and a mass +m at point Q_2 are circles through Q_1 and Q_2 . The resultant force $\phi(Q)$ upon a unit mass at any third point Q has a magnitude $m(Q_1Q_2)/(QQ_1)(QQ_2)$ and is directed along circle Q_1QQ_2 towards the negative mass. To prove this lemma, let us introduce complex numbers in the plane determined by the three points Q, Q_1 and Q_2 and denote their co-ordinates by z, z_1 and, z_2 respectively. According to sec. 3,

(11,1)
$$\phi(Q) = \frac{m}{\bar{z} - \bar{z}_2} - \frac{m}{\bar{z} - \bar{z}_1} = \frac{m(\bar{z}_2 - \bar{z}_1)}{(\bar{z} - \bar{z}_2)(\bar{z} - \bar{z}_1)}$$

Obviously, $\phi(Q)$ has the required magnitude. As to its direction,

$$\arg \phi(Q) = \arg m - \arg (z_2 - z_1) + \arg (z - z_2) + \arg (z - z_1),$$

whence (see Fig. (11,1))

 $\arg (z_1 - z) - \arg \phi(Q) = \arg (z_1 - z_2) - \arg (z - z_2) - \arg m.$ That is,

 $\beta = \alpha - \arg m.$

Thus $\beta = \alpha$ if m > 0, but $\beta = \alpha + \pi$ if m < 0, so that $\phi(Q)$ has also the required direction.

We proceed now to the proof of Th. (11,1).

Let us place at the north pole N of S p additional masses $(-m_j)$. Since by hypothesis their total mass (-n) = 0, the resultant force due to the augmented system consisting of these new masses and of the original masses m_j at P_j is the same as for the original system. The augmented system may, however, be considered as comprised of the p pairs of masses, m_j at P_j and $-m_j$ at N. According to Lem. (11,1) the *j*th pair acts upon a unit mass at P with a force $\Phi_j(P)$ tangent to the circle C_j through the points P, P_j and N. Since for every *j* the circle C_j lies on the sphere S, the resultant force $\Phi(P)$ due to all p pairs is tangent to the sphere S. Furthermore, since point N projects into the point $z = \infty$, the circle C_j projects into the straight line through z and z_j and vector $\Phi_j(P)$ projects into the vector directed either from z_j to z or from z to z_j according as $m_j > 0$ or $m_j < 0$.

To compare the magnitudes of these vectors, let us recall the relation between the co-ordinates of $P:(\xi, \eta, \zeta)$ and those of its projection z = x + iy; namely,

(11,2)
$$x = \frac{\xi}{1-\zeta}, \quad y = \frac{\eta}{1-\zeta}, \quad x^2 + y^2 + 1 = \frac{2}{(1-\zeta)}.$$

Hence, for the square of the magnitude of the force $\phi_j(z)$ due to the mass m_j at z_j , we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi_{j}(z)|^{2} &= \frac{m_{j}^{2}}{(x-x_{j})^{2} + (y-y_{j})^{2}} \\ &= \frac{m_{j}^{2}(1-\zeta_{j})^{2}(1-\zeta_{j})^{2}}{[\xi(1-\zeta_{j}) - \xi_{j}(1-\zeta_{j})]^{2} + [\eta(1-\zeta_{j}) - \eta_{j}(1-\zeta_{j})]^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

On squaring out the denominator and on using the fact that, being on the sphere S, the points (ξ, η, ζ) and (ξ_j, η_j, ζ_j) satisfy the equations

(11,3)
$$\xi^2 + \eta^2 = 1 - \zeta^2, \qquad \xi_j^2 + \eta_j^2 = 1 - \zeta_j^2,$$

we obtain

(11,4)
$$|\phi_j(z)|^2 = \frac{m_j^2(1-\zeta)(1-\zeta_j)}{2(1-\xi\xi_j-\eta\eta_j-\zeta\zeta_j)}$$

Similarly on using (11,2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\Phi_{j}(P)|^{2} &= \frac{m_{j}^{2}(NP_{j})^{2}}{(PP_{j})^{2}(PN)^{2}} \\ &= \frac{m_{j}^{2}[\xi_{j}^{2} + \eta_{j}^{2} + (\zeta_{j} - 1)^{2}]}{[(\xi - \xi_{j})^{2} + (\eta - \eta_{j})^{2} + (\zeta - \zeta_{j})^{2}][\xi^{2} + \eta^{2} + (\zeta - 1)^{2}]} \,. \end{split}$$

Consequently,

(11,5)
$$|\Phi_{j}(P)|^{2} = \frac{m_{j}^{2}(1-\zeta_{j})}{2[1-\xi\xi_{j}-\eta\eta_{j}-\zeta\zeta_{j}][1-\zeta]}$$

From (11,2), (11,4) and (11,5) it then follows that

$$\left|\frac{\Phi_{j}(P)}{\phi_{j}(z)}\right|^{2} = \frac{1}{(1-\zeta)^{2}} = \frac{(1+x^{2}+y^{2})^{2}}{4}$$

By applying this result to each pair N, P_j , we bring to completion our proof of Th. (11,1).

From this theorem, we derive the important

COROLLARY (11,1). The points of equilibrium in the spherical force field project into the points of equilibrium in the corresponding plane force field.

For obviously, $\Phi(P) = 0$ if and only if $\phi(z) = 0$.

12. Circular regions. In the preceding two sections we were able to associate with every *n*th degree polynomial f(z) an (n - 1)st degree polynomial called the polar derivative of f(z), namely

$$f_1(z) = nf(z) + (\zeta - z)f'(z),$$

whose zeros remain invariant under the linear transformations (10,2). Since $f_1(z)$ is a generalization of the ordinary derivative, its zeros may be expected to satisfy some invariant form of the Lucas Theorem (6,2) that any circle C containing all the zeros of f(z) also contains all the zeros of f'(z). In order to find the corresponding theorem for the polar derivative, we need to consider the class of regions which includes the interior of a circle as a special case and which remains invariant under the transformation (10,2). As is well known, this is the class of so-called *circular regions*, consisting of the closed interiors or exteriors of circles and the closed half-planes.

In our subsequent work involving circular regions we shall find the following lemma very useful.

[3]

LEMMA (12,1). Let $C(z) \equiv |z - \alpha|^2 - r^2$, so that C(z) = 0 is the equation of the circle C with center at point α and radius r. Let z_1 , Z and w_1 be any three points connected by the relation $w_1 = (Z - \overline{z_1})^{-1}$ and let C' be the circle with center at α' and radius r', where

(12,1)
$$\alpha' = (Z - \alpha)/C(Z)$$
 and $r' = r/|C(Z)|$.

Then the point w_1 lies inside or outside the circle C' according as the circle C does or does not separate the two points Z and z_1 .

To prove this lemma, let us calculate $C'(w_1) = |w_1 - \alpha'|^2 - r'^2$.

$$C'(w_1) = [(\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1)^{-1} - (\bar{Z} - \alpha)C(Z)^{-1}][(\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1)^{-1} - (\bar{Z} - \bar{\alpha})C(Z)^{-1}] - [r^2/C(Z)^2] = |\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1|^{-2} + C(Z)^{-1} - [(\bar{Z} - \alpha)(\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1) + (\bar{Z} - \bar{\alpha})(\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1)] |\bar{Z} - \bar{z}_1|^{-2} C(z)^{-1}.$$

Using now the identity $A\overline{B} + \overline{AB} = |A|^2 + |B|^2 - |A - B|^2$ in the form

(12,2)
$$(Z - \alpha)(Z - \bar{z}_1) + (Z - \bar{\alpha})(Z - z_1) = |Z - \alpha|^2 + |Z - z_1|^2 - |z_1 - \alpha|^2,$$

we obtain $C'(w_1) = |w_1|^2 [C(z_1)/C(Z)].$

If one of the points z_1 and Z is inside and the other is outside C, then $C(z_1)/C(Z) < 0$ and hence $C'(w_1) < 0$, implying that w_1 is inside circle C'. If, however, the points z_1 and Z are both inside or both outside circle C, then $C(z_1)/C(Z) > 0$ and hence $C'(w_1) > 0$, implying that w_1 is outside circle C'. This completes the proof of Lem. (12,1).

EXERCISES. Using the above equations, prove the following.

1. If the circle C passes through the point Z, then C' is a straight line passing through Z.

2. If C is the straight line $C(z) = \bar{\alpha}z + \alpha\bar{z} + b = 0$, b real, then C' is a circle passing through Z.

3. If the circle C passes through the point z_1 but not through the point Z, then C' is a circle passing through the point w_1 .

13. Zeros of the polar derivative. We are now ready to state the invariant form of the Lucas Theorem (Th. (6,2)) due to Laguerre [1].

LAGUERRE'S THEOREM (Th. (13,1)). If all the zeros z_i of the nth degree polynomial f(z) lie in a circular region C and if Z is any zero of

(13,1)
$$f_1(z) = nf(z) + (\zeta - z)f'(z),$$

the polar derivative of f(z), then not both points Z and ζ may lie outside of C. Furthermore, if $f(Z) \neq 0$, any circle K through Z and ζ either passes through all the zeros of f(z) or separates these zeros.

Because of the importance of Laguerre's theorem to our subsequent investigations, we shall give two proofs of it and also suggest a third in ex. (13,1).

The first proof will use the results of sec. 11 concerning spherical force fields. Let us assume that Z and ζ are both exterior to the region C. Since all the zeros of f(z) lie in C, it follows that $f(Z) \neq 0$ and, hence, also $Z \neq \zeta$. Through Z a circle Γ may be drawn which separates the region C from the point ζ . As a zero of $f_1(z)$, Z must satisfy the equation

(13,2)
$$f_1(Z)/[(\zeta - Z)f(Z)] = -[n/(Z - \zeta)] + [f'(Z)/f(Z)] = 0$$

and consequently must be an equilibrium point in a plane force field due to particles of total mass zero. With this plane force field may be associated a spherical force field in which points P_j , P and Q and circles C' and Γ' correspond respectively to points z_j , Z and ζ and circles C and Γ and in which the mass at P_j is m_j and the mass at Q is $-n = -(m_1 + m_2 + \cdots + m_p)$. The force Φ_j at P due to the pair consisting of m_j at P_j and of $(-m_j)$ at Q acts in the direction of the circular arc P_jPQ and hence towards the side of circle Γ' not containing C'. The vectors Φ_j are consequently all drawn from P to points on the same side of the tangent line to Γ' at P. According to Th. (1,1) they cannot sum to zero. This means that P cannot be an equilibrium point in the spherical field and that consequently Z cannot be an equilibrium point in the corresponding plane field. This contradiction to our assumption concerning Z proves the first part of Laguerre's Theorem.

To prove the second part of the theorem, let us assume first that a circle K through Z and ζ has at least one z_i in its interior, no z_i in its exterior and the remaining z_i on its circumference. This corresponding circle K' through P and Q on the sphere then has at least one P_i in its "interior", no P_i in its "exterior" and the remaining P_i on its circumference. The forces Φ_i are then directed from P along the tangent line to K' at P or to one side of this line and hence cannot sum to zero. This contradicts the hypothesis that Z is a zero of $f_1(z)$ and so at least one z_i must be exterior to K. Since a contradiction would also follow if K were assumed to have at least one z_k in its exterior and no z_i in its interior, we conclude that K must separate the z_i unless it passes through all of them.

While the proof which we have just completed was based upon the properties of equilibrium points, our second proof of Laguerre's Theorem (13,1) will be based upon the properties of the centroid of a system of masses. If Z is any zero of (13,2), it satisfies the equation

(13,3)
$$\frac{n}{Z-\zeta} = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_j}{Z-z_j}.$$

On substituting into this equation

(13,4)
$$\overline{w} = (Z - \zeta)^{-1}, \quad \overline{w}_j = (Z - z_j)^{-1},$$

we derive the relation

(13,5)
$$w = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j} w_{j}\right)/n, \quad n = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j}.$$

Consequently, w is the centroid of the system of masses m_j at the points w_j . As to the location of the centroid w, we have the

LEMMA (13,1). If each particle w_i in a system of positive masses m_i lies in a circle C', then their centroid w also lies in C' and any line L through w either passes through all the w_i or separates the w_i .

This lemma is intuitively obvious. In order to prove it analytically, let us write eq. (13,5) as

(13,6)
$$m_1(w_1 - w) + m_2(w_2 - w) + \cdots + m_p(w_p - w) = 0.$$

If circle C' did not contain w, it would subtend at w an angle A, $0 < A < \pi$, in which would lie all the vectors $w_j - w$. By Th. (1,1), therefore, the sum (13,6) could not vanish.

Now, to prove the first part of Laguerre's Theorem, let us assume that point Z is exterior to region C and consequently is different from all the z_j . Using Lem. (12,1), we then infer that each w_j defined by (13,4) lies interior to some circle C'; using Lem. (13,1), we infer that the centroid w also lies in C' and, again using Lem. (12,1), we infer that the ζ , defined by eq. (13,4), must also lie in C. That is, not both Z and ζ may lie exterior to C.

In the second part of Laguerre's Theorem we know by hypothesis that Z is different from all the z_i . Any circle K through Z and ζ would transform into a line L through w, the centroid of the w_i . According to Lem. (13,1), either L passes through all the w_i or L separates some w_i from the remaining w_i . Hence, either K passes through all the z_i or it separates some z_i from the remaining z_i . Thus, we have completed the proof of Laguerre's Theorem.

In our discussion of Laguerre's Theorem, we have implied that ζ is a given point and that the zeros Z of $f_1(Z)$ were to be found. Instead, we may consider Z as an arbitrary given point and then define ζ as the solution of the equation

(13,7)
$$n/(Z - \zeta) = f'(Z)/f(Z)$$

Thus ζ may be interpreted as the point at which all the mass must be concentrated in order to produce at Z the same resultant force as the system of masses m_i at the points z_i . That is, ζ may be interpreted as the center of force. Based upon this interpretation, a theorem equivalent to Laguerre's Theorem has been given by Walsh [1b, p. 102].

[§13]

Corresponding to a given *n*th degree polynomial f(z), let us construct the sequence of polar derivatives

(13,8)
$$f_k(z) = (n-k+1)f_{k-1}(z) + (\zeta_k - z)f'_{k-1}(z), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

with $f_0(z) = f(z)$. The poles ζ_k may be equal or unequal.

Like the kth ordinary derivative $f^{(k)}(z)$ of f(z), the kth polar derivative $f_k(z)$ is a polynomial of degree n - k. Just as the position of the zeros of $f^{(k)}(z)$ may be determined by repeated application of the Lucas Theorem (6,2) (see ex. (6,2)), the position of the zeros of $f_k(z)$ may be determined by repeated application of Laguerre's Theorem (13,1). The result [Laguerre 1b, Takagi 1] so obtained may be stated as

THEOREM (13,2). If all the zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z) lie in a circular region C and if none of the points $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_k$ $(k \leq n-1)$ lies in region C, then each of the polar derivatives $f_1(z), f_2(z), \dots, f_k(z)$, in the eqs. (13,8), has all of its zeros in region C.

For, by Laguerre's Theorem (13,1), all the zeros of $f_1(z)$ lie in C; hence, all those of $f_2(z)$ lie in C; hence, all those of $f_3(z)$ lie in C; etc.

Let us express the polar derivative $f_k(z)$ directly in terms of f(z) and ζ_1 , ζ_2, \dots, ζ_k . If from eqs. (13,8) we successively eliminate $f_1(z), f_2(z), \dots, f_{k-1}(z)$, we find

$$f_k(z) = \sum_{j=0}^k (k-j)! C(n-j, k-j) S_j(z) f^{(j)}(z),$$

where $S_j(z)$ is the sum of all the products of the differences $(\zeta_i - z)$ taken j at a time, $i = 1, 2, \dots, k$.

As is clear from this formula, $f_k(z)$ is a generalization of the kth derivative of a polynomial in the sense that, as $\zeta_j \to \infty$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$,

$$\lim \frac{f_k(z)}{(\zeta_1-z)(\zeta_2-z)\cdots(\zeta_k-z)}=f^{(k)}(z).$$

Let us put $f_k(z)$ in still another form which will more clearly show the relation of its coefficients to those of f(z). For this purpose, let us write f(z) and $f_k(z)$ in the form

(13,9)
$$f(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} C(n,j) A_j z^j, \qquad f_k(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-k} C(n-k,j) A_j^{(k)} z^j,$$

where we define $A_j^{(k)} = 0$ for j < 0 and j > n - k.

Substituting into eq. (13,8) the expressions for $f_{k-1}(z)$ and $f_k(z)$, equating the combined coefficient of z^i on the right side of eq. (13,8) to that on the left side and simplifying the resulting formulas, we find

(13,10)
$$A_{j}^{(k)} = (n-k+1)(A_{j}^{(k-1)} + A_{j+1}^{(k-1)}\zeta_{k}).$$

Let us now show that by repeated application of eq. (13,10) we may derive the formula

(13,11)
$$A_{j}^{(k)} = n(n-1)\cdots(n-k+1)\sum_{i=0}^{k}\sigma(k,i)A_{i+j},$$

where $\sigma(k, i)$ is the symmetric function consisting of the sum of all possible products of ζ_1 , ζ_2 , \cdots , ζ_k taken *i* at a time. First we note that for k = 1 eq. (13,11) is the same as eq. (13,10). We have merely to show then that, if (13,11) is valid, $A_j^{(k+1)}$ will be given by eq. (13,11) with *k* replaced by k + 1. According to (13,10) and (13,11)

$$A_{j}^{(k+1)} = n(n-1)\cdots(n-k)\sum_{i=0}^{k} \left[\sigma(k,i)A_{i+j} + \zeta_{k+1}\sigma(k,i)A_{i+j+1}\right]$$

= $n(n-1)\cdots(n-k)\sum_{i=0}^{k} \left[\sigma(k,i) + \zeta_{k+1}\sigma(k,i-1)\right]A_{i+j}$
= $n(n-1)\cdots(n-k)\sum_{i=0}^{k+1}\sigma(k+1,i)A_{i+j}$.

Thus eq. (13,11) has been established by mathematical induction.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Laguerre's Theorem may be derived by assuming Z and ζ as both exterior to region C, by applying the transformation $w = 1/(z - \zeta)$ and finally by using the Lucas Theorem (6,2).

2. If all the points z_j lie on a circle C, the following is true: (a) Z and ζ may not be both interior or both exterior to C; (b) if Z is on C, ζ is located on C at a point separated from Z by at least one z_j ; (c) if ζ is on C, Z is located on C at a point separated from ζ by at least one z_j .

3. Let z_1 be any zero of an (n + 1)th degree polynomial g(z) and Z any zero of its derivative. Then any circle through Z and ζ , where

$$\zeta = Z - n(z_1 - Z),$$

must contain at least one zero of g(z) [Fejér 2]. Hint: Writing $g(z) = (z - z_1)f(z)$, compute g'(Z)/g(Z) in terms of f'(Z)/f(Z) and define ζ as in eq. (13,7).

4. The centroid of the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial f(z) is the same as the centroid of the zeros of f(z).

5. Let f(z) be an *n*th degree polynomial, *t* an arbitrary point for which $f(t)f'(t) \neq 0$, and *L* an arbitrary line through *t*. Let *H* be the half-plane bounded by *L* and containing the point u = t - [f(t)/f'(t)] and let *C* be the circle which passes through the points *t* and v = t - [pf(t)/f'(t)] and is tangent at *t* to *L*. Then, if at least one and at most *p* zeros of f(z), $1 \leq p \leq n$, lie in *H*, at least one of them lies in or on *C*. In order for all *p* zeros to lie on *C*, the remaining n - p zeros must lie on *L* [Nagy 6]. Hint: Let *H*: $|\arg(z - t) - \omega| \leq \pi/2$; let z_i denote the zeros of *f* with $z_i \in H$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, q, 1 \leq q \leq p$, and $z_i \notin H$ for

[§13]

 $j = q + 1, \cdots, n$. Let

$$Re^{i(\psi+\omega)} = -f(t)/f'(t), \qquad r_j e^{i(\phi_j+\omega)} = z_j - t,$$

$$A = R \sec \psi, \qquad a_j = r_j \sec \phi_j$$

with $a_1 = \min a_j$, $1 \le j \le q$. Then show $a_1 \le qA \le pA$ with $a_1 = pA$ only when q = p, $a_1 = a_2 = \cdots = a_p$ and $a_j^{-1} = 0$ for j > p.

6. In ex. (13,5), let p of the derivatives $f^{(k)}(z)$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, be different from zero at z = t. Then at least one zero of f(z) lies in or on each circle through the points t and v [Fejér 2].

7. If z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n are the zeros of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) and $z'_1, z'_2, \dots, z'_{n-1}$ are those of its derivative, then

$$(n-1)^{-1}\sum_{1}^{n-1}|\Im(z_{j}')| \leq n^{-1}\sum_{1}^{n}|\Im(z_{j})|$$

with the equality holding if and only if $\Im(z_j) > 0$ or < 0 for all j. [De Bruijn 1; De Bruijn-Springer 1; Erdös-Niven 1]. Hint: If $\Im(z_j) > 0$ for all j, use Th. (6,1) and ex. (13,4). If $\Im(z_j) > 0$ for $j \leq k$ but $\Im(z_j) < 0$ for j > k, apply the same to $f_k(z) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} (z-z_j) \prod_{k=1}^{n} (z-\bar{z}_j)$, noting that $|f'(x)| \leq |f'_k(x)|$ for all real x.

8. If $z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n, \zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_k$ all lie on a circle C, then all the zeros of $f_1(z), f_2(z), \dots, f_k(z)$ also lie on C. Hint: Use ex. (13,2).

9. Let C_p : $|z - z_0| = r_p$ be the circle on which lie the p roots ζ of the generalized eq. (13,7); viz.,

(13,12)
$$n/(z_0-\zeta)^p = \sum_{k=1}^n 1/(z_0-z_k)^p = (-1)^{p-1} F^{(p-1)}(z_0)/(p-1)!,$$

where F(z) = f'(z)/f(z). Then either at least one zero of f(z) lies inside C_p or all the zeros of f(z) lie on C_p . Hint: Label the zeros z_k in the order of increasing distance from z_0 so that

$$|z_0 - z_1| \leq |z_0 - z_2| \leq \cdots \leq |z_0 - z_n|$$

and study the modulus of the left and middle members of eq. (13,12) [Nagy 6 and 12].

10. Let polar co-ordinates (r, ϕ) be introduced with pole at z_0 and with polar axis along a ray from z_0 through a root ζ of eq. (13,12). Then at least one zero of f(z) lies in the curve with the equation $r^p = r_p^p \cos p\phi$ [Nagy 6,12].

11. Th. (13,1) may be generalized by replacing $f_1(z)$ by

$$F_1(z) = f(z) \sum m_k (\zeta - z_k) / (z - z_k)$$

where the m_k are arbitrary positive constants [Nagy 21].

12. If the *n*th degree polynomial f(z) has all its zeros on the unit circle C and Z is any point on C where $f(Z) \neq 0$, then |f'(Z)/f(Z)| > n/2. Hint: In (13,3) let $|Z - \zeta| < 2$.

13. Let P be an nth degree polynomial, Q(z) = nP(z) - zP'(z) and C an open or closed circular region not containing the origin. If P has a k-fold zero at the origin, $0 \le k \le n$, and n - k zeros in C, then Q(z) has a k fold zero at the origin and n - k - 1 zeros in C [Ballieu 1]. Hint: Apply Th. (13,1) with $\zeta = 0$.

14. The zeros of the distance polynomial given in ex. (6,10) are separated by any sphere that passes through the points with position vectors $\mathbf{\rho}$ and $\mathbf{\delta}$ where $F(\mathbf{\rho})F'(\mathbf{\rho}) \neq 0$ and

$$\boldsymbol{\delta} = \boldsymbol{\rho} - 2n |\nabla F(\boldsymbol{\rho})|^{-2} \nabla F(\boldsymbol{\rho}) \qquad [\text{Nagy 18}].$$

15. Let K be a circular domain in the z-plane and S an arbitrary pointset in the w-plane. If the *n*th degree polynomial f is such that $f(z) \in S$ for all $z \in K$, then f_1 defined by eq. (13,1) satisfies the condition $[f_1(z)/n] \in S$ for all $z \in K$ and $\zeta \in K$ [De Bruijn 2]. Hint: Take C as the complement of K and apply Th. (13,1) to $[f(z) - \lambda]$ where $\lambda \notin S$.

16. If the *n*th degree polynomial satisfies the conditions $|f(z)| \leq 1$, $f(z) \neq 0$ for $|z| \leq 1$, then $|f'(z)| \leq n/2$ for $|z| \leq 1$ [Erdös-Lax, see Lax 1; De Bruijn 2]. Hint: In ex. (13,15) take K: |z| < 1 and S: 0 < |w| < 1 and show S contains a circle of radius |f'(z)|/n. Compare with Cor. (6,4).

14. Generalization to abstract spaces. We now proceed to extend Laguerre's theorem (Th. (13,1)) to vector spaces. For this purpose we need to define an *abstract homogeneous polynomial* and its polar derivative as well as an analogue to a circular region.

Given a vector space E and an algebraically closed field K of characteristic zero, we define P to be a homogeneous polynomial on E with values in K if

(14,1)
$$P(sx + ty) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} P_k(x, y) s^k t^{n-k} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} P_k(y, x) t^k s^{n-k}$$

for all $x, y \in E$ and $s, t \in K$, where $P_k(x, y), k = 0, 1, \dots, n$, have in K values independent of s and t. If $P_n(x, y) \neq 0$, P is said to be of degree n.

From (14,1) we infer that

(14,2)
$$P(y) = P_0(x, y), \quad P(x) = P_n(x, y),$$

(14,3)
$$P_k(x, y) = P_{n-k}(y, x),$$
 $k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n.$

(14,4)
$$P(sx) = s^n P(x), \qquad P_k(\lambda x, \mu y) = \lambda^k \mu^{n-k} P_k(x, y).$$

If E is an N dimensional vector space K^N , we may introduce unit base vectors e_j so that

 $x = x'e_1 + x''e_2 + \cdots + x^{(N)}e_N$

with each $x^{(\nu)} \in K$. We may then use eq. (14,1) to write

(14,5)
$$P(x) = \sum A_{k_1 k_2 \cdots k_N} (x')^{k_1} (x'')^{k_2} \cdots (x^{(N)})^{k_N}$$

where the sum is taken for each $k_j = 0, 1, \dots, n$ and $k_1 + k_2 + \dots + k_N = n$, and where the A_{k_1,k_2,\dots,k_N} are constants with respect to the $x^{(j)}$.

[§14]

By analogy with the formula for $F_1(\xi, \eta)$ in (10,11), we define the first polar of P(x) (with pole at x_1) as

$$P_1(x) = (1/n) \left(\sum_{j=1}^N x_1^{(j)} D_j \right) P(x), \qquad D_j \equiv \partial/\partial x^{(j)}.$$

This is a homogeneous polynomial of degree n - 1 in x if deg P = n. We define also the *m*th polar with poles x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m as

(14,6)
$$P_m(x) = [(n-m)!/n!] \left(\prod_{k=1}^m \sum_{j=1}^n x_k^{(j)} D_j \right) P(x), \qquad 1 \le m \le n.$$

This is a homogeneous polynomial of degree n - m in x if deg P = n.

A direct calculation from (14,5) shows that

$$(14,7) \stackrel{P_{1}(x)}{=} (1/n) \sum A_{k_{1}k_{2}\cdots k_{N}} (x')^{k_{1}} (x'')^{k_{2}} \cdots (x^{(N)})^{k_{N}} \sum_{j=1}^{N} k_{j} x_{1}^{(j)} [x^{(j)}]^{-1}$$

$$(14,8) \stackrel{P_{n}(x)}{=} (n!)^{-1} \sum k_{1}! k_{2}! \cdots k_{N}! A_{k_{1}k_{2}} \cdots k_{N} x_{\alpha_{1}}' \cdots x_{\alpha_{k_{1}}}' x_{\beta_{1}}'' \cdots x_{\beta_{k_{2}}}'' \cdots x_{\nu_{1}}^{(N)} \cdots x_{\nu_{k_{N}}}^{(N)}$$

where $k_j \ge 0$, all j, and $k_1 + k_2 + \cdots + k_N = n$, and where the set $(\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{k_1}; \beta_1, \cdots, \beta_{k_2}; \cdots; \nu_1, \cdots, \nu_{k_N})$, assumes as values all possible permutations of the set $(1, 2, \cdots, n)$. Thus, the *n*th polar

$$P_n(x) \equiv P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$$

where $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ is an *n*-linear symmetric form (linear in each x_k , symmetric in set $\{x_k\}$) with the coincidence property

(14,9)
$$P(x, x, \cdots, x) = P(x).$$

As shown in Hörmander [1] and Hille-Phillips [1], even if E is not finite dimensional, there corresponds to each homogeneous *n*th degree polynomial P(x) a unique symmetric *n*-linear form $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$, with values in K for all $x, x_i \in E$, such that $P(x, x, \dots, x) = P(x)$. This form may be defined as the *n*th polar of P(x) when E is not necessarily finite dimensional.

For $1 \leq m \leq n$ the *m*th polar is the form obtainable from $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ by setting $x_{m+1} = x_{m+2} = \dots = x_n = x$.

Having defined an abstract homogeneous polynomial and its polar form, we next introduce a concept equivalent to "circular region". As an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero, K contains a maximally ordered field $K_0 \subset K$ so that, with the adjunction of i to K_0 where $i^2 = -1 \in K_0$, we obtain [Van der Waerden 1, pp. 229-230] $K_0(i) = K$. For $\alpha, \beta \in K_0, \gamma = \alpha + i\beta$ and $\bar{\gamma} = \alpha - i\beta$ are conjugate elements in K. The order relations (\geq) and (>) apply, however, only to the elements in K_0 . By a Hermitian symmetric form H is meant a function which has values $H(x, y) \in K$ for all $x, y \in E$, and is linear in x for every fixed y and whose conjugate H is such that

(14,10)
$$H(y, x) = H(x, y) \qquad \text{for all } x, y \in E.$$

Now, in Euclidean two space we may specify a circular region by an inequality on the complex variable z = x'/x''

(14,11)
$$az\overline{z} + b\overline{z} + b\overline{z} + c \ge 0,$$
 $a, c \text{ real},$

the left side of which involves a Hermitian symmetric form

$$H(x, y) = ax'\bar{y}' + \bar{b}x'\bar{y}'' + bx''\bar{y}' + cx''\bar{y}''.$$

Similarly, we may define a "circular region" in E by an inequality $H(x, x) \ge 0$.

We now state a generalization of Laguerre's Theorem (Th. (13.1)) due to Hörmander [1].

THEOREM (14,1). Given a homogeneous nth degree polynomial P and a Hermitian symmetric form H with $P(x) \in K$ and $H(x, y) \in K$ for all $x \in E$, $y \in E$. Let

 $E_1 = \{x: x \in E, x \neq 0, H(x, x) \ge 0\}.$

If $P(x) \neq 0$ for all $x \in E_1$, then also the first polar $P_1(x) = P(x_1, x, x, \dots, x) \neq 0$ when both $x \in E_1$ and $x_1 \in E_1$.

PROOF. Since K is algebraically closed, we may factor P(x):

$$P(sx + tx_1) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k s^k t^{n-k} = \prod_{j=1}^{n} (s\tau_j - t\sigma_j)$$

where $a_k = (-1)^{n-k} \sum \tau_{j_1} \tau_{j_2} \cdots \tau_{j_k} \sigma_{j_{k+1}} \cdots \sigma_{j_n}$. The sum is taken for all possible permutations (j_1, j_2, \cdots, j_n) of the set $(1, 2, \cdots, n)$. For a finite dimensional E,

$$(d/dt)P(sx + tx_1) = \sum A_{k_1 \cdots k_N} \prod_{j=1}^N (sx^{(j)} + tx_1^{(j)})^{k_j} \sum_{j=1}^N \{k_j x_1^{(j)} (sx^{(j)} + tx_1^{(j)})^{-1}\}.$$

It follows from the above and (14,8) that

 $a_{n-1} = \{ (d/dt) P(sx + tx_1) \}_{s=1, t=0} = P(x_1, x, \cdots, x),$

(14,12)
$$a_{n-1}/a_n = nP(x_1, x, \cdots, x)/P(x) = -\sum_{j=1}^n (\sigma_j/\tau_j).$$

This holds also when E is not finite dimensional. On the other hand, using (14,10) and the linearity of H(x, y) in x, we find

$$H(\sigma x + \tau y, \sigma x + \tau y) = \sigma H(x, \sigma x + \tau y) + \tau H(y, \sigma x + \tau y)$$

= $\sigma \overline{H(\sigma x + \tau y, x)} + \tau \overline{H(\sigma x + \tau y, y)}$
= $\sigma \overline{\sigma} H(x, x) + \sigma \overline{\tau} H(x, y) + \overline{\sigma} \overline{\tau} \overline{H(x, y)} + \tau \overline{\tau} H(y, y)$
(14,13) = $\sigma \overline{\sigma} H(x, x) + 2\Re[\sigma \overline{\tau} H(x, y)] + \tau \overline{\tau} H(y, y).$

Now, if $P(\sigma_i x + \tau_i y) = 0$ with $\sigma_i x + \tau_i y \neq 0$, then by hypothesis $\sigma_i x + \tau_i y \notin E_1$ and so

$$H(\sigma_j x + \tau_j y, \sigma_j x + \tau_j y) < 0$$
This implies, since $H(x, x) \ge 0$ and $H(y, y) \ge 0$, that

$$\Re(\sigma_j \bar{\tau}_j H(x, y)) < 0 \qquad \qquad \text{for all } j.$$

Dividing the left side by $\tau_i \bar{\tau}_i$ and summing, we find also

$$\Re\left[H(x, y)\sum_{j=1}^{n}(\sigma_j/\tau_j)\right] < 0$$

and thus from (14,12) that $P(x_1, x, x, \dots, x) \neq 0$ for $x \in E_1$, $x_1 \in E_1$, as stated in Th. (14,1).

The question now arises as to when the class \mathscr{P}_1 of homogeneous polynomials not vanishing on E_1 is an empty one. It will be empty if E_1 has a two dimensional linear subspace L. For then with the use of suitable coordinates in L, any P(x)becomes a homogeneous binary polynomial and, as such in an algebraically closed field, it has at least one zero in L.

To formulate conditions for this, we introduce the vector

$$(14,14) \qquad \qquad \xi = x - x_0 t$$

where $t = H(x, x_0)$ and $H(x_0, x_0) = 1$. Then from the linearity of H(x, y) in x follows that

(14,15)
$$H(\xi, x_0) = H(x, x_0) - tH(x_0, x_0) = 0,$$
$$H(tx_0 + s\xi, tx_0 + s\xi) = t\bar{t} + s\bar{s}H(\xi, \xi),$$

s arbitrary. If $H(\xi, \xi) \ge 0$ for some ξ satisfying (14,14), then the left side of (14,15) will be positive and hence the two dimensional space spanned by x_0 and ξ will belong to E_1 . For \mathscr{P}_1 not to be empty, $H(\xi, \xi)$ must be negative definite for every ξ satisfying (14,14). Conversely, if this holds, then the left side positive in (14,15) implies that $t \neq 0$ and hence that the polynomial

$$P(x) = P(tx_0 + \xi) = t^n \neq 0 \text{ for } x \in E_1.$$

That is to say, a necessary and sufficient condition for \mathscr{P}_1 not to be empty is that $H(\xi, \xi)$ be negative definite for all ξ satisfying (14,14) [Hörmander 1].

For other generalizations of Laguerre's Theorem to abstract spaces, we refer the reader to Zervos [5].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. In the expansion

$$P(t_1x_1 + t_2x_2 + \cdots + t_nx_n) = \sum A_{k_1k_2\cdots k_n}t_{k_1}t_{k_2}\cdots t_{k_n}$$

where $t_j \in K$, $x_j \in E$ and where $A_{k_1k_2\cdots k_n}$ are independent of the t_j , $A_{12\cdots n}$ is a symmetric *n*-linear form which reduces to n! P(x) when $x_1 = x_2 = \cdots = x_n = x$ and thus is $n! P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$. Thus also

(14,16)
$$\begin{array}{c} P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) \\ = (1/n!)[\partial^n/\partial t_1 \cdots \partial t_n)P(t_1x_1 + \cdots + t_nx_n)]_{t_1 = \cdots = t_n = 0} \end{array}$$

2. For $x, y \in E$ and $s, t \in K$,

(14,17)
$$P(sx + ty) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) P(x, \cdots, x, y, \cdots, y) s^{k} t^{n-k}$$

[Hille-Phillips 1, p. 763]. Hint: Use induction based upon (14,1).

3. Any homogeneous polynomial P(x) may be expressed as a Newton interpolation polynomial

(14,18)
$$P(y + sx) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(s, k) \Delta_{x}^{k} P(y)$$

in terms of the kth difference $\Delta_x^k P$ where

$$\Delta_x^k P(y) = \sum_{j=0}^k (-1)^{k-j} C(k, j) P(y + jx)$$

[Hille-Phillips 1, p. 761]. Hint: Show that the difference of the right and left sides (14,18) is an *n*th degree polynomial that vanishes at the n + 1 points: $s = 0, 1, \dots, n$.

4. The *n*th polar may be written as

(14,19)
$$P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = (1/n!) \Delta_{x_1 x_2 \cdots x_n}^n P(y)$$

[Hille-Phillips 1, p. 762]. Hint: Show that the right side of (14,19) is a symmetric *n*-linear form satisfying (14,9).

5. If in eq. (14,5) K is the field of complex numbers and $|P(x)| \leq 1$ for $|x|^2 = (x')^2 + (x'')^2 + \cdots + (x^{(N)})^2 = 1$, then $|A_{k_1k_2\cdots k_n}| \leq N! (k_1! k_2! \cdots k_N!)^{-1}$ [Kellogg 1]. Hint: First prove result for N = 2 and then use induction, setting $x^{(i)} = \rho y^{(i)}, j = 1, 2, \cdots, N-1$, with $(y')^2 + (y'')^2 + \cdots + (y^{(N-1)})^2 = 1$. 6. In ex. (14,5) let *DP* denote the directional derivative of *P*. If $|P(x)| \leq 1$ for |x| = 1, then $|DP(x)| \leq n$ for $|x| \leq 1$ [Kellogg 1]. Hint: Use ex. (14,5). Compare with Cor. (6,4).

CHAPTER IV

COMPOSITE POLYNOMIALS

15. Apolar polynomials. So far we have been concerned with the relative position of the zeros of certain pairs of polynomials. In Chapters I and II, the pair consisted of a polynomial and its ordinary derivative. In Chapter III, the pair consisted of a polynomial and its polar derivative. We shall now apply the results obtained to the study of the comparative location of the zeros of other pairs or sets of related polynomials.

We begin with a pair of so-called apolar polynomials. Two polynomials

(15,1)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) A_{k} z^{k}, \qquad g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) B_{k} z^{k}, \qquad A_{n} B_{n} \neq 0,$$

are said to be apolar if their coefficients satisfy the equation

(15,2)
$$A_0B_n - C(n, 1)A_1B_{n-1} + C(n, 2)A_2B_{n-2} + \cdots + (-1)^nA_nB_0 = 0.$$

Clearly, there are an infinite number of polynomials which are apolar to a given polynomial. For example, the polynomial $z^3 + 1$ is apolar to the polynomial $z^3 + 3\alpha z^2 + 3\beta z + 1$ for any choice of the constants α and β .

Let us denote by z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n the zeros of f(z) and by $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_n$ the zeros of g(z) so that

$$f(z) = A_n(z - z_1)(z - z_2) \cdots (z - z_n),$$

(15,3)

$$g(z) = B_n(z - \zeta_1)(z - \zeta_2) \cdots (z - \zeta_n).$$

In terms of the elementary symmetric functions

(15,4)
$$s(n,p) = \sum z_{i_1} z_{i_2} \cdots z_{i_p},$$
$$\sigma(n,p) = \sum \zeta \zeta \zeta \cdots \zeta$$

$$\sigma(n,p)=\sum \zeta_{j_1}\zeta_{j_2}\cdots \zeta_{j_p},$$

the sum of products of these zeros taken p at a time, we may substitute

(15,5)
$$C(n,p)A_{n-p} = (-1)^{p} s(n,p)A_{n},$$

$$C(n,p)B_{n-p} = (-1)^p \sigma(n,p)B_n$$

into eq. (15,2) and so obtain the following criterion for apolarity.

THEOREM (15,1). Two nth degree polynomials f(z) and g(z) are apolar if and only if the elementary symmetric functions s(n, p) of the zeros of f(z) and the elementary symmetric functions $\sigma(n, p)$ of the zeros of g(z) satisfy the relation:

(15,6)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} [C(n, k)]^{-1} s(n, n-k) \sigma(n, k) = 0.$$

APOLAR POLYNOMIALS

THEOREM (15,2). If the polynomial $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k$ satisfies the linear relation

(15,7)
$$L[f(t)] = \sum_{k=0}^{n} l_k a_k = 0,$$

then it is apolar to the polynomial

(15,8)
$$g(z) = L[(t-z)^n]$$

For, as

$$(t-z)^n = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^{n-k} C(n, k) z^{n-k} t^k$$

and thus

$$g(z) = L[(t-z)^n] = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^{n-k} l_k C(n, k) z^{n-k},$$

eq. (15,7) is seen to be of the form (15,2) with $B_{n-k} = (-1)^{n-k} l_k$.

Now, as to the relative location of the zeros of two apolar polynomials, we have the fundamental result of Grace [1], also proved in Kakeya [3], Szegö [1], Cohn [1], Curtiss [1], Egerváry [1] and Dieudonné [4].

GRACE'S THEOREM (Th. (15,3).) If f(z) and g(z) are apolar polynomials and if one of them has all its zeros in a circular region C, then the other will have at least one zero in C.

Let us prove this theorem on the assumption that all the zeros z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n of f(z) lie in a circular region C. If the zeros $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_{n-1}$ of g(z) were all to lie exterior to C, all the zeros of each polar derivative $f_k(z), k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$, given by eqs. (13,8) would according to Th. (13,2) also lie in C.

In particular, let us consider $f_{n-1}(z)$ which according to eqs. (13,9) and (13,11) we may write as

(15,9)
$$f_{n-1}(z) = A_0^{(n-1)} + A_1^{(n-1)}z,$$

where

$$A_0^{(n-1)} = n! \{A_0 + \sigma(n-1,1)A_1 + \sigma(n-1,2)A_2 + \dots + \sigma(n-1,n-1)A_{n-1}\},\$$

$$A_1^{(n-1)} = n! \{A_1 + \sigma(n-1,1)A_2 + \sigma(n-1,2)A_3 + \dots + \sigma(n-1,n-1)A_n\}.$$
In view of eqs. (15.4) and (15.0) and the solution

In view of eqs. (15,4) and (15,9) and the relation

$$\sigma(n-1,k) + \sigma(n-1,k-1)\zeta_n = \sigma(n,k),$$

it follows that

$$f_{n-1}(\zeta_n) = n! \{A_0 + \sigma(n, 1)A_1 + \sigma(n, 2)A_2 + \dots + \sigma(n, n)A_n\}$$

(15,10)
$$= \frac{n!}{B_n} \{A_0B_n - C(n, 1)A_1B_{n-1} + C(n, 2)A_2B_{n-2} - \dots + (-1)^n C(n, n)A_nB_0\}.$$

Since f(z) and g(z) are apolar, eq. (15,10) implies that $f_{n-1}(\zeta_n) = 0$. The point ζ_n is therefore the zero of $f_{n-1}(z)$ and must lie in C.

In other words, at least one of the zeros $\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_n$ of g(z) must lie in any circular region C containing all the zeros of f(z). Similarly, at least one of the zeros z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n of f(z) lies in any circular region containing all the zeros of g(z).

From Grace's Theorem, we may deduce at once the following result due to Takagi [1].

COROLLARY (15,3). If f(z) and g(z) are apolar polynomials, any convex region A enclosing all the zeros of f(z) must have at least one point in common with any convex region B enclosing all the zeros of g(z).

For, if A and B had no point in common, we could separate them by means of a circle C enclosing say A, but not containing any zero of g(z). This would contradict Grace's Theorem.

From Grace's Theorem, we may also infer the following *Coincidence Theorem* due to Walsh [6].

THEOREM (15,4). Let Φ be a symmetric n-linear form of total degree n in z_1 , z_2 , \cdots , z_n and let C be a circular region containing the n points $z_1^{(0)}, z_2^{(0)}, \cdots, z_n^{(0)}$. Then in C there exists at least one point ζ such that

$$\Phi(\zeta,\,\zeta,\,\cdots,\,\zeta)=\Phi(z_1^{(0)},\,z_2^{(0)},\,\cdots,\,z_n^{(0)}).$$

For, if $\Phi(z_1^{(0)}, z_2^{(0)}, \dots, z_n^{(0)}) = \Phi_0$, the difference $\Phi(z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n) - \Phi_0$ is linear and symmetric in the z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n . By the well-known theorem of algebra, any function linear and symmetric in the variables z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n may be expressed as a linear combination of the elementary symmetric functions s(n, p) of these variables. That is, we may find constants B_k so that

$$\Phi(z_1, z_2, \cdots, z_n) - \Phi_0 = B_0 s(n, 0) + B_1 s(n, 1) + \cdots + B_n s(n, n)$$

= $A_n^{-1} \{ B_0 A_n - C(n, 1) B_1 A_{n-1} + \cdots + (-1)^n C(n, n) B_n A_0 \},$

where $f(z) = A_n \prod_{j=1}^n (z - z_j) = \sum_{j=0}^n C(n, j) A_j z^j$. Consequently,

$$\Phi(z_1^{(0)}, z_2^{(0)}, \cdots, z_n^{(0)}) - \Phi_0 = 0$$

is a relation of type (15,2) and by Th. (15,2), f(z) is apolar to the polynomial

$$g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) B_k z^k = \Phi(z, z, \cdots, z) - \Phi_0.$$

By Th. (15,3), g(z) must have at least one zero ζ in C.

Conversely, as may be shown by a reversal of the above steps, Th. (15,4) implies Th. (15,3). In other words, as shown in Curtiss [1], Th. (15,3) and Th. (15,4) are equivalent theorems.

A result similar to Th. (15,4) is also developed in Schaake-Van der Corput [1] and De Bruijn [2].

Grace's Theorem (15,3) was derived by repeated application of Laguerre's Theorem (13,1). Similarly, the following generalization of Grace's Theorem to abstract spaces, due to Hörmander [1], may be derived by repeated application of Th. (14,1).

THEOREM (15,5). Let a homogeneous nth degree polynomial P(x), its nth polar form $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ and a hermitian symmetric form H(x, y) be defined in a vector space E with values in an algebraically closed field K. Let

$$E_1 = \{x: x \in E, x \neq 0, H(x, x) \ge 0\}.$$

If $P(x) \neq 0$ for $x \in E_1$, then $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \neq 0$ when all $x_j \in E_1$.

A further generalization, also due to Hörmander [1], is the following:

THEOREM (15,6). Let P(x), a homogeneous polynomial defined in a vector space E over a field K, assume values in a vector space G over K. Let H(x, y) and E_1 be defined as in Th. (15,5). If M is a supportable subset of G such that $P(x) \in M$ for $x \in E_1$, then also the corresponding polar $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in M$ when all $x_j \in E_1$.

By a supportable set $M \subseteq G$ we mean a set M that is not intersected by any hyperplane through the origin and any point $\xi \in G - M$.

To prove Th. (15,6) for a finite dimensional G, we choose some point $\xi \in G - M$ and a hyperplane L(y) = 0 through ξ and y = 0.

If G is spanned by the vectors $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \dots, \epsilon_m$, then for any $y \in G$ we may write $y = y_1 \epsilon_1 + y_2 \epsilon_2 + \dots + y_m \epsilon_m$ and

$$L(y) = \lambda_1 y_1 + \cdots + \lambda_m y_m$$

where the constants λ_i are so chosen in K that

 $L(\xi) = \lambda_1 \xi_1 + \lambda_2 \xi_2 + \cdots + \lambda_m \xi_m = 0.$

Furthermore

$$P(x) = P_1(x)\epsilon_1 + P_2(x)\epsilon_2 + \cdots + P_m(x)\epsilon_m$$

where each $P_{i}(x)$ is a homogeneous polynomial of degree *n*, with values in *G*.

Since

$$L(P(x)) = \lambda_1 P_1(x) + \lambda_2 P_2(x) + \cdots + \lambda_m P_m(x),$$

L(P(x)) is an *n*th degree homogeneous polynomial whose polar is

$$L(P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)).$$

Since $P(x) \in M$ for $x \in E_1$, it follows that $L(P(x)) \neq 0$ for $x \in E_1$. By Th. (15,5), also $L(P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)) \neq 0$ for all $x_j \in E_1$ and hence

$$P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) \in M.$$

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. In Th. (15,3) if 2n - 1 of the 2n points $z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n, \zeta_1, \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_n$ lie on a circle C, then also the remaining point lies on C.

2. Let $F(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) \alpha_k z^k$ and $G(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) \beta_k z^k$ satisfy the relation $\sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^k C(n, k) \alpha_k \beta_k = 0$. If all the zeros of F(z) lie in a circular region K, then at least one zero of G(z) lies in the circular region K' obtained on inverting K in the unit circle. Hint: Apply Th. (15,3) to

$$f(z) = z^n \overline{F}(1/z)$$
 and $g(z) = G(z)$.

3. If f(z) and g(z) are apolar polynomials with only real zeros, any interval A containing the zeros of f(z) must have at least one point in common with any interval B containing the zeros of g(z). Hint: Use Cor. (15,3).

4. In Th. (15,3), if no zero of g(z) lies in the interior of C, then all zeros of h(z) = f(z)g(z) lie on the boundary ∂C of C or h(z) has a zero of multiplicity exceeding n on ∂C .

5. If from the polynomials (15,1) we form

$$U(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} f^{(k)}(z) g^{(n-k)}(z),$$

then

$$U(z) = n! \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} C(n, k) A_{k} B_{n-k}$$

[Markovitch 4]. Hint: Show U'(z) = 0 and find U(0).

6. If f and g are given as in eqs. (15,1), let

(15,11)
$$f_{k,j}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-k} C(n-k,i)A_{i+j}z^{j},$$

(15,12)
$$g_{k,j}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-k} C(n-k,i) B_{i+j} z^{j}$$

Then the first polar f_1 of f with respect to ξ_1 and the first polar g_1 of g with respect to η_1 will be apolar for all ξ_1 and η_1 if and only if each polynomial $f_{1,0}$, $f_{1,1}$ is apolar to each polynomial $g_{1,0}$, $g_{1,1}$. Hint: Express f_1 and g_1 in terms of $f_{1,0}$, $f_{1,1}$, $g_{1,0}$, $g_{1,1}$.

APPLICATIONS

7. As given by (13,8) with $\zeta_k = \xi_k$, the kth polar f_k with respect to $\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_k$ and the corresponding kth polar g_k of g with respect to $\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_k$ will be apolar for all ξ_i and η_j if and only if each $f_{k,i}$ in eq. (15,11) is apolar to each $g_{k,j}$ in (15,12) for $i, j = 0, 1, \dots, k - 1$ [Goodman 2].

8. If the polynomials f and g have the property specified in ex. (15,7), then any circular region containing all the zeros of f or g contains at least k zeros of the other polynomial [Goodman 2]. Hint: Use ex. (15,7), ex. (19,8) and induction.

9. Let *H* be a Hilbert space over the field *C* of complex numbers with the scalar product $(x \cdot y)$ and norm $|x| = (x \cdot x)^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Let *B* be a Banach space over *C* with norm ||f||. Let P(x) be an *n*th degree homogeneous poynomial and

$$P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$$

its *n*th polar with $P(x) \in B$ and $P(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in B$ for all $x \in H$ and $x_j \in H$. Then

$$\sup_{x \in H} \left[\|P(x)\|/|x|^n \right] = \sup_{x_j \in H} \left[\|P(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)\|/|x_1| |x_2| \cdots |x_n| \right]$$

[Hörmander 1]. Hint: Apply Th. (15,6) with E, G as the product spaces $E = H \times C$, $G = B \times C$: $H(x, t) = ti - (x \cdot x)$, and $M = \{(\xi, \tau): \xi \in B, \tau \in C, t \neq 0, \|\xi\| \leq \alpha |\tau|\}$. Since $[P(x), t^n] \in M$ for $(x, t) \in E$, $H(x, t) \geq 0$, $t \neq 0$, then $\|P(x)\| \leq \alpha |t|^n$.

10. Let the polynomial $f(x) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k} x^{k}$ have only real zeros and satisfy a relation $\sum_{0}^{n} \lambda_{k} a_{k} = 0$ where the λ_{k} are real numbers. Let $\Delta \lambda_{k} = \lambda_{k} - \lambda_{k+1}$, $\Delta^{2} \lambda_{k} = \Delta \lambda_{k} - \Delta \lambda_{k+1}$, \cdots . Then f(x) has at least one zero on the interval $0 \leq x \leq 1$ if and only if the differences $\Delta^{n-k} \lambda_{k}$ are positive for $k = 0, 1, \cdots, n$ [Obrechkoff 13].

11. In order that there exist a transformation (10,2) which carries f and g of eqs. (16,1) into the pair $c_1(Z^n + 1)$ and $c_2(Z^n - 1)$ or the pair c_1Z^n and $c_2Z^{n-1}(Z + c_3)$ with c_1 , c_2 , c_3 constants, it is necessary and sufficient that all the following be satisfied: $A_0B_j + A_jB_0 - A_kB_{j-k} - A_{j-k}B_k = 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \cdots$, $[j/2]; j = 2, 3, \cdots, n, A_jB_n + A_nB_j - A_kB_{n+j-k} - A_{n+j-k}B_k = 0$ for $k = j + 1, j + 2, \cdots, [(n + j)/2]; j = 1, 2, \cdots, n - 2$ where [q] denotes the largest integer not exceeding q [Goodman 3]. Hint: Decompose the transformation into those of forms $z = \alpha Z, z = 1/Z, z = Z + \beta$.

16. Applications. We shall now apply Ths. (15,3) and (15,4) to the study of polynomials h(z) which are derived in various ways by the composition of two given polynomials f(z) and g(z). We shall first consider a result due to Szegö [1].

THEOREM (16,1). From the given polynomials

(16,1)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) A_k z^k, \qquad g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) B_k z^k,$$

let us form the third polynomial

(16,2)
$$h(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) A_k B_k z^k.$$

If all the zeros of f(z) lie in a circular region A, then every zero γ of h(z) has the form $\gamma = -\alpha\beta$ where α is a suitably chosen point in A and β is a zero of g(z).

This follows from Th. (15,3). For, since the equation

$$h(\gamma) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} C(n, k) A_k B_k \gamma^k = 0$$

defines a linear relation L[f(t)] = 0 among the coefficients of f(z), the polynomial

$$L[(t-z)^{n}] = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} C(n, k) B_{k} \gamma^{k} z^{n-k} = z^{n} g(-\gamma/z)$$

is apolar to f(z) and thus has at least one zero α in A. If the zeros of g(z) are denoted by β_1 , β_2 , \cdots , β_n , the zeros of $z^n g(-\gamma/z)$ will be $-\gamma/\beta_1$, $-\gamma/\beta_2$, \cdots , $-\gamma/\beta_n$. One of these will be α . That is, $\gamma = -\alpha\beta_j$ for some j.

Th. (16,1) leads at once to the following result of Cohn [1] and Egerváry [1].

COROLLARY (16,1a). If all the zeros of f(z) lie in the circle |z| < r and if all the zeros of g(z) lie in the circle $|z| \leq s$, then all the zeros of h(z) of eq. (16,2) lie in the circle |z| < rs.

For, by hypothesis $|\alpha| < r$ and $|\beta| \leq s$ and thus $|\gamma| = |\alpha\beta| < rs$.

From Th. (16,1) we may also deduce what is essentially a converse of Lucas' Theorem (Th. (6,1)). We state it for a circular region, though it may be easily proved [Biernacki 4] for any closed bounded convex region [see ex. (16,17)].

COROLLARY (16,1b). Let $A: |z - a| \leq r$, let $\zeta \in A$ and let $E(A, \zeta)$ be the envelope of the circles passing through ζ and having their centers in A. If an nth degree polynomial f(z) has all its zeros in A, then the polynomial $F(z) = \int_{\zeta}^{z} f(t) dt$ has all its zeros in $E(A, \zeta)$. Furthermore $E(A, \zeta)$ cannot be replaced by a smaller region containing all the zeros of each F(z).

To deduce this corollary from Th. (16,1), we write f(z) as in eq. (16,1), take for convenience $\zeta = 0$ and make F(z) = zh(z) by choosing all $B_k = 1/(k+1)$. That is,

$$g(z) = (1/z) \int_0^z (1+t)^n dt = [(1+z)^{n+1} - 1]/[(n+1)z].$$

Thus the zeros of g(z) are $\beta_k = -1 + \exp [2\pi ki/(n+1)]$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Since each zero γ of F(z) has the form $\gamma = -\alpha\beta$ where $\alpha \in A$ and $\beta = \beta_k$ for some k, it lies on the circle through the origin with center at α . Hence, all zeros of F(z) lie in E(A, 0).

That this region cannot be replaced by a smaller one may be seen by taking n odd and $f(z) = (z - b)^n$ for all $b \in \partial A$. In fact, the zeros of F(z) lie on the

APPLICATIONS

boundary $\partial E(A, \zeta)$ of $E(A, \zeta)$ and, as $n \to \infty$, become everywhere dense on $E(A, \zeta)$.

It may be easily verified that $E(A, \zeta)$ is bounded by a Pascal limaçon and that, when A is an arbitrary bounded convex region, $E(A, \zeta)$ is star-shaped with respect to ζ .

Another consequence of Th. (16,1) is the following due to De Bruijn [2].

COROLLARY (16,1c). Given the polynomials f, g and h in eqs. (16,1) and (16,2) and a subset S of the w-plane, let $f(z) \in S$ and $g(z) \neq 0$ for |z| < 1. Then $h(z) \in B_0S$ for $|z| \leq 1$ where $B_0S = \{B_0s : s \in S\}$.

To prove Cor. (16,1c), we replace f(z) by $F(z) = f(z) - \lambda$ and h(z) thus by $H(z) = h(z) - \lambda B_0$. If $\lambda \notin S$, then $F(z) \neq 0$ for $|z| \leq 1$. Hence, in Th. (16,1), $|\alpha| > 1$ and $|\beta| > 1$ so that also $|\gamma| > 1$ and thus $H(z) \neq 0$ for |z| > 1. If therefore λB_0 is a value assumed by h(z) in $|z| \leq 1$, λ is a value assumed by f(z) in $|z| \leq 1$, as was to be proved.

As an application of Cor. (16,1c), we shall prove the following result due to De Bruijn [2].

COROLLARY (16,1d). If the polynomials f and g in eqs. (16,1) have the properties:

 $|f(z)| \leq 1$, $|g(z)| \leq 1$ for $|z| \leq 1$,

then the polynomial h in eq. (16,2) has the property

$$|h(z)| \leq 1 - ||A_0| - |B_0||.$$

For, if $|\lambda| > 1$,

$$G(z) = [g(z) - \lambda]/(B_0 - \lambda) \neq 0 \quad \text{for} \quad |z| \leq 1.$$

Using Cor. (16,1c) with S: $|z| \leq 1$ and g(z) replaced by G(z), we find

$$\begin{aligned} |h(z) - \lambda A_0| / |B_0 - \lambda| &\leq 1, \\ |h(z)| &\leq |\lambda A_0| + |B_0 - \lambda|. \end{aligned}$$

Since this equality holds for all λ , $|\lambda| > 1$, it holds in the limit for all $|\lambda| = 1$. Recalling that $|B_0| = |g(0)| \leq 1$, we may choose $\lambda = \lambda_0 = \exp(i \arg B_0)$ and thus

$$|h(z)| \leq |A_0| + 1 - |B_0|.$$

Using the symmetry of the hypotheses in f and g, we may show \cdot

$$|h(z)| \leq |B_0| + 1 - |A_0|.$$

This result completes the proof of Cor. (16,1d).

The next two theorems, which are due to Marden [12], deal with a different variety of composite polynomials than those treated in Th. (16,1). They are generalizations of the results stated in exs. (16,7), (16,8), (16,9) and (16,10).

THEOREM (16,2). From the given polynomials

(16,3)
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} a_k z^k, \qquad g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k z^k,$$

let us form the polynomial

(16,4)
$$h(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} a_k g(k) z^k.$$

If all the zeros of f(z) lie in the ring R_0

(16,5)
$$R_0: 0 \leq r_1 \leq |z| \leq r_2 \leq \infty,$$

and if all the zeros of g(z) lie in the annular region A

(16,6)
$$A: 0 \leq \rho_1 \leq |z| / |z - m| \leq \rho_2 \leq \infty,$$

then all the zeros of h(z) lie in the ring R_n

(16,7)
$$R_n: r_1 \min(1, \rho_1^n) \le |z| \le r_2 \max(1, \rho_2^n).$$

It is to be observed that the region A has as boundary curves the circles

 $|z| = \rho_1 |z - m|$ and $|z| = \rho_2 |z - m|$,

each of which is the locus of a point which moves so that its distance from the origin is a constant times its distance from the point z = m. The region A in Fig. (16,1) typifies the case $0 < \rho_1 < \rho_2 < 1$. We leave to the reader to sketch



FIG. (16,1)

APPLICATIONS

A in the cases $0 < \rho_1 < 1 < \rho_2$ and $1 < \rho_1 < \rho_2$, as well as in the cases in which either ρ_1 or ρ_2 or both assume the values 0, 1 or ∞ .

To prove Th. (16,2), we shall need

LEMMA (16,2a). If $\beta_1 \neq m$ and if all the zeros of f(z) lie in a circular region C, then every zero Z of the polynomial

(16,8) $f_1(z) = -zf'(z) + \beta_1 f(z)$

may be written in the form $Z = \zeta$ or in the form

(16,9)
$$Z = [\beta_1/(\beta_1 - m)]\zeta$$

where ζ is a point of C.

This lemma follows from Th. (15,4). For, since $f_1(Z)$ is linear and symmetric in the zeros of f(z), there exists in C a point ζ such that

$$0 = f_1(Z) = -mZ(Z-\zeta)^{m-1} + \beta_1(Z-\zeta)^m,$$

whence $Z = \zeta$ or Z has the form (16,9).

We shall need also the

LEMMA (16,2b). If β_1 is a zero of g(z) and if the hypotheses of Th. (16,2) are satisfied, then all the zeros of the $f_1(z)$ in (16,8) lie in the ring R_1 ,

(16,10) $R_1: r_1 \min(1, \rho_1) \leq |z| \leq r_2 \max(1, \rho_2).$

By the hypotheses of this lemma,

(16,11)
$$\rho_1 \leq |\beta_1| / |\beta_1 - m| \leq \rho_2$$

Since all the zeros of f(z) lie in the region $|z| \leq r_2$, it follows from Lem. (16,2a) that

$$(16,12) |\zeta| \leq r_2.$$

Either $Z = \zeta$, whereupon $|Z| \leq r_2$ or Z has form (16,9) whereupon $|Z| \leq \rho_2 r_2$. Hence, $|Z| \leq \max(1, \rho_2)r_2$. Similarly, since all the zeros of f(z) lie in the region $|z| \geq r_1$, it follows by use of Lem. (16,2a) that $|Z| \geq \min(1, \rho_1)r_1$. This verifies Lem. (16,2b).

Finally, we shall need the

LEMMA (16,2c). Let β_1 , β_2 , \cdots , β_n be the zeros of g(z) and let $\{f_k(z)\}$ be the sequence of polynomials

(16,13)
$$f_0(z) = f(z), \quad f_k(z) = \beta_k f_{k-1}(z) - z f'_{k-1}(z), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

If f(z) and g(z) satisfy the hypotheses of Th. (16,2), then all the zeros of $f_n(z)$ lie in the ring R_n .

This lemma is clearly true for n = 1, for then it is identical with Lem. (16,2b). Let us assume its validity for n = k - 1; i.e., that the zeros of $f_{k-1}(z)$ lie in the ring R_{k-1} :

(16,14)
$$r'_1 = r_1 \min(1, \rho_1^{k-1}) \le |z| \le r_2 \max(1, \rho_2^{k-1}) = r'_2$$

Applying Lem. (16,2b) with r_1 and r_2 replaced by r'_1 and r'_2 , we find that all the zeros of $f_k(z)$ lie in the ring R_k since

$$r'_{1} \min(1, \rho_{1}) = r_{1} \min(1, \rho_{1}^{k}), \quad r'_{2} \max(1, \rho_{2}) = r_{2} \max(1, \rho_{2}^{k}).$$

That is, Lem. (16,2c) has been established by mathematical induction.

Now, to prove Th. (16,2), we have only to show that $f_n(z)$ is essentially h(z). For this purpose, let us define

$$g_k(z) = b_n(\beta_1 - z)(\beta_2 - z) \cdots (\beta_k - z), \qquad b_n \neq 0,$$

and compute $f_1(z)$ from eqs. (16,13) as

$$f_1(z) = \sum_{j=0}^m a_j (\beta_1 - j) z^j = b_n^{-1} \sum_{j=0}^m a_j g_1(j) z^j.$$

If we now assume that

(16,15)
$$f_{k-1}(z) = b_n^{-1} \sum_{j=0}^m a_j g_{k-1}(j) z^j,$$

we may compute $f_k(z)$ from eqs. (16,13) as

$$f_k(z) = b_n^{-1} \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^m a_j g_{k-1}(j) (\beta_k - j) z^j \right\} = b_n^{-1} \sum_{j=0}^m a_j g_k(j) z^j.$$

In other words, $h(z) = (-1)^n b_n f_n(z)$ and thus by Lem. (16,2c) all the zeros of h(z) lie in the ring R_n , as was to be proved.

As an alternative to the above, we may write

$$g(z) = (\beta_1 - z)(\beta_2 - z) \cdots (\beta_n - z),$$

apply Lem. (16,2a) repeatedly and thus arrive at the following result also due to Marden [12].

THEOREM (16,2).' If all the zeros of the polynomial f in eq. (16,3) lie in the ring (16,5) and if g is a polynomial of degree n, all the zeros of the polynomial h in eq. (16,4) lie in the ring

 $(16,15)' r_1 \min [1, |g(0)/g(m)|] \le |z| \le r_2 \max [1, |g(0)/g(m)|].$

Another theorem of Marden [12] involving the same polynomials f(z), g(z) and h(z) as in Th. (16,2) is

THEOREM (16,3). Let f(z), g(z) and h(z) be the polynomials defined in Th. (16,2). If all the zeros of f(z) lie in the sector \mathscr{G}_0 :

(16,16)
$$\omega_1 \leq \arg z \leq \omega_2, \quad \omega_2 - \omega_1 = \omega < \pi,$$

and if all the zeros of g(z) lie in the lune \mathcal{L} :

(16,17)
$$\theta_1 \leq \arg \left[z/(z-m) \right] \leq \theta_2, \quad |\theta_1| + |\theta_2| \leq (\pi-\omega)/n,$$

then all the zeros of h(z) lie in the sector \mathscr{S}_n :

(16,18)
$$\omega_1 + \min(0, n\theta_1) \leq \arg z \leq \omega_2 + \max(0, n\theta_2).$$

Here the boundary curves of \mathscr{L} ,

$$\arg z/(z-m) = \theta_1$$
 and $\arg z/(z-m) = \theta_2$,

are the arcs of circles, each of which is the locus of a point in which the linesegment z = 0 to z = m subtends a constant angle θ . The region \mathscr{L} in Fig. (16,2)



FIG. (16,2)

typifies the case that $\theta_1 < \theta_2 < 0$. We leave to the reader to sketch \mathscr{L} in the cases $\theta_1 < 0 < \theta_2$ and $0 < \theta_1 < \theta_2$ as well as in the special cases when either or both θ_1 and θ_2 are 0 or π .

The proof of this theorem is similar to that of Th. (16,2), except that the argument of the Z in eq. (16,9) instead of its modulus is used. The necessary lemmas paralleling Lem. (16,2b) and (16,2c) are given in ex. (16,7).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (16,1) is valid if A is assumed to be an arbitrary convex region [Takagi 1]. Hint: Use Cor. (15,3).

2. If f(z) has only real zeros and g(z) has only real zeros of like sign, then the h(z) of eq. (16,2) has only real zeros. Hint: Use ex. (16,1).

3. If f(z) has only real zeros with a sign of ϵ and g(z) have only real zeros with a sign ϵ' , then the h(z) of eq. (16,2) has only real zeros of sign $(-\epsilon\epsilon')$ [Takagi 1].

4. If f(z) has zeros only in the sector $\theta \leq \arg z \leq \theta'$, where $0 \leq \theta' - \theta < \pi$ and g(z) has zeros only in the sector $\phi \leq \arg z \leq \phi'$ where $0 \leq \phi' - \phi < \pi$, then the h(z) of eq. (16,2) has zeros only in the sector $\theta + \phi - \pi \leq \arg z \leq \theta' + \phi' - \pi$ [Takagi 1].

5. If f(z) has zeros only in the above sector $\theta \leq \arg z \leq \theta'$ and g(z) has only real zeros, then the h(z) of (16,2) has all its zeros in the double sector $\theta \leq \arg(\pm z) \leq \theta'$.

6. The theorems in the above exs. 2 to 5 remain valid when h(z) is replaced by either

$$h_1(z) = \sum_{k=0}^n k! [C(n, k)A_k] [C(n, k)B_k] z^k$$

or

$$h_2(z) = \sum_{k=0}^n [C(n, k)A_k][C(n, k)B_k]z^k.$$

Hint: Use Cor. (18,2c). The results thereby obtained are due to the following: $h_1(z)$: ex. 2, Schur [2]; exs. 3 and 4, Takagi [1]; ex. 5, Takagi [1] and Weisner [3]; $h_2(z)$: ex. 2, Malo [1]; ex. 4, De Bruijn [3]; ex. 5, Weisner [3].

7. If the hypotheses of Th. (16,3) are satisfied, all the zeros of the $f_1(z)$ of eq. (16,8) lie in the sector \mathscr{S}_1 . By induction, all the zeros of the $f_n(z)$ of eq. (16,13) lie in \mathscr{S}_n [Marden 12].

8. If all the zeros of f(z) lie in the circle $|z| \leq r_2$ and if all the zeros of g(z) lie in the half-plane bounded by the perpendicular bisector of the segment z = 0 to z = m and containing the origin, then all the zeros of the h(z) of eq. (16,4) also lie in the circle $|z| \leq r_2$ [Obrechkoff 7, Weisner 4]. Hint: Set $r_1 = \rho_1 = 0$ and $\rho_2 = 1$ in Th. (16,2).

9. If all the zeros of f(z) lie exterior to the circle $|z| = r_1$ and all the zeros of g(z) lie in the half-plane $\Re(z) \ge m/2$, then all the zeros of the h(z) of eq. (16,4) lie exterior to the circle $|z| = r_1$. If all the zeros of f(z) lie on the circle $|z| = r_1$ and those of g(z) lie on the line $\Re(z) = m/2$, then all the zeros of h(z) lie on the circle $|z| = r_1$ and those of g(z) lie on the line $\Re(z) = m/2$, then all the zeros of h(z) lie on the circle $|z| = r_1$ and the zeros of h(z) lie on the circle $|z| = r_1$.

10. If all the zeros of f(z) are real and positive and if all the zeros of g(z) are real and exterior to the interval $0 \le z \le m$, then all the zeros of h(z) of eq. (16,4) are real and positive [Laguerre 1, pp. 200-202; Pólya 6].

11. In Th. (16,2), we may write symbolically

(16,19)
$$h(z) = g(z(d/dz))f(z).$$

12. Let f(z), g(z) and h(z) be defined by eqs. (16,1) and (16,2). Let K denote a circle or straight line and K_I and K_E the two closed regions bounded by K. Let $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_p$ $(p \leq n)$ denote the zeros of f(z) in K_I and $\alpha_{p+1}, \alpha_{p+2}, \dots, \alpha_n$ those not in K_I . Let further

$$f_I(z) = A_n \prod_{j=1}^p (z - \alpha_j) \prod_{j=p+1}^n (z - \alpha_j^*) [(\kappa - \alpha_j)/(\kappa - \alpha_j^*)],$$

$$f_E(z) = A_n \prod_{j=1}^p (z - \alpha_j^*) [(\kappa - \alpha_j)/(\kappa - \alpha_j^*)] \prod_{j=p+1}^n (z - \alpha_j)$$

APPLICATIONS

where α_j^* denotes the image of point α_j in K and κ denotes an arbitrary but fixed point on K. Then

(a) all the zeros of $f_I(z)$ lie in K_I and all those of $f_E(z)$ in K_E ;

(b) $|f_I(z)| = |f_E(z)| = |f(z)|$ on K;

(c) $|f_I(z)| \ge |f(z)|$ in K_E and $|f_E(z)| \ge |f(z)|$ in K_I

[De Bruijn-Springer 2].

13. If $\{f, g\}$ denotes the left side of eq. (15,2), then, in the notation of ex. (16,12), $|\{f,g\}| \leq |\{f_E, g_I\}|$. Hint: Using Grace's Theorem, show that $\{f_E - \lambda f, g_I - \lambda g\} \neq 0$ for all $|\lambda| < 1$ [De Bruijn-Springer 2].

14. Let D(z, L) denote the distance of point z to line L and let $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$; $\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_n$; $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_n$ denote respectively the zeros of the f(z), g(z)and h(z) defined by eqs. (16,1) and (16,2). Then, if $-1 \leq \beta_k \leq 0$ for all k,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} [D(\gamma_{j}, L) - D(0, L)] \leq (B_{n-1}/B_{n}) \sum_{j=1}^{n} [D(\alpha_{j}, L) - D(0, L)]$$

[De Bruijn-Springer 2].

15. Let $\phi(x) = \max(1, |x|)$. Then, for the α_j , β_j and γ_j of ex. (16,14) and for $r_1 > 0$ and $r_2 > 0$ (not necessarily $-1 \leq \beta_k \leq 0$),

$$\prod_{j=1}^n \phi(r_1 r_2 / \gamma_j) \leq \prod_{j=1}^n \phi(r_1 / \alpha_j) \phi(r_2 / \beta_j).$$

Hint: Take the K of ex. (16,12) as the circle |z| = r; apply to $f_E(z)$, $g_E(z)$ and $h_E(z)$ the Jensen Formula

(16,20)
$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \log |f(re^{i\theta})/f(0)| \, d\theta = 2\pi \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log \phi(r/\alpha_j),$$

and use exs. (16,12) and (16,13), noting that $h(u) = \{f(uz), z^n g(-1/z)\}$ [De Bruijn-Springer 2].

16. Let N(r) denote the number of zeros of the *n*th degree polynomial $f(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k z^k$ (where $a_0 a_n \neq 0$) on the disk $|z| \leq r$. Let

$$M(r, f) = \max_{\substack{|z| \le r}} |f(z)|,$$

$$\lambda = n^{-1} \log \{ [M(1, f)]^2 / |a_0 a_n| \}, \qquad \omega = \lambda^{1/2}.$$

Then

 $1 + n^{-1}[N(e^{-\omega}) - N(e^{\omega})] \leq \omega$ [Rosenbloom 1].

Hint: Use the Jensen Formula (16,20) as modified in Rosenbloom [1].

17. Cor. (16,1b) is valid for arbitrary, closed convex regions A. The region $E(A, \zeta)$ is then star-shaped with respect to ζ .

18. If in ex. (16,17) A is the line segment joining given points a and b, then $E(A, \zeta)$ consists of the closed interior of the two circles whose diameters are the line-segments joining ζ to a and to b [Biernacki 4]

19. In Cor. (16,1b) E(A, a) is the disk $|z - a| \leq 2r$. This limit is attained by the zeros of F when n is odd, but may be replaced by the smaller disk $|z - a| < 2r \cos \{\pi/2(n + 1)\}$ when n is even [Biernacki 4].

COMPOSITE POLYNOMIALS

20. If all the zeros of the *n*th degree polynomial f(z) lie in a convex region K containing point a, then all the zeros of $F(z) = \int_a^z f(t) dt$, lie in the domain bounded by the envelope of all the circles passing through a and having centers on the boundary of K [Biernacki 4]. Hint: Take a = 0, apply ex. (16,1) with $g(z) = (1/z) \int_a^z (1 + t)^n dt$ and h(z) = F(z)/z.

21. If all the zeros of the polynomial f(z) lie on the disk $|z - a| \leq r$, all the zeros of the polynomial

$$F(z) = \int_a^z \int_a^{t_p} \cdots \int_a^{t_3} \int_a^{t_2} f(t_1) dt_1 dt_2 \cdots dt_p$$

lie on the disk $|z - a| \leq (p + 1)r$. This is the best result as is shown by the example f(z) = 1 + z, a = 0, r = 1 [Biernacki 4].

22. In Cor. (16,1c) let $S = \{f(z); |z| \le 1\}$. Then also $F_k(z) \in S$ where $F_k(z)$ is the Fejér sum of f(z) defined by

$$(k+1)F_k(z) = \sum_{j=0}^k (k-j+1)C(n,j)A_j z^j, \qquad k \ge n-1$$

[De Bruijn 2]. Hint: Choose

$$g(z) = (k + 1)^{-1}[(k - n + 1)z + k + 1](z + 1)^{k-1}.$$

17. Linear combinations of polynomials. Our next application of the theorems of sec. 15 will be to linear combinations of the polynomials

(17,1)
$$f_k(z) = z^{n_k} + a_{k1}z^{n_k-1} + \cdots + a_{kn_k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, p.$$

We shall assume that the zeros of $f_k(z)$ lie in a circular region C_k . Unless otherwise specified, the region C_k will be bounded by a circle C_k with center c_k and radius r_k . Our general result is embodied in the

THEOREM (17,1). The zeros of the linear combination

(17,2)
$$F(z) = \lambda_1 f_1(z) + \lambda_2 f_2(z) + \cdots + \lambda_p f_p(z),$$

where $\lambda_j \neq 0, j = 1, 2, \dots, p$, lie in the locus Γ of the roots of the equation

(17,3)
$$\lambda_1(z-\alpha_1)^{n_1}+\lambda_2(z-\alpha_2)^{n_2}+\cdots+\lambda_p(z-\alpha_p)^{n_p}=0$$

when the $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \cdots, \alpha_p$ vary independently over the regions C_1, C_2, \cdots, C_p respectively.

This result follows almost at once from Th. (15,4). For, if ζ is any zero of F(z), the corresponding equation $F(\zeta) = 0$ is linear and symmetric in the zeros of each $f_i(z)$. On the strength of Th. (15,4), equality $F(\zeta) = 0$ may be replaced by the equation for ζ obtained from $F(\zeta) = 0$ when all the zeros of each $f_i(z)$ are made to coincide at a suitably chosen point α_i in the region C_i . This leads to eq. (17,3) for ζ . To find all possible positions of ζ , we must allow each α_i to occupy all possible positions in its circular region C_i . In other words, all the zeros of F(z) lie in the locus Γ as defined in Th. (17,1).

It is to be noted that in Th. (17,1) the regions C_i may be half-planes as well

as the interior or exterior of circles.

The particular case p = 2 and $n_1 = n_2 = n$ is one in which we can readily determine Γ . For that case we write $\lambda_2/\lambda_1 = -\lambda$ and denote by $\omega_1, \omega_2, \cdots, \omega_n$, the *n*th roots of λ with $\omega_1 = 1$ when $\lambda = 1$. Eq. (17,3) is the same as the equations

(17,4)
$$(z - \alpha_1) - \omega_k(z - \alpha_2) = 0, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

whose roots are

(17,5)
$$z_k = \frac{\alpha_1 - \omega_k \alpha_2}{1 - \omega_k}$$

where $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ when $\lambda \neq 1$ and $k = 2, 3, \dots, n$ when $\lambda = 1$. The locus Γ will then consist of the ensemble of loci Γ_k of the z_k when α_1 and α_2 vary over their circular regions C_1 and C_2 , respectively.

In order to find Γ_k , we shall need three lemmas which essentially concern the location of the centroid of a system of particles possessing real or complex masses. The first lemma is due to Walsh [1c, pp. 60–61] and [6, p. 169]. All three lemmas are proved in Marden [10].

LEMMA (17,2a). If the points $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_p$ vary independently over the closed interiors of the circles C_1, C_2, \dots, C_p respectively, then the locus of the point α ,

(17,6)
$$\alpha = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j} \alpha_{j},$$

where the m_j are arbitrary complex constants, will be the closed interior of a circle C of center c and radius r, where

(17,7)
$$c = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_j c_j, \quad r = \sum_{j=1}^{p} |m_j| r_j$$

and c_i and r_j denote respectively the center and radius of the circle C_j .

In the case of exclusively positive real m_j , we may deduce Lem. (17,2a) from the theorem of Minkowski [1] which states that the convex point-set K whose support-function (Stützfunktion) is $H = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_j H_j$ is the locus of the point $\alpha = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_j \alpha_j$ when for each $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$ the point α_j has as locus the convex point-set K_j whose support-function is H_j . For, on taking $K_j = C_j$ and setting $c'_j = \Re(c_j), c''_j = \Im(c_j), c' = \Re(c)$ and $c'' = \Im(c)$, we find that, since by definition of H_j the equation $ux + vy = H_j$ must represent the family of lines tangent to C_j ,

and thus that

$$H_{j} = c'_{j}u + c''_{j}v + r_{j}(u^{2} + v^{2})^{\prime 2}$$
$$H = c'u + c''v + r(u^{2} + v^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

To prove Lem. (17,2a) as stated, let us note that

$$|\alpha - c| = \left| \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j}(\alpha_{j} - c_{j}) \right| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{p} |m_{j}| |\alpha_{j} - c_{j}| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{p} |m_{j}| r_{j} = r,$$

which means that every point α defined by (17,6) lies in C. Conversely, if α is any point in or on C, we may write

$$\alpha = c + \mu r e^{i\theta}, \qquad \qquad 0 \leq \mu \leq 1,$$

and associate with this α the points α_i

$$\alpha_j = c_j + \mu(|m_j|/m_j)r_j e^{i\theta}.$$

Each point α_j lies in or on C_j and together they satisfy eq. (17,6). In other words, the locus of the point α of eq. (17,6) is the closed interior of circle C.

We turn next to

LEMMA (17,2b). If the point α_1 describes the closed exterior of the circle C_1 but the remaining α_j describe the closed interiors of the circles C_j , then the locus of the point α of eq. (17,6) is the closed exterior of the circle C of center c and radius r, where

(17,8)
$$c = \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_j c_j, \quad r = |m_1| r_1 - \sum_{j=2}^{p} |m_j| r_j$$

provided in (17,8) r > 0, and is the entire plane if $r \leq 0$.

To prove this lemma when r > 0, let us note that now

$$\begin{aligned} |\alpha - c| &= \left| \sum_{j=1}^{p} m_{j} (\alpha_{j} - c_{j}) \right| \geq |m_{1}| |\alpha_{1} - c_{1}| - \sum_{j=2}^{p} |m_{j}| |\alpha_{j} - c_{j}| \\ &\geq |m_{1}| r_{1} - \sum_{j=2}^{p} |m_{j}| r_{j} = r. \end{aligned}$$

Conversely, with every point α

$$\alpha = c + \mu r e^{i\theta}, \qquad \qquad \mu \ge 1,$$

which lies on or outside C, we may associate the points α_i defined by the equations

$$m_1(\alpha_1 - c_1) = [|m_1| r_1 + (\mu - 1)r]e^{i\theta},$$

$$m_j(\alpha_j - c_j) = -|m_j| r_j e^{i\theta}, \qquad j = 2, 3, \cdots, p.$$

These α_i satisfy eq. (17,6). Furthermore, this point α_1 lies on or outside circle C_1 , whereas the remaining points α_i lie on their respective circles C_i . That is, every point α of the locus lies in C and every point of C is a point of the locus.

If r = 0, the locus C is obviously the entire plane.

If r < 0, let us choose a circle C'_1 concentric with C_1 of radius r'_1 such that

$$r' = |m_1| r'_1 - \sum_{j=2}^p |m_j| r_j = 0.$$

76

Thus $r'_1 > r_1$ and hence the exterior of C'_1 is contained in the exterior of C_1 and the locus C' of α corresponding to the circles C'_1 , C_2 , C_3 , \cdots , C_p is contained in the locus C of α corresponding to the circles C_1 , C_2 , \cdots , C_p . Since C' is the entire plane, so is C.

To complete the discussion of the locus of α , we add

LEMMA (17,2c). If two or more of the α_i vary over the closed exteriors of their circles C_i , then the locus of point α is the entire plane.

For example, let us suppose that α_1 varies over the closed exterior of the circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 and α_2 varies over the closed exterior of C_2 while the remaining α_j vary over the closed interiors of the circles C_j . We may then choose a circle C'_2 whose interior lies exterior to C_2 and whose radius r'_2 satisfies the inequality

$$|m_1| r_1 - |m_2| r_2' - \sum_{j=3}^p |m_j| r_j \leq 0.$$

The locus C' of α corresponding to the exterior of C_1 and the interiors of C'_2 , C_3, \dots, C_p is by Lem. (17,2b) the entire plane. As C'_2 lies exterior to C_2 , the locus C contains C' and hence is also the entire plane.

Returning now to discussion of the locus of the points z_k of eq. (17,5), we may on the basis of Lems. (17,2a) and (17,2b) deduce from Th. (17,1) two theorems, of which the first is due to Walsh [6].

THEOREM (17,2a). If all the zeros of $f_1(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$ lie in or on the circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 and if all the zeros of $f_2(z) = z^n + b_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + b_n$ lie in or on the circle C_2 with center c_2 and radius r_2 , then each zero of the polynomial

(17,9)
$$h(z) = f_1(z) - \lambda f_2(z), \qquad \lambda \neq 1,$$

lies in at least one of the circles Γ_k with center at γ_k and radius ρ_k , where

(17,10)
$$\gamma_k = \frac{c_1 - \omega_k c_2}{1 - \omega_k}, \qquad \rho_k = \frac{r_1 + |\omega_k| r_2}{|1 - \omega_k|}$$

and where the ω_k $(k = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ are the nth roots of λ . If $\lambda = 1$, the same result holds provided the root $\omega_k = 1$ is omitted and provided the closed interiors of C_1 and C_2 have no point in common.

THEOREM (17,2b). If in the notation of Th. (17,2a) each zero of $f_1(z)$ lies on or outside circle C_1 , if each zero of $f_2(z)$ lies in or on circle C_2 and if $r_1 > r_2 |\lambda|^{1/n}$, then each zero of h(z) in eq. (17,9) lies on or outside at least one of the circles Γ_k with center γ_k and radius ρ_k , where

(17,11)
$$\gamma_k = \frac{c_1 - \omega_k c_2}{1 - \omega_k}, \quad \rho_k = \frac{r_1 - |\omega_k| r_2}{|1 - \omega_k|}.$$

So far we have obtained, by use of Lems. (17,2a) and (17,2b), some results concerning the location of the zeros of the linear combination h(z) given in eq. (17,9). For this same function h(z), we may obtain an altogether different set of results if we write eqs. (17,4) in the form

(17,12)
$$\frac{(z_k - c_1) - (\alpha_1 - c_1)}{(z_k - c_2) - (\alpha_2 - c_2)} = \omega_k \, .$$

The new results will be in terms of the ellipse E with points c_1 and c_2 as foci and $|r_1 - r_2|$ as major axis, the hyperbola H with c_1 and c_2 as foci and $(r_1 + r_2)$ as transverse axis, and the conic K having $|\lambda|^{1/n}$ as eccentricity, c_1 as focus and the line $\Re(z) = \kappa$ as directrix, with

(17,13)
$$\kappa = \sigma - r_1 |\lambda|^{-1/n}.$$

These new results will be embodied in the following three theorems, which are due to Walsh [3c] in the case the parameter $\lambda = 1$ in eq. (17,9) and to Nagy [10] for other values of λ .

First we shall prove

THEOREM (17,3a). In Th. (17,2a), if each zero of $f_1(z)$ lies on or outside circle C_1 , if each zero of $f_2(z)$ lies in or on circle C_2 and if circle C_2 is contained in circle C_1 , then no zero of the polynomial $h(z) = f_1(z) - \lambda f_2(z)$, $|\lambda| \leq 1$, lies interior to the ellipse E.

By the hypothesis of Th. (17,3a), α_1 lies on or outside C_1 , α_2 lies in or on C_2 and

$$(17,14) |c_2 - c_1| < r_1 - r_2.$$

Furthermore, since $|\lambda| \leq 1$, $|\omega_k| \leq 1$ for all k. From (17,12) it then follows that

(17,15)
$$1 \ge |\omega_k| \ge \frac{|\alpha_1 - c_1| - |z_k - c_1|}{|\alpha_2 - c_2| + |z_k - c_2|} \ge \frac{r_1 - |z_k - c_1|}{r_2 + |z_k - c_2|}$$

and, consequently,

 $|z_k - c_1| + |z_k - c_2| \ge r_1 - r_2 > 0.$

In short, z_k must lie on or outside E.

Next, we shall prove

THEOREM (17,3b). If each zero of $f_1(z)$ lies in or on the circle C_1 , if each zero of $f_2(z)$ lies in or on the circle C_2 and if C_1 and C_2 have no common points, then no zero of the polynomial $h(z) = f_1(z) - \lambda f_2(z)$ may lie interior to H_1 if $|\lambda| \ge 1$, and none interior to H_2 if $|\lambda| \le 1$, H_1 and H_2 being the branches of hyperbola H containing respectively c_1 and c_2 .

78

In this theorem a point "interior to a branch H_j " of a hyperbola means one from which no real tangents to H_j can be drawn; in contrast, a point outside H_j means one from which two real tangents to H_j can be drawn.

By hypothesis, α_1 lies in or on C_1 , α_2 lies in or on C_2 and

$$(17,16) |c_1 - c_2| > r_1 + r_2.$$

If $|\lambda| \ge 1$ and thus $|\omega_k| \ge 1$, we find from (17,12)

(17,17)
$$1 \leq |\omega_k| \leq \frac{|z_k - c_1| + |\alpha_1 - c_1|}{|z_k - c_2| - |\alpha_2 - c_1|} \leq \frac{|z_k - c_1| + r_1}{|z_k - c_2| - r_2}$$

provided $|z_k - c_2| - r_2 > 0$; that is, provided z_k lies outside C_2 . From (17,17), we deduce that

$$|z_k - c_2| - |z_k - c_1| \leq r_1 + r_2$$

which means that z_k is on or outside of H_1 . Similarly, if $|\lambda| \leq 1$ and thus $|\omega_k| \leq 1$, we find from (17,12) that

(17,18)
$$1 \ge |\omega_k| \ge \frac{|z_k - c_1| - |\alpha_1 - c_1|}{|z_k - c_2| + |\alpha_2 - c_2|} \ge \frac{|z_k - c_1| - r_1}{|z_k - c_2| + r_2}.$$

This implies that

(17,19)
$$|z_k - c_1| - |z_k - c_2| \leq r_1 + r_2$$

and therefore that z_k lies on or outside of H_2 .

Finally, we shall establish

THEOREM (17,3c). If each zero of $f_1(z)$ lies in or on the circle C_1 , if each zero of $f_2(z)$ lies in a closed half-plane S satisfying the relation $\Re(z) \ge \sigma > 0$ and having no points in common with C_1 , then each zero of $h(z) = f_1(z) - \lambda f_2(z)$, exterior to S, lies on the opposite side of conic K as its focus c_1 .

By hypothesis, α_1 lies in C_1 , α_2 lies in S and $\sigma - \Re(c_1) > r_1$. From eq. (17,12) we have for any point z_k exterior to S and C_1

$$|\lambda|^{1/n} = |\omega_k| \leq \frac{|z_k - c_1| + |\alpha_1 - c_1|}{|z_k - \alpha_2|} \leq \frac{|z_k - c_1| + r_1}{|\Re(\alpha_2 - z_k)|}$$

$$\leq \frac{|z_k - c_1| + r_1}{\sigma - \Re(z_k)}$$

and hence,

(17,21)
$$\left\{-\frac{r_1}{|\lambda|^{1/n}} + \sigma - \Re(z_k)\right\} \leq |z_k - c_1|/|\lambda|^{1/n}$$

Since the expression on the left side of (17,21) is the distance of z_k to line $\Re(z) = \kappa$ (see (17,13)), each point z_k lies on the side of conic K which does not contain the focus c_1 .

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If all the zeros of a polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in a circle $|z| \leq r$, then all the zeros of F(z) = f(z) - c lie in the circle $|z| \leq r + |c/a_n|^{1/n}$. Hint: Use Th. (15,4) and in eq. (17,1) take $f_1(z) = f(z)$, $n_2 = 0$ and p = 2 [Walsh 6].

2. If all the points α_j are exterior to circle C_1 with center at c_1 and radius r_1 and if all the points β_j are interior to a concentric circle C_2 of radius r_2 , $|\lambda|^{1/n}r_2 < r_1$, then no zero of h(z) in (17,9) lies inside the concentric circle Γ of radius $\rho = (r_1 - r_2 |\lambda|^{1/n})/(1 + |\lambda|^{1/n})$ [Nagy 10]. Hint: Use Th. (17,2b).

3. If ξ is any zero of $h(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1}$, then at least one zero of $f_1(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$ lies in any circular region containing all the points $z_k = \xi(1 - e^{i2\pi k/n}), k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n-1$. Thus at least one zero of $f_1(z)$ lies in the circle $|z| \leq 2 |\xi|$ and, if n is odd, at least one in the circle $|z| \leq 2 |\xi| \cos (\pi/2n)$. Note: limit is attained by $f_1(z) = (1 + z)^n$ [Szegö 1]. Hint: Apply Th. (17,2b).

4. The trinomial eq. $1 - z - cz^n = 0$ has at least one root in every circular region containing all the points $z_k = 1 - e^{2\pi k i/n}$, $k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$. Thus, it has at least one root in the circle $|z| \leq 2$; if *n* is odd, at least one root in the circle $|z| \leq 2 \cos(\pi/2n)$. Hint: Apply ex. (17,3) [Szegö 1].

5. An equivalent statement of the result in ex. (17,3) is that, if $f_1(z) \neq 0$ in $|z| \leq R$, then $h(z) \neq 0$ in $|z| \leq R/2$ if *n* is even and in $|z| \leq (R/2) \sec (\pi/2n)$ if *n* is odd. The example $f_1(z) = (z - R)^n$ shows that these are the best possible limits.

6. Let $f_1(z) = z^n + A_k z^{n-k} + A_{k+1} z^{n-k-1} + \cdots + A_n$ and $h(z) = A_{k+1} z^{n-k-1} + \cdots + A_n$. If h(z) has at least one zero in $|z| \leq r$, then $f_1(z)$ has at least one zero in $|z| \leq 2r + (A_k)^{1/k}$. Hint: In ex. (17,2) take $f_2(z) = z^n + A_k z^{n-k}$, and $h(z) = f_1(z) - f_2(z)$ [Nagy 10].

7. Let r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n be any positive numbers and A any complex number such that $r_1r_2 \cdots r_n = |A|$. Let $C_j: |z - z_j| = r_j$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$, and let $f(z) = (z - z_1)(z - z_2) \cdots (z - z_n)$. Then among the A-points of f(z) (that is, the points where f(z) = A) none lies inside or outside all the circles C_j . If $|B| \leq |A|$, each B-point lies in at least one circle C'_j concentric with C_j and of radius $r'_j = |B|/A|^{1/n}r_j$; p B-points lie in any point-set K comprised of the closed interiors of p circles C_j . Hint for last result: Study the variation of the Z-points as Z decreases continuously from A to 0 [Nagy 11].

8. Let u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n be *n* distinct points inside a circular region *C* and let v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n be *n* distinct points outside *C*. Then the determinant $|(u_j - v_k)^n|$, *j*, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, cannot vanish. Hint: $f(z) = (z - u_1)(z - u_2) \cdots (z - u_n)$ is, due to the linearity of eq. (15,2) in the A_j , not only apolar to $(z - u_j)^n$ for each *j*, but also apolar to the polynomial $g(z) = \sum_{j=1}^n c_j(z - u_j)^n$ for arbitrary constants c_j . Choose c_j so that $g(v_k) = 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Szegö 1].

9. If $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n \neq 0$ for |z| < r and if $0 , then <math>f_p(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_{n-p} z^{n-p} \neq 0$ for |z| < r/(p+1) [Biernacki 4].

10. If in ex. (17,9) z_n and z_{n-1} are the zeros, smallest in absolute value, of f(z)

and $f_1(z)$ respectively, then $|z_n| \leq 2 |z_{n-1}|$. Hint: Show the product of the zeros of $g(Z) = f(z_{n-1} + Z)$ is $(-1)^n z_{n-1}^n$ and thus, if Z_n is the zero, smallest in absolute value, of g, then $|Z_n| \leq |z_{n-1}|$.

11. If $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n \neq 0$ for |z| < 1 and if $q(z) = \lambda_1 a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + \dots + \lambda_k a_{n_k} z^{n_k}$ where $0 < n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_k < n$ and $|\lambda_j| \leq 1$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, then $F(z) = f(z) + q(z) \neq 0$ for $|z| < \rho$ where ρ is the positive root $(\rho < 1)$ of the equation

$$(1 - \rho)^n = \sum_{j=1}^k C(n, n_j) \rho^{n_j}$$
 [Rahman 1].

Hint: Apply Ths. (15,2) and (15,3) with L[f(t)] = F(Z) = 0 where Z is any zero of F.

12. Let $f(z) = a(z - z_1) \cdots (z - z_n)$, let C_k be the circle $|z - z_k + h| = |\lambda_k| |z - z_k - h|$ with $|\lambda_k| > 1$ and let K be the intersection of the interiors of all the C_k , $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$. Then $F(z) = f(z + h) + \lambda f(z - h) \neq 0$, $\lambda = \lambda_1 \lambda_2 \cdots \lambda_n$, $z \in K$ [Kuipers 3]. Hint: Show $|f(Z + h)|/f(Z - h)| > |\lambda|$ for $Z \in K$.

13. Let $S_1(a, \theta, \phi) : \theta \leq \arg(z - a) \leq \theta + \phi$, $0 \leq \phi < \pi$ and $S_2(a, \theta, \phi) = S_1(a, \theta, \phi) \cup S_1(a, \theta + \pi, \phi)$. Let $f(z) = a(z - z_1) \cdots (z - z_n)$ and

$$F(z) = f(a + b(z - a)) - \lambda f(a + \beta(z - a))$$

where $|\lambda| = 1$, $\beta = e^{2i\alpha}b \neq b$. Then, if all the zeros of f lie in $S_1(a, \theta, \phi)$, all the zeros of F lie in $S_2(a, \theta - \alpha, \phi)$ [Han-Kuipers 1]. Hint: If $z \notin S_2(a, \theta - \alpha, \phi)$, show $|a + b(z - a) - z_k| / |a + \beta(z - a) - z_k| > 1$ or < 1 for all k.

14. Let f and g be two polynomials of exact degree n and let F(z) = f(z)/g(z). If α and β are respectively a finite zero and a finite pole of F and if $C = f(\beta)/g(\alpha)$, then F assumes every value λ with $|\lambda| < |C|$ either at least once inside the circle

$$K: |z - \alpha| = |\lambda/C|^{1/n} |z - \beta|$$

or only on K. If $0 < \omega = |\arg(-\lambda/C)| \le \pi$, then F assumes the value λ either at least once inside the region S or only on the boundary of S, where S is the set of all points from which the line segment from α to β subtends an angle of at least ω/n [Nagy 19b]. Hint: Consider $h(z) = f(z) - \lambda g(z)$.

18. Combinations of a polynomial and its derivatives. We conclude the present chapter with the application of the theorems of sec. 15 to linear and other combinations of a polynomial and its derivatives.

We begin with a theorem due to Walsh [6].

THEOREM (18,1). Let

(18,1)
$$f(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j = a_n \prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \alpha_j),$$

(18,2)
$$g(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j z^j = b_n \prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \beta_j),$$

(18,3)
$$h(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} (n-j)! \ b_{n-j} f^{(j)}(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} (n-j)! \ a_{n-j} g^{(j)}(z).$$

If all the zeros of f(z) lie in a circular region A, then all the zeros of h(z) lie in the point set C consisting of the n circular regions obtained by translating A in the amount and direction of the vectors β_j .

To prove this theorem, we shall assume Z to be any zero of h(z); i.e.,

(18,4)
$$h(Z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} (n-j)! \ b_{n-j} f^{(j)}(Z) = 0.$$

Since eq. (18,4) is a linear expression in the coefficients of f(z), we infer from Th. (15,2) that f(z) is a polar to the polynomial obtained on replacing f(z) in eq. (18,4) by $(Z - z)^n$; that is,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} (n-j)! b_{n-j} d^{(j)} (Z-z)^n / (dZ)^j = n! g(Z-z)^n$$

According to Th. (15,3), at least one of the *n* zeros $Z - \beta_j$ of g(Z - z) must lie in the circular region A containing the zeros of f(z). That is, $Z = \alpha + \beta_j$, where α is a point of A.

An interesting special case under Th. (18,1) is the one in which

(18,5)
$$g(z) = z^{n-1}(z - n\lambda_1)$$

and thus

$$h(z) = n! f(z) - (n\lambda_1)(n-1)! f'(z).$$

Since in this case $\beta_1 = n\lambda_1$, and $\beta_2 = \beta_3 = \cdots = \beta_n = 0$, we obtain the following result [Walsh 6, 9; Marden 3, 10].

COROLLARY (18,1). If all the zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z) lie in a circular region A, all the zeros of the linear combination

(18,6)
$$f_1(z) = f(z) - \lambda_1 f'(z)$$

lie in the point-set comprised of both A and $A' = T(A, n\lambda_1)$, A' being the region obtained on translating A in the magnitude and direction of the vector $(n\lambda_1)$.

When used in conjunction with Cor. (15,3), the apolarity of f(z) and g(Z - z), which led to Th. (18,1), permits us to infer that any convex region A containing all the zeros of f(z) must overlap every convex region B' containing the zeros of g(Z - z). Since B' may be considered as the locus of the point $z = Z - \beta$ when β varies over a convex region B containing the zeros of g(z), each zero Z of h(z) is expressible in the form $Z = \alpha + \beta$ where α and β are points of A and B respectively. In other words, the following result of Takagi [1] has been proved.

THEOREM (18,2). Let the polynomials f(z), g(z) and h(z) be defined by the eqs. (18,1), (18,2) and (18,3). If all the zeros of f(z) lie in a convex region A and all

the zeros of g(z) lie in a convex region B, then all the zeros of h(z) lie in the convex region C which is the locus of the points $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$ when the points α and β vary independently over the regions A and B respectively.

If g(z) is taken as the polynomial (18,5), the convex region B may be taken as the line-segment joining the points z = 0 and $z = n\lambda_1$. We thereby derive a result due to Takagi [1].

COROLLARY (18,2a). If all the zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z) lie in a convex region A, then all the zeros of the polynomial

(18,7)
$$f_1(z) = f(z) - \lambda_1 f'(z)$$

lie in the convex region A_1 swept out on translating A in the magnitude and direction of the vector $n\lambda_1$. That is, $A(v) = \bigcup_{\mu_1} T(A, \mu_1 n \lambda_1), 0 \leq \mu_1 \leq v, A_1 = A(1)$.

Since $A_1 \subset A^* = A(\infty)$, we conclude from Cor. (18,2a) that all the zeros of f_1 lie in A^* , a result due to Fujiwara [2].

We have stated Cor. (18,2a) because, though weaker than Cor. (18,1), it is better suited than Cor. (18,1) to iteration. Let us define the sequence of polynomials

$$f_k(z) = f_{k-1}(z) - \lambda_k f'_{k-1}(z), \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, p,$$

with $f_0(z) = f(z)$. Let us also define the sequence of regions

$$A_0 = A, \qquad A_k = \bigcup T(A_{k-1}, n\lambda_k\mu_k), \qquad 0 \leq \mu_k \leq 1.$$

Clearly, $A_k = \bigcup T(A, n(\mu_1\lambda_1 + \mu_2\lambda_2 + \cdots + \mu_k\lambda_k))$, the union being taken for $0 \le \mu_j \le 1, j = 1, 2, \cdots, p$. Fig. (18, 1) illustrates the case k = 2 when A



FIG. (18,1)

COMPOSITE POLYNOMIALS

84

is a circle. By Cor. (18,2a), region A_k contains all the zeros of $f_k(z)$ if the region A_{k-1} contains all the zeros of $f_{k-1}(z)$. But, as we may write symbolically,

$$f_k(z) = (1 - D\lambda_k) f_{k-1}(z), \qquad D = d/dz,$$

we may write

$$f_p(z) = (1 - D\lambda_p)(1 - D\lambda_{p-1})\cdots(1 - D\lambda_1)f(z).$$

This establishes the following result due to Takagi [1].

COROLLARY (18,2b). Let f(z) be an nth degree polynomial having all its zeros in a convex region A and let $\Lambda(z)$ be the polynomial

$$\Lambda(z) = (1 - \lambda_1 z)(1 - \lambda_2 z) \cdots (1 - \lambda_p z)$$

Then all the zeros of the polynomial

(18,8)
$$F(z) = \Lambda(D)f(z), \qquad D = d/dz,$$

lie in the above-defined convex region A_p .

Of special interest is the case that $f(z) = z^n$ and that $\Lambda(z)$ is an *n*th degree polynomial for which the points λ_k lie in a convex sector S with vertex at the origin. Since each point $n\lambda_k$ also lies in S, each region A_k will lie in S provided the preceding region A_{k-1} lies in S. Now, the region A may be taken as the point z = 0. Since the corresponding region A_1 will be the line-segment joining the points z = 0 and $z = n\lambda_1$, the region A_1 lies in S and hence all the subsequent regions A_2, A_3, \dots, A_p lie in S.

Since the λ_k are the zeros of the polynomial

$$g(z) = z^n \Lambda(1/z)$$

we have proved

COROLLARY (18,2c). If all the zeros of the polynomial

$$g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_n z^n$$

lie in a convex sector S with the vertex at the origin, then so do also all the zeros of the polynomial

$$G(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + (b_2 z^2/2!) + \cdots + (b_n z^n/n!).$$

Cor. (18,2c) as stated is due to Takagi [1], but, in the special case that S is the positive or negative axis of reals, it had been previously proved by Laguerre [1, p. 31].

Thus far, we have considered linear combinations of a single polynomial and its derivative. Let us now study the linear combinations of the products $[f_1^{(j)}(z)f_2^{(n-j)}(z)]$ of the derivatives of two given polynomials $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$. The first result which we shall prove is the following one due to Walsh [6]:

THEOREM (18,3). Let the zeros of a polynomial $f_1(z)$ of degree m_1 have as locus the closed interior of a circle C_1 of center α_1 and radius r_1 and let the zeros of a polynomial $f_2(z)$ of degree m_2 have as locus the closed interior of a circle C_2 of center α_2 and radius r_2 . Let the polynomial g(z) be defined by the equation

$$g(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} C(m_1, j) C(m_2, n - j) B_j z^{n-j} = b z^q \prod_{j=1}^{p} (z - \beta_j)$$

where the binomial coefficient C(k, j) = 0 if j > k or j < 0, where $p + q \leq n < m_1 + m_2$, and where $\beta_j \neq 0$, $\beta_j \neq 1$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$. Then the zeros of the polynomial

$$h(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} C(n, j) B_{j} f_{1}^{(j)}(z) f_{2}^{(n-j)}(z)$$

have as locus the point-set Γ consisting of the closed interior of C_1 if $m_1 > n$, the closed interior of C_2 if $m_2 > n$ and the closed interiors of the p circles Γ_j of center γ_j and radius ρ_j , where

$$\gamma_j = \frac{\alpha_1 - \beta_j \alpha_2}{1 - \beta_j}, \quad \rho_j = \frac{r_1 + |\beta_j| r_2}{|1 - \beta_j|}, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, p.$$

To establish that Γ is the locus of the zeros of h(z), we must show first that every zero of h(z) lies in Γ and, secondly, that every point of Γ is a possible zero of h(z). Let Z be any zero of h(z). By Th. (15,4) the equation h(Z) = 0being linear and symmetric in the zeros of both $f_1(z)$ and of $f_2(z)$ may be replaced by an equation obtained by coalescing all the zeros of $f_1(z)$ at a point ζ_1 in circle C_1 and coalescing all the zeros of $f_2(z)$ at a point ζ_2 in circle C_2 . That is,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} C(n,j)C(m_1,j)C(m_2,n-j)j! (n-j)! B_j(Z-\zeta_1)^{m_1-j}(Z-\zeta_2)^{m_2-n-j}$$

= $n! (Z-\zeta_1)^{m_1-n}(Z-\zeta_2)^{m_2}g[(Z-\zeta_1)/(Z-\zeta_2)] = 0.$

The possible values of Z are therefore

 $Z = \zeta_1$ if $m_1 > n$, $Z = \zeta_2$ if $m_2 > n$

and

(18,9)
$$Z = (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2 \beta_k)/(1 - \beta_k).$$

In the first case Z is a point in or on C_1 and in the second case Z is a point in or on C_2 . In the third case Z is a point in or on the circle Γ_k , as may be determined by use of Lem. (17,2a).

Conversely, if Z is any point of Γ , it is a possible zero of h(z). For, we may take $f_1(z) = (z - \zeta_1)^{m_1}$ and $f_2(z) = (z - \zeta_2)^{m_2}$, choosing ζ_1 and ζ_2 as follows. If $m_1 > n$ and if Z lies in C_1 , we choose $\zeta_1 = Z$ and ζ_2 as an arbitrary point in C_2 . Similarly, if $m_2 > n$ and if Z lies in C_2 , we choose $\zeta_2 = Z$ and ζ_1 as an arbitrary point in C_1 . If, however, Z lies in Γ_k , we may according to Lem. (17,2a) so choose ζ_1 in C_1 and ζ_2 in C_2 that eq. (18,9) is satisfied.

Thus we have completely established that the point-set Γ is the locus of the zeros of h(z).

As an application of Th. (18,3), let us prove

COROLLARY (18,3). If all the zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z) lie in the circle $C:|z| \leq r$ and if all the zeros of the polynomial

(18,10)
$$\phi(z) = \lambda_0 + C(n, 1)\lambda_1 z + \cdots + C(n, n)\lambda_n z^n$$

lie in the circular region K:

(18,11)
$$|z| \leq s |z - \tau|, \qquad s > 0,$$

then all the zeros of the polynomial

$$\psi(z) = \lambda_0 f(z) + \lambda_1 f'(z)[(\tau z)/1!] + \cdots + \lambda_n f^{(n)}(z)[(\tau z)^n/n!]$$

lie in the circle Γ :

(18,12) $|z| \leq r \max(1, s).$

The polynomial $\psi(z)$ is of the form of the h(z) given in Th. (18,3) with

$$f_1(z) \equiv f(z), \quad f_2(z) \equiv (\tau z)^n, \quad B_k = \lambda_k \tau^k / n! \tau^n C(n, k)$$

and consequently the corresponding g(z) is

$$g(z) = (z/\tau)^n \phi(\tau/z)/n!.$$

If $\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_n$ are the zeros of $\phi(z)$, the zeros of g(z) are $\beta_k = \tau/\xi_k$. Here circle C_1 is the same as circle C but circle C_2 is merely the point z = 0. According to Th. (18,3), the zeros of $\psi(z)$, not in C, lie in the circles Γ_k centers at z = 0 and radii

$$\rho_k = r/|1 - \beta_k| = r |\xi_k/(\xi_k - \tau)|.$$

From condition (18,11) on the zeros of $\phi(z)$ it now follows that $|\rho_k| \leq rs$. The zeros of $\psi(z)$, including those in C, therefore satisfy condition (18,12).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. In Th. (18,1) if all the zeros of f(z) lie in the circle $|z| \leq r_1$ and all the zeros of g(z) lie in the circle $|z| \leq r_2$, then all the zeros of h(z) lie in the circle $|z| \leq r_1 + r_2$ [Kakeya 3].

2. In Cor. (18,2c) if all the zeros of polynomial g(z) are real, then all the zeros of G(z) are also real [Laguerre 1, p. 31].

3. In Cor. (18,3) f(z) is apolar to the polynomial $(Z - z)^m \phi[Z\tau/(Z - z)]$ if $\psi(Z) = 0$. Hence, if all the zeros of f(z) lie in a convex region A and all the zeros of $\phi(z)$ lie in a region B whose inverse in the circle |z| = 1 is convex, then

every zero Z of $\psi(z)$ has the form $Z = \alpha \beta / (\beta - \tau)$ where α is a point of A and β is a point of B. If m > n, assume B contains $z = \infty$.

4. In ex. (18,3) if all the zeros of f(z) lie in the sector $A: \gamma \leq \arg z \leq \gamma + \omega \leq \gamma + \pi$ and if all the zeros of $\phi(z)$ lie in the lune $B: \lambda \leq \arg z/(z-\tau) \leq \mu$ with $\mu - \lambda \leq \pi$, then all the zeros of $\psi(z)$ lie in the sector $\gamma + \lambda \leq \arg z \leq \gamma + \omega + \mu$. If m > n, assume $\mu \lambda \leq 0$.

5. If the zeros of $f(z) = e^{az}P(z)$, where P(z) is an *n*th degree polynomial and *a* is a constant, lie in a circular region *C*, the zeros of f'(z) lie in region *C* and in the region *C'* obtained on translating *C* in the magnitude and direction of the vector $(-na^{-1})$. Hint: Use Cor. (18,1).

6. If the *p*th degree polynomial P(z) and the *q*th degree polynomial Q(z) have all their zeros in the same circular region C, then the zeros of the derivative of $f(z) = e^{P(z)}Q(z)$ lie in region C and the *p* circular regions C'_j obtained on translating C in the magnitude and direction of the vectors $[\omega_j(-q/ap)^{1/p}]$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ where ω_j are the *p*th roots of unity and *a* is the coefficient of the *p*th degree term in P(z) [Walsh 6].

7. If all the zeros of the kth degree polynomial $f_1(z)$ lie inside a circle K and all those of the rth degree polynomial $f_2(z)$, r < k, lie outside K, then inside K lie all the zeros of the polynomial

$$h(z) = \sum (-1)^{j} C(k - r + j, j) f_{1}^{(j)}(z) f_{2}^{(r-j)}(z), \quad 0 \le j \le r \quad [Curtiss 1].$$

8. Let F(z) and G(z) be polynomials which have all their zeros in the strip $|\Im(z)| \leq a, a \geq 0$. Then all the zeros of $H(z) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} (t^{k}/k!)F^{(k)}(z)G^{(k)}(z), t < 0$, also lie in this strip [De Bruijn 3]. Hint: Let

$$f(z) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} z^{k} F^{(k)}(w)/k! = F(z+w) \text{ and } g(z) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} z^{k} G^{(k)}(w)/k! = G(z+w)$$

and apply ex. (16,6) taking h(z) as $h_1(z)$.

9. If all the zeros of $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} (a_k/k!)z^k$, $n \ge 2$, lie on the disk $C:|z - z_0| \le r$ and if $H_k(z)$ is the Hermite polynomial of degree k, then all the zeros of the polynomial $F(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_k H_k(z)$ lie in the convex region $C_1 = \bigcup_{\mu} T(C, \mu\eta)$ where $T(A, \alpha)$ is defined in Cor. (18,1), η is the supremum of the zeros of $H_n(z)$ and $-1 \le \mu \le 1$ [Specht 6]. Hint: $H'_{n+1}(z) = H_n(z)$.

10. If f, g, h are polynomials of degree n, p, q respectively and if all the zeros of f lie in the upper half-plane, necessary and sufficient conditions for all the zeros of

$$F(z) = g(z)f(z) + h(z)f'(z)$$

to lie in the upper half-plane are that (1) $\Im[g(z)/h(z)] \ge 0$ for $\Im(z) = 0$; (2) all zeros of h(z) lie in the upper half-plane; (3) either $p \le q$ or both p = q + 1 and $\lim [g(z)/zh(z)] = a$, real negative, as $z \to \infty$ [Dieudonné 9].

11. Let *H* be the convex hull of the zeros of $g(z) = \prod_{1}^{n} (z - z_k)$, γ a complex number, $\{\lambda_k\}$ a set of non-negative reals with $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k = 1$, and z_0 any zero of $g_1(z) = g(z)[1 - \gamma \sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k (z - z_k)^{-1}]$. Then z_0 has the form $c + \lambda \gamma$ where

 $c \in H$ and $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$ [Shisha-Walsh 1]. Hint: Apply Lem. (13,1) choosing $c \in H$ so that $\sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda_k (z_0 - z_k)^{-1} = \lambda (z_0 - c)^{-1}$.

12. Let P_n^* be the class of polynomials $a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ with $a_n \neq 0$, and a_n and a_{n-1} prescribed and let p^* be an infrapolynomial on finite set $E = \{z_1, z_2, \cdots, z_n\}$ relative to P_n^* [see ex. (5,7)]. Then every zero of p^* has the form $c + \lambda \gamma$ where $c \in H(E)$, the convex hull of E, and where $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$ and $\gamma = -(a_{n-1}/a_n) - \sum_{k=1}^n z_k$ [Shisha-Walsh 1]. Hint: Use ex. (18,11).

CHAPTER V

THE CRITICAL POINTS OF A RATIONAL FUNCTION WHICH HAS ITS ZEROS AND POLES IN PRESCRIBED CIRCULAR REGIONS

19. A two-circle theorem for polynomials. The Lucas Theorem which we developed in sec. 6 states that any convex region K enclosing all the zeros of a polynomial f(z) contains also all the critical points of f(z). Furthermore, as we remarked in sec. 6, every point interior to or on the boundary of K is the critical point of at least one polynomial which has all its zeros in K.

Let us now consider the class T of all polynomials f(z) of degree n which have n_1 zeros in or on a circle C_1 , n_2 zeros in or on a circle C_2 , etc., and n_p zeros in or on a circle C_p , with $n_1 + n_2 + \cdots + n_p = n$. If K denotes the smallest convex region enclosing all the circles C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$, all the critical points of every f(z) in T will lie in K, but not every point of K will necessarily be a critical point of some f(z) in T. Let us now determine the precise locus of the critical points of the polynomials of class T.

We begin with the case p = 2 which was first studied by Walsh [2]. We shall state his result as

WALSH'S TWO-CIRCLE THEOREM (Th. (19,1)). If the locus of the zeros of the n_1 -degree polynomial $f_1(z)$ is the closed interior of the circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 and the locus of the zeros of the n_2 -degree polynomial $f_2(z)$ is the closed interior of the circle C_2 with center c_2 and radius r_2 , then the locus of the zeros of the derivative of the product $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z)$ consists of the closed interiors of C_1 if $n_1 > 1$, of C_2 if $n_2 > 1$ and of a third circle C with center c and radius r where

(19,1)
$$c = \frac{n_1 c_2 + n_2 c_1}{n_1 + n_2}, \quad r = \frac{n_1 r_2 + n_2 r_1}{n_1 + n_2}.$$

In a sense, the third circle C is the weighted average of the two given circles C_1 and C_2 . (In Fig. (19,1) $C = C_3$, $r = r_3$ and $c = c_3$.) It has with C_1 and C_2 a common center of similitude and its center is the centroid of the system of two particles, one of mass n_2 at c_1 and the other of mass n_1 at c_2 .

To prove Th. (19,1), let us note that, if Z is any zero of f'(z),

(19,2)
$$0 = f'(Z) = f'_1(Z)f_2(Z) + f_1(Z)f'_2(Z).$$

This is an equation which is linear and symmetric in the zeros of $f_1(z)$ and in the zeros of $f_2(z)$. By Th. (15,4), Z will also satisfy the equation obtained by substituting into eq. (19,2)

$$f_1(z) = (z - \zeta_1)^{n_1}, \quad f_2(z) = (z - \zeta_2)^{n_2}$$

where ζ_1 and ζ_2 are suitably chosen points, the first in C_1 and the second in C_2 .

That is, Z satisfies the equation

$$n_1(Z-\zeta_1)^{n_1-1}(Z-\zeta_2)^{n_2}+n_2(Z-\zeta_1)^{n_1}(Z-\zeta_2)^{n_2-1}=0$$

and thus has the values of

$$Z = \zeta_1, \text{ if } n_1 > 1; \qquad Z = \zeta_2, \text{ if } n_2 > 1;$$
$$Z = (n_2\zeta_1 + n_1\zeta_2)/(n_2 + n_1).$$

Obviously the first Z is a point in C_1 and the second Z is a point in C_2 . That the third Z is a point in C may be verified by setting p = 2, $m_1 = n_2/(n_1 + n_2)$ and $m_2 = n_1/(n_1 + n_2)$ in Lem. (17,2a). Thus we have proved that every zero Z of f'(z) lies in at least one of the circles C_1 , C_2 and C.



FIG. (19,1)

Conversely, as in the proof of Th. (18,3), we may show that any point Z in or on the circle C_1 , C_2 or C is a zero of the derivative of $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z)$ for suitably chosen polynomials $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$ having all their zeros in C_1 and C_2 respectively. We thereby complete the proof of Th. (19,1).

Concerning the number of zeros of f'(z), we may as in Walsh [2] deduce the following result.

COROLLARY (19,1). If the closed interiors of the circles C_1 , C_2 and C of Th. (19,1) have no point in common, the number of zeros of f'(z) which they contain is respectively $n_1 - 1$, $n_2 - 1$ and 1.

For, if ξ_1 is any point in C_1 and ξ_2 any point in C_2 , then we may allow all the n_1 zeros of f(z) in C_1 to approach ξ_1 along regular paths entirely in C_1 and similarly allow all the n_2 zeros of f(z) in C_2 to approach ξ_2 along regular paths in C_2 . Thus ξ_1 and ξ_2 become zeros of f'(z) of the respective multiplicities $n_1 - 1$ and $n_2 - 1$, the remaining zero of f'(z) then being a point of C. During this process, no zero of f'(z) can enter or leave C_1 , C_2 or C. Hence, the number of zeros in C_1 , C_2 and C was also originally $n_1 - 1$, $n_2 - 1$ and 1.

By a similar method we may establish the following somewhat more general

result concerning the function $F(z) = \sum [m_j/(z - z_j)]$, where the m_j are arbitrary positive numbers.

THEOREM (19,2). If all the points z_j , $1 \leq j \leq p_1$, lie in or on the circle C_1 and if all the points z_j , $p_1 + 1 \leq j \leq p_1 + p_2$, lie in or on a circle C_2 , then any zero of the function

$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{p_1+p_2} \frac{m_j}{z-z_j}, \qquad m_j > 0, \quad all \ j,$$

if not in or on C_1 or C_2 , lies in the circle C defined in Th. (19,1) with

$$n_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{p_1} m_j$$
 and $n_2 = \sum_{j=p_1+1}^{p_1+p_2} m_j$

As an application of Th. (19,2), we shall derive the following Mean-Value Theorem for polynomials.

THEOREM (19,3). Let the circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 enclose all the points in which a pth degree polynomial P(z) assumes the value A and let the circle C_2 with center c_2 and radius r_2 enclose all the points in which P(z) assumes the value B. Then, if n_1 and n_2 are arbitrary positive numbers, the circles C_1 and C_2 and a third circle C with center $c = (n_1c_1 + n_2c_2)/(n_1 + n_2)$ and radius $r = (n_1r_1 + n_2r_2)/(n_1 + n_2)$ contain all the points at which P(z) assumes the average value $M = (n_1A + n_2B)/(n_1 + n_2)$.

This theorem is stated and proved in Pólya-Szegö [1, vol. 2, p. 61] in the case that n_1 and n_2 are positive integers. To prove it in the more general case, let us denote by z_j , $1 \le j \le p$, the points where P(z) = B and by z_j , $p + 1 \le j \le 2p$, the points where P(z) = A. Thus,

(19,3)
$$P(z) - B = \prod_{j=1}^{p} (z - z_j), \qquad P(z) - A = \prod_{j=p+1}^{2p} (z - z_j).$$

If Z denotes any point at which P(z) = M, then

$$(n_1 + n_2)[P(Z) - M] = n_1[P(Z) - A] + n_2[P(Z) - B] = 0.$$

Hence,

(19,4)
$$\frac{n_1 P'(Z)}{P(Z) - B} + \frac{n_2 P'(Z)}{P(Z) - A} = 0.$$

Substituting from eq. (19,3) into eq. (19,4), we find

$$\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{n_1}{Z - z_j} + \sum_{j=p+1}^{2p} \frac{n_2}{Z - z_j} = 0.$$

According to Th. (19,2), therefore, point Z must lie in at least one of the circles C_1 , C_2 and C.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (6,2) is the special case of Th. (19,1) in which $C_1 = C_2$.

2. Let $m_1^{(j)}:m_2^{(j)}$ $(j=1, 2, \dots, q)$ denote the ratios in which the line-segment (c_1, c_2) is divided by the q distinct zeros of the kth derivative of the $g(z) = (z - c_1)^{n_1}(z - c_2)^{n_2}$. Let K_j denote the circle with center at $(m_2^{(j)}c_1 + m_1^{(j)}c_2)/(m_1^{(j)} + m_2^{(j)})$ and radius $(m_2^{(j)}r_1 + m_1^{(j)}r_2)/(m_1^{(j)} + m_2^{(j)})$. Then the locus of the zeros of the kth derivative of the f(z) of Th. (19,1) is composed of the circle C_1 if $k < n_1$, the circle C_2 if $k < n_2$ and the q circles K_j . If any K_j is exterior to all the other K_j , it contains a number of zeros of $f^{(k)}(z)$ equal to the multiplicity of the corresponding zero of $g^{(k)}(z)$ [Walsh 6, pp. 175-176].

3. Th. (19,1) and ex. (19,2) are special cases of Th. (18,3).

4. If every zero of an n_1 -degree polynomial $f_1(z)$ lies in or on the circle $C_1:|z| \leq r_1$ and if every zero of an n_2 -degree polynomial $f_2(z)$ lies on or outside the circle $C_2:|z| \geq r_2$, where $r_2 \geq (n_2r_1/n_1)$, then every zero of the derivative of the product $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z)$ lies in or on C_1 , on or outside C_2 or on or outside the circle $C:|z| \geq r = (n_1r_2 - n_2r_1)/(n_1 + n_2)$. Furthermore, if $r > r_1$, exactly $n_1 - 1$ zeros of f'(z) lie in C_1 and exactly n_2 lie on or outside C [Walsh 2].

5. If an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) has a k-fold zero at a point P and its remaining n - k zeros in a circular region C, then f'(z) has its zeros at P, in C and in a circular region C' formed by shrinking C towards P as center of similitude in the ratio 1:k/n. If C and C' have no point in common, they contain respectively n - k - 1 zeros and one zero of f'(z) [Walsh 1b, p. 115].

6. Let F(z) be an *n*th degree polynomial whose zeros are symmetric in the origin O. Let O be a k-fold zero of F(z) and let all the other zeros of F(z) lie in the closed interior of an equilateral hyperbola H with center at O. Then, except for a (k - 1)-fold zero at O, all the zeros of F'(z) lie in the closed interior of the equilateral hyperbola obtained by shrinking H towards O in the ratio $n^{\frac{1}{2}}:k^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Hint: Apply ex. (19,5) to $f(w) = f(z^2) = [F(z)]^2$, taking the circular region C as the half-plane $\Re(w) \ge a > 0$ [Walsh 17].

7. Given the disks $C_k:|z-c_k| \leq r_k$, k = 1, 2, with $|c_1 - c_2| > |r_1 - r_2|$ and the class of disks $C:|z-c| \leq r$ where $c = \lambda_1 c_1 + \lambda_2 c_2$, $r = \lambda_1 r_1 + \lambda_2 r_2$, with $\lambda_1 > 0, \lambda_2 > 0, \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = 1$. If E is a closed set some points of which lie in C_1 and the remainder in C_2 , and if an infrapolynomial $p \in I_n(E)$ has a zero z_0 outside C_1 and C_2 , then z_0 lies in some disk $\Gamma \subset C$. If no disk $\Gamma \subset C$ containing z_0 intersects C_1 or C_2 , then no other zero of p lies outside C_1 and C_2 [Motzkin-Walsh 4, Th. 8.2]. Hint: Use Ths. (5,2), (19,2) and the reasoning behind Cor. (19,1).

8. If an *n*th degree polynomial f has n - k (0 < k < n) zeros on the disk |z| < 1 and k zeros in the region $\Gamma: |z| > r$ (>1), then for a suitable ζ with $1 < |\zeta| < r$ the polar derivative f_1 of f as given by eq. (13,1) has exactly k - 1 zeros in Γ . Hint: Apply the mapping $w = (1 + z\zeta)/(z - \zeta)$ and use Cor. (19,1).

20. Two-circle theorems for rational functions. The question raised in sec. 19 concerning the derivatives of a product of two polynomials may also be asked concerning the finite zeros of the derivative of their quotient. Here the answer, also due to Walsh [1b, p. 115], reads as follows.

THEOREM (20,1). If the polynomial $f_1(z)$ of degree n_1 has all its zeros in or on a circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 , and if the polynomial $f_2(z)$ of degree n_2 has all its zeros in or on a circle C_2 with center c_2 and radius r_2 and if $n_1 \neq n_2$, then the finite zeros of the derivative of the quotient $f(z) = f_1(z)/f_2(z)$ lie in C_1 , C_2 and a third circle C with center c and radius r where

$$c = \frac{n_2 c_1 - n_1 c_2}{n_2 - n_1}, \qquad r = \frac{n_2 r_1 + n_1 r_2}{|n_2 - n_1|}$$

Under these hypotheses if $n_1 = n_2$ and if the closed interiors of C_1 and C_2 have no point in common, then these two circles contain all the zeros of f'(z).

The proof of Th. (20,1) is similar to that of Th. (19,1) and will be left to the reader. He should, however, note that, if $n_1 = n_2$ and if the closed disks C_1 and C_2 did overlap, the zeros of both $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$ could be made to coincide at the common points of C_1 and C_2 . The corresponding quotient f(z) would then be constant and its derivative identically zero. That is, if $n_1 = n_2$ and if C_1 and C_2 , originally without a common point, are allowed to expand, the locus of the zeros of f'(z) changes abruptly to the entire plane when C_1 and C_2 become tangent.

Th. (20,1) is essentially a proposition concerning the finite zeros of the rational function

$$F(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{p_1+p_2} \frac{m_j}{z-z_j}$$

in which $m_j > 0$ for $1 \le j \le p_1$ and $m_j < 0$ for $p_1 + 1 \le j \le p_1 + p_2$ and in which all the z_j , $1 \le j \le p_1$, are points in or on the circle C_1 and all the z_j , $p_1 + 1 \le j \le p_1 + p_2$, are points in or on the circle C_2 . The numbers n_1 and n_2 are here

$$n_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{p_1} m_j$$
 and $n_2 = \sum_{j=p_1+1}^{p_1+p_2} m_j$.

In the case $n_1 = n_2$, we are dealing with the logarithmic derivative of a function of type (10,1) in which the total "mass" is zero and therefore of which, according to sec. 10, the zeros are invariant under linear transformations. We may therefore replace the interiors of circles C_1 and C_2 by arbitrary circular regions C_1 and C_2 . We may also introduce the binary forms

(20,1)
$$\Phi_{1}(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{k}\xi^{k}\eta^{n-k} = \eta^{n}f_{1}(\xi/\eta),$$
$$\Phi_{2}(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_{k}\xi^{k}\eta^{n-k} = \eta^{n}f_{2}(\xi/\eta).$$
The jacobian of these forms is

$$J(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\partial \Phi_1}{\partial \xi} \frac{\partial \Phi_2}{\partial \eta} - \frac{\partial \Phi_2}{\partial \xi} \frac{\partial \Phi_1}{\partial \eta}$$

= $n\eta^{2(n-1)} [f_1'(\xi/\eta) f_2(\xi/\eta) - f_2'(\xi/\eta) f_1(\xi/\eta)]$
= $n\eta^{2(n-1)} f'(\xi/\eta) [f_2(\xi/\eta)]^2$

where $f(z) = f_1(z)/f_2(z)$. Since the zeros of $J(\xi, \eta)$ are the finite zeros of $f'(\xi|\eta)$ and possibly the point at infinity, we may restate the last part of Th. (20,1) in the form due to Bôcher [4].

THEOREM (20,2). If each zero of the form $\Phi_1(\xi, \eta)$ lies in a circular region C_1 , if each zero of the form $\Phi_2(\xi, \eta)$ lies in a circular region C_2 and if the regions C_1 and C_2 have no points in common, then no finite zero of the jacobian of the two forms lies exterior to both regions C_1 and C_2 .

Th. (20,2) has the following generalization to abstract spaces [Marden 24].

THEOREM (20,3). Let E be a vector space over an algebraically closed field K of characteristic zero. Let $H_i(x, y)$, i = 1, 2, be two Hermitian symmetric forms, defined on E with values in K, such that there are subsets $E_i = \{x: x \in E, H_i(x, x) > 0, x \neq 0\}$, i = 1, 2, with the property that $(E - E_1) \cap (E - E_2) = \emptyset$. Let $P_j(x)$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, q$, defined for $x \in E$ with values in K, be homogeneous polynomials of degree n_j and let $P_j(x_1, x)$ be the first polar of $P_j(x)$ with respect to $x_1, x_1 \in E$. Let $\{m_j\}$ be a set of real numbers with $m_j > 0$ if $j \in J_1 = (1, 2, \dots, p < q)$, with $m_j < 0$ if $j \in J_2 = (p + 1, p + 2, \dots, q)$ and with $\sum_{i=1}^{q} m_j = 0$. Let $\Phi(x_1, x) = \sum_{j=1}^{q} m_j P_1(x) \cdots P_{j-1}(x) P_j(x_1, x) P_{j+1}(x) \cdots P_q(x)$. If $P_j(x) \neq 0$ for $x \in E_1$ when $j \in J_1$ and for $x \in E_2$ when $j \in J_2$, then $\Phi(x_1, x) \neq 0$ when $x \in E_1 \cap E_2$.

We may prove Th. (20,3) by an adaptation of the proof of Th. (14,1). Letting

$$P_j(sx + tx_1) = \prod_{k=1}^{n_j} (\tau_{jk}s - \sigma_{jk}t),$$

where $\tau_{ik} \neq 0, k = 1, 2, \dots, n_i$, we infer from eq. (14,12) that

$$P_{j}(x_{1}, x)/P_{j}(x) = -(1/n_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{n_{j}} \rho_{jk}, \qquad \rho_{jk} = (\sigma_{jk}/\tau_{jk}),$$
$$\Phi(x, x_{1}) = -M \prod_{i=1}^{q} P_{i}(x)$$

where

$$M = \sum_{j=1}^{q} (m_j/n_j) \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} \rho_{jk} .$$

We infer also from eq. (14,13) that

$$\begin{split} h_{ijk} &= (\tau_{jk}\bar{\tau}_{jk})^{-1} H_i(\sigma_{jk}x + \tau_{jk}x_1, \sigma_{jk}x + \tau_{jk}x_1) \\ &= \rho_{jk}\bar{\rho}_{jk} H_i(x, x) + 2\Re[\rho_{jk} H_i(x, x_1)] + H_i(x_1, x_1), \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} h_{ijk} &= H_i(x, x) \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} \rho_{jk}\bar{\rho}_{jk} + 2\Re\bigg[H_i(x, x_1) \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} \rho_{jk}\bigg] + n_j H_i(x_1, x_1), \\ S_i &= \sum_{j=1}^{q} (m_j/n_j) \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} h_{ijk} \\ &= H_i(x, x) \sum_{j=1}^{q} (m_j/n_j) \sum_{k=1}^{n_j} \rho_{jk}\bar{\rho}_{jk} + 2\Re[MH_i(x, x_1)]. \end{split}$$

Since $P_j(\sigma_{jk}x + \tau_{jk}x_1) = 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n_j$, it follows from the hypothesis of Th. (20,3) that

$$\sigma_{jk}x + \tau_{jk}x_1 \notin E_{\alpha}, \qquad \sigma_{jk}x + \tau_{jk}x_1 \in E_{\beta}$$

with $\alpha = 1$, $\beta = 2$ if $j \in J_1$ but $\alpha = 2$, $\beta = 1$ if $j \in J_2$. Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} h_{1jk} &\leq 0, & h_{2jk} > 0 \text{ if } j \in J_1, \\ h_{1jk} &> 0, & h_{2jk} \leq 0 \text{ if } j \in J_2, \end{aligned}$$

and therefore $S_1 < 0$, $S_2 > 0$. Since both $H_1(x, x) > 0$ and $H_2(x, x) > 0$ when $x \in E_1 \cap E_2$, we conclude that

$$0 > H_2(x, x)S_1 - H_1(x, x)S_2$$

= 2\mathcal{R}[H_2(x, x)H_1(x, x_1) - H_1(x, x)H_2(x, x_1)]M \}.

Thus $M \neq 0$ and consequently $\Phi(x_1, x) \neq 0$ as was to be proved.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. In Th. (20,1), if $f_2(z)$ has no multiple zeros, if $n_1 \neq n_2$, and if the circles C_1 , C_2 and C have no point in common, then f'(z) has in these circles respectively $n_1 - 1$, $n_2 - 1$ and 1 zero(s) [Walsh 1b, p. 115].

2. Laguerre's Theorem (Th. 13,1) is a special case of Th. (20,1).

3. Let positive particles of total mass n be placed at certain points of a circular regions C_1 on the unit sphere S and negative particles of total mass (-n) at certain points of a circular region C_2 on S. If the regions C_1 and C_2 have no common points, then no point on S exterior to both regions C_1 and C_2 can be a point of equilibrium in this field. Thus, obtain another proof of Th. (20,1) in the case $n_1 = n_2$ [Bôcher 4]. Hint: cf. sec. 11.

4. If the circle C_1 with center c_1 and radius r_1 contains all the points where a *p*th degree polynomial P(z) assumes the value A and if the circle C_2 with center c_2 and radius r_2 contains all the points where P(z) assumes the value B, then the points where P(z) assumes the value $(n_1A - n_2B)/(n_1 - n_2)$, $n_1 > n_2 > 0$, lie in C_1 , C_2 , and the circle C of Th. (20,1). Hint: cf. Th. (19,3).

5. Let f(z) be a polynomial of degree *m* and g(z) a polynomial of degree $n \neq m$. Let all the zeros of g(z) lie in circular region *R* bounded by a circle *C*. Let *w* be any point on *C* and let ζ be defined by the equation

$$\frac{\lambda f'(w)}{f(w)} - \frac{g'(w)}{g(w)} = \frac{\lambda m - n}{w - \zeta}.$$

Then, if ζ also lies on C and if $\lambda > 0$ and $\lambda \neq n/m$, at least one zero of f(z) lies in R. Hint: Apply Th. (15,4) and Lem. (17,2a) [Obrechkoff 4].

6. If in Th. (20,1) the loci of the zeros of f_1 and f_2 are respectively the closed interiors (assumed disjoint) of C_1 and C_2 , and if $n_1 \neq n_2$, then the locus of the finite critical points of f consists of the closed interior of C_1 if $n_1 > 1$, the open interior of C_2 if $n_2 > 1$ and the closed interior of the C [Walsh 1b, 20]. Hint: The multiple zeros of f_2 are not critical points of f.

21. The general case. In generalization of secs. 19 and 20, we shall now study the derivative of a rational function which has its zeros and poles distributed over any finite number of prescribed circular regions. The results which we shall obtain are due to Marden [3] and [10]. We begin with

THEOREM (21,1). For $j = 0, 1, \dots, p$ let $f_j(z)$ denote a polynomial of degree n_j having all of its zeros in the circular region $\sigma_j C_j(z) \leq 0$ where $\sigma_j = \pm 1$ and

(21,1)
$$C_j(z) = |z - c_j|^2 - r_j^2$$

Then every finite zero Z of the derivative of the rational function

(21,2)
$$f(z) = \frac{f_0(z)f_1(z)\cdots f_q(z)}{f_{q+1}(z)f_{q+2}(z)\cdots f_p(z)}, \qquad 0 \le q \le p,$$

satisfies at least one of the p + 2 inequalities

$$\sigma_j C_j(Z) \leq 0, \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, p,$$

(21,3)

$$\frac{E(Z)}{C_0(Z)C_1(Z)\cdots C_p(Z)} = \sum_{j=0}^p \frac{nm_j}{C_j(Z)} - \sum_{j=0,k=j+1}^p \frac{m_j m_k \tau_{jk}}{C_j(Z)C_k(Z)} \le 0$$

where $m_j = n_j$ or $-n_j$ according as $j \leq q$ or j > q, $n = \sum_{0}^{p} m_j$,

$$r_{jk} = |c_j - c_k|^2 - (\mu_j r_j - \mu_k r_k)^2, \qquad \mu_j = \sigma_j \operatorname{sg} m_j.$$

In applying Th. (21,1) to the case q = p, we assume that (21,2) reduces to $f(z) = f_0(z)f_1(z)\cdots f_p(z)$.

Before taking up its proof, let us interpret Th. (21,1) from a geometric standpoint. According as $\sigma_i = 1$ or -1, the region C_j defined by the inequality $\sigma_j C_j(z) \leq 0$ is the closed interior or the closed exterior of the circle with c_j as center and r_j as radius. According as $\mu_j \mu_k = 1$ or -1, the quantity τ_{jk} when positive is the square of the common external or internal tangent of the circles $C_j(z) = 0$ and $C_k(z) = 0$. When $n \neq 0$, the equation E(x + iy) = 0 may be written in the form $(x^2 + y^2)^p + \phi(x, y) = 0$

where $\phi(x, y)$ is a real polynomial with a combined degree of at most 2p - 1in x and y. Being of this form, E(z) = 0 represents a so-called p-circular 2p-ic curve, a curve of degree 2p which passes p times through each circular point at infinity. As such, the curve E(z) = 0 consists of at most p branches, each of which is a bounded closed Jordan curve. In short, when $n \neq 0$, Th. (21,1) implies that each zero Z of f'(z) lies in at least one of the given circular regions C_i or lies in one of the regions bounded by the p-circular 2p-ic curve E(z) = 0.

For example, when p = 2, equation E(z) = 0 becomes

(21,4)
$$nm_{0}C_{1}(z)C_{2}(z) + nm_{1}C_{2}(z)C_{0}(z) + nm_{2}C_{0}(z)C_{1}(z) - m_{0}m_{1}\tau_{01}C_{2}(z) - m_{1}m_{2}\tau_{12}C_{0}(z) - m_{2}m_{0}\tau_{20}C_{1}(z) = 0.$$

For $n \neq 0$, (21,4) is the equation of a bicircular quartic, a result which for the m_i positive integers and the C_i interiors of circles coincides with the result due to Walsh [5]. With subscripts 1, 2, 3 replacing 0, 1, 2 respectively, Fig. (21,1) illustrates the case that $m_1 = m_2 = m_3$ and that regions C_1 , C_2 and C_3 are the



FIG. (21,1)

interiors of circles of radii $r_1 = r_2 = r_3 = 10^{1/2}$ with centers at the points $c_1 = -3 - i$, $c_2 = 3 - i$ and $c_3 = 2i$. In that case, curve E(z) = 0 consists of two nested ovals.

When n = 0, we may give a similar interpretation of Th. (21,1). The equation E(z) = 0 then represents in general a (p - 1)-circular 2(p - 1)-ic curve. In this case, we must take the precaution that not all the regions C_j have a point in common. For, if t were such a point, we could reduce f(z) to a constant by concentrating at t all the zeros of all the $f_j(z)$, whereupon $f'(z) \equiv 0$ making every point in the plane a possible position of Z. In other words, if we wish a nontrivial result in the case n = 0, we must assume that no point is common to all the regions C_j .

Proceeding now to the proof of Th. (21,1), let us denote the numerator in eq. (21,2) by $F_1(z)$ and the denominator by $F_2(z)$. For any zero Z of f'(z), the expression $F(Z) = F_2(Z)F'_1(Z) - F_1(Z)F'_2(Z) = 0$ is one which is linear and symmetric in the zeros of each $f_j(z)$. By Th. (15,4), we may select a point ζ_j in each region C_j such that Z will also satisfy the equation obtained from F(Z) = 0 by setting $f_j(z) = (z - \zeta_j)^{n_j}$. Thus we find that either $Z = \zeta_j$ for some value of j for which $n_j > 1$ or Z satisfies the equation

(21,5)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{p} [m_j/(Z-\zeta_j)] = 0.$$

In the first case Z lies in a region C_j and thus satisfies the *j*th of the inequalities (21,3). In the second case Z lies in the locus R described by the roots of equation (21,5) when $\zeta_0, \zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_p$ are allowed to vary independently over the circular regions C_0, C_1, \dots, C_n , respectively.

For the purpose of determining R, let us establish

LEMMA (21,1). If the points ζ_j lie in the circular regions C_j $(j = 0, 1, \dots, p)$, and if the m_j are real or complex constants, then every root Z of eq. (21,5) lies in a region C_j or satisfies the inequality

(21,6)
$$\left|\sum_{j=0}^{p} \frac{m_{j}(c_{j}-z)}{C_{j}(z)}\right|^{2} - \left(\sum_{j=0}^{p} \frac{|m_{j}|r_{j}}{|C_{j}(z)|}\right)^{2} \leq 0.$$

Let us first choose Z as any fixed point which lies exterior to all the regions C_j . Then by Lem. (12,1) the point $w_j = (\overline{Z} - \overline{\zeta}_j)^{-1}$ lies inside the circle Γ_j with center γ_j and radius ρ_j where

$$\gamma_j = (Z - c_j)/C_j(Z), \qquad \rho_j = r_j/|C_j(Z)|.$$

Hence, by Lem. (17,2a), the point $w = \sum_{i=0}^{p} m_i w_i$ lies in the circle Γ with center γ and radius ρ where

(21,7)
$$\gamma = \sum_{j=0}^{p} m_{j} \gamma_{j} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} [m_{j} (Z - c_{j}) / C_{j} (Z)],$$

(21,8)
$$\rho = \sum_{j=0}^{p} |m_j| \ \rho_j = \sum_{j=0}^{p} [|m_j| \ r_j / |C_j(Z)|]$$

That is,

(21,9)
$$|w - \gamma|^2 - \rho^2 \leq 0.$$

Now, let us specialize Z to be a root of eq. (21,5). Then, as the points ζ_j vary over the regions C_j , point w assumes the value of zero at least once. That is, w = 0 must satisfy ineq. (21,9); viz.,

(21,10)
$$|\gamma|^2 - \rho^2 \leq 0.$$

On substituting from eqs. (21,7) and (21,8) into (21,10), we finally obtain ineq. (21,6).

To complete the proof of Th. (21,1), we need now to show that the left sides of ineqs. (21,3) and (21,6) are identical. Using the identity

$$(Z-c_j)(Z-\bar{c}_k) + (Z-\bar{c}_j)(Z-c_k) = |Z-c_j|^2 + |Z-c_k|^2 - |c_j-c_k|^2,$$

we find from (21,7) that

$$|\gamma|^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \frac{m_{j}^{2} |Z - c_{j}|^{2}}{C_{j}(Z)^{2}} + \sum_{j=0,k=j+1}^{p} \frac{m_{j}m_{k}(|Z - c_{j}|^{2} + |Z - c_{k}|^{2} - |c_{j} - c_{k}|^{2})}{C_{j}(Z)C_{k}(Z)}$$

Using the notation of Th. (21,1) and the hypothesis that $\sigma_i C_i(Z) > 0$ and thus $|C_i(Z)| = C_i(Z)/\sigma_i$, we infer from (21,8) that

$$\rho^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \frac{m_{j}^{2} r_{j}^{2}}{C_{j}(Z)^{2}} + \sum_{j=0,k=j+1}^{p} \frac{2m_{j}m_{k}\mu_{j}\mu_{k}r_{j}r_{k}}{C_{j}(Z)C_{k}(Z)}$$

Finally, using eq. (21,1), we conclude that

$$|\gamma|^{2} - \rho^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \frac{m_{j}^{2}}{C_{j}(Z)} + \sum_{j=0,k=j+1}^{p} \frac{m_{j}m_{k}[C_{j}(Z) + C_{k}(Z) - \tau_{jk}]}{C_{j}(Z)C_{k}(Z)}$$

which reduces at once to the expression in ineq. (21,3) for E(z).

We shall now establish the following converse of Th. (21,1).

THEOREM (21,2). Let Z be any point which satisfies the inequality

(21,11)
$$\sigma_0 \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_p E(Z) \leq 0.$$

Then Z is a zero of the derivative of a function of type (21,2) with each $f_i(z) = (z - \zeta_i)^{n_i}$ and with ζ_i a suitably chosen point in the region $\sigma_i C_i(Z) \leq 0$.

First, let us suppose that Z lies exterior to all the regions C_j , i.e., that $\sigma_j C_j(Z) > 0$ for all j. Then ineq. (21,11) is identical with ineq. (21,6). We also note that Lem. (17,2a) concerns the *locus* of point w and that in Lem. (12,1) the *locus* of point w_1 , as Z remains fixed and as z_1 varies over the interior or exterior of circle C, is the interior or exterior of the circle C'. In this case, therefore, we may, without difficulty, retrace the steps which lead to Lem. (21,1) and thus prove Th. (21,2).

[§21]

. . .

(21,12)
$$|w - \gamma|^2 - \rho^2 \ge 0$$

where

$$\gamma = \sum_{j=0}^{p} m_{j} \gamma_{j} = \sum_{j=0}^{p} [m_{j}(Z - c_{j})/C_{j}(Z)],$$

$$\rho = |m_{0}| \rho_{0} - \sum_{j=1}^{p} |m_{j}| \rho_{j} = (|m_{0}| r_{0}/|C_{0}(Z)|) - \sum_{j=1}^{p} (|m_{j}| r_{j}/|C_{j}(Z)|),$$

provided $\rho > 0$. Since here

(21,13)
$$\sigma_0 C_0(Z) < 0; \quad \sigma_j C_j(Z) > 0 \quad \text{for } j = 1, 2, \cdots, p,$$

we may write

$$\rho = -\sum_{j=0}^{p} [m_j \mu_j r_j / C_j(Z)].$$

If we insert these values of γ and ρ and also w = 0 into ineq. (21,12), we find (21,12) becomes

 $E(Z)/C_0(Z)C_1(Z)\cdots C_p(Z) \ge 0$

which, because of (21,13), reduces to (21,11). Hence, if $\rho > 0$, ineq. (21,11) implies that point w = 0 satisfies (21,12) and therefore that points ζ_i may be chosen in the regions C_i making Z a root of eq. (21,5). If $\rho \leq 0$, the locus of w is the entire plane; the point w = 0 is surely a point of the locus and Z is a root of eq. (21,5) for a suitable choice of points ζ_i .

Finally, by Lem. (17,2c), if Z lies in two or more regions C_i , the locus of point w is the entire plane and again the point Z will be a root of eq. (21,5) for suitably selected ζ_i .

Thus, we have completed the proof of Th. (21,2).

Ths. (21,1) and (21,2) do not in all cases completely specify R, the locus of the roots of eq. (21,5) when the ζ_j have the circular regions C_j as their respective loci. For example, in the case that the bicircular quartic (21,4) consists of two nested ovals, the requirement (21,11) of Th. (21,2) merely ensures that the region between the ovals belongs to R.

It is clear, however, from the proof of Th. (21,2) that the inequality opposite to (21,11), namely $\sigma_0\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_p E(Z) > 0$, may be satisfied only under one of the following two circumstances. Either the point Z lies in just one region C_j and simultaneously

(21,14)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{p} [m_{j}\mu_{j}r_{j}/C_{j}(Z)] \geq 0,$$

or it lies at a point common to at least two regions C_i .

That the locus R may in fact possess a component which is not a simplyconnected region is illustrated by the following example suggested by Professor Walsh. Let us take $m_j = 1$ for $j = 0, 1, \dots, p$. Let us choose the region C_0 as merely the origin and each region C_j , $j = \hat{1}, 2, \dots, p$, as the circle with a center at the point $z = e^{2\pi i j/p}$ and with a radius r such that $\sin(\pi/p) < r < 1$. Each circle C_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$, obviously overlaps its two neighboring circles C_i but does not contain the origin. Being but a simple zero of f(z), the origin cannot be a zero of f'(z) no matter what the positions of the remaining zeros of f(z) may be within the regions C_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$. Clearly, therefore, the locus R completely surrounds the origin but does not include it. Thus, Rconsists of at least one region which is not simply-connected.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If $m_1 = m_2 = m_3$, if $c_1 = -3 - i$, $c_2 = 3 - i$ and $c_3 = 2i$, and if $r_1 = r_2 = -3 - i$ $r_3 = r$, then the bicircular quartic (21,4) consists of (a) two ovals, neither enclosing the other, if $r < 3^{\frac{1}{2}} - 1$; (b) a single oval if $3^{\frac{1}{2}} - 1 < r < 3^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1$; (c) two ovals one enclosing the other, if $r > 3^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1$.

2. If Z is taken as a root of the equation $\lambda + \sum_{j=1}^{p} [m_j/(Z-\zeta_j)] = 0$, then (21,6) must be replaced by the inequality

(21,15)
$$\left| \lambda + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{m_{j}(\bar{c}_{j} - \overline{Z})}{C_{j}(Z)} \right|^{2} - \left(\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{|m_{j}| \sigma_{j} r_{j}}{C_{j}(Z)} \right)^{2} \leq 0.$$

Hint: $w = -\overline{\lambda}$ must satisfy eq. (21,9).

3. If the hypotheses of Th. (21,1) are satisfied, and if $F(z) = f(z)/f_0(z)$, then each zero of the linear combination $F'(z) + \lambda F(z)$ lies in one of the regions C_1, C_2, \dots, C_n or in the point set S bounded by the branches of p-circular 2p-ic curve

(21,16)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{p} \frac{|\lambda|^2 m_j \Gamma_j(z)}{n C_j(z)} - \sum_{j=1,k=j+1}^{p} \frac{m_j m_k \tau_{jk}}{C_j(z) C_k(z)} = 0,$$

where
$$\Gamma_j(z) = |z - (c_j - n\lambda^{-1})|^2 - r_j^2.$$

Hint: Use Th. (15,4) and ex. (21,2) [Marden 10].

4. A result similar to Th. (21,1) is valid when one or more of the regions C_i are half-planes $\sigma_i L_i(z) \leq 0$ where $\sigma_i = \pm 1$ and where $L_i(z) = \Re(ze^{i\alpha_i}) - h_i$ with α_i and h_i real.

5. Let each $F_i(\rho)$ be an n_i degree distance polynomial [cf. ex. (6,10)] and $R(\rho) = \prod_{i=0}^{q} F_i(\rho) / \prod_{i=q+1}^{p} F_i(\rho), 0 \le q \le p$. If all the zeros of each $F_i(\rho)$ lie in the spherical region

$$\sigma_j S_j(\mathbf{p}) = \sigma_j [\|\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{c}_j\|^2 - r_j^2] \leq 0, \qquad r_j > 0, \ \sigma_j = \pm 1,$$

 $j = 0, 1, \dots, p$, then every finite zero of $R' = (R/4) \| \nabla \log R \|$ satisfies at least one of the inequalities $\sigma_i S_i(\mathbf{\rho}) \leq 0$ or

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\nu} [NN_j/S_j(\boldsymbol{\rho})] - \sum_{j=0,k=j+1} [N_jN_kT_{jk}/S_j(\boldsymbol{\rho})S_k(\boldsymbol{\rho})] \leq 0$$

where $N_j = \nu_j n_j$; $\nu_j = 1$ for $j \leq q$ and $\nu_j = -1$ for j > q; $N = \sum_{0}^{p} N_j$ and $T_{jk} = \|c_j - c_k\|^2 - (\nu_j \sigma_j r_j - \nu_k \sigma_k r_k)^2$ [Schurrer 1]. Hint: Prove 3-space analogies to Lems. (12,1) and (21,1).

22. Some important special cases. We shall now consider under Th. (21,1) a number of special cases which involve three or more polynomials $f_j(z)$ and in which the *p*-circular 2*p*-ic curve E(z) = 0 degenerates into one or more circles.

We begin with the case p = 2. When n = 0, eq. (21,4) with all subscripts increased by one reduces to the equation

(22,1)
$$m_2 m_3 \tau_{23} C_1(z) + m_3 m_1 \tau_{31} C_2(z) + m_1 m_2 \tau_{12} C_3(z) = 0,$$

the equation of a circle. On the other hand, for this special case eq. (21,5) becomes on replacing Z by z

(22,2)
$$\frac{m_1}{z-\zeta_1} + \frac{m_2}{z-\zeta_2} + \frac{-(m_1+m_2)}{z-\zeta_3} = 0$$

which, solved for $-m_1/m_2$, may be written as

(22,3)
$$\frac{(z-\zeta_2)(\zeta_3-\zeta_1)}{(z-\zeta_1)(\zeta_3-\zeta_2)}=-\frac{m_2}{m_1}.$$

In other words, the region bounded by circle (22,1) is the locus described by a point z which forms with ζ_1 , ζ_2 and ζ_3 the constant cross-ratio (22,3), as the ζ_i describe their regions C_i .

These results may be summarized in the form of two theorems both due to Walsh [1].

WALSH'S CROSS-RATIO THEOREM (Th. (22,1)). If the points ζ_1 , ζ_2 , ζ_3 varying independently have given circular regions as their loci, then any point z forming a constant cross-ratio with ζ_1 , ζ_2 and ζ_3 also has a circular region as its locus.

THEOREM (22,2). For each j = 1, 2, 3, let $f_i(z)$ be a polynomial of degree n_i having all its zeros in a circular region C_i . If $n_1 + n_2 = n_3$ and if no point is common to all the regions C_i , then each finite zero of the derivative of the function

$$f(z) = f_1(z) f_2(z) / f_3(z)$$

lies in at least one of the circular regions C_1 , C_2 , C_3 or in a fourth circular region C. This fourth region is the locus of a point Z whose cross-ratio (22,3) with the points ζ_1 , ζ_2 and ζ_3 has the constant value $(-n_2/n_1)$ as ζ_1 , ζ_2 and ζ_3 describe the regions C_1 , C_2 and C_3 respectively.

Regarding Th. (22,2), we may draw the same conclusion for the zeros of the derivative of the reciprocal $f_3(z)/f_1(z)f_2(z)$ of the above function. Furthermore,

since the total "degree" of f(z) is $n = n_1 + n_2 - n_3 = 0$, we may restate Th. (22,2) in terms of the jacobian of the binary forms (20,1), as is done in Walsh [1b, pp. 112-113].

The *p*-circular 2*p*-ic curve E(z) = 0 also degenerates into a number of circles in the case that $m_i > 0$ and that the regions C_i are the interiors of circles having a



FIG. (22,1)

common external center of similitude. (See Fig. (22,1).) The result in this case is due to Walsh [1c] and is embodied in

THEOREM (22,3). If each zero of the polynomial $f_j(z)$ of degree n_j lies in the closed interior of a circle C_j and if the circles C_j have an external center of similitude O, then each zero of the derivative of the product $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z) \cdots f_p(z)$ lies either in the closed interior of one of the circles C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ or in the closed interior of one of the circles Γ_k $(k = 1, 2, \dots, p - 1)$. The circles Γ_k have also the external center of similitude O; their centers are the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of the polynomial

(22,4)
$$g(z) = (z - c_1)^{n_1} (z - c_2)^{n_2} \cdots (z - c_p)^{n_p}$$

where c_j is the center of C_j for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$.

Let us verify this theorem in the case p = 3. Without loss of generality, we may take O at the origin and take the centers c_1 , c_2 and c_3 of the circles on the x-axis. (See Fig. (22,1).) The equation of each circle C_i has then the form

(22,5)
$$C_{j}(z) = |z - c_{j}|^{2} - (\lambda c_{j})^{2} = x^{2} + y^{2} - 2c_{j}x + \mu c_{j}^{2}, \quad \mu = 1 - \lambda^{2},$$

and the square of the common tangent of two such circles is

(22,6)
$$\tau_{jk} = |c_j - c_k|^2 - \lambda^2 (c_j - c_k)^2 = \mu (c_j - c_k)^2.$$

If eqs. (22,5) and (22,6) are substituted into eq. (21,4) after all subscripts have been increased by one, we obtain the equation

(22,7)
$$n^2(x^2 + y^2)^2 - 2Ax(x^2 + y^2) + B(x^2 + y^2) + 4Cx^2 - 2Dx + E = 0$$

where $m_i \equiv n_i$ and

$$\begin{split} A &= n[(n - n_1)c_1 + (n - n_2)c_2 + (n - n_3)c_3], \\ B &= \mu\{(n - n_1)^2c_1^2 + (n - n_2)^2c_2^2 + (n - n_3)^2c_3^2 + 2n_1n_2c_1c_2 \\ &+ 2n_2n_3c_2c_3 + 2n_1n_3c_1c_3\}, \\ C &= n(n_3c_1c_2 + n_2c_1c_3 + n_1c_2c_3), \\ D &= \mu\{n_3c_1c_2[(n - n_1)c_1 + (n - n_2)c_2] + n_2c_1c_3[(n - n_1)c_1 + (n - n_3)c_3] \\ &+ n_1c_2c_3[(n - n_2)c_2 + (n - n_3)c_3] + 2(n_1n_2 + n_1n_3 + n_2n_3)c_1c_2c_3\}, \\ E &= \mu^2\{n_3^2c_1^2c_2^2 + n_2^2c_1^2c_3^2 + n_1^2c_2^2c_3^2 + 2c_1c_2c_3(n_2n_3c_1 + n_1n_3c_2 + n_1n_2c_3)\}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of (22,4) in this case satisfy the equation

(22,8)
$$n_3(z-c_1)(z-c_2) + n_2(z-c_1)(z-c_3) + n_1(z-c_2)(z-c_3) = 0$$

Denoting the roots of (22,8) by γ_1 and γ_2 , we have the relations from eq. (22,8)

(22,9)
$$\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 = \frac{1}{n} [(n - n_1)c_1 + (n - n_2)c_2 + (n - n_3)c_3],$$
$$\gamma_1\gamma_2 = \frac{1}{n} [n_3c_1c_2 + n_2c_1c_3 + n_1c_2c_3].$$

The circles Γ_1 and Γ_2 with centers γ_1 and γ_2 and with O as center of similitude have the equations of form (22,5)

(22,10)
$$\Gamma_{j}(z) \equiv x^{2} + y^{2} - 2\gamma_{j}x + \mu\gamma_{j}^{2} = 0.$$

Multiplying together these two equations, we obtain

(22,11)
$$\Gamma_1(z)\Gamma_2(z) \equiv (x^2 + y^2)^2 - 2(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2)x(x^2 + y^2) + \mu(\gamma_1^2 + \gamma_2^2)(x^2 + y^2) + 4\gamma_1\gamma_2x^2 - 2\gamma_1\gamma_2\mu(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2)x + \mu^2\gamma_1^2\gamma_2^2 = 0.$$

Using eqs. (22,9) and other symmetric functions of γ_1 and γ_2 , we may show that eq. (22,11) is the same as that obtained by dividing eq. (22,7) by n^2 . In other words, the bicircular quartic (22,7) degenerates into the two circles Γ_1 and Γ_2 as required in Th. (22,3) with p = 3.

Th. (22,3) may be generalized to rational functions of the form (21,2). If the regions C_j are the interiors of circles and if, exterior to all the circles C_j , there is a point P which is an external center of similitude for every pair C_i , C_j when i and j are both less than k + 1 or both greater than k, but which is an internal center of similitude for all other pairs C_i , C_j , then the curve E(z) = 0 again degenerates into a set of circles with P as an internal or external center of similitude. For further details, the reader is referred to Walsh [1c, p. 45].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (19,1) is a special case of Ths. (21,1) with p = 1 and (22,3) with p = 2 and of Th. (22,2) with region C_3 taken as the point at infinity.

2. Let the circles C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ have the collinear centers c_j and equal radii r. Let the polynomial $f_j(z)$ of degree n_j have all its zeros in the closed interior of C_j . Let C'_j denote the circles of radius r, which have their centers at the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of the g(z) of eq. (22,4). Then the zeros of the derivative of the product $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z) \cdots f_p(z)$ lie in the point set consisting of the closed interiors of the circles C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ for which $n_j > 1$ and the circles C'_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p - 1)$. Hint: Use Th. (21,1) or allow point O in Th. (22,3) to recede to infinity [Walsh 1c, p. 53].

3. Let the r in ex. (22,2) be a sufficiently small number. Then the zeros of $f^{(k)}(z)$ lie in the point set consisting of the closed interiors of the circles C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ and C''_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p - k)$, the latter being of radius r and having their centers at the zeros of $g^{(k)}(z)/g(z)$ [Walsh 1c, p. 53].

4. For $m_1 = m_2 = m_0$, $r_1 = r_2 = r_0$ and the centers c_j at the vertices of an equilateral triangle whose center is O, bicircular quartic (21,4) degenerates into two circles concentric at O, the larger of which has the radius $(r_1^2 + hr_1)^{1/2}$, h being the distance from O to c_j [Walsh 5].

5. For $m_j = m$, $r_j = r$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ and the c_j as the roots of the equation $z^p = h^p$ where 0 < h, the curve E(z) = 0 of Th. (21,1) (with all subscripts increased by one) degenerates into a set of circles concentric at z = 0 having as radii the roots R of the equation

$$\sum_{1}^{p} (3t_j) - \sum_{j=1,k=j+1}^{p} 4h^2 t_j t_k \sin^2(\pi(j-k)p^{-1}) = 0,$$

where $1/t_j = R^2 + h^2 - r^2 - 2hR \cos(2\pi j p^{-1})$ [Marden 3, p. 98].

6. Let $a, b, c_1, c_2, c_3, \cdots$ be real numbers and let each z_j be a point in or on the circle C_j with center at c_j and with radius r. Then the zeros of the derivative of the entire function of genus zero or one

$$f(z; z_1, z_2, z_3, \cdots) = \exp(az + b) \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - z/z_k)$$

lie in the circles C'_j of radius r with centers at the zeros of the derivative of $f(z; c_1, c_2, c_3, \cdots)$ [Walsh 11].

7. Let C_1, C_2, \dots, C_p be circles of equal radius r with centers at the collinear points c_1, c_2, \dots, c_p . Assume in eq. (9,1) that the α_j are positive and denote by s(z) a Stieltjes polynomial corresponding to $a_j = c_j, j = 1, 2, \dots, p$. Let C'_1, C'_2, \dots, C'_n denote the circles of radius r with centers at the zeros of s(z). If no circle C'_j has a point in common with any other C'_j or with any circle C_j , then the locus of the zeros of the Stieltjes polynomial S(z) as the point a_j varies over the closed interior of the circle C_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ consists of the closed interiors of the circles C'_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$. Furthermore, each C'_j contains just one zero of S(z) [Walsh 8].

8. The curve (21,16) reduces to one or more circles in the following cases: (a) p = 1 (cf. Cor. (18,1)); (b) λ real and the regions C_j taken as the closed interiors of equal circles with centers on a line parallel to the axis of reals [Walsh 9].

9. Let
$$C_1: |z| \leq r_1$$
, $C_2: |z| \geq r_2$ (> r_1), $C_3: |z| \geq r_3$ (> r_2) and
 $r_4 = (n_1 r_2 r_3 - n_2 r_3 r_1 - n_3 r_1 r_2)/(n_2 r_2 + n_3 r_3 - n_1 r_1)$,

where n_1 , n_2 , n_3 (= $n_1 + n_2$) are respectively the degrees of polynomials f_1 , f_2 , f_3 . If all the zeros of f_1 , f_2 , f_3 respectively lie in C_1 , C_2 , C_3 , then no critical point of $f(z) = f_1(z)f_2(z)/f_3(z)$ lies in the annulus $r_1 < |z| < r_4$ if $r_1 < r_4 < r_3$ and none lies in the annulus $r_1 < |z| < r_3$.

CHAPTER VI

THE CRITICAL POINTS OF A POLYNOMIAL WHICH HAS ONLY SOME PRESCRIBED ZEROS

23. Polynomials with two given zeros. In Chapters II and V we developed several theorems on the location of *all* the critical points of a polynomial f(z) when the location of *all* the zeros of f(z) is known. In the present chapter we shall investigate the extent to which the prescription of only *some* of the zeros of f(z) fixes the location of *some* of the critical points of f(z).

A first result of this nature is the one which we may derive immediately from Rolle's Theorem by using eq. (10,7) to transform the real axis into an arbitrary line L. This result states that, if the zeros of a polynomial are symmetric in a line L, then between any pair of zeros lying on L may be found at least one zero of the derivative.

We now ask whether or not, given two zeros of a polynomial f(z), we may locate at least one zero of f'(z) even when no additional hypothesis (such as that of symmetry in a line) is placed upon the remaining zeros. An affirmative answer to this question, as given first by Grace [1] and later by Heawood [1], is stated in the

GRACE-HEAWOOD THEOREM (Th. (23,1)). If z_1 and z_2 are any two zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z), at least one zero of its derivative f'(z) will lie in the circle C with center at point $[(z_1 + z_2)/2]$ and with a radius of $[(1/2)|z_1 - z_2|(\cot \pi/n)]$.

In proving this theorem we may without loss of generality take $z_1 = +1$ and $z_2 = -1$. (See Fig. (23,1) for the case n = 8.) By hypothesis, we have upon

$$f'(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + \dots + a_{n-2} z^{n-2} + z^{n-1}$$

the requirement that

(23,1)
$$0 = f(1) - f(-1) = \int_{-1}^{+1} f'(t) dt = 2a_0 + \frac{2a_2}{3} + \frac{2a_4}{5} + \cdots$$

Since eq. (23,1) is a linear relation among the coefficients of f'(z), we may apply Th. (15,3). Thus at least one zero of f'(z) lies in every circular region containing the zeros of the polynomial

$$g(z) = \int_{-1}^{+1} (z-t)^{n-1} dt = (1/n)[(z-1)^n - (z+1)^n].$$

But the zeros of g(z) are $z_k = -i \cot(k\pi/n)$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$. This means not only that at least one zero of f'(z) lies in the circle C of Th. (23,1)





-i Cot(#)



FIG. (23,2)

but also that at least one zero of f'(z) lies in every circle C' (see Fig. (23,1)) through the two points $z = \pm i \cot \pi/n$.

That the radius r of the Grace-Heawood Theorem may not be replaced by a smaller number may be seen from the polynomial

$$f(z) = \int_{-1}^{z} (t - i \cot \pi/n)^{n-1} dt$$

= $\frac{1}{n} \{ [z - i \cot (\pi/n)]^n - [-1 - i \cot (\pi/n)]^n \}$

which has the zeros $z = \pm 1$ and the derivative of which,

$$f'(z) = [z - i \cot(\pi/n)]^{n-1},$$

has its only zero at $z = i \cot(\pi/n)$.

Let us now allow the points z_1 and z_2 to vary arbitrarily within circle $|z| \leq R$ and inquire regarding the envelope (see Fig. (23,2)) of the corresponding circle C of Th. (23,1). It is clearly sufficient to consider the envelope of the circle when $|z_1| = |z_2| = R$. Any point on the circumference of C may be represented by the complex number:

(23,2)
$$\zeta = \frac{z_1 + z_2}{2} + e^{i\omega} \frac{|z_1 - z_2|}{2} \cot\left(\frac{\pi}{n}\right)$$

Corresponding to point ζ , two points z_1 and z_2 on the circle |z| = R may be found so that either $z_1 = z_2 e^{i\psi}$ or $z_2 = z_1 e^{i\psi}$ with $0 \leq \psi \leq \pi$ and so that eq. (23,2) is satisfied. Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} |\zeta| &\leq (R/2) |1 + e^{i\psi}| + (R/2) |1 - e^{i\psi}| \cot(\pi/n), \\ |\zeta| &\leq R[\cos(\psi/2) + \sin(\psi/2)\cot(\pi/n)] \\ &\leq R\sin(\pi/n + \psi/2)\csc(\pi/n) \leq R\csc(\pi/n). \end{aligned}$$

We have thereby proved the following result due to Alexander [1], Kakeya [2] and Szegö [1].

THEOREM (23,2). If two zeros of an nth degree polynomial lie in or on a circle of radius R, at least one zero of its derivative lies in or on the concentric circle of radius R $\csc(\pi/n)$.

This is again the best result, as may be seen by choosing

$$f(z) = \int_{1}^{z} [u + ie^{\pi i/n} \csc(\pi/n)]^{n-1} du.$$

For, this polynomial has on the unit circle the zeros $z_1 = +1$ and $z_2 = -e^{2\pi i/n}$ and its derivative has a zero on the circle $|z| = \csc \pi/n$ at the point $z = -ie^{\pi i/n} \csc (\pi/n)$.

[§23]

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If $f'(z) \neq 0$ in $|z| \leq r$, f(z) has at most one zero in $|z| \leq r \sin(\pi/n)$. Hint: Use Th. (23,2).

2. If the derivative f'(z) of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) is different from zero in a circle C of radius r, then f(z) cannot assume any value A twice in the concentric circle C' of radius $r \sin \pi/n$. In other words, f(z) is *univalent* in C'. Hint: Apply ex. 1 to f(z) - A [Alexander 1, Kakeya 2, Szegö 1].

3. Let $f(z) = a_0 z^{n_0} + a_1 z^{n_1} + \dots + a_k z^{n_k}$, $0 \le n_0 < n_1 < \dots < n_k$, $a_0 a_1 \cdots a_k \ne 0$. If f(1) = f(-1) = 0, then at least one zero of f'(z) lies on the disk $|z| \le 2k$ [Fekete 4]. Hint: Apply ex. (34,6) to (23,1).

4. In the notation of sec. 5, let *E* be a finite set of points; α and β zeros of an infrapolynomial $p \in I_n(E)$; *H* any hyperbola having segment $\alpha\beta$ as diameter; $q(z) = p(z)/[(z - \alpha)(z - \beta)]$; $E' = \{z: z \in E, q(z) \neq 0\}$. Then *E'* cannot lie wholly interior or exterior to *H* [Motzkin-Walsh 2].

24. Mean-Value Theorems. We may derive results similar to those of sec. 23 on using the following two Mean-Value Theorems. In the form stated below, these theorems were first proved by Marden [7] and [8], but in certain special cases they had been previously treated in Fekete [2-6] and Nagy [4]. Both theorems employ the notation $S(K, \phi)$ as in sec. 8 for the star-shaped region comprised of all points from which the convex region K subtends an angle of at least ϕ .

THEOREM (24,1). Let P(z) be an nth degree polynomial and let z_1, z_2, \dots, z_m be any m points of a convex region K. Let σ , the mean-value of P(z) in the points z_i , be defined by the equation

(24,1)
$$\sigma \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j P(z_j)$$

where

$$\mu \leq \arg \alpha_j \leq \mu + \gamma < \mu + \pi, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, m.$$

Then the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/n)$ contains at least one point s at which $P(s) = \sigma$.

We may similarly describe the location of point σ . If H denotes the smallest convex region of the w-plane containing the points $w = P(z_1), P(z_2), \dots, P(z_m)$, then, according to Th. (8,1) applied to $F(w) = \sum \alpha_j (w - P(z_j)), \sigma$ is some point of the region $S(H, \pi - \gamma)$.

THEOREM (24,2). Let P(z) be an nth degree polynomial and let $C: z = \psi(t)$ (t real; $a \leq t \leq b$) be a rectifiable curve drawn in a convex region K. On curve C, let $\alpha(t)$ be a continuous function whose argument satisfies the inequality

$$\mu \leq \arg \alpha(t) \leq \mu + \gamma < \mu + \pi, \qquad t \in C.$$

MEAN-VALUE THEOREMS

Then, the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/n)$ contains at least one point s for which

(24,2)
$$\int_a^b P[\psi(t)]\alpha[\psi(t)] dt = P(s) \int_a^b \alpha[\psi(t)] dt.$$

Ths. (24,1) and (24,2) could be combined into a single theorem if Stieltjes integrals were introduced into eq. (24,2).

The proofs of both Ths. (24,1) and (24,2) are essentially the same. For example, to prove the first, let us write eq. (24,1) in the form

(24,3)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j [P(z_j) - \sigma] = 0.$$

Denoting by a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n the points at which P(z) assumes the value σ , we may set up the equation

(24,4)
$$P(z) - \sigma = A(z - a_1)(z - a_2) \cdots (z - a_n).$$

If every a_k were to lie exterior to $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/n)$, the region K would subtend in each a_k an angle less than $(\pi - \gamma)/n$. That is, a constant δ_k could be found so that

(24,5)
$$0 \leq \arg(z_j - a_k) - \delta_k < (\pi - \gamma)/n, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n; \ j = 1, 2, \cdots, m.$$

Adding the inequalities (24,5) for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ and substituting from eq. (24,4), we conclude that

$$0 \leq \arg \left[P(z_j) - \sigma\right] - \arg A - \sum_{k=1}^n \delta_k < \pi - \gamma, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, m.$$

Hence, by Th. (1,1)

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j [P(z_j) - \sigma] \neq 0$$

in contradiction to eq. (24,3).

We shall now apply Th. (24,2) to the determination of the zeros of P(z); that is, the points s for which P(s) = 0. Since $\int_a^b \alpha[\psi(t)] dt \neq 0$ in Th. (24,2), we deduce at once a result which for $\gamma = 0$ is due to Fekete [5] and [6] and for γ arbitrary is due to Marden [7].

THEOREM (24,3). Let P(z) be an nth degree polynomial; let $C: z = \psi(t)$ (t real; $a \leq t \leq b$) be a rectifiable curve drawn in a convex region K and let $\alpha(t)$ be on C a continuous function whose argument satisfies the inequality

 $\mu \leq \arg \alpha(z) \leq \mu + \gamma < \mu + \pi.$

Then, if

(24,6)
$$\int_a^b P[\psi(t)]\alpha[\psi(t)] dt = 0,$$

P(z) has at least one zero in the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \gamma)/n)$.

[**§**24]

As an application of Th. (24,3), let us choose

$$\gamma = 0, \quad \alpha(z) \equiv 1, \quad a = 0, \quad b = 1,$$
$$\psi(t) = (1 - t)\xi + t\eta.$$

Let us denote by Q(z) an *n*th degree polynomial which assumes the same values at the points ξ and η . If now we replace *n* by n - 1 in Th. (24,3) and if we set $P(z) \equiv Q'(z)$, then we find

$$\int_0^1 Q'[(1-t)\xi + t\eta] dt = [Q(\xi) - Q(\eta)]/(\xi - \eta) = 0.$$

That is, eq. (24,6) is satisfied. Hence, at least one zero of Q'(z) lies in $S(K, \pi/(n-1))$. Since K may be taken as the line-segment joining the points ξ and η , we have established the following result due to Fekete [5].

THEOREM (24,4). If the nth degree polynomial P(z) has the two zeros $z = \xi$ and $z = \eta$, its derivative will have at least one zero in the region comprised of all points from which the line-segment $\xi\eta$ subtends an angle of at least $[\pi/(n-1)]$.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Let $a \neq b$, $A \neq B$, $0 < \phi \leq \pi$, and $C \neq A$, $C \neq B$, $|\arg(C - B)/(C - A)| \geq \phi$. If an *n*th degree polynomial P(z) assumes the value A at z = a and B at z = b, it assumes the value C at least once in S (segment *ab*, ϕ/n) [Fekete 7]. Remark: For $\phi = \pi$, this result is analogous to the Bolzano Theorem that, if a real continuous function f(x) of the real variable x assumes the value A at x = a and the value $B \neq A$ at $x = b \neq a$, it assumes every value between A and B at least once on the line-segment a < x < b.

2. Let C: $z = \psi(t)$ (t real, $a \leq t \leq b$) be a rectifiable curve drawn in a convex region K and let $\alpha(z)$ be a function which is continuous on C and assumes on C only values in a sector A with vertex at the origin and with an opening $\gamma < \pi$. Let p and q be positive integers with $m = \max(p, q)$ and let S be the starshaped region consisting of all points from which K subtends an angle of at least $(\pi - \gamma)/(m + q)$. Finally, let P(z) and Q(z) be polynomials of degree p and q respectively such that R(z) = P(z)/Q(z) is irreducible and has no poles in S. Then in S there exists at least one point s such that for $z = \psi(t)$

$$\int_{a}^{b} R(z)\alpha(z) dt = R(s) \int_{a}^{b} \alpha(z) dt \qquad [Marden 7].$$

3. Let q be a positive continuous function on the finite interval I: $a \leq x \leq b$. Let $\{Q_m(x)\}, m = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$, be a sequence of orthogonal polynomials of degree m satisfying the relation

$$\int_a^b q(x)Q_m(x)Q_n(x) \ dx = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad m \neq n.$$

Then at least n zeros of the polynomial

$$\phi(x) = \sum_{0}^{p-1} a_k Q_{n+k}(x)$$

lie in $S = S(I, \pi/l)$, the region comprised of all points from which the interval I subtends an angle of at least π/l [Vermes 1]. Hint: Apply Th. (24,3) assuming the zeros ζ_j to lie in S for $1 \leq j \leq k \leq n-1$ and outside S for $k+1 \leq j \leq n+p-1$ and taking

$$\alpha(x) = q(x) \prod_{1}^{n-1} (x - \zeta_j)(x - \overline{\zeta}_j), \qquad P(x) = \prod_{n=1}^{n+p-1} (x - \zeta_j)$$

4. In the notation of ex. (24,3), all the zeros of the Wronskian determinant

	$Q_n(x)$	$Q_{n+1}(x)$	•••	$Q_{n+p-1}(x)$	
	$Q'_n(x)$	$Q_{n+1}'(x)$	•••	$Q'_{n+p-1}(x)$	
	.`	•			
	•	•		•	
	•	•		•	
	$Q_n^{(p-1)}(x)$	$Q_{n+1}^{(p-1)}(x)$	•••	$Q_{n+p-1}^{(p-1)}(x)$	
Warman 11 Illints Amelican (24.2)					

lie also in $S(I, \pi/l)$ [Vermes 1]. Hint: Apply ex. (24,3).

25. Polynomials with p known zeros. As a generalization of Ths. (23,2) and (24,4), we shall now consider the problem: given that p zeros of a polynomial f(z) of degree n ($n \ge p$) lie in a circle C of radius R, to find the radius R' of the smallest concentric circle C' which contains at least p - 1 zeros of the derivative f'(z).

This problem was first proposed by Kakeya [1]. He showed that there exists a function $\phi(n, p)$ such that $R' = R\phi(n, p)$. Lucas' Th. (6,2) shows that $\phi(n, n) = 1$. Furthermore, as in Th. (23,2), Kakeya established the result that $\phi(n, 2) = \csc(\pi/n)$, but did not succeed in obtaining an explicit formula or an estimate for $\phi(n, p)$ for other values of p.

Subsequently, Biernacki [1] derived an estimate for $\phi(n, n-1)$; namely, $\phi(n, n-1) \leq (1 + 1/n)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

In order to throw light upon the general question, we shall, as in Marden [11], first extend Th. (24,4) to polynomials having a given pair of multiple zeros.

THEOREM (25,1). If z_1 and z_2 are respectively k_1 -fold and k_2 -fold zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z), then at least one zero (different from z_1 and z_2) of the derivative lies in the circle C with center at the point $[(z_1 + z_2)/2]$ and with a radius $[(1/2) |z_1 - z_2| \cot (\pi/2q)]$, where $q = n + 1 - k_1 - k_2$.

If we set $p = k_1 + k_2$ and N = 1 + (n/2) we note that the limit in Th. (25,1) is smaller than, same as or larger than that in Th. (23,1) according as p > N, p = N or p < N.

In proving this theorem we suffer no loss of generality in taking $z_1 = -1$ and $z_2 = +1$. Let us apply Th. (24,3), choosing

$$\alpha(z) = (1+z)^{k_1-1}(1-z)^{k_2-1}, \qquad P(z) = f'(z)/\alpha(z), \qquad \psi(t) \equiv t$$

For these choices $\arg \alpha(z) = 0 = \gamma$ on the straight line $z = \psi(t), -1 \leq t \leq 1$, and P(z) is a polynomial of degree q. According to Th. (24,3) at least one zero of P(z) lies in the star-shaped region comprised of all points at which the segment $-1 \leq z \leq 1$ subtends an angle not less than π/q . The smallest circle which encloses the latter region is clearly the circle described in Th. (25,1).

We now ask: what is the envelope of the circle C of Th. (25,1) when the points z_1 and z_2 vary independently over a circle of radius R? To answer this question, we may employ the method used in the proof of Th. (23,2). We thus obtain the following result due to Marden [11].

THEOREM (25,2). If a circle C of radius R contains a k_1 -fold zero and a k_2 -fold zero of an nth degree polynomial, then the concentric circle C' of radius R csc $\pi/2q$, $q = n + 1 - k_1 - k_2$, contains zeros of the derivative with a total multiplicity of at least $k_1 + k_2 - 1$.

In order to generalize this theorem to the case that the circle C contains p zeros which are not necessarily concentrated at just two points, we shall employ the following identity which connects any p zeros of a polynomial with any q = n - p + 1 zeros of its derivative.

THEOREM (25,3). Among the n + 1 distinct numbers $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_p, \beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_q, p + q = n + 1$, let the α_i be zeros of an nth degree polynomial and let the β_k be zeros of its derivative. Then

(25,1)
$$\sum \frac{D_{j_1 j_2 \cdots j_q}}{(\beta_1 - \alpha_{j_1})(\beta_2 - \alpha_{j_2}) \cdots (\beta_q - \alpha_{j_q})} = 0$$

where j_1, j_2, \dots, j_a run independently through the values 1, 2, \dots , p and where

$$D_{j_1j_2\ldots j_q} = k_1! k_2! \cdots k_p!$$

with k_i equal to the multiplicity of α_i as a zero of the polynomial $(\beta - \alpha_{j_1})(\beta - \alpha_{j_2})$ $\cdots (\beta - \alpha_{j_n})$.

This identity, which is due to Marden [11], is a generalization of the formula

(25,2)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\beta_{k} - \alpha_{j}} = 0$$

which connects any one zero β_k of f'(z)/f(z) with the *n* zeros $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$ of f(z).

For example, if q = 2, we may eliminate α_n from two equations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\beta_{1} - \alpha_{j}} = 0, \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\beta_{2} - \alpha_{j}} = 0$$

and thus obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{1}{(\beta_1 - \alpha_j)(\beta_2 - \alpha_j)} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{1}{\beta_1 - \alpha_j} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{1}{\beta_2 - \alpha_j} = 0$$

which reduces to (25,1) with q = 2.

To establish Th. (25,3), it is necessary to eliminate the q-1 numbers α_{p+1} , $\alpha_{p+2}, \dots, \alpha_n$ from the q equations (25,2), $k = 1, 2, \dots, q$. As this elimination is quite involved, we shall omit the details and proceed immediately to the proof of a result due to Marden [11].

THEOREM (25,4). If a circle C of radius R contains p zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z), the concentric circle C' of radius R csc $(\pi/2q)$, q = n - p + 1, contains at least p - 1 zeros of the derivative f'(z).

Let us suppose, on the contrary, that at most p-2 zeros of f'(z) lie in or on C' and hence at least (n-1) - (p-2) = q zeros of f'(z) lie outside C'. Let us denote these zeros of f'(z) by $\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_q$ and let us denote the zeros of f(z)lying in C by $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_p$. Obviously, no $\alpha_j, 1 \leq j \leq p$, may equal a β_k , $1 \leq k \leq q$. At each β_k , the circle C subtends an angle less than π/q . This means that a point ξ_k on C may be found so that

(25,3)
$$0 \leq \arg \frac{\xi_k - \beta_k}{\alpha_j - \beta_k} < \pi/q, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, p.$$

If now the sum in eq. (25,1) be multiplied by $(\beta_1 - \xi_1)(\beta_2 - \xi_2) \cdots (\beta_q - \xi_q)$, the resulting sum would have the terms of the form

(25,4)
$$\frac{(\xi_1-\beta_1)(\xi_2-\beta_2)\cdots(\xi_q-\beta_q)}{(\alpha_{j_1}-\beta_1)(\alpha_{j_2}-\beta_2)\cdots(\alpha_{j_q}-\beta_q)}$$

Because of (25,3), each term (25,4) would be representable by a vector drawn from the origin to a point in the sector

$$0 \leq \arg z < \pi$$

and hence by Th. (1,1) the sum cannot vanish. This result, being in contradiction to eq. (25,1), affirms that at least p - 1 zeros of f'(z) must lie in circle C'.

By the same method of proof, we may establish a more general theorem than Th. (25,4) in which we replace circle C by an arbitrary convex region K and circle C' by the star-shaped region $S(K, \pi/q)$ comprised of all points from which K subtends an angle of at least π/q . [See ex. (25,1).]

In the case some or all of the α_i are multiple zeros of f, the term $(\beta_k - \alpha_i)^{-1}$ in eq. (25,2) is replaced by $[\nu_i(\beta_k - \alpha_i)^{-1}]$ where ν_i is the multiplicity of α_i . If we

again eliminate the zeros α_p , α_{p+1} , \cdots , α_n , we secure an identity between the sets α_1 , α_2 , \cdots , α_p and β_1 , \cdots , β_q , which identity we may more conveniently derive by a limiting process from (25,1). The identity has the same form as (25,1) but with different positive coefficients $D_{i_1 i_2 \cdots i_q}$.

We thus obtain a generalization of Th. (25,4); namely,

THEOREM (25,5). If a polynomial f has n distinct zeros of which p (0 lie in a convex region K, it has at most <math>n - p distinct critical points on or outside the star-shaped region $S(K, \pi/q)$, where q = n - p + 1.

Let us now develop for infrapolynomials [see secs. 5, 6, 7] a result analogous to Th. (25,5). This theorem is concerned with the location of just some critical points of a polynomial f(z) when the position of only some zeros of f(z) is known. Our analogy must similarly be concerned with just some zeros of an infrapolynomial when the location of the pointset E is only partly specified. The following is such an analogy, due to Marden [22].

THEOREM (25,6). Let $E = E_0 + E_1$, where E_0 is a closed bounded pointset and E_1 is a set of k points $0 \le k \le n$. Let T_0 be the set comprised of all points from which E_0 subtends an angle of at least $\pi/(k+1)$. If $p \in \mathcal{P}_n$ is a nonvanishing infrapolynomial on E, then p has at most k zeros outside T_0 irrespective of the location of E_1 .

Proof. If Z_0, Z_1, \dots, Z_k are any k + 1 distinct zeros of p outside T_0 , then by Th. (5,2)

(25,5)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{\lambda_j}{Z_i - z_j} = 0, \qquad i = 0, 1, \cdots, k,$$

where z_0, z_1, \dots, z_m are points in *E*. Among the latter, let us say that only $z_m, z_{m-1}, \dots, z_{m-s+1}$ are points of E_1 with $0 \leq s \leq k-1$. From the k+1 equations (25,5) we may theoretically eliminate $z_m, z_{m-1}, \dots, z_{m-k+1}$ but practically this is very difficult. Instead, we use the fact that the Z_i are continuous functions of the λ_j . For a given $\epsilon > 0$ we can find a $\delta > 0$ such that for rational numbers ρ_j with $|\rho_j - \lambda_j| < \delta, j = 0, 1, \dots, m$, the equation

(25,6)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} [\rho_j/(z-z_j)] = 0$$

has roots ζ_0 , ζ_1 , \cdots , ζ_k with $|\zeta_i - Z_i| < \epsilon$ for $i = 0, 1, \cdots, k$. Hence the points ζ_i also lie outside T_0 . If N is taken as a sufficiently large integer so that each $v_j = \rho_j N$ is an integer, the equation

(25,7)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} [\nu_j/(z-z_j)] = 0,$$

also having the roots ζ_0 , ζ_1 , \cdots , ζ_k , is satisfied by the zeros of the logarithmic derivative of the polynomial

$$f(z) = \prod_{j=0}^m (z - z_j)^{\nu_j}.$$

We may now apply Th. (25,5), with the α_i and β_i replaced by the z_i and Z_i and with the circle C replaced by a convex region K as in ex. (25,1). Thus we complete the proof of Th. (25,6).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If a convex region K contains p zeros of an nth degree polynomial f(z), the star-shaped region $S(K, \pi/q)$, q = n - p + 1, contains at least p - 1 zeros of the derivative f'(z). Hint: Use Th. (25,3) [Marden 11].

2. If f'(z) has at most p-1 zeros in a circle of radius ρ , f(z) has at most p zeros in the concentric circle of radius ρ sin $[\pi/2(n-p)]$. Hint: Assume the contrary [Marden 11].

3. If the derivative of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) has at most p-1 zeros in a circle C of radius ρ , then f(z) assumes no value A more than p times in the concentric circle C' of radius { $\rho \sin [\pi/2(n-p)]$ }; that is, f(z) is at most p-valent in C'. Hint: Apply ex. (25,2) to f(z) - A [Marden 11].

4. The polynomial

$$f(z) = \left[z^2 - 2z\left(\frac{n}{2n-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1\right]^{\frac{p}{2}} \left[z - \frac{1}{p}\left(n(2n-p)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]^{\frac{n-2}{2}}$$

with p a positive even integer has two zeros on the unit circle, each of multiplicity (p/2). Its derivative has at the same points zeros each of multiplicity (p-2)/2 and has a double zero at the point $z = (2 - p/n)^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Thus, for p even the $\phi(n, p)$ defined at the beginning of sec. 25 satisfies the inequality

(25,8)
$$\phi(n, p) \ge (2 - p/n)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 [Marden 11].

5. Let Z_1, Z_2, \dots, Z_p be zeros of the function

$$F(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} A_j z^j + \sum_{j=0}^n m_j / (z - z_j),$$

where the A_i are arbitrary complex constants. Then

(25,9)
$$F(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left\{ [m_j/(z-z_j)] \prod_{k=1}^{p} [(Z_k - z)/(Z_k - z_j)] \right\}.$$

Hint: Eliminate the A_j from F(z) by using the eqs. $F(Z_k) = 0, k = 1, 2, \dots, p$ [Marden 19].

6. If in ex. (25,5) all the poles z_j lie in a convex region K and if the m_j are points in a convex sector with vertex at the origin and with an aperture μ , then at most p zeros of the function F(z) lie exterior to the star-shaped region $S(K, (\pi - \mu)/(p + 1))$. Hint: Assume the contrary and consider the argument

of each term in the eq. $F(Z_{p+1}) = 0$ obtained from eq. (25,9) with Z_1, Z_2, \dots, Z_{p+1} all taken exterior to S [Marden 19].

7. With $n = \infty$ the results in exs. (25,5) and (25,6) are valid for the meromorphic function

$$M(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} B_j z^j + [m_0/(z - z_0)] + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} m_j \left\{ [1/(z - z_j)] + \sum_{k=1}^{p-1} (z/z_j)^k \right\}$$

where the B_j are arbitrary complex constants, if $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |m_j|/|z_j|^p$ converges. Hint: In ex. (25,5) take $A_j = B_j + \sum_{k=1}^{n} m_k (1/z_k)^j$. Then, as $n \to \infty$, $F(z) \to M(z)$ absolutely and uniformly in every finite closed region not containing any z_j [Marden 19].

8. Let $z_0 = 0, z_1, z_2, \cdots$ be the zeros of an entire function E(z) of genus p so that E(z) may be written in the Weierstrass form

$$E(z) = e^{P(z)} z^{m_0} \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\{ (1 - z/z_j) \exp \sum_{k=1}^{p} [(z/z_j)^k/k] \right\}.$$

Then, if Z_1, Z_2, \dots, Z_p are any p zeros of E'(z), and if $m_j = 1$ for $1 \leq j$,

$$E'(z) = E(z) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\{ [m_j/(z-z_j)] \prod_{k=1}^{p} [(Z_k - z)/(Z_k - z_j)] \right\}.$$

If all the zeros of E(z) lie in a convex infinite region K, at most p zeros of E'(z) lie exterior to the region $S(K, \pi/(p + 1))$. Hint: Apply ex. (25,7) to E'(z)/E(z) [Marden 18].

26. Alternative treatment. As in sec. 25 let us denote by R the radius of a circle containing p zeros of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) and by R' the radius of the concentric circle containing at least p - 1 zeros of f'(z). We shall now obtain another upper bound on R', this time by using ex. (19,4) and ex. (19,5) and induction.

As a first step, we shall prove

THEOREM (26,1). If an nth degree polynomial f(z) has p zeros in or on a circle C of radius R and an (n - p)-fold zero at a point ζ , then its derivative has at least p - 1 zeros in the concentric circle C' of radius R' = R[(3n - 2p)/n].

Without loss of generality in the proof, we assume that C is the unit circle |z| = 1.

If $|\zeta| \leq 1$, then all the zeros of f(z) lie in circle C and by Th. (6,2) all n-1 zeros of f'(z) lie in C. In such a case, surely p-1 zeros of f'(z) lie in C'.

If $|\zeta| > 1$, ex. (19,5) informs us that (see Fig. (26,1)) the zeros of f'(z) lie in circle C and in a circle Γ with center $\gamma = p\zeta/n$ and radius c = (n - p)/n. If C and Γ (closed disks) do not overlap, exactly p - 1 zeros of f'(z) lie in C and hence in C'. If C and Γ do overlap, but if Γ does not enclose ζ , precisely p zeros of f'(z) lie in the region comprised of C and Γ and hence in the circle C' with

[6]

center at the origin and radius

$$1 + [2(n - p)/n] = (3n - 2p)/n.$$

Finally, if C and Γ overlap and if Γ contains ζ , then all the zeros of f(z) lie in C' and hence all n-1 zeros of f'(z) lie in C'.

In all cases, therefore, circle C' contains at least p-1 zeros of f'(z).

Let us now consider polynomials which have p zeros in a circle C, but do not have the remaining zeros necessarily concentrated at a single point. For such polynomials, we shall prove a result due to Biernacki [3].



FIG. (26,1)

THEOREM (26,2). If an nth degree polynomial f(z) has p (p < n) zeros in a circle C of radius R, its derivative has at least p - 1 zeros in the concentric circle C' of radius

(26,1)
$$R' = R \prod_{k=1}^{n-p} [(n+k)/(n-k)].$$

Our proof will use the method of mathematical induction. Without loss of generality, we may assume that C has its center at the origin and that the zeros α_j of f(z) have been labelled in the order of increasing modulus

$$|\alpha_1| \leq |\alpha_2| \leq \cdots \leq |\alpha_n|.$$

We begin with the case p = n - 1. Since only one zero α_n is exterior to C, we learn from Th. (26,1) that at least p - 1 zeros of f'(z) lie in the circle

$$|z| \leq \left(1 + \frac{2}{n}\right)R < \left(1 + \frac{2}{n-1}\right)R = \left(\frac{n+1}{n-1}\right)R;$$

that is, in the circle C' with the radius R' as given by eq. (26,1) for p = n - 1. Let us now suppose that Th. (26,2) has been verified for the cases p = n - 1, $n-2, \dots, N+1$ and let us proceed to the case p = N where

$$R' = R[(2n - N)/N] \prod_{k=1}^{n-N+1} (n + k)/(n - k).$$

If in this case $|\alpha_{N+1}| > (2n - N)R/N$, we may apply ex. (19,4) with $n_1 = N$, $n_2 = n - N$, $r_1 = R$ and $r_2 > (2n - N)R/N$. We thus find that

$$r > (1/n)\{N[(2n - N)R/N] - (n - N)R\} = R$$

and that f'(z) has exactly N - 1 zeros in the circle $C_1 \equiv C$ and hence in the circle C'.

If, on the other hand, $|\alpha_{N+1}| \leq (2n - N)R/N$, the circle $C: |z| \leq \rho = (2n - N)R/N$ contains the N + 1 zeros $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_{N+1}$. Hence, according to Th. (26,2) applied with ρ replacing R and N + 1 replacing p, at least N zeros of f'(z) lie in the circle

(26,3)
$$|z| \leq \left[\frac{(2n-N)}{N}\right] \left[\frac{(n+1)}{(n-1)} \frac{(n+2)\cdots(2n-N-1)}{(n-2)\cdots(N+1)}\right] R.$$

But this is the circle C': $|z| \leq R'$, with the R' given by eq. (26,1) for p = N.

In all cases in which p = N, there are therefore at least N - 1 zeros of f'(z) in the circle C'. In other words, Th. (26,2) has been established by mathematical induction.

However, neither Th. (25,4) nor Th. (26,2) gives the complete answer to the question raised at the beginning of sec. 25. For, as a critical examination of their proofs will reveal, neither theorem gives in general the least number $\phi(n, p)$ with the property: if p zeros of f(z) lie in a circle of radius R, then at least p - 1 zeros of f'(z) lie in the concentric circle of radius $R\phi(n, p)$.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If the derivative of an *n*th degree polynomial f(z) has at most p - 1 zeros in a circle C of radius ρ , then f(z) has at most p zeros in the concentric circle C'



FIG. (26,2)

of radius

(26,4)
$$\rho' = \rho \prod_{k=1}^{n-p-1} [(n-k)/(n+k)].$$

2. The f(z) of ex. (26,1) is at most p-valent in $|z| \leq \rho'$.

3. Th. (6,2) is the special case p = n of both Ths. (25,4) and (26,2).

4. In the case p = 2, Th. (23,2) is better than Ths. (25,4) and (26,2).

5. Let α be a *p*-fold zero of the *n*th degree polynomial f(z) and let *C*, a circle of radius *R*, pass through α but not contain any other zeros of f(z). Let *C'*, a circle of radius R' = (p/n)R, be tangent to *C* internally at α . (See Fig. (26,2).) Then $f'(z) \neq 0$ in *C'*. Hint: Apply ex. (19,5).

Remark. The radius R' may, as shown in Nagy [5], be replaced by the larger number R'' = p/(S + p), where S is the maximum number of zeros of f(z) to either side of the line tangent to C at α .

CHAPTER VII

BOUNDS FOR THE ZEROS AS FUNCTIONS OF ALL THE COEFFICIENTS

27. The moduli of the zeros. So far we have studied the location of the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial f(z) relative to the zeros of f(z). The results which we obtained led to corresponding results concerning the relative location of the zeros of various other pairs of polynomials. In short, we may regard the preceding six chapters as concerned with the investigation of the zeros Z_1, Z_2, \dots, Z_m of a polynomial F(z) as functions $Z_k = Z_k(z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n)$ of some or all of the zeros z_k of a related polynomial f(z).

In the remaining four chapters, our interest will be centered upon the study of the zeros z_k of a polynomial

(27,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$$

as functions $z_k = z_k(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n)$ of some or of all the coefficients a_j of f(z). Our problems will fall mainly into two categories:

(I) Given an integer $p, 1 \leq p \leq n$; to find a region $R = R(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n)$ containing at least or exactly p zeros of f(z). For instance, we shall try to find the smallest circle |z| = r which will enclose the p zeros.

(II) Given a region R, to find the number $p = p(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n)$ of zeros in R. An example of such a problem is that of finding the number p of zeros whose moduli do not exceed some prescribed value r.

While the regions R to be considered will be largely the circular regions, usually half-planes and the interiors of circles, we shall also consider other regions R such as sectors and annular rings.

Just as some of the preceding results were complex-variable analogues of Rolle's Theorem, so will some of the succeeding results, particularly those connected with the problems of the second category, be complex-variable analogues of the rules of sign of Descartes and Sturm.

Let us begin with a problem of the first category: to find an upper bound for the moduli of all the zeros of a polynomial. A classic solution of such a problem is the result due to Cauchy [1]; namely,

THEOREM (27,1). All the zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the circle $|z| \leq r$, where r is the positive root of the equation

(27,2)
$$|a_0| + |a_1| z + \cdots + |a_{n-1}| z^{n-1} - |a_n| z^n = 0.$$

Obviously, the limit is attained when f(z) is the left side of (27,2).

The proof hinges on the inequality, obtained from eq. (27,1),

$$(27,3) |f(z)| \ge |a_n| |z|^n - (|a_0| + |a_1| |z| + \dots + |a_{n-1}| |z|^{n-1}).$$

If |z| > r, the right side of (27,3) is positive since the left side of eq. (27,2) is negative for $r < z \le +\infty$. Hence $f(z) \ne 0$ for |z| > r.

From ineq. (27,3), there follows immediately a second result also due to Cauchy [1]; namely,

THEOREM (27,2). All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the circle

(27,4)
$$|z| < 1 + \max |a_k/a_n|, \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n-1.$$

For, if $M = \max |a_k/a_n|$ and if |z| > 1, we may infer from ineq. (27,3) that

$$\begin{split} |f(z)| &\ge |a_n| \, |z|^n \Big\{ 1 - M \sum_{j=1}^n |z|^{-j} \Big\} \\ &> |a_n| \, |z|^n \Big\{ 1 - M \sum_{j=1}^\infty |z|^{-j} \Big\} \\ &> |a_n| \, |z|^n \Big\{ 1 - \frac{M}{|z| - 1} \Big\} = |a_n| \, |z|^n \Big\{ \frac{|z| - 1 - M}{|z| - 1} \Big\}. \end{split}$$

Hence, if $|z| \ge 1 + M$, then |f(z)| > 0. That is, the only zeros of f(z) in |z| > 1 are those satisfying ineq. (27,4). But, as all the zeros of f(z) in $|z| \le 1$ satisfy ineq. (27,4) also, we have fully established Th. (27,2).

Let us arrange the zeros z_k of f in the order

$$|z_1| \ge |z_2| \ge \cdots \ge |z_n|.$$

From the a_j expressed as the elementary symmetric functions of the z_k , we infer that [see eqs. (15,4) and (15,5)]

(27,5)
$$|a_{n-k}/a_n| \leq C(n,k) |z_1|^k$$
,

(27,6)
$$\alpha \equiv \max_{1 \le k \le n} |a_{n-k}/a_n C(n, k)|^{1/k} \le |z_1|.$$

On the other hand, from eq. (27,2) with z = r, we infer that

$$(27,7) \quad r^n \leq \alpha^n + C(n, n-1)\alpha^{n-1}r + \cdots + C(n, 1)\alpha r^{n-1} = (\alpha + r)^n - r^n$$

Hence,

$$(27,8) (2^{1/n}-1)r \leq \alpha.$$

In other words, we have established the following result due to Birkhoff [1], Cohn [1] and Berwald [3]; namely,

[§27]

THEOREM (27,3). The zero z_1 of largest modulus of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, satisfies the inequalities

(27,9)
$$(2^{1/n}-1)r \leq \alpha \leq |z_1| \leq r \leq \alpha/(2^{1/n}-1),$$

where r is the positive root of eq. (27,2) and α is defined in (27,6).

The lower limit in (27,9) is attained by $f(z) = (z + 1)^n$. For, eq. (27,2) is then $(z + 1)^n - 2z^n = 0$ and $r = 1/(2^{1/n} - 1)$. The upper limit in (27,9) is obviously attained by $f(z) = (z + 1)^n - 2z^n$.

By the above reasoning we may also show that, if z_n is the zero of f(z) of smallest modulus, then $|z_n| \leq (2^{1/n} - 1)r$. (See also ex. (27,1).)

A further improvement in bound (27,9) may be developed on use of the wellknown Hölder inequality

(27,10)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j} \beta_{j} \leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j}^{p}\right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{j}^{q}\right)^{1/q},$$

where $\alpha_j > 0$, $\beta_j > 0$ for all j and p > 1, q > 1 with (1/p) + (1/q) = 1. When applied to (27,3), ineq. (27,10) yields the results

(27,11)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j| |z|^j \leq \left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j|^p\right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |z|^{jq}\right)^{1/q},$$

(27,12)
$$|f(z)| \ge |a_n| |z|^n \Big\{ 1 - A_p \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{|z|^{(n-j)q}} \Big)^{1/q} \Big\},$$

where

(27,13)
$$A_{p} = \left(\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_{j}/a_{n}|^{p}\right)^{1/p}.$$
 Since, if $|z| > 1$,

(27,14)
$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{|z|^{(n-j)q}} < \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{|z|^{jq}} = \frac{1}{|z|^q - 1},$$

we learn from (27,12) that

(27,15)
$$|f(z)| > |a_n| |z^n| \left\{ 1 - \frac{A_p}{(|z|^q - 1)^{1/q}} \right\} \ge 0$$

provided $|z|^q - 1 \ge (A_p)^q$; i.e.,

(27,16)
$$|z| \ge [1 + (A_p)^q]^{1/q}.$$

The relations (27,15), (27,16) and (27,13) lead thus to the result of Kuniyeda [1], Montel [2] and Tôya [1], which we state as

THEOREM (27,4). For any p and q such that (27,17) p > 1, q > 1, (1/p) + (1/q) = 1, the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, has all its zeros in the circle (27,18) $|z| < \left\{1 + \left[\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j|^p / |a_n|^p\right]^{q/p}\right\}^{1/q} \le (1 + n^{q/p} M^q)^{1/q}$ where $M = \max |a_j|a_n|, j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$. Thus, if p = q = 2, ineq. (27,18) becomes

(27,19)
$$|z| < \left\{1 + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} |a_j|^2 / |a_n|^2\right\}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

the bound derived in Carmichael-Mason [1], Kelleher [1] and Fujiwara [1].

Results analogous to the above have been found for expansions of a given polynomial f in terms of certain orthogonal polynomials $\psi_k(z)$ with deg $\psi_k = k$,

(27,20)
$$f(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_{j} z^{j} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_{k} \psi_{k}(z).$$

For example, when $\psi_k(z)$ are the Hermite polynomials

(27,21)
$$H_k(z) = (-1)^k e^{z^2} (d^k/dz^k) (e^{-z^2}),$$

Turán [4] established the following analog to Th. (27,2).

THEOREM (27,5). In the expansion

(27,22)
$$f(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j z^j = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k H_k(z)$$

where $a_n b_n \neq 0$, let

 $M^* = \max |b_k/b_n|, \qquad 0 \le k \le n-1.$

Then all the zeros of f lie in the strip

(27,23) $|\Im(z)| < (1/2)(1 + M^*).$

To prove Th. (27,5) we note that the zeros x_{jk} , of $H_k(z)$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, k)$, are all real. If we make use of the identity [Szegö 4]

$$H'_k(z) = 2kH_{k-1}(z),$$

we may write

$$\frac{H_{k-1}(z)}{H_k(z)} = \frac{1}{2k} \frac{H'_k(z)}{H_k(z)} = \frac{1}{2k} \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{1}{z - x_{jk}},$$
$$\left| \frac{H_{k-1}(z)}{H_k(z)} \right| \le \frac{1}{2k} \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{1}{|z - x_{jk}|} < \frac{1}{2|y|},$$

since z = x + iy and $|z - x_{jk}| \ge |y|$ for all j. The equality holds only when $\Re(z) = x_{jk}$. Thus

$$\left|\frac{H_{k}(z)}{H_{n}(z)}\right| = \left|\frac{H_{k}(z)}{H_{k+1}(z)} \cdot \frac{H_{k+1}(z)}{H_{k+2}(z)} \cdot \cdot \cdot \frac{H_{n-1}(z)}{H_{n}(z)}\right| < \frac{1}{2^{n-k} |y|^{n-k}}.$$

Now, from (27,22) we find for $z \neq x_{jn}$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$,

$$|f(z)| \ge |b_n H_n(z)| \left\{ 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} |b_k/b_n| |H_{k-1}(z)/H_n(z)| \right\},$$

$$(27,24) \qquad |f(z)| > |b_n H_n(z)| \left\{ 1 - M^* \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (2|y|)^{-n+k} \right\},$$

$$|f(z)| > |b_n H_n(z)| \left\{ 1 - M^* [1/(2|y| - 1)] \right\}.$$

Clearly |f(z)| > 0 if $2|y| - 1 - M^* \ge 0$. Hence all zeros of f(z) must satisfy ineq. (27,23).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. The zero of smallest modulus of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_0 \neq 0$, lies in the ring $R \leq |z| \leq R/(2^{1/n} - 1)$, where R is the positive root of the equation

$$|a_0| - |a_1| z - |a_2| z^2 - \cdots - |a_n| z^n = 0.$$

Hint: Apply Th. (27,3) to $F(z) = z^n f(1/z)$.

2. All the zeros of the f(z) of ex. (27,1) lie on or outside the circle

$$|z| = \min \left[|a_0|/(|a_0| + |a_k|) \right], \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

3. As $p \to \infty$, the right side of (27,18) approaches the limit $1 + \max |a_j|/|a_n|$, $j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$, and thus Th. (27,2) is a limiting case of Th. (27,4).

4. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the circle

(27,25)
$$|z| \leq \left[1 + \left|\frac{a_0}{a_n}\right|^2 + \left|\frac{a_1 - a_0}{a_n}\right|^2 + \dots + \left|\frac{a_n - a_{n-1}}{a_n}\right|^2\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Hint: Apply (27,19) to F(z) = (1 - z)f(z) [Williams 1].

5. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the circle

(27,26)
$$|z| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{n-j}/a_{n}|^{1/j}.$$

Hint: Apply ex. (17,1) successively to the polynomials $P_k(z) = a_n z^{n-k} + a_{n-1} z^{n-k-1} + \cdots + a_{n-k-1} z$, with $k = n - 1, n - 2, \cdots, 0$ and with $-c = a_{n-k}$ [Walsh 7].

6. If z_1 and z_2 are zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_1 a_n \neq 0$ and if $|z_1| \leq 1 \leq |z_2|$, then

$$|a_0 + a_1 z_1| \leq \sum_{j=2}^n |a_j|, \qquad |a_n z_2 + a_{n-1}| \leq \sum_{j=0}^{n-2} |a_j|.$$

7. Let $M = \max |z_j|$ of the zeros z_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ of $f(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$. Then

$$M \ge (1/n) \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_j/C(n,j)|^{1/j}$$

Hint: Add the *n* relations $(j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$

 $|C(n,j)^{-1}a_j|^{1/j} = |C(n,j)^{-1}\sum z_1z_2\cdots z_j|^{1/j} \le M$ [Throumolopoulos 1].

8. Let $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k} z^{k}$ and $g(z) = \sum_{1}^{\infty} b_{k} z^{k}$ with $b_{k} > 0$ for all k. Let r_{0} be the positive root of the equation $Mg(r) = |a_{0}|$, where $M = \max |a_{k}/b_{k}|$, k = 1, 2, \cdots , n. Then all the zeros of f(z) lie in $|z| \ge r_{0}$. Hint: For any zero $z = re^{i\theta}$ of f(z),

$$|a_0| g(r)^{-1} \leq G = \left[\sum_{1}^{n} |a_k/b_k| b_k r^k\right] / \left[\sum_{1}^{n} b_k r^k\right] \leq M$$

since G is a mean value of the quantities $|a_k/b_k|$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Markovitch 3].

9. For any given positive t, let $M = \max |a_k| t^k$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Then all the zeros of $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_k z^k$ lie in $|z| \ge |a_0| t/(|a_0| + M)$. Hint: Choose $b_k = t^{-k}$ in ex. (27,8) [Landau 4; Markovitch 3].

10. The zeros of the polynomial $h(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_k b_k z^k$ lie on the disk $|z| \leq Mr$, where r is the positive root of eq. (27,2) and $M = \max |b_k/b_{k+1}|^{1/(n-k)}$ for $0 \leq k \leq n-1$ [Markovitch 7].

11. All the zeros of $f(z) = z^n + a_p z^{n-p} + \cdots + a_n$, $a_p \neq 0$, p < n, lie on the disk |z| < r, where r > 1, $r^p - r^{p-1} = |a_q|$, $|a_q| = \max |a_k|$, $p \le k \le n$ [Guggenheimer 2]. Hint: r and any zero Z of f satisfy

$$\begin{split} |Z|^n &\leq |a_q| \, (|Z|^{n-p+1}-1)(|Z|-1)^{-1}, \\ r^n &= |a_q| \, r^{n-p+1}(r-1)^{-1} > |a_q| \, (r^{n-p+1}-1)(r-1)^{-1}. \end{split}$$

12. All the zeros of f in Th. (27,5) lie in the strip

$$|\Im(z)| \leq (1/2) \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} |b_k/b_n|^{1/k} = B$$

[Turán 4]. Hint: If $|\Im(z)| > B$, then $|b_k/b_n| \le (2|y|)^{n-k}$ for all k and |f(z)| > 0 from ineq. (27,24).

13. Let $\{\phi_n(z)\}$ form a set of orthonormal polynomials; that is,

$$\phi_n(z) = \alpha_{n0} + \alpha_{n1}z + \cdots + \alpha_{nn}z^n$$

with

$$(1/2\pi)\int_0^{2\pi}\phi_m(e^{i\theta})\overline{\phi_n(e^{i\theta})}w(\theta)\ d\theta=\delta_{mn}$$

where $w(\theta)$ is a Lebesgue integrable, positive weight function and $\delta_{mn} = 0$ or 1 according as $m \neq n$ or m = n. Let a given *n*th degree polynomial f(z) be written as

$$f(z) = b_0\phi_0(z) + b_1\phi_1(z) + \cdots + b_n\phi_n(z).$$

Then all the zeros of f(z) lie in the disk

$$|b_n| |z| \leq (|b_0|^2 + |b_1|^2 + \dots + |b_n|^2)^{1/2} = |b_n|B$$

[Specht 5, 10]. Hint: Let Z be any zero of f. Solve f(Z) = 0 for $b_n \phi_n(Z)$. Use (27,10) with p = q = 2 and the inequality

$$|\phi_0(Z)|^2 + \cdots + |\phi_{n-1}(Z)|^2 \leq (|Z|^2 - 1)^{-1} |\phi_n(Z)|^2$$

14. If ρ is the positive root of the equation

$$|a_0| x^n = |a_{k+1}| x^{n-k-1} + \cdots + |a_{n-1}| x + |a_n|$$

and ω_j , $1 \leq j \leq k$, are the zeros of the polynomial $f_k(z) = a_0 z^k + a_1 z^{k-1} + \cdots + a_k$, then any zero of f_n not on the disk K: $|z| \leq \rho$ lies on at least one disk D_j : $|z - \omega_j| < \rho$, $j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$ [Specht 12]. Hint: If $f_n(Z) = 0$, $|Z| > \rho$,

then

$$|f_k(Z)| = |Z^{k-n}[f_n(Z) - f_k(Z)]| < |a_0| \ \rho^k.$$

28. The p zeros of smallest modulus. An important generalization of Cauchy's Th. (27,1) is the one published in 1881 by Pellet [1].

PELLET'S THEOREM (Th. (28,1)). Given the polynomial

(28,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^p + \dots + a_n z^n, \qquad a_p \neq 0.$$

If the polynomial

(28,2)
$$F_{p}(z) \equiv |a_{0}| + |a_{1}| z + \dots + |a_{p-1}| z^{p-1} - |a_{p}| z^{p} + |a_{p+1}| z^{p+1} + \dots + |a_{n}| z^{n}$$

has two positive zeros r and R, r < R, then f(z) has exactly p zeros in or on the circle $|z| \leq r$ and no zeros in the annular ring r < |z| < R.

Our proof, like Pellet's will be based upon Rouché's Theorem (Th. (1,3)). Let us take a positive number ρ , $r < \rho < R$. In view of the facts that sg $F_p(z) =$ sg $F_p(0) = 1$ for 0 < z < r and sg $F_p(z) = \operatorname{sg} F_p(+\infty) = 1$ for $R < z < \infty$, it follows that for ϵ a sufficiently small positive number

(28,3)
$$F_p(\rho) < 0, \qquad r + \epsilon \leq \rho \leq R - \epsilon.$$

This means according to eq. (28,2) that

(28,4)
$$|a_p| \rho^p > \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} |a_j| \rho^j + \sum_{j=p+1}^n |a_j| \rho^j.$$

At this point we shall apply Rouche's Theorem to the polynomials

(28,5)
$$P(z) = \sum_{j=0, j \neq p}^{n} a_{j} z^{j}, \qquad Q(z) = a_{p} z^{p}.$$

Since, on the circle $|z| = \rho$, we have from (28,5) and (28,4)

$$|P(z)| \leq \sum_{j=0, \, j \neq p}^{n} |a_{j}| \, \rho^{j} < |a_{p}| \, \rho^{p} = |Q(z)| \neq 0,$$

our conclusion is that, in the circle $|z| < \rho$, f(z) = P(z) + Q(z) has the same number p of zeros as does Q(z). Since ρ is an arbitrary number such that $r < \rho < R$, it follows that there are precisely p zeros in the region $|z| \le r$ and no zeros in the region r < |z| < R.

Pellet's Theorem, the proof of which we have just completed, may be supplemented by two theorems due to Walsh [10]. The first concerns the case that, instead of the distinct zeros r and R, $F_p(z)$ has a real double zero r while the second is a converse of Pellet's Theorem.

THEOREM (28,2). If $F_p(z)$ has a double positive zero r, then f(z) has δ ($\delta \ge 0$) double zeros on the circle |z| = r, $p - \delta$ zeros inside and $n - p - \delta$ zeros outside this circle.

THEOREM (28,3). Let a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n be fixed coefficients and $\epsilon_0, \epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_n$ be arbitrary numbers with $|\epsilon_0| = |\epsilon_1| = \dots = |\epsilon_n| = 1$. Let ρ be any positive real number with the two properties:

(1) ρ is not a zero of any polynomial

$$\phi(z) = a_0 \epsilon_0 + a_1 \epsilon_1 z + \cdots + a_n \epsilon_n z^n;$$

(2) every polynomial $\phi(z)$ has p zeros ($0) in the circle <math>|z| = \rho$. Then $F_p(z)$ has two positive zeros r and R, r < R, and $r < \rho < R$.

For the proof of Th. (28,2), the reader is referred to Walsh [10], but for the proof of Th. (28,3) the reader should also consult Ostrowski [2].

Another set of bounds due to Specht [2] on the p absolutely largest zeros is furnished by

THEOREM (28,4). If the zeros z_i of a polynomial $f(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n$ are arranged so that

 $|z_1| \ge |z_2| \ge \cdots \ge |z_p| > 1 \ge |z_{p+1}| \ge \cdots \ge |z_n|,$

then

 $|z_1 z_2 \cdots z_p| \leq N, \qquad |z_p| \leq N^{1/p}$

where $N^2 = 1 + |a_1|^2 + \cdots + |a_n|^2$.

PROOF. Let $\zeta_k = 1/z_k$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, p$, be the zeros of

$$g(z) = z^n f(1/z) = 1 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n, \qquad |z| \leq r = 1 - \epsilon < 1$$

with ϵ chosen so that $g(re^{i\theta}) \neq 0$ for $0 \leq \theta \leq 2\pi$. Applying Jensen's Formula [see ex. (16,15)] to g(z), we have

$$\log |r^p/\zeta_1\zeta_2\cdots\zeta_p| = (1/2\pi) \int_0^{2\pi} \log |g(re^{i\theta})| \, d\theta.$$

According to Pólya-Szegö [1, vol. I, p. 54]

$$|r^{p}z_{1}z_{2}\cdots z_{p}| = \exp\left[(1/2\pi)\int_{0}^{2\pi}\log|g(re^{i\theta})| d\theta\right]$$
$$\leq (1/2\pi)\int_{0}^{2\pi}|g(re^{i\theta})| d\theta.$$

Now by Schwarz' inequality

$$|r^{p}z_{1}z_{2}\cdots z_{p}| \leq (1/2\pi) \left[\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\theta \int_{0}^{2\pi} |g(re^{i\theta})|^{2} d\theta \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} = N.$$

By allowing $\epsilon \to 0$ and hence $r \to 1$, we obtain Th. (28,4).
EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (27,1) is the limiting case of Th. (28,1) in which all a_i , $p < j \leq n$, are allowed to approach zero.

2. If $|a_p| > |a_0| + |a_1| + \cdots + |a_{p-1}| + |a_{p+1}| + \cdots + |a_n|$, then f(z), defined by eq. (28,1), has exactly p zeros in the unit circle [Cohn 1].

3. In Th. (28,4)

$$|z_1 z_2 \cdots z_k| \leq \max\left(1 + A_k, |a_n|\right)$$

where $A_k = \max \sum_{j=1}^k |a_{i,j}|$ for $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_k < n$ [Mahler 1, Mirsky 2]. 4. In Th. (28,4),

$$|z_1 z_2 \cdots z_m|^2 + |z_{m+1} z_{m+2} \cdots z_n|^2 \leq N^2$$

[Vicente Gonçalves 1, Ostrowski 8].

5. Let
$$\alpha_p = a_p + \bar{a}_1 a_{p+1} + \cdots + \bar{a}_n a_{p+n}$$
, with $a_0 = 0, a_r = 0$ for $r > n$. Let

$$N_n^2 = \begin{vmatrix} \alpha_0 & \alpha_1 & \alpha_2 & \cdots & \alpha_{m-1} \\ \bar{\alpha}_1 & \alpha_0 & \alpha_1 & \cdots & \alpha_{m-2} \\ \bar{\alpha}_2 & \bar{\alpha}_1 & \alpha_0 & \cdots & \alpha_{m-3} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \bar{\alpha}_{m-1} & \bar{\alpha}_{m-2} & \bar{\alpha}_{m-3} & \cdots & \alpha_0 \end{vmatrix}.$$

Then, in Th. (28,4), $|z_1 z_2 \cdots z_m| \leq N_m / N_{m-1} \leq N_m^{1/m}$ [Specht 3]. 6. At least k zeros of $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^n a_k z^k$, with $a_0 a_n \neq 0$, n > 2, lie in $|z| \geq 1$ $(1 + c_1 + \cdots + c_n)^{-[1/(n-k)]}$ where $c_k = |a_k/a_0|$ [Zmorovič 1].

29. Refinement of the bounds. In secs. 27 and 28, we took into consideration only the moduli of the coefficients of f(z) in constructing some bounds for the zeros of f(z). We shall now try to sharpen those bounds by taking into account also the argument of the coefficients.

Let us divide the plane into 2p equal sectors S_k having their common vertex at the origin and having the rays

$$\theta = (\alpha_0 + k\pi)/p, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, 2p,$$

as their bisectors. Let us denote by $G(r_0, r; p, \alpha_0)$ the boundary of the gearwheel shaped region formed by adding to the circular region $|z| < r_0$ those points of the annulus $r_0 \leq |z| \leq r$ which lie in the odd numbered sectors S_1 , S_3, \dots, S_{2p-1} . (See Fig. (29,1).)

Following Lipka [6] in the case p = n and Marden [15] in the general case, we now propose to establish a refinement of Pellet's Theorem (Th. (28,1)).

THEOREM (29,1). If the polynomial

(29,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^p + \dots + a_n z^n$$

with

(29,2) $a_0 a_1 a_p a_n \neq 0$ and $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_p)$ be such that the equation

(29,3)
$$F_{p}(z) \equiv |a_{0}| + |a_{1}| z + \dots + |a_{p-1}| z^{p-1} - |a_{p}| z^{p} + |a_{p+1}| z^{p+1} + \dots + |a_{n}| z^{n} = 0$$

has two positive zeros r and R, r < R, then the equation

(29,4)
$$\Phi_{p}(z) \equiv |a_{1}| + |a_{2}| z + \dots + |a_{p-1}| z^{p-2} - |a_{p}| z^{p-1} + |a_{p+1}| z^{p} + \dots + |a_{n}| z^{n-1} = 0$$

has two positive zeros r_0 and R_0 with $r_0 < r < R < R_0$. Furthermore, the polynomial f(z) has precisely p zeros in or on the curve $G(r_0, r; p, \alpha_0)$ and no zeros in the annular region between the curves $G(r_0, r; p, \alpha_0)$ and $G(R, R_0; p, \alpha_0 + \pi)$.



FIG. (29,1)

As to the existence of the roots r_0 and R_0 , let us note that, according to (29,3) and (29,4),

(29,5)
$$F_p(z) = |a_0| + z\Phi_p(z).$$

Thus,

(29,6)
$$\Phi_{p}(r) = -|a_{0}|/r, \quad \Phi_{p}(R) = -|a_{0}|/R.$$

Since

$$\Phi_p(0) = |a_1| > 0$$
 and $\Phi_p(+\infty) > 0$,

it follows that $\Phi_p(z) = 0$ has two roots r_0 and R_0 such that $0 < r_0 < r < R < R_0$ and that, for $\epsilon > 0$ and sufficiently small,

(29,7)
$$\Phi_p(\rho) < 0$$
 for $r_0 + \epsilon \leq \rho \leq R_0 - \epsilon$.

Let us now set $z = \rho e^{i\theta}$ and

(29,8)
$$a_k/a_p = A_k e^{aki}, \quad A_k \ge 0, \qquad k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

For the real part of $[\rho^p f(z)/a_p z^p]$, we then have

(29,9)
$$\Re[\rho^{\mathfrak{p}}f(z)/a_{\mathfrak{p}}z^{\mathfrak{p}}] = \sum_{j=0, j\neq \mathfrak{p}}^{n} A_{j}\rho^{j}\cos\left[(p-j)\theta - \alpha_{j}\right] + \rho^{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

On the other hand, inequalities (28,4) and (29,7) may be written as

(29,10)
$$\rho^{p} > \sum_{j=0, j \neq p}^{n} A_{j} \rho^{j}, \qquad r + \epsilon \leq \rho \leq R - \epsilon,$$

(29,11)
$$\rho^{p} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq p}^{n} A_{j} \rho^{j}, \qquad r_{0} + \epsilon \leq \rho \leq R_{0} - \epsilon.$$

Substituting these into (29,9), we have

$$(29,12) \quad \Re[\rho^{p}f(z)/a_{p}z^{p}] > \sum_{j=0, j\neq p}^{n} A_{j}\rho^{j}\delta_{j}, \qquad r+\epsilon \leq \rho \leq R-\epsilon,$$

$$(29,13) \quad \Re[\rho^{p}f(z)/a_{p}z^{p}] > A_{0}\cos\left[p\theta - \alpha_{0}\right] + \sum_{j=1, j\neq p}^{n} A_{j}\rho^{j}\delta_{j}, \qquad r_{0}+\epsilon \leq \rho \leq R_{0}-\epsilon,$$

where $\delta_j = 1 + \cos [(p - j)\theta - \alpha_j]$. It is clear that the right side of inequality (29,12) is non-negative for all angles θ and that the right side of inequality (29,13) is non-negative for angles θ in the ranges

$$-\pi/2 + 2\pi k \leq p\theta - \alpha_0 \leq \pi/2 + 2\pi k, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, p-1;$$

that is, in the ranges

(29,14)
$$|\theta - (\alpha_0 + 2k\pi)/p| \leq \pi/2p, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, p,$$

constituting the even numbered sectors S_{2k} .

Furthermore, we see that f(z) has no zeros on the rays

$$\theta = [2\alpha_0 + (4k+1)\pi]/2p, \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1,$$

inside the annular region $r_0 < |z| < R_0$.

Let us now apply ex. (1,9), taking as C the curve $G(r_0 + \epsilon_1, r + \epsilon_2; p, \alpha_0)$ where $0 < \epsilon_1 < R_0 - r_0$ and $0 < \epsilon_2 < R - r$. Due to the fact that $\Re[p^{v}f(z)/a_pz^v] > 0$ along this curve for any of the above values of ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 , we may infer that f(z) has the same number p of zeros as a_pz^v inside the curve $G(r_0, r; p, \alpha_0)$ and no zeros between curves $G(r_0, r; p, \alpha_0)$ and $G(R, R_0; p, \alpha_0 + \pi)$.

Incidentally, if in ex. (1,9) we take as C any circle $|z| = \rho$, $r < \rho < R$, we obtain another proof of Pellet's Theorem, since $\Re[\rho^p f(z)/a_p z^p] > 0$ along this circle.

APPLICATIONS

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_n \neq 0$, lie in the gear-wheel region $G(r_0, r; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_n)$, r is the positive root of eq. (27,2) and r_0 the positive root of the equation

$$|a_1| + |a_2| z + \cdots + |a_{n-1}| z^{n-2} - |a_n| z^{n-1} = 0$$
 [Lipka 6].

2. If in Th. (29,1) $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k} z^{k}$ with $a_{k} a_{p} \neq 0$ and $\arg a_{k} / a_{p} = \alpha_{k}$ is such that $F_{p}(z)$ has two positive zeros r and R, r < R, then the polynomial

$$\Psi_k(z) = F_p(z) - |a_k| \, z^k, \qquad \qquad k \neq p,$$

has two positive zeros r_k and R_k with $r_k < r < R < R_k$, and the polynomial f(z) has precisely p zeros in or on the curve $G(r_k, r; p - k, \alpha_k)$ and no zeros between the curves $G(r_k, r; p - k, \alpha_k)$ and $G(R, R_k; p - k, \alpha_k + \pi)$ [Marden 15].

3. If the power series $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{\infty} a_{j} z^{j}$ with $a_{k} a_{p} \neq 0$, arg $a_{k}/a_{p} = \alpha_{k}$, and with a radius of convergence $\rho > 0$ is such that each polynomial

$$F_{p}^{(n)}(z) = |a_{0}| + |a_{1}| z + \dots + |a_{p-1}| z^{p-1} - |a_{p}| z^{p} + \dots + |a_{p+1}| z^{p+1} + \dots + |a_{n}| z^{n}$$

has a positive zero $r^{(n)} < \rho$, then the function $F_p(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_p^{(n)}(z)$ has a positive zero $r < \rho$; the function

$$\Psi_k(z) = F_p(z) - |a_k| \, z^k, \qquad \qquad k \neq p,$$

has a positive zero $r_k < r$, and the function f(z) has p zeros in or on the curve $G(r_k, r; p - k, \alpha_k)$ and, hence, in the curve $G(r_k, \rho; p - k, \alpha_k)$ [Marden 15].

30. Applications. As a first application of Th. (29,1), we shall establish a result due to Marden [15].

THEOREM (30,1). Let

(30,1)
$$f(z) = b_0 e^{i\beta_0} + (b_1 - b_0) e^{i\beta_1 z} + \dots + (b_{n-1} - b_{n-2}) e^{i\beta_{n-1} z^{n-1}} - b_{n-1} e^{i\beta_n z^n},$$

where

Let

 $b_{p-1} \leq b_{p-2} \leq \cdots \leq b_0 \leq 0 < b_{n-1} \leq b_{n-2} \leq \cdots \leq b_p$.

$$\beta_0' = \beta_0 - \beta_p - \pi$$

and let

(30,2)
$$g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_{n-1} z^{n-1}$$

Let r_0 be the smaller positive root of the equation

(30,3)
$$\Phi_{p}(z) \equiv (b_{0} - b_{1}) + (b_{1} - b_{2})z + \dots + (b_{n-2} - b_{n-1})z^{n-2} + b_{n-1}z^{n-1} = 0.$$

[§30]

Then, if g(1) > 0, f(z) has exactly p zeros in the curve $G(r_0, 1; p, \beta'_0)$ and g(z) has p zeros in the curve $G(r_0, 1; p, \pi)$. If g(1) < 0, f(z) has exactly p zeros in or on the curve $G(r_0, 1; p, \beta'_0)$ and g(z) has p - 1 zeros in or on the curve $G(r_0, 1; p, \pi)$.

Insofar as it concerns the zeros of g(z), Th. (30,1) reduces to a result due to Berwald [2] when the curve $G(r_0, 1; p, \pi)$ is replaced by the circle |z| = 1. Thus Th. (30,1) is a refinement of Berwald's result.

To prove this theorem, we make use of the fact that corresponding to the f(z) in (30,1), the polynomial (29,3) is

(30,4)
$$F_{p}(z) = -b_{0} + (b_{0} - b_{1})z + \dots + (b_{p-2} - b_{p-1})z^{p-1} - (b_{p} - b_{p-1})z^{p} + (b_{p} - b_{p+1})z^{p+1} + \dots + (b_{n-2} - b_{n-1})z^{n-1} + b_{n-1}z^{n}.$$

This function may also be written as

(30,5)
$$F_p(z) = (z-1)g(z).$$

Clearly $F_p(1) = 0$. Since $F_p(1 + \delta) = \delta g(1 + \delta)$, $F_p(z)$ changes from - to + or from + to - at z = 1 according as g(1) > 0 or g(1) < 0. In the notation of Th. (29,1),

(30,6) $r_0 < r < 1 = R < R_0$ if g(1) > 0;

(30,7)
$$r_0 < r = 1 < R < R_0$$
 if $g(1) < 0$;

(30,8)
$$\alpha_0 = \beta_0 - \beta_p - \pi = \beta'_0.$$

Since f(z) has p zeros in or on the curve $G(r_0, r; p, \beta'_0)$ according to Th. (29,1), it has p zeros in $G(r_0, 1; p, \beta'_0)$ if g(1) > 0 and p zeros in or on $G(r_0, 1; p, \beta'_0)$ if g(1) < 0. This proves Th. (30,1) as far as f(z) is concerned.

To prove Th. (30,1) with respect to g(z), we need merely note that the zeros of g(z) are those of $F_p(z)$ except for z = 1 and that, considered as a special case of (30,1), $F_p(z)$ has its $\beta_0 = \pi$ and $\beta_p = -\pi$ and thus its $\alpha_0 = \pi$.

As our second application of Th. (29,1), we shall establish a result somewhat more general than the one given in Marden [15].

THEOREM (30,2). Let λ_0 , λ_1 , \cdots , λ_{q-1} and μ_1 , μ_2 , \cdots , μ_{q-1} be any two sets of positive numbers such that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{q-1} (1/\lambda_j) = 1, \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} (1/\mu_j) = 1; \qquad \mu_j \leq \lambda_j, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, q-1.$$

For the polynomial

(30,9)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z^{n_1} + a_2 z^{n_2} + \cdots + a_q z^{n_q},$$

where

$$a_0 a_1 \cdots a_q \neq 0$$
 and $0 = n_0 < n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_q = n$,

APPLICATIONS

let

(30,10)
$$M = \max \left[\lambda_k |a_k| / |a_q| \right]^{1/(n-n_k)}, \qquad k = 0, 1, \cdots, q-1;$$

(30,11)
$$M_0 = \max \left[\mu_k |a_k| / |a_q| \right]^{1/(n-n_k)}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, q-1.$$

Then all the zeros of f(z) lie in or on the gear-wheel curve $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_q)$.

PROOF. From eqs. (30,10) and (30,11), it follows that $0 < M_0 \leq M$ and also that

$$\lambda_k |a_k| \leq |a_q| M^{n-n_k}, \qquad \mu_k |a_k| \leq |a_q| M_0^{n-n_k}.$$

Hence,

(30,12)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{q-1} |a_k| M^{n_k} \leq \sum_{k=0}^{q-1} (1/\lambda_k) |a_q| M^n = |a_q| M^n,$$

(30,13)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{q-1} |a_k| \ M_0^{n_k} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{q-1} (1/\mu_k) \ |a_q| \ M_0^n = |a_q| \ M_0^n \ .$$

From an equality in (30,12), we would infer that M is the positive root r of the equation

$$(30,14) |a_0| + |a_1| z^{n_1} + \cdots + |a_{q-1}| z^{n_{q-1}}_n - |a_q| z^n = 0,$$

whereas from an inequality in (30,12), we would infer that M > r. Similarly, from an equality in (30,13) we would infer that M_0 is the positive root r_0 of the equation

$$(30,15) |a_1| z^{n_1} + |a_2| z^{n_2} + \cdots + |a_{q-1}| z^{n_{q-1}} - |a_q| z^n = 0,$$

whereas from an inequality in (30,13) we would infer that $M_0 > r_0$. Since we recognize eqs. (30,14) and (30,15) to be respectively $F_n(z) = 0$ and $\Phi_n(z) = 0$, we conclude from Th. (29,1) that all the zeros of f(z) lie in or on $G(r_0, r; n, \alpha_0)$ and therefore in or on $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$, thus establishing Th. (30,2).

If in (30,9) each $n_k = 1 + k$ and if the curve $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$ is replaced by the circle |z| = M, then Th. (30,2) reduces to a result of Fujiwara [3]. Thus Th. (30,2) is both a generalization and refinement of Fujiwara's result.

Of special interest, are the following two sets of the λ_i and the μ_i :

(30,16)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{j} = q, \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, q - 1; \\ \mu_{k} = q - 1, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, q - 1; \\ \lambda_{j} = \sum_{\nu=0}^{q-1} |a_{\nu}|/|a_{j}|, \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, q - 1; \\ \mu_{k} = \sum_{\nu=1}^{q-1} |a_{\nu}|/|a_{k}|, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, q - 1. \end{cases}$$

On use of the set (30,16), we deduce at once from Th. (30,2) the following result.

COROLLARY (30,2a). For the polynomial f(z) in eq. (30,9), let

$$M = \max [q |a_k|/|a_q|]^{1/(n-n_k)}, \qquad k = 0, 1, \dots, q-1$$

and

 $M_0 = \max \left[(q-1) |a_k| / |a_q| \right]^{1/(n-n_k)}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, q-1.$

Then all the zeros of f(z) lie in or on the curve $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_q)$.

On use of the set (30,17), we see on setting

(30,18)
$$\rho = \sum_{j=0}^{q-1} |a_j| / |a_q|, \qquad \rho_0 = \sum_{j=1}^{q-1} |a_j| / |a_q|,$$

(30,19)
$$M = \max \rho^{1/(n-n_k)} = \max (\rho, \rho^{1/n}),$$
$$M_0 = \max \rho_0^{1/(n-n_k)} = \max (\rho_0, \rho_0^{1/(n-n_1)}).$$

We thereby derive

COROLLARY (30,2b). For the polynomial f(z) of eq. (30,9), let ρ and ρ_0 be computed from eqs. (30,18) and let

$$\kappa = \max(\rho, \rho^{1/n}), \qquad \kappa_0 = \max(\rho_0, \rho_0^{1/(n-n_1)}).$$

Then all the zeros of f(z) lie in or on the curve $G(\kappa_0, \kappa; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg a_0/a_a$.

Various other corollaries may be deduced from Th. (30,2) on making other special choices of the λ_j and μ_j , as will be seen in the exercises below.

One of the most important of these [see ex. (30,1)] is the following:

ENESTRÖM-KAKEYA THEOREM. (Th. (30,3)). Given the real polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$. If $a_0 \ge a_1 \ge \cdots \ge a_n > 0$, then $f(z) \ne 0$ for |z| < 1.

Furthermore, we may extend the device used in eq. (30,5) so as to describe the location of the zeros of a polynomial

(30,20)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n, \qquad a_0 > 0,$$

in terms of various linear combinations of the a_i .

Thus, if we multiply f(z) by

(30,21)
$$\Lambda(z) = \lambda_0 + \lambda_1 z + \cdots + \lambda_m z^m, \ 1 \leq m \leq n,$$

where $\lambda_0 > 0$ and $\lambda_m \neq 0$, the product

(30,22)
$$F(z) = \Lambda(z)f(z) = A_0 + A_1 z + \dots + A_{m+n} z^{m+n}$$

has coefficients

(30,23) $A_k = \lambda_0 a_k + \lambda_1 a_{k-1} + \dots + \lambda_k a_0, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, m+n,$ where $a_i = 0$ for j > n and $\lambda_i = 0$ for j > m. APPLICATIONS

[§30]

$$|F(z)| \ge \lambda_0 a_0 - \sum_{k=1}^{m+n} |A_k| |z|^k,$$

no zero of f(z) lies on the disk |z| < R, where R is the positive root of the equation

(30,24)
$$\lambda_0 a_0 - \sum_{k=1}^{m+n} |A_k| \ z^k = 0.$$

This method is illustrated in some exercises given below.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Eneström-Kakeya Theorem. (Th. (30,3)) [Eneström 1, Kakeya 1, Hurwitz 3]. Hint: Use Th. (30,1). Alternatively, construct polygon $Z_0Z_1 \cdots Z_{n+1}$ with $Z_0 = 0$, $Z_{k+1} = Z_k + a_k r^k e^{ik\theta}$. Let S_k consist of all points from which segment Z_kZ_{k+1} subtends an angle of at least $\theta/2$. Show $S_k \subset S_{k-1}$ and $Z_0 \notin S_k$ for all k > 0 [Tomić 1].

2. All the zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ having real positive coefficients a_j lie in ring $\rho_1 \leq |z| \leq \rho_2$ where $\rho_1 = \min(a_k/a_{k+1}), \rho_2 = \max(a_k/a_{k+1})$ for $k = 0, 1, \cdots, n-1$ [Kakeya 1, Hayashi 1, Hurwitz 3]. Hint: Apply Th. (30,3) to $g_1(z) = f(\rho_1 z), g_2(z) = z^n f(\rho_2/z)$.

3. The real polynomial

$$h(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_k z^k - a_{k+1} z^{k+1} - \dots - a_n z^n, \qquad a_j > 0, \text{ all } j,$$

has no non-real zeros in the annular ring $\rho_1 < |z| < \rho_2$ where $\rho_1 = \max(a_j/a_{j+1})$, $j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, k-1$, and $\rho_2 = \min(a_j/a_{j+1})$, $j = k, k-1, \dots, n-1$. How many zeros does f(z) have in the circle $|z| < \rho_1$ [Hayashi 2, Hurwitz 3]?

4. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in or on the curve $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_n)$,

$$M = \max \rho |a_{n-k}/a_n|^{1/k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

$$M_0 = \max \rho_0 |a_{n-k}/a_n|^{1/k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n-1,$$

and $\rho \neq (\neq 1)$ and $\rho_0 \neq (\neq 1)$ are the positive roots of the equations

$$\rho^{n+1} - 2\rho^n + 1 = 0, \qquad \rho_0^n - 2\rho_0^{n-1} + 1 = 0$$

Hint: Choose $\lambda_k = \rho^k$ and $\mu_k = \rho_0^k$ and apply Th. (30,2).

5. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in or on the curve $G(M_0, M; n, \alpha_0)$ where $\alpha_0 = \arg(a_0/a_n)$ and where

$$M = 2 \max \{ |a_{n-1}/a_n|, |a_{n-2}/a_n|^{1/2}, \cdots, |a_1/a_n|^{1/(n-1)}, |a_0/2a_n|^{1/n} \}, \\ M_0 = 2 \max \{ |a_{n-1}/a_n|, |a_{n-2}/a_n|^{1/2}, \cdots, |a_2/a_n|^{1/(n-2)}, |a_1/2a_n|^{1/(n-1)} \} \}$$

Hint: In Th. (30,2), choose $\lambda_k = 2^k$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$; $\lambda_n = 2^{n-1}$; $\mu_k = 2^k$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n-2$; $\mu_{n-1} = 2^{n-2}$.

6. All the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the circle $|z| \leq r$, $r = \max(|a_0|/|a_1|, 2|a_k/a_{k+1}|), k = 1, 2, \cdots, n-1$. Hint: Show that

 $|a_{k+1}| \ r^{k+1} \ge 2 \ |a_k| \ r^k$ for $k \ge 1$; $|a_1| \ r \ge |a_0|$ and thus $|a_n r^n| \ge |a_0| + \cdots + |a_{n-1}| \ r^{n-1}$. Remark: The limit is attained by $f(z) = 2 + z + z^2 + \cdots + z^{n-1} - z^n$ [Kojima 1, 2].

7. Let λ_j be positive numbers such that $\sum_{j=1}^{n} (1/\lambda_j) = 1$. If there exists an r > 0 such that

$$\max \left[\lambda_j \left|a_{p-j}/a_p\right|\right]^{1/j} \leq r \leq \min \left[\lambda_{k+p}^{-1} \left|a_p/a_{p+k}\right|\right]^{1/k},$$

for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$ and $k = 1, 2, \dots, n-p$, then there are p zeros of f(z) in $|z| \leq r$.

8. All the zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$ lie in the circle $|z| \leq \max(L, L^{1/(n+1)})$, where L is the length of the polygonal line joining in succession the points 0, a_0 , a_1 , \cdots , a_{n-1} , 1. Hint: Apply Cor. (30,2b) to g(z) = (1-z)f(z) [Montel 2, Marty 1].

9. If $a_j > 0$, $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$, $a_{-1} = a_{n+1} = 0$, and if ρ_1 and ρ_2 can be found $(\rho_2 \ge \rho_1 > 0)$ so that, for $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$, $0 \le p \le N$; $b_j = \rho_1 \rho_2 a_{j+1} - (\rho_1 + \rho_2)a_j + a_{j+1} > 0$ for $j \ne p$ and $b_p < 0$, then p zeros of f in eq. (28,1) lie in $|z| < \rho_1$ and n - p zeros lie in $|z| > \rho_2$. Hint: Apply Th. (28,1) to $(\rho_2 - z)(\rho_1 - z)f(z)$ [Egerváry 4].

10. The real polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_0 \ge a_1 \ge \cdots \ge a_n$, has a non-real zero z_1 of modulus one if and only if the a_j fall into sets of m successive equal coefficients; that is, defining $a_j = 0$ for j > n, we have

(30,25)
$$a_0 = a_1 = \dots = a_{m-1} > a_m = a_{m+1} = \dots = a_{2m-1}$$

> $a_{2m} = a_{2m+1} = \dots$

Hint: Obviously, $z_1 \neq 1$ and $g(z_1) = (1 - z_1)f(z_1) = 0$;

$$a_{0} = \left| \sum_{1}^{n+1} (a_{k-1} - a_{k}) z_{1}^{k} \right| < \sum_{1}^{n+1} (a_{k-1} - a_{k}) = a_{0},$$

unless all the terms $(a_{k-1} - a_k)z_1^k$ are real and positive. Let *m* be the least number for which $z_1^m = 1$. For the converse, note that eq. (30,25) implies that $1 + z + z^2 + \cdots + z^{m-1}$ is a factor of f(z) [Hurwitz 3, Kempner 1]. Alternatively, show for r = 1 the polygonal line of ex. (30,1) must reduce to one or more regular polygons if $z = e^{i\theta}$ is to be a zero of f(z) [Tomić 1].

11. All the zeros of the polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z^{n_1} + \cdots + a_k z^{n_k}, \qquad \text{all } a_j \neq 0,$$

 $0 = n_0 < n_1 < \cdots < n_k$, lie on the disk $|z| \leq r$ where

 $r = \max \left[|a_0/a_1|^{m_1}, |2a_j/a_{j+1}|^{m_j} \right], \qquad m_j = (n_j - n_{j-1})^{-1}, \ j = 2, \ 3, \cdots, \ k - 1.$ [Kojima 1, 2.] Hint:

$$|a_{j+1}| r^{n_{j+1}} \ge 2 |a_j| r^{n_j}, \qquad |a_1| r^{n_1} \ge |a_0|.$$

Thus $|a_k| r^{n_k} \ge \sum_{1}^{k-1} |a_j| r^j$. Alternatively, set all $r_j = 1$ in ex. (30,12).

MATRIX METHODS

[§31]

12. Let $r_0 = 0$, $r_k = 1$; r_1, \dots, r_{k-1} be arbitrary positive constants. Then in ex. (30,11) f has all its zeros in the disk

$$|z| \leq M = \max \{ [(1 + r_{j-1})/r_j] |a_j/a_{j+1}| \}^{m_j}, \qquad j = 1, 2, \cdots, k.$$

[Cowling-Thron 1.] Hint: Let $v_k = 1$; $v_{j-1} = 1 + (a_j/a_{j-1}) z^{n_j - n_{j-1}} v_j$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots k$. If |z| > M, show $|v_j| > r_j$ for $j = k - 1, k - 2, \dots, 0$.

13. If in eq. (30,20) f(z) is a real polynomial with $b_k = \sum_{j=1}^k a_{k-j} > 0$, k = 1, 2, \cdots , n, $m \ge 1$, no zeros of f(z) lie in the disk |z| < r where r is the positive zero of

$$\phi(z) = 1 - cz(1 + z + \cdots + z^{m-1})$$

where

$$c = \max(a_k/b_k), \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$$

[Heinhold 1]. Hint: In eqs. (30,21)-(30,24) set $\lambda_0 = 1$ and $\lambda_j = -c$ for j = 1, 2, \cdots , *m* and note that eq. (30,24) has one positive root which must be *r*.

14. If in eq. (30,20) f(z) is a real polynomial, then all its zeros lie in the annulus $M' \leq |z| \leq M$, where M and M' are respectively the maximum and minimum values of the fraction

$$\frac{\lambda_0 a_k + \lambda_1 a_{k-2q} + \cdots + \lambda_p a_{k-2pq}}{\lambda_0 a_{k+1} + \lambda_1 a_{k-2q+1} + \cdots + \lambda_p a_{k-2pq+1}}$$

for $k = 0, 1, \dots, n + 2pq - 1$, where q and p are positive integers and the positive parameters λ_s ($s = 1, 2, \dots, p$) are chosen so as to make all the denominators in the fractions positive [Heigl 1].

15. Given the operators E, T and ∇^{α} such that $Ea_k = a_k$, $Ta_k = a_{k+1}$ and

$$\nabla^{\alpha} = (E - T^{-1})^{\alpha} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1)^m C(\alpha, m) T^{-m}.$$

If $a_0 \ge 0$, $a_k \ge 0$ and $\nabla^{\alpha} a_k \le 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ and for a given $\alpha, 0 < \alpha \le 1$, then $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^k \ne 0$ for |z| < 1 [Cargo-Shisha 1]. Hint: Show that (cf. ex. (30,1))

$$\Re\{(1-z)^{\alpha}f(z)\} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\nabla^{\alpha}a_k)\Re(z^k-1) > 0.$$

16. Given the operators E, T_i and ∇^{α} such that

 $Ea_{k_1\cdots k_p} = a_{k_1\cdots k_p}, \qquad T_ja_{k_1\cdots k_p} = a_{k_1\cdots k_{j-1}k_{j+1}k_{j+1}\cdots k_p},$

and $\nabla^{\alpha} = (pE - \sum_{j=1}^{p} T_{j}^{-1})^{\alpha}$. Let $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, if $a_{k_{1}} \dots k_{p} \geq 0$ and $\nabla^{\alpha} a_{k_{1} \dots k_{p}} \leq 0$ for $k_{i} = 0, 1, \dots, n_{i}$; $i = 1, 2, \dots, p$ with $(k_{1}, \dots, k_{p}) \neq (0, \dots, 0)$. Then $F(z_{1}, \dots, z_{n}) = \sum_{k_{p}=0}^{n_{p}} \dots \sum_{k_{1}=0}^{n_{1}} a_{k_{1}} \dots k_{p}(z_{1})^{k_{1}} \dots (z_{p})^{k_{p}} \neq 0$ if $|z_{j}| < 1$ for j = 1, $2, \dots, p$ [Mond-Shisha 1].

31. Matrix methods. Unless otherwise specified, each matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ in the sequel is a $n \times n$ square matrix. Let us recall that, if $E = (\delta_{ij})$, where $\delta_{ij} = 0$ or 1 according as $i \neq j$ or i = j, is the identity matrix, the determinant det (A - zE)

of the matrix A - zE is called the characteristic polynomial of A and its zeros are called the characteristic roots (abbreviated "c.r.") of A.

Given an *n*th degree polynomial

(31,1)
$$f(z) = z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$$

we may write f in the form

$$(31,2) \quad f(z) = (-1)^n \begin{vmatrix} -z & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -z & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -z & 1 \\ -a_n & -a_{n-1} & -a_{n-2} & \cdots & -a_2 & -(a_1+z) \end{vmatrix}.$$

Therefore f is the characteristic polynomial of the $n \times n$ matrix

(31,3)
$$F = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ -a_n & -a_{n-1} & -a_{n-2} & \cdots & -a_2 & -a_1 \end{bmatrix}$$

called the *companion matrix* of f. We may therefore use the various known results on the c.r. of matrices as an aid to determining the zeros of a given polynomial (and vice-versa).

A number of these results are consequences of the following theorem of Hadamard [See Lévy 2, Desplanques 1, Parodi 1].

THEOREM (31,1). In the $n \times n$ matrix $A = (a_{ij})$, det $A \neq 0$ if

(31,4)
$$|a_{ii}| > P_i = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n |a_{ij}|, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

PROOF. If on the contrary det A = 0, then the system of linear equations

(31,5)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_{j} = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

has a non-trivial solution $\{x_k\}$ of which let x_m be the x_k of the maximum modulus. Then from the *m*th equation in (31,5)

$$|a_{mm}x_m| \leq \sum_{j=1, j\neq m}^n |a_{mj}| |x_j| \leq P_m |x_m|.$$

Since $x_m \neq 0$, ineq. (31,4) is contradicted. Hence det $A \neq 0$.

On applying Th. (31,1) to matrix A - zE, we obtain immediately a result due to Gerchgorin [1].

MATRIX METHODS

THEOREM (31,2). The c.r. of the matrix A lie in the union of the disks

$$\Gamma_i: \qquad |z-a_{ii}| \leq P_i, \qquad i=1,2,\cdots,n.$$

As to the number of c.r. in a given Γ_k , we have the following result due to A. Brauer [2].

THEOREM (31,3). If in Th. (31,2) for a given in

$$(31,6) |a_{jj} - a_{mm}| > P_j + P_m$$

for all $j \neq m$, then one and only one c.r. lies in the disk Γ_m .

To prove this theorem, we introduce the $n \times n$ matrix $B(t) = (b_{ij})$ where $b_{mm} = a_{mm}$; $b_{ij} = a_{ij}$ for $i \neq m$; and $b_{mj} = ta_{mj}$, the parameter t being real with $0 \leq t \leq 1$. All the c.r. of B(t) lie on the union K of the disks Γ_i , $i \neq m$, and on the disk

$$\gamma_m(t): \qquad |z - a_{mm}| \leq t \sum_{j=1, j \neq m}^n |a_{mj}| = t P_m$$

which clearly is contained in $\Gamma_m = \gamma_m(1)$. By (31,6), $\Gamma_m \cap K = \emptyset$. Hence, as t varies continuously from 1 to 0, no c.r. of B(t) can enter or leave Γ_m . But the c.r. for B(0) are a_{mm} and the c.r. of an $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ matrix whose c.r. lie in K. Since B(0) has only one c.r. in Γ_m , we infer by continuity that also B(1) = A has exactly one c.r. in Γ_m . [Cf. Th. (1,4).]

Ths. (31,1), (31,2) and (31,3) remain valid if in (31,4) the P_i are replaced by

$$Q_i = \sum_{j=1, \, j \neq i}^n |a_{ji}|;$$

that is, if rows and columns are interchanged. Th. (31,1) remains valid if $P_i \leq |a_{ii}|$ for all *i* and $P_i < |a_{ii}|$ for at least one *i* provided *A* is irreducible; that is, provided *A* cannot, by applying the same permutation to the rows or columns, be reduced to the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ O & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

where A_{11} and A_{22} are square matrices and O is the zero matrix. It remains valid also [Ostrowski 3] when in (31,4) the P_i are replaced by $P_i^s Q_i^{1-s}$ for real $s, 0 \le s \le 1$.

Another valuable result is the following one given in Perron [1].

THEOREM (31,4). If $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n)$ is an arbitrary set of positive numbers, then all the c.r. of the matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ lie on the disk $|z| \leq M_{\lambda}$ where

(31,7)
$$M_{\lambda} = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\lambda_j / \lambda_i) |a_{ij}|$$

PROOF. For any c.r. ρ of A the system of equations

(31,8)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_j = \rho x_i, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

has a non-trivial solution (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) . Let us set $x_j = \lambda_j y_j$ and denote by y_m the y_j of maximum modulus. Then, using the *m*th equation in (31,8) we infer that

$$|\rho\lambda_m y_m| \leq \sum_{j=1}^n |a_{mj}| \lambda_j |y_j| \leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^n |a_{mj}| \lambda_j\right) |y_m|.$$

Hence, $|\rho| \leq M_{\lambda}$.

Th. (31,4) is also valid when λ is a set of non-negative numbers λ_j not all zero, provided we redefine M_{λ} as

(31,7)'
$$M_{\lambda} = \inf \left\{ \mu \colon \mu \lambda_i > \sum_{j=1}^n |a_{ij}| \lambda_j, 1 \leq i \leq n \right\}.$$

This definition reduces to (31,7) when all $\lambda_i > 0$. Th. (31,4) is also valid if we interchange *i* and *j* in (31,7).

From Th. (31,4) it follows that all the characteristic roots lie in the disk $|z| \leq R$ where $R = \min M_{\lambda}$ for all sets λ of non-negative numbers. If all $a_{ij} > 0$, then R is a c.r. of A as is stated in the following result due to Perron and Frobenius for the proof of which we refer to Gantmacher [1, pp. 66–69].

THEOREM (31,5). If all elements a_{ij} of an irreducible matrix A are non-negative, then $R = \min M_{\lambda}$ is a simple c.r. of A and all c.r. of A lie on the disk $|z| \leq R$. Furthermore, if A has exactly p characteristic roots $(p \leq n)$ on the circle |z| = R, then the set of all c.r. is invariant under rotations of $2\pi/p$ about the origin.

A less general, but easier to prove result than Th. (31,5) is the following:

THEOREM (31,5)'. If $A = (a_{ij})$ is a positive matrix (i.e., $a_{ij} > 0$, all i, j), then A has a positive c.r. λ_0 and all its c.r. satisfy $|z| \leq \lambda_0$.

Our first proof (cf. [Ullman 1]) will be based upon a theorem of Pringsheim [Hille 1, p. 133]: If the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n z^n$, $a_n > 0$ for $n \ge N \ge 0$, has R > 0 as radius of convergence, then it converges for |z| < R to a function which has z = R as a singular point.

Denoting the c.r. of A by λ_1 , λ_2 , \cdots , λ_n , and max $(|\lambda_1|, \cdots, |\lambda_n|)$ by λ_0 , we write

$$f(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\lambda - \lambda_j)^{-1} = n\lambda^{-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} m_k \lambda^{-k-1}.$$

Here $m_k = \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j^k = \text{trace } A^k > 0$ since all $a_{ij} > 0$. The infinite series converges to $f(\lambda)$ for all $|\lambda| > \lambda_0$. This means that λ_0 is a singularity of $f(\lambda)$, and that $\lambda_0 = \lambda_j$ for some *j*, as was to be proved.

MATRIX METHODS

Another proof, due to Ostrowski [14], introduces ρ the c.r. of maximal modulus, $V = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$ the corresponding characteristic vector and the vector $V_0 = (|x_1|, |x_2|, \dots, |x_n|)$. If all non-vanishing x_j did not have the same argument, we learn from eq. (31,8) that

$$|\rho| |x_i| < \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} |x_j|, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

written symbolically as $V_0 < |\rho|^{-1}AV_0$. Thus, for a sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ and an arbitrary positive integer m

$$V_0 \leq (|\rho| + \epsilon)^{-1} A V_0 \leq (|\rho| + \epsilon)^{-m} A^m V_0.$$

It follows that $[(|\rho| + \epsilon)^{-1} A]^m \to O$ as $m \to \infty$, which implies that at least one c.r. of matrix $[(|\rho| + \epsilon)^{-1} A]$ is greater or equal to one in modulus. As these c.r. are however $\lambda_j(|\rho| + \epsilon)$ and as $\rho = \max |\lambda_j|$, we are led to a contradiction. Therefore all the x_j have the same argument and in particular can be taken as positive real. From eq. (31,8) we now infer that $\rho > 0$, which "establishes Th. (31,5)'.

We also state a comparison theorem due to Wielandt [1] for the proof of which we refer to Gantmacher [1, pp. 69–71].

THEOREM (31,6). If the matrix A and the number R satisfy the hypotheses of Th. (31,5) and if in matrix $C = (c_{ij})$

$$|c_{ij}| \leq a_{ij}, \qquad i, j = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

then any c.r. γ of C satisfies the inequality $|\gamma| \leq R$. The equality sign holds only when there exists a matrix $D = (\pm \delta_{ij})$ such that $\delta_{jj} = 1$ for all j, $\delta_{ij} = 0$ for all $i \neq j$, and

$$C = (\gamma/R) \ DAD^{-1}.$$

APPLICATIONS. Let us apply the above theorems to the matrix F in (31,3) and thus obtain some results on the location of the zeros of the polynomial f given by (31,2).

From Th. (31,2) thus follows [Parodi 1]:

THEOREM (31,7). The zeros of the polynomial f lie in the union of the disks

$$|z| \leq 1, \qquad |z + a_1| \leq \sum_{j=2}^n |a_j|.$$

From Th. (31,3) follows

Тнеокем (31,8). If

$$|a_1| > 1 + \sum_{j=2}^n |a_j|$$

then one and only one zero of f lies on the disk

$$|z+a_1| \leq \sum_{j=2}^n |a_j|.$$

We now apply Th. (31,4) [Wilf 2, Bell 1] to the transpose of matrix mod $F = F^+$ where

(31,9)
$$F^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdots & \cdot & \cdot \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ |a_{n}| & |a_{n-1}| & |a_{n-2}| & \cdots & |a_{2}| & |a_{1}| \end{bmatrix}.$$

We are led at once to a result due to Ballieu [2]:

THEOREM (31,9). For any set $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n)$ of positive λ_j , let $\lambda_0 = 0$ and

(31,10)
$$M_{\lambda} = \max_{0 \le k \le n-1} [(\lambda_k + \lambda_n |a_{n-k}|)/\lambda_{k+1}].$$

Then all the zeros of f lie on the disk $|z| \leq M_{\lambda}$.

In this theorem we may require λ_j merely to be non-negative if we redefine M_{λ} as

(31,10')
$$M_{\lambda} = \inf \{ \mu : \ \mu \lambda_{k+1} > \lambda_k + \lambda_n | a_{n-k} |, \ k = 0, \ 1, \ \cdots, \ n-1 \}.$$

Among the important special cases of Th. (31,9) is Cauchy's Th. (27,2) obtained by setting $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \cdots = \lambda_n = 1$ and Kojima's bound in ex. (30,6) obtained by setting $\lambda_k = \lambda_n |a_{n-k}|, k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$.

Also it is to be noted that F^+ is the companion matrix for the polynomial

 $z^n - |a_1| z^{n-1} - \cdots - |a_n|,$

so that Ths. (31,5) and (31,6) yield at once Cauchy's bound given in Th. (27,1).

Many additional applications are possible if we make use of the fact that the matrix $C^{-1}AC$ has the same c.r. as A for any non-singular matrix C. This fact follows from the relation

$$C^{-1}AC - zE = C^{-1}(A - zE)C.$$

For further theory and applications we refer the reader to Parodi [1] and Marcus-Ming [1].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. All the zeros of the polynomial f in (31,1) lie in the union of the disks

$$|a_1 + z| \leq 1;$$
 $|z| \leq 1 + |a_i|, i = 2, \cdots, n-1;$ $|z| \leq |a_n|$

Hint: Apply Th. (31,2) with P_i replaced by the Q_i .

144

2. If $\lambda_k = \rho^{n-k}$, $\rho = \max |a_j/\omega_j|^{1/j}$ and each $\omega_j > 0$ with $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \cdots + \omega_n = 1$, then M_{λ} in (31,7) reduces essentially to M in (30,10).

3. The zeros of the polynomial f in (31,1) lie on the disk K:

$$|z + (a_1/2)| \leq |a_1/2| + |a_2|^{\frac{1}{2}} + |a_3|^{\frac{1}{3}} + \cdots + |a_n|^{\frac{1}{n}}$$

[Walsh 7, Bell 1]. Hint: Use the diagonal matrix $\Lambda = (\lambda_i \delta_{ij})$ to form $G = \Lambda^{-1}F\Lambda$ where F is given by (31,3). Apply Th. (31,2) and show $\Gamma_i \subset K$ for all *i*.

4. Let A^* be the transpose of the conjugate of a given matrix $A = (a_{ij})$. All the c.r. of A lie in the annular region $m \leq |z|^2 \leq M$ where m and M are respectively the smallest and largest c.r. of the matrix AA^* [Browne 1, Parodi 1].

5. All the zeros of f in (31,1) lie in the annular region $m \leq |z| \leq M$ where $m^2 = \max \{0, \min_{1 \leq j \leq n-1} [1 - |a_j|, |a_n|^2]\}$ and $M^2 = \max \{1 + |a_j|, |a_n|^2 + 2\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} |a_j|^2\}$. Hint: Apply ex. (31,4) to matrix F in (31,3).

6. In the notation of Ths. (31,1) and (31,2) each c.r. of matrix A lies in or on at least one of the Cassini ovals K_{ij}

$$|z - a_{ii}| |z - a_{jj}| < P_i P_j$$
, $i, j = 1, 2, \cdots, n$

[Brauer 2; 11]. Hint: If ω is a c.r., the system

$$(\omega - a_{kk})x_k = \sum_{j=1, j \neq k}^n a_{kj}x_j$$
 $(k = 1, 2, \cdots, n)$

has a non-trivial solution $\{x_i\}$. Multiply corresponding sides of the *p*th and *q*th equations where $|x_p| \ge |x_q| \ge \max |x_j|$ $(j \ne p, j \ne q)$ and use reasoning similar to that in the proof of Th. (31,1).

7. In ex. (31,6) let G_{ij} be the simply connected region bounded by the part of K_{ij} that encloses focus a_{ii} and let $H_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^n G_{ij}$. If $H_i \cap H_k = \emptyset$ for k = 1, 2, \cdots , i - 1, i + 1, \cdots , n, then H_i contains one and only one c.r. of A [Brauer 6; 11]. Hint: Use a proof similar to that for Th. (31,3).

8. In the notation of ex. (31,6), Th. (31,5) may be generalized to read that all of the c.r. of matrix A are interior to the Cassini oval

$$|z - a_{pp}| |z - a_{qq}| < (R - a_{pp}) (R - a_{qq})$$

where $|a_{pp}| \leq |a_{qq}| \leq \min |a_{ii}|, i \neq p, i \neq q, p \neq q$ [Brauer 9; 11].

9. Th. (31,5)' holds if all $a_{ij} \ge 0$ provided that for each k there exists at least one non-vanishing product of the form $a_{j_1j_2}a_{j_2j_3} \dots a_{j_kj_{k+1}}$ [Ullman 1]. Hint: Show $m_k > 0$ for each k in the first proof of Th. (31,5)'.

10. In the notation of Th. (31,5)', the n-1 c.r. $\lambda_j \neq \lambda_0$ satisfy the inequality $|\lambda_j| \leq \lambda_0 [(M^2 - m^2)/(M^2 + m^2)]$ where $M = \max a_{ij}$, $m = \min a_{ij}$; $i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n$. [Ostrowski 13].

11. In the notation of Th. (31,1), let $m = \min P_i$ and $M = \max P_i$, i = 1, 2, \cdots , n. For every given $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a matrix which is similar to A and for which the corresponding quantities m^* and M^* satisfy the relation $M^* - m^* < \epsilon$ [Brauer 9; 11]. Hint: Multiplying all elements in certain rows by a suitable constant $c \neq 0$ and dividing corresponding columns by c, is a transformation which decerases the difference M - m.

12. Let $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$ be the c.r. of a positive *n*th order matrix *A*. For every positive ϵ , there exists a positive generalized stochastic *n*th order matrix $S(\epsilon)$ whose c.r. $\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_n$ can be so ordered that $|\omega_j - \lambda_j| < \epsilon$ for j = 1, 2, \dots, n [Brauer 9; 11]. Hint: A matrix $S = (s_{ij})$ is said to be generalized stochastic if $\sum_{j=1}^n s_{ij} = s$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$; stochastic if s = 1. Apply ex. (31,11).

CHAPTER VIII

BOUNDS FOR p ZEROS AS FUNCTIONS OF p + 1 COEFFICIENTS

32. Construction of bounds. In the preceding chapter we obtained several bounds which were valid either for all zeros or for p, p < n, of the zeros of the polynomial

(32,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n.$$

In either case the bounds were expressed as functions of all the coefficients. While clearly the bounds for the moduli of all n zeros should involve all $n + 1 a_j$, it is natural to ask whether there exist for the p zeros of smallest modulus, p < n, some bounds which would be independent of certain a_j .

This question was first raised in 1906-7 by Landau in connection with his study of the Picard Theorem. In [1] and [2] Landau proved that every trinomial

$$a_0 + a_1 z + a_n z^n, \qquad a_1 a_n \neq 0, \qquad n \ge 2,$$

has at least one zero in the circle $|z| \leq 2 |a_0/a_1|$ and that every quadrinomial

 $a_0 + a_1 z + a_m z^m + a_n z^n, \qquad a_1 a_m a_n \neq 0, \qquad 2 \leq m < n,$

has at least one zero in the circle $|z| \leq (17/3) |a_0/a_1|$. These two polynomials are of the *lacunary* type

$$a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + \cdots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k}$$

with $a_p a_{n_1} \cdots a_{n_k} \neq 0$ and $1 \leq p < n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_k$, which will be treated in secs. 34 and 35. In those sections we shall establish the existence of a circle $|z| = R(a_0, a_1, \cdots, a_p, k)$ which contains at least p zeros of every such polynomial.

In order to gain some insight into the problem under discussion, let us first prove that if in eq. (32,1) one of the coefficients a_0 , a_1 , \cdots , a_{p-1} is arbitrary, then at least n - p + 1 zeros of polynomial (32,1) may be made arbitrarily large in modulus. Let us select ρ as an arbitrary, but fixed, positive number. If an $|a_k|$, $0 \le k \le p - 1$, is arbitrary, then we may choose that $|a_k|$ so large that irrespective of the values of the other $|a_j|$, $j \ne k$,

$$|a_k| \rho^k > \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} |a_j| \rho^j + \sum_{j=k+1}^n |a_j| \rho^j.$$

It follows from Pellet's Theorem (Th. (28,1)) that n - k zeros of f(z) exceed ρ in modulus. That is, at least n - p + 1 zeros of f(z) surpass ρ in modulus.

Let us also show that, even though a_0 , a_1 , \cdots , a_{p-1} are all fixed, n - p + 1 zeros of polynomial (32,1) may be made arbitrarily large if all the remaining

coefficients a_j , $j \ge p$, are arbitrary. This becomes clear if we consider the reciprocal of polynomial f

$$F(z) = z^n f(1/z) = a_0 z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_{p-1} z^{n-p+1} + a_p z^{n-p} + \dots + a_n.$$

If for all $j \ge p$ we choose the $|a_j|$ sufficiently small, then by Th. (1,4) the zeros of F(z) may be brought as close as desired to the zeros of

$$F_0(z) = a_0 z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_{p-1} z^{n-p+1}$$

and thus at least n - p + 1 zeros of F(z) may be made to lie in an arbitrarily small circle $|z| = 1/\rho$. That is, at least n - p + 1 zeros of f(z) may be made to lie outside an arbitrarily large circle $|z| = \rho$.

Finally, let us use the reasoning in Montel [3] to show that, if the coefficients a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{p-1} and a_{p+h} for some $h, 0 \leq h \leq n-p$, are fixed with $a_{p+h} \neq 0$, then p zeros of f(z) are bounded. Were the contrary true, we could select a monotonically increasing sequence of positive numbers ρ_m , with $\rho_m \to \infty$ as $m \to \infty$, and corresponding to each ρ_m , we could select a polynomial

$$f_m(z) = \sum_{j=0}^n a_j^{(m)} z^j$$
, having $a_j^{(m)} = a_j$ for $j = 0, 1, \dots, p-1, p+h$

and having at most p-1 zeros in the circle $|z| \leq \rho_m$. Defining A_m as max $|a_j^{(m)}|$ for $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$, we distinguish two cases according as A_m does or does not remain bounded as $m \to \infty$. In the first case, the f_m form a normal, compact family of functions and so we may select a subsequence of the f_m approaching uniformly as limit a polynominal ϕ of degree at least p + h. In the second case, we may introduce the normal, compact family of polynomials $g_m(z) = f_m(z)/A_m$, which have the same zeros as the $f_m(z)$ and in which for m sufficiently large the coefficient of the maximum modulus one is that of a term of degree at least p. Thus we may select a subsequence of the g_m approaching uniformly as limit a polynomial ψ of degree at least p. However, we learn from Hurwitz' Theorem (Th. (1,5)) that neither ϕ nor ψ can have more than p-1 zeros and hence neither can have a degree greater than p-1. Thus, the assumption that p zeros of f(z) are not bounded has led to a contradiction and must therefore be false.

Our first bounds upon the p zeros of smallest modulus as functions of the first p + 1 coefficients will be constructed by modification of the previously developed bounds upon all n zeros of f(z) as functions of all n + 1 coefficients a_j . The method to be used is one due to Montel [3].

Let us label the zeros α_i of an *n*th degree polynomial

(32,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$$

in the order of decreasing modulus:

$$|\alpha_1| \ge |\alpha_2| \ge \cdots \ge |\alpha_n|.$$

Then, in or on the circle $|z| \leq r_p = |\alpha_{n-p+1}|$ lie the *p* smallest (in modulus) zeros α_j $(j = n - p + 1, n - p + 2, \dots, n)$ of f(z). These α_j are the zeros of the polynomial

(32,3)
$$f_{n-p}(z) = \frac{f(z)}{(\alpha_1 - z)(\alpha_2 - z)\cdots(\alpha_{n-p} - z)} = \sum_{j=0}^p a_j^{(n-p)} z^j.$$

It is to $f_{n-p}(z)$ that we now shall apply the results of the previous chapter, so as to obtain some estimates on the size of r_p .

For this purpose, we need first to derive expressions for the coefficients $a_j^{(n-p)}$ in terms of the a_j and the α_j . Let us note that for $|z| < r_p \leq |\alpha_j|, j = 1, 2, \dots, n-p$,

(32,4)
$$\prod_{j=1}^{n-p} \left(1 - \frac{z}{\alpha_j}\right)^{-1} = \prod_{j=1}^{n-p} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{z}{\alpha_j}\right)^k = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} S_k z^k$$

where S_k is the sum of all possible products of total degree k formed from the qualities $(1/\alpha_j)$. Thus,

$$S_{0} = 1, \qquad S_{1} = \sum (1/\alpha_{j_{1}}),$$

$$S_{2} = \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}^{2}} + \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}\alpha_{j_{2}}},$$

$$S_{3} = \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}^{3}} + \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}\alpha_{j_{2}}} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}} + \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{2}}}\right) + \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_{j_{1}}\alpha_{j_{2}}\alpha_{j_{3}}},$$

where $j_1 = 1, 2, \dots, n-p$, but $j_{i+1} = j_i + 1, j_i + 2, \dots, n-p$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots$.

Using this notation, we express eq. (32,3) as

(32,5)
$$f_{n-p}(z) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_{n-p}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^n a_j z^j \right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^\infty S_k z^k \right).$$

Since $f_{n-p}(z)$ is a polynomial of degree p, the series expansion of (32,5) converges to $f_{n-p}(z)$ for all z and the combined coefficient of each term in z^k , k > p, is zero. That is to say,

(32,6)
$$f_{n-p}(z) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_{n-p}} \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^p (a_k + a_{k-1} S_1 + \cdots + a_0 S_k) z^k \right\}.$$

The general coefficient in (32,3) according to (32,6) is

(32,7)
$$a_{k}^{(n-p)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\cdots\alpha_{n-p}}\sum_{j=0}^{k} a_{k-j}S_{j}.$$

For k = p, we obtain from eq. (32,3) the simpler formula

(32,8)
$$a_p^{(n-p)} = (-1)^{n-p} a_n$$
.

Thus we have

(32,9)
$$|a_k^{(n-p)}| \leq (r_p)^{-n+p} \sum_{j=0}^k |a_{k-j}| |S_j|.$$

In order to find a bound for $|S_k|$, let us observe that S_k is a kth degree, symmetric function of the α_j^{-1} , $j = 1, 2, \dots, n-p$, with $|\alpha_j| > r_p$. For the values $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \dots = \alpha_{n-p} = 1$, eq. (32,4) becomes

(32,10)
$$(1-z)^{-n+p} = \sum_{0}^{\infty} C(n-p+k-1,k)z^{k}.$$

Hence C(n - p + k - 1, k) is the number of terms in S_k . Since each term is of modulus not greater than $1/r_p^k$,

(32,11)
$$|S_k| \leq C(n-p+k-1,k)r_p^{-k}$$

It now follows from ineq. (32,9) that

(32,12)
$$|a_k^{(n-p)}| \leq (r_p)^{-n+p} \sum_{0}^k C(n-p+j-1,j) |a_{k-j}| r_p^{-j}.$$

As a first application of this formula, let us set

(32,13)
$$M_p = \max |a_j/a_n|, \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1.$$

From ineq. (32,12) we then obtain

(32,14)
$$|\iota_k^{(n-p)}| \leq M_p |a_n| r_p^{-n+p} \sum_{0}^k C(n-p+j-1,j) r_p^{-j}, \quad k \leq p-1.$$

If $r_p > 1$, we may replace the right side of (32,14) by a convergent infinite series which may be evaluated by setting $z = 1/r_p$ in eq. (32,10). Thus,

$$(32,15) |a_k^{(n-p)}| < M_p |a_n| r_p^{-n+p} (1 - r_p^{-1})^{-n+p}.$$

On use of eq. (32,8), we may write ineq. (32,15) as

(32,16)
$$|a_k^{(n-p)}| < M_p |a_p^{(n-p)}| (r_p - 1)^{-n+p}.$$

This inequality permits the immediate application of Th. (27,2) to the polynomial

$$f_{n-p}(z) = a_0^{(n-p)} + a_1^{(n-p)}z + \cdots + a_p^{(n-p)}z^p.$$

By Th. (27,2), the zeros of $f_{n-p}(z)$ all lie in the circle

e $|z| < 1 + \max \left[|a_k^{(n-p)}| / |a_p^{(n-p)}| \right], \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1;$

that is, in the circle

(32,17)
$$|z| < 1 + M_p (r_p - 1)^{-n+p}$$

Among these zeros is α_{n-p+1} whose modulus is r_p . This means that

(32,18)
$$r_p < 1 + M_p (r_p - 1)^{-n+p};$$

i.e., that

(32,19)
$$(r_p - 1)^{n-p+1} < M_p, r_p < 1 + M_p^{1/(n-p+1)}.$$

FURTHER BOUNDS

We have proved (32,19) on the assumption that $r_p > 1$. Since (32,19) is surely satisfied when $r_p \leq 1$, we have established a result of Montel [3] and [5], as follows.

THEOREM (32,1). At least p zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the circle

$$(32,20) |z| < 1 + \max |a_j/a_n|^{1/(n-p+1)}, \quad j = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1.$$

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If the coefficients a_i of f(z) satisfy p linear equations,

$$\lambda_{j0}a_0+\lambda_{j1}a_1+\cdots+\lambda_{jn}a_n=0, \qquad j=0,\,1,\,\cdots,\,p-1, \qquad p\leq n,$$

with a nonvanishing determinant $|\lambda_{jk}|$, $j, k = 0, 1, \dots, p-1$, then f(z) has p zeros in a circle |z| = R, where R is a function only of the λ_{jk} [Dieudonné 11, p. 22].

2. Let $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k}z^{k}$, $g(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} b_{k}z^{k}$ and F(z) = f(z)/g(z). If f(z) has p zeros in the circle $|z| \leq R = R(a_{0}, a_{1}, \dots, a_{m})$ for fixed p and m, $0 \leq p \leq m$ and $0 \leq m \leq n$, and for arbitrary a_{j} , j > m, and if $b_{k} = Aa_{k}$ for $0 \leq k \leq m$, then F(z) assumes every value Z at least p times in $|z| \leq R$ [Nagy 17]. Hint: Study the zeros of h(z) = f(z) - Zg(z).

3. Th. (32,1) is a generalization of Th. (27,2).

4. If $a_0 \neq 0$, the polynomial f(z) has at most p zeros in the circle

$$|z| \leq [1 + \max(|a_{n-j}|/|a_0|)^{1/(p+1)}]^{-1}, \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, n-p-1.$$

Hint: Apply Th. (32,1) to $F(z) = z^n f(1/z)$.

5. If q is an arbitrary positive integer, at least p zeros of f(z) lie in the circle

$$|z| \leq 1 + \left(\sum_{j=0}^{p-1} |a_j/a_n|^q\right)^{1/q}, \qquad k = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1.$$

Hint: Apply the Hölder Inequality (27,10) to ineq. (32,12).

6. Let $P_k(z)$ denote a polynomial of degree p_k having all its zeros in the disk $|z| \leq r_k$, let $p_1 < p_2 < \cdots < p_m$ and let $f_m(z) = P_1(z) + a_2P_2(z) + \cdots + a_mP_m(z)$ where the a_k are arbitrary parameters. At least p_1 zeros of f_2 lie in the disk

$$|z| \leq \max[r_2, (p_2r_1 + p_1r_2)/(p_2 - p_1)]$$

[Biernacki 1]. At least p_1 zeros of f_m lie in $|z| \leq R(p_1, \dots, p_m; r_p, \dots, r_m)$ for m = 3, 4 [Jankowski 1]. Hint: The best choice corresponds to a double zero of $f_2(z)$. Use Th. (15,4).

33. Further bounds. We shall now make some additional applications of ineq. (32,12). The first will be to the proof of a result due to Montel [3], a result similar to those in Van Vleck [3].

THEOREM (33,1). At least $p, p \leq n$, zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in or on the circle $|z| = \rho$, where ρ is the positive root of the equation

(33,1)
$$|a_n| z^n - \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} C(n-k-1, p-k-1) |a_k| z^k = 0.$$

For this purpose, let us observe from eq. (32,3) that

$$(33,2) |f_{n-p}(z)| \ge |a_p^{(n-p)}| |z|^p - (|a_{p-1}^{(n-p)}| |z|^{p-1} + \cdots + |a_0^{(n-p)}|).$$

On use of (32,8) and (32,12), this inequality becomes

$$(33,3) |f_{n-p}(z)| \ge |a_n| |z^p| - r_p^{-n+p} \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} |z|^k \sum_{j=0}^k C(n-p+j-1,j) |a_{k-j}| r_p^{-j}.$$

After multiplication by r_p^{n-p} and substitution of $|z| = r_p$, the right side of (33,3) becomes

$$F_{n-p}(r_p) = |a_n| r_p^n - \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \sum_{j=0}^k C(n-p+j-1,j) |a_{k-j}| r_p^{k-j}$$

A reversal of the order of summation in the sum with respect to j and a subsequent interchange of this sum with the sum with respect to k permit us to write $F_{n-p}(r_p)$ as

$$F_{n-p}(r_p) = |a_n| r_p^n - \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} |a_j| r_p^j \sum_{k=0}^{p-j-1} C(n-p+k-1,k).$$

By mathematical induction, the last sum is seen to have the value C(n - 1 - j, p - 1 - j). Thus,

$$F_{n-p}(r_p) = |a_n| r_p^n - \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} C(n-1-j, p-1-j) |a_j| r_p^j.$$

Let us now introduce ρ , the positive root of eq. (33,1). Then $F_{n-p}(\rho) = 0$. Furthermore, since eq. (33,1) has only one positive root and since $F_{n-p}(\infty) > 0$, it follows that $r_p^{n-p} |f_{n-p}(\alpha_{n-p+1})| \ge F_{n-p}(r_p) > 0$ for $r_p = |\alpha_{n-p+1}| > \rho$ in contradiction to the hypothesis that α_{n-p+1} is a zero of $f_{n-p}(z)$. From this result, we infer that f(z) has its p zeros of smallest modulus in or on the circle $|z| = \rho$, as was to be proved

As another application of the above inequalities, let us set

(33,4)
$$N_p = \max |a_j/a_p|$$
 for $j = 0, 1, \dots, p-1$.

By the reasoning similar to that leading to ineq. (32,16) we may infer that for $r_p > 1$

(33,5) $|\alpha_1\alpha_2\cdots\alpha_{n-p}a_k^{(n-p)}| < N_p |a_p| r_p^{n-p}(r_p-1)^{p-n}, \qquad k=0, 1, \cdots, p-1.$ When used in conjunction with the ineq. (33,11) presented in ex. (33,1) below, ineq. (33,5) leads to the result

$$|\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_{n-p} a_p^{(n-p)}| > |a_p| \left\{ 1 - N_p \sum_{1}^{\infty} C(n-p+k-1,k) r_p^{-k} \right\},\$$

FURTHER BOUNDS

and thus to

(33,6)
$$|\alpha_1\alpha_2\cdots\alpha_{n-p}a_p^{(n-p)}| > |a_p| \{1 - N_p[r_p^{n-p}(r_p-1)^{-n+p}-1]\}$$

The division of the corresponding sides of ineqs. (33,5) and (33,6) produces the inequality (if the right side of (33,6) is positive)

$$(33,7) |a_k^{(n-p)}/a_p^{(n-p)}| < N_p r_p^{n-p} [(1+N_p)(r_p-1)^{n-p} - N_p r_p^{n-p}]^{-1}.$$

We now conclude on the basis of Th. (27,2) that all the zeros of $f_{n-p}(z)$ lie in the circle

$$(33.8) |z| < 1 + \{N_p r_p^{n-p} [(1+N_p)(r_p-1)^{n-p} - N_p r_p^{n-p}]^{-1}\}.$$

Among these zeros is α_{n-p+1} whose modulus has been denoted by r_p . Replacing |z| by r_p in (33,8), assuming the denominator on the right side of (33,8) to be positive and clearing of fractions in (33,8), we find that

 $(1 + N_p)(r_p - 1)^{n-p+1} < N_p r_p^{n-p+1},$

and thus with $Q_p = N_p/(1 + N_p)$ and q = 1/(n - p + 1) that

(33,9)
$$r_p < 1/(1 - Q_p^q).$$

As may easily be verified, ineq. (33,9) is valid even if the right side of ineq. (33,6) is zero or negative.

In summary we may state another result of Montel [3], namely

THEOREM (33,2). At least p zeros of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the circle

 $|z| < 1/(1 - Q_p^q),$

where $N_p = \max |a_j/a_p|$, $j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, p-1$; $Q_p = N_p/(1+N_p)$ and q = 1/(n-p+1).

Another result which is instructive to establish is the following one due to Van Vleck [3].

THEOREM (33,3). The polynomial

$$f(z) = 1 + a_p z^p + a_{p+1} z^{p+1} + \dots + a_n z^n, \qquad p < n, \, a_p \neq 0,$$

has at least p zeros on the disk

$$|z| \leq [C(n, p)/|a_p|]^{1/p}$$

This limit is attained by the polynomial

$$f_0(z) = (z - b)^{n-p+1} \sum_{0}^{p-1} C(n - p + j, j) (z/b)^j$$

where b is a pth root of $[(-1)^{p-1} C(n, p)/a_p]$.

[§33]

To prove this theorem, we introduce

$$F(z) = z^{n} f(-1/z) = z^{n} + \sum_{j=p}^{n} (-1)^{j} a_{j} z^{n-j}$$

and write .

$$F(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{p-1} (z - \beta_j) \prod_{j=1}^{q} (z - \gamma_j), \qquad q = n - p + 1,$$

with $|\beta_i| \ge |\gamma_1| \ge |\gamma_j|$ for $i = 1, 2, \cdots, p-1$; $j = 2, 3, \cdots, q$.

Denoting by b_k the sum of all the products of the β_j taken k at a time and by g_k the corresponding sums of the γ_j with $g_k = 0$ when k > q, we have

$$0 = g_1 + b_1,$$

$$0 = g_2 + b_1 g_1 + b_2,$$

$$0 = g_{p-1} + b_1 g_{p-2} + b_2 g_{p-3} + \dots + b_{p-1},$$

$$a_p = g_p + b_1 g_{p-1} + b_2 g_{p-2} + \dots + b_{p-1} g_1.$$

Eliminating the b_k and thus the β_k , we obtain the equation connecting the q + 1 absolutely smallest zeros of F:

(33,10)
$$\Delta_{p} + (-1)^{p} a_{p} = 0$$

where

$$\Delta_{p} = \begin{vmatrix} g_{1} & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ g_{2} & g_{1} & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ g_{p-1} & g_{p-2} & g_{p-3} & \cdots & g_{1} & 1 \\ g_{p} & g_{p-1} & g_{p-2} & \cdots & g_{2} & g_{1} \end{vmatrix}.$$

From the recurrence formula

$$\Delta_p = g_1 \Delta_{p-1} - g_2 \Delta_{p-2} + \cdots + (-1)^p g_p$$

and the relation $g_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{q} \gamma_i$, we may establish by induction that Δ_p is the sum of the products of the γ_i taken p at a time, repetitions of the γ_i being allowed. Since therefore Δ_p involves C(q + p - 1, p) = C(n, p) terms, we deduce from (33,10) that

$$|a_p| \leq C(n, p) |\gamma_1|^p.$$

The equality sign can occur if and only if each of the C(n, p) terms in Δ_p has the same argument and a modulus of $|\gamma_1|^p$. This implies that

$$\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \cdots = \gamma_q = [(-1)^{p-1}a_p/C(n, p)]^{1/p}.$$

Solving the above system of equations, we find

$$b_j = (-1)^j \Delta_j = (-1)^j C(n-p+j,j)\gamma_1^j.$$

FURTHER BOUNDS

Hence, the limit $[|a_p|/C(n, p)]^{1/p}$ is attained by the pth largest zero of the polynomial

$$F_0(z) = (z - \gamma_1)^{q} \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} (-1)^{j} C(n - j, j) \gamma_1^{j} z^{p-1-j}.$$

If we now replace z by (-1/z), we may complete the proof of Th. (33,3).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. At least p zeros of $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_k z^k$ lie in the circle $|z| \leq \rho$ where ρ is the positive root of the equation

$$|a_p| \rho^p - \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} C(n-k, p-k) |a_k| \rho^k = 0.$$

Hint: From eq. (32,7), deduce the inequality

$$(33,11) |\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_{n-p} a_p^{(n-p)}| \ge |a_p| - \sum_{k=1}^p C(n-p+k-1,k) |a_{p-k}| r_p^{-k}$$

and substitute it into the right side of inequality (33,2) [Van Vleck 3].

2. At least p zeros of the polynomial

$$g(z) = a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{p+1} z^{p+1} + \cdots + a_n z^n, \qquad a_0 a_p a_n \neq 0,$$

lie in the circle $|z| \leq [C(n-1, p-1) |a_0/a_n|]^{1/n}$. This limit is attainable [Van Vleck 3].

3. Th. (33,2) reduces to Th. (27,2) when p = n.

4. At least p zeros of $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k} z^{k}$ lie in the circle $|z| \leq 2(n - p + 1)A_{p}$, where $a_{k} \neq 0$ and $A_{p} = \max |a_{k}/a_{k+1}|$ for $k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, p - 1$. Hint: Apply Th. (33,2) to the polynomial $P(\zeta) = f(A_{p}\zeta)$, noting that, since

$$1/2 \leq [1 - (1/2q)]^q$$
 for $q = 1, 2, \cdots$,

we may write

$$(1 - 2^{-1/q})^{-1} \leq 2q$$
 [Montel 3].

5. At least one zero of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $a_0 \neq 0$, lies in each of the four circles $|z| \leq r_k$ with

$$\begin{aligned} r_1 &= |na_0/a_1|, \quad r_2 &= |na_0^2/(2a_0a_2 - a_1^2)|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ r_3 &= |na_0^3/(3a_0^2a_3 - 3a_0a_1a_2 + a_1^3)|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ r_4 &= |na_0^4/(4a_0^3a_4 - 4a_0^2a_1a_3 - 2a_0^2a_2^2 - 2a_0a_1^2a_2 - a_1^4)|^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hint: Use ex. (13,9); evaluate right side of eq. (13,12) and thus r_p for $z_0 = 0$ and p = 1, 2, 3, 4 [Nagy 6 and 12].

6. At least one zero of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_{k+1} z^{k+1} + a_{k+2} z^{k+2} + \dots + a_n z^n$, $a_1 \neq 0$, lies in the circle $|z| \leq n^{1/k} |a_0/a_1|$ [Nagy 12].

7. At least one zero of $f(z) = a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{p+1} z^{p+1} + \cdots + a_n z^n$, $1 \leq p$, $a_{p+h} \neq 0$, lies in the circle $|z| \leq |na_0|(p+h)a_{p+h}|^{1/(p+h)}$, $h = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, p-1$ [Carmichael-Mason 1, when h = 0; Nagy 12, when $0 \leq h < p$].

34. Lacunary polynomials. In secs. 32 and 33, we found that, when the coefficients a_0 , a_1 , \cdots , a_p are fixed but the remaining a_j , j > p, are arbitrary, there exist various circles $|z| \leq r$ which contain at least p zeros of the polynomial. If in addition we were to fix some of the coefficients a_j , j > p, we should obviously find that the resulting polynomials have p zeros in circles $|z| \leq r_1$, with $r_1 \leq r$.

An important class of such polynomials are those of the lacunary type

(34,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + a_{n_2} z^{n_2} + \dots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k},$$
$$0 < n_0 = p < n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_k, \qquad a_0 a_p a_{n_1} a_{n_2} \cdots a_{n_k} \neq 0.$$

Here, relative to eq. (32,1), the coefficients a_j , $0 \le j \le p$, are fixed; the coefficients a_{n_i} , $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, are arbitrary and the remaining coefficients a_j are zero.

As we stated in sec. 32, Landau [1] and [2] initiated the study of polynomials of this form in 1906-7. He considered the cases p = 1, k = 1 or 2, proving for these cases the existence of a circle $|z| = R(a_0, a_1)$ containing at least one zero of f(z). He also raised the question as to whether or not a circle with this same property existed in the case p = 1 and k arbitrary.

An affirmative reply was given in 1907 by Allardice [1] who proved that, when p = 1, at least one zero of f(z) lies in the circle

$$|z| \leq |a_0/a_1| \prod_{j=1}^k [n_j/(n_j-1)]$$

and by Fejér [1] who proved that, when $a_1 = a_2 = \cdots = a_{p-1} = 0$, at least one zero of f(z) lies in the circle

(34,2)
$$|z| \leq \left\{ |a_0/a_p| \prod_{j=1}^k [n_j/(n_j-p)] \right\}^{1/p}.$$

About sixteen years later, Montel [1] proved that for any polynomial (34,1) there exists a circle $|z| \leq R(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_p, k)$ containing at least p zeros of f(z) and Walsh [10] proved that, when $a_1 = a_2 = \dots = a_{p-1} = 0$ and $a_u \neq 0$ for some $u = n_h$, $0 \leq h \leq k$, there exists a circle $|z| \leq R(a_0, a_u, k)$ containing at least p zeros of f(z). As to the specific determination of the radii of these circles, Montel [1] showed that, when p = 2 and $a_1 = 0$, at least two zeros of f(z) lie in the circle (see Th. (34,2))

$$|z| \leq [|a_0/a_1| (k+1)(k+2)/2]^{\frac{1}{2}} = b,$$

the limit being attained for $a_0 = a_2 = 1$ by each of the two polynomials $\{(1 \pm iz/b)^{k+1} \ [1 \mp i(k+1)z/b]\}$. In 1925 Van Vleck [3] established that, when $a_1 = a_2 = \cdots = a_{p-1} = 0$, $n_j = p + j$, $j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$, and $a_{p+h} \neq 0$ for some $h, 0 \leq h \leq k$, at least p zeros of f(z) lie in the circle [cf. Th. (33,3)]

$$|z| \leq [C(p+h-1, p-1)C(n, p+h) |a_0/a_{p+h}|]^{1/(p+h)},$$

the limit being attained for h = 0 by the polynomial

$$(z-b)^{n-p+1}\sum_{0}^{p-1}C(n-p+j,j)(z/b)^{j}$$

where b is a pth root of $[(-1)^{p-1}C(n, p)a_0/a_p]$. In 1928 Biernacki [1] proved that, when $a_1 = a_2 = \cdots = a_{p-1} = 0$, at least p zeros of f(z) lie in the circle (34,2), the limit being attained for $n_j = p + j$, $j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$, and that, if all the zeros of the polynomial

$$f_0(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_p z^p$$

lie in the circle $|z| \leq R_0$, at least p zeros of f(z), eq. (34,1), lie in the circle

(34,3)
$$|z| \leq R_0 \prod_{j=1}^k [n_j/(n_j - p)],$$

the limit being attained only for p = k = 1.

These results are in agreement with that of Dieudonné [7] which for fixed $a_0, a_1 \cdots, a_{p-1}$ and $a_u, u = n_h$, states that the smallest circle $|z| \leq r$ containing $q \leq p$ zeros of f(z) has a radius of the order of magnitude $r_q(n) = O(n^{1/(p-1+q)})$ in general as $n \to \infty$.

The more general of the above limits, however, require complicated derivations. For this reason we shall devote this and the next sections to the construction of alternative limits which, though less exact, are much simpler to establish.

Our first theorem in this direction will be obtained by the use of some previous results on the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, specifically ex. (6,4), Th. (25,4), Th. (26,2) and ex. (25,2). These results state in effect, first, that, if z_1 is a zero of f'(z), at least one zero of f(z) lies in the region $|z| \ge |z_1|$, and, secondly, that, if at most p-1 zeros of f'(z) lie in a circle $|z| \le r$, then at most p zeros of f(z) lie in the circle

(34,4)
$$|z| \leq r/\phi(n, p+1)$$

Among the known bounds for functions $\phi(n, p)$ are those given in Ths. (25,4) and (26,2); namely,

(34,5)
$$\phi(n, p) \leq \csc \pi/2(n-p+1)$$

and

(34,6)
$$\phi(n, p) \leq \prod_{j=1}^{n-p} (n+j)/(n-j).$$

We shall apply these theorems to the polynomial

(34,7)
$$F(z) = z^{n_k} f(1/z) = \sum_{i=0}^p a_i z^{n_k - i} + \sum_{i=1}^k a_{n_i} z^{n_k - n_i}$$

and to the other polynomials of the sequence $F_i(z)$ defined by the equations

(34,8)
$$F_0(z) = F(z),$$

(34,9)
$$F'_{j}(z) = z^{n_{k-j}-n_{k-j-1}-1}F_{j+1}(z), \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, k-1.$$

By straightforward computation, we may show that

(34,10)
$$F_{j}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{p} (n_{k} - i)(n_{k-1} - i) \cdots (n_{k-i+1} - i)a_{i}z^{n_{k-j}-i}$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (n_k - n_i)(n_{k-1} - n_i) \cdots (n_{k-j+1} - n_i)a_{n_i} z^{n_{k-j}-n_i}.$$

In particular, we find that

(34,11)
$$F_k(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{p} (n_k - i)(n_{k-1} - i) \cdots (n_1 - i)a_i z^{p-i}.$$

Let us also define

(34,12)
$$f_k(z) = z^p F_k(1/z) = \sum_{i=0}^p (n_k - i)(n_{k-1} - i) \cdots (n_1 - i)a_i z^i.$$

Since $a_0 \neq 0$, $f_k(z)$ does not vanish at the origin. Let us denote by ρ_1 the largest and ρ_2 the smallest positive number such that all the zeros of $f_k(z)$ lie in the annular ring $0 < \rho_1 \leq |z| \leq \rho_2$. Being according to (34,12) the reciprocals of the zeros of $f_k(z)$, the zeros of $F_k(z)$ lie in the ring $1/\rho_2 \leq |z| \leq 1/\rho_1$, with at least one zero of $F_k(z)$ on each of the circles $|z| = 1/\rho_2$ and $|z| = 1/\rho_1$. According to (34,9) the zeros of $F'_{k-1}(z)$ are those of $F_k(z)$ and a zero of multiplicity $n_1 - p - 1$ at z = 0; thus $F'_{k-1}(z)$ has at least one zero on $|z| = 1/\rho_1$ and exactly $n_1 - p - 1$ in $|z| < 1/\rho_2$. By ex. (6,4), $F_{k-1}(z)$ has at least one zero in $|z| \geq 1/\rho_1$ and the most $n_1 - p$ zeros in (see ex. (25,2))

$$(34,13) |z| < [\rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1)]^{-1}.$$

Similarly, since the zeros of $F'_{k-2}(z)$ are the zeros of $F_{k-1}(z)$ and a zero of multiplicity $n_2 - n_1 - 1$ at z = 0, $F'_{k-2}(z)$ has at least one zero in $|z| \ge 1/\rho_1$ and at most $n_2 - p - 1$ zeros satisfying (34,13). Consequently, $F_{k-2}(z)$ has at least one zero in $|z| \ge 1/\rho_1$ and at most $n_2 - p$ zeros in

$$(34,14) |z| < [\rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1)\phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1)]^{-1}.$$

Continuing in this manner, we may by induction demonstrate that F(z) has at least one zero in $|z| \ge 1/\rho_1$ and at most $n_k - p$ zeros in

$$(34,15) |z| < [\rho_2\phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1)\phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1)]^{-1}.$$

Finally, in view of eq. (34,7) by which the zeros of f(z) are defined as the reciprocals of the zeros of F(z), we conclude that f(z) has at least one zero in $|z| \leq \rho_1$ and at most $n_k - p$ zeros in

$$|z| > \rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1) \phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1)$$

Hence, f(z) has at least p zeros in

$$(34,16) |z| \leq \rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1) \phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1).$$

These results which are due to Marden [14] may be summarized in the form of

THEOREM (34,1). Given the polynomial (34,17) $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + a_{n_2} z^{n_2} + \dots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k}$ with $0 < n_0 = p < n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_k$ and $a_0 a_p \neq 0$. Let (34,18) $f_k(z) = n_1 n_2 \cdots n_k a_0 + (n_1 - 1)(n_2 - 1) \cdots (n_k - 1)a_1 z + \dots + (n_1 - p)(n_2 - p) \cdots (n_k - p)a_p z^p$.

If S denotes the set of zeros of f_k with $\rho_1 = \min(|z|: z \in S)$ and $\rho_2 = \max(|z|: z \in S)$, then f(z) has at least one zero in the circle $|z| \leq \rho_1$ and at least p zeros in the circle

(34,19)
$$|z| \leq \rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1) \phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1)$$

Using the known $\phi(n, p)$ as given in (34,5) and (34,6) we deduce the following limits due to Marden [14].

COROLLARY (34,1a). In the notation of Th. (34,1), at least p zeros of f(z) lie in each of the circles

$$(34,20) |z| \leq \rho_2 \csc^k(\pi/2p),$$

(34,21)
$$|z| \leq \rho_2 \prod_{i=1}^k \prod_{j=1}^{p-1} (n_i + j)/(n_i - j).$$

In particular if $a_1 = a_2 = \cdots = a_{p-1} = 0$, the zeros of $f_k(z)$ all have the modulus

$$\left[\frac{n_1n_2\cdots n_k}{(n_1-p)(n_2-p)\cdots (n_k-p)}\left|\frac{a_0}{a_p}\right|\right]^{1/p}=\rho_1=\rho_2.$$

Thus, from Th. (34,1) and Cor. (34,1a) we infer

COROLLARY (34,1b). At least one zero of the polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + \dots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k},$$

(34,22)

$$0 , $a_0 a_p \neq 0$,$$

lies in the circle

(34,23)
$$|z| \leq \left[\frac{n_1 n_2 \cdots n_k}{(n_1 - p)(n_2 - p) \cdots (n_k - p)} \left| \frac{a_0}{a_p} \right| \right]^{1/p} = R$$

and at least p zeros lie in each of the circles

 $(34,24) |z| \leq R \csc^k(\pi/2p),$

(34,25)
$$|z| \leq R \prod_{j=1}^{k} \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} (n_i + j)/(n_i - j)$$

Limit (34,23) is due to Fejér [1] and (34,24) and (34,25) are due to Marden [14].

The inequalities (34,23) to (34,25) may be replaced by inequalities which are simpler though not as sharp. We note that

$$N(p, k) = \frac{n_1 n_2 \cdots n_k}{(n_1 - p)(n_2 - p) \cdots (n_k - p)} \\= \left[\left(1 - \frac{p}{n_1} \right) \left(1 - \frac{p}{n_2} \right) \cdots \left(1 - \frac{p}{n_k} \right) \right]^{-1}$$

and that accordingly the fraction may be maximized by giving the n_k their minimum values $n_k = p + k$; viz.,

$$(34,26) N(p,k) \leq C(p+k,k)$$

Furthermore, if p < k, the right side of (34,16) may be written as

$$C(p+k,p) \leq [(k+1)(2k+2)\cdots(pk+p)/1\cdot 2\cdots p] = (k+1)^p,$$

the equality sign holding only when p = 1. The right side of (34,26) may be treated similarly when $p \ge k$. Thus, in all cases,

(34,27)
$$N(p,k) \leq (k+1)^p$$
,

the equality sign holding only when p = 1.

Taking (34,26) and (34,27) into consideration, we may restate Cor. (34,1b), following Marden [14], as

COROLLARY (34,1c). The polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + \dots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k}$$

$$p < n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_k, \qquad a_0 a_p \neq 0,$$

has at least one zero in the circle

$$|z| \leq [C(p+k,k) |a_0/a_p|]^{1/p} = R_1 \leq (k+1) |a_0/a_p|^{1/p} = R_2$$

and at least p zeros in the circles

$$|z| \leq R_1 \csc^k(\pi/2p) \leq R_2 \csc^k(\pi/2p),$$

$$|z| \leq R_1 \prod_{i=1}^k \prod_{j=1}^{p-1} (n_i + j)/(n_i - j) \leq R_2 \prod_{i=1}^k \prod_{j=1}^{p-1} (n_i + j)/(n_i - j).$$

In the case p = 2, the following result due to Montel [1] is an improvement over that in Cor. (34,1c). Without losing generality we may state it with $a_0 = a_2 = 1$.

THEOREM (34,2). Let \mathscr{G}_k denote the class of polynomials $g_k(z) = 1 + z^2 + b_1 z^{n_1} + b_2 z^{n_2} + \cdots + b_k z^{n_k}$

where the n_k are integers with $2 < n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_k$ and the b_j are arbitrary constants. If $g_k \in \mathscr{G}_k$, then g_k has at least two zeros ζ_1 and ζ_2 on the disk:

(34,28)
$$|z| \leq [(1/2)(k+1)(k+2)]^{\frac{1}{2}} = \rho(k)$$

such that

(34,29)
$$\Im(1/\zeta_1) \ge [\rho(k)]^{-1}, \quad \Im(1/\zeta_2) \le -[\rho(k)]^{-1}.$$

The limits are attained by the two polynomials $p_k(\pm z)$ where

(34,30)
$$p_k(z) = \{1 + [iz/\rho(k)]\}^{k+1}\{1 - [(k+1)iz/\rho(k)]\}.$$

The proof will be by induction. We begin with the case k = 1 writing

$$\begin{split} G_1(z) &= z^{n_1} g_1(1/z) = z^{n_1} + z^{n_1-2} + b_1 \,, \\ G_1'(z) &= z^{n_1-3} [n_1 z^2 + (n_1 - 2)]. \end{split}$$

Since the zeros of $G'_1(z)$ are $z = \pm i[(n_1 - 2)/n_1]^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and since $[1 - (2/n_1)] \ge 1/3$, we conclude from Lucas' Theorem (6,1) that $G_1(z)$ has zeros z_1 and z_2 such that

 $\Im(z_1) \ge 3^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad \Im(z_2) \le -3^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$

Taking $\zeta_1 = 1/z_1$ and $\zeta_2 = 1/z_2$, we see that (34,29) is valid for k = 1 since $\rho(1) = 3^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Let us assume that (34,29) is also valid for $1 < k \leq K - 1$ and turn to the case k = K. Let us write

$$G_K(z) = z^{n_K} + z^{n_{K-2}} + b_1 z^{n_{K-n_1}} + b_2 z^{n_{K-n_2}} + \dots + b_K,$$

$$G'_K(z) = z^{n_{K-n_K} - 1} [n_K z^{n_{K-1}} + (n_K - 2) z^{n_{K-1} - 2}]$$

+
$$(n_K - n_1) b_1 z^{n_{K-1}-n_1} + \cdots + (n_K - n_{K-1}) b_{K-1}].$$

On setting

(34, 31)

(34,32)
$$z = [1 - (2/n_K)]^{\frac{1}{2}} Z_{\frac{1}{2}}$$

we may write the bracket in eq. (34,31) in the form $c_0H_{K-1}(Z)$ where c_0 is a constant and

$$H_{K-1}(Z) = Z^{n_{K-1}} + Z^{n_{K-1}-2} + c_1 Z^{n_{K-1}-n_1} + \cdots + c_{K-1}.$$

If we set $h_{K-1}(z) = z^{n_{K-1}} H_{K-1}(1/z)$, we see that $h_{K-1} \in \mathscr{G}_{K-1}$ and hence h_{K-1} has two zeros satisfying (34,29) with k = K - 1. Hence, H_{K-1} has two zeros ξ_1 and ξ_2 such that

(34,33)
$$\Im(\xi_1) \ge [\rho(K-1)]^{-1}, \quad \Im(\xi_2) \le -[\rho(K-1)]^{-1}.$$

Since $n_K > K + 2$ and

$$[1 - (2/n_K)]^{\frac{1}{2}}[\rho(K-1)]^{-1} \ge \{1 - [2/(K+2)]\}^{\frac{1}{2}}[\rho(K-1)]^{-1}$$
$$\ge [K/(K+2)]^{\frac{1}{2}}[\rho(K-1)]^{-1} = [\rho(K)]^{-1},$$

we conclude from (34,32) and (34,33) that $G'_{K}(z)$ has two zeros η_1 and η_2 such that

$$\Im(\eta_1) \geqq [\rho(K)]^{-1}, \qquad \Im(\eta_2) \leqq - [\rho(K)]^{-1}.$$

From Lucas' Theorem (6,1), we now conclude that $G_K(z)$ has two zeros z_1 and z_2 such that

$$\Im(z_1^{-1}) \ge [\rho(K)]^{-1}, \qquad \Im(z_2^{-1}) \le -[\rho(K)]^{-1}$$

and hence that (34,29) is valid also for k = K as was to be proved.

Finally, we may easily verify by computation that the p_k in (34,30) satisfy the relations

$$p_k(0) = 1$$
, $p'_k(0) = 0$, $p''_k(0) = 2$

and thus that $p_k \in \mathscr{G}_k$. We may also immediately verify that p_k attains the limits specified in Th. (34,2), thus completing the proof of Th. (34,2).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. The polynomial (34,17) has at least p zeros in the circle

$$|z| \leq \rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1) \phi(n_2, n_2 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1)$$

where ρ_2 is the positive zero of the polynomial

$$\begin{split} \psi(z; n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_k) &= n_1 n_2 \cdots n_k |a_0| + (n_1 - 1)(n_2 - 1) \cdots (n_p - 1) |a_1| z + \cdots \\ &+ (n_1 - p + 1)(n_2 - p + 1) \cdots (n_k - p + 1) |a_{p-1}| z^{p-1} \\ &- (n_1 - p)(n_2 - p) \cdots (n_k - p) |a_p| z^p. \end{split}$$

Also $\rho_2 \leq \tau$, where τ is the positive zero of the polynomial

$$\psi(z; p+1, p+2, \cdots, p+k) = k! \left\{ - |a_p| z^p + \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} C(p+k-j, k) |a_j| z^j \right\}.$$

Hint: Use Ths. (27,1) and (34,1); cf. ex. (33,1) [Marden 14]. Also use ineq. (34,26)

2. The polynomial (34,17) has at least p zeros in the circle

$$|z| \leq \rho_2 \phi(n_1, n_1 - p + 1) \cdots \phi(n_k, n_k - p + 1)$$

where

(34,34)
$$\rho_2 = 1 + \max\left[|a_j/a_p|\prod_{i=1}^k (n_i - j)/(n_i - p)\right], \quad j = 0, 1, \cdots, p-1.$$

Hint: Use Ths. (27,2) and (34,1) [Marden 14].

3. The ρ_2 in eq. (34,34) satisfies the inequality

$$\rho_2 \leq 1 + M_p C(p+k,k) \leq 1 + (k+1)^p M_p$$

where $M_{p} = \max |a_{j}/a_{p}|, j = 0, 1, \cdots, p - 1.$

4. At least one zero of polynomial

(34,35)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z^{n_1} + a_2 z^{n_2} + \dots + a_k z^{n_k}$$

lies in the circle $|z| \leq \rho$ where

$$\rho = \min \left[|a_0/a_j| \prod_{i=1}^{k-j} n_{j+i}/(n_{j+i} - n_j) \right]^{1/n_j}, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, k-1 \quad [\text{Fekete 4}].$$

5. All the zeros of eq. (34,35) lie in the circle

$$|z| \leq r, r = \max [|a_0/a_1|^{1/n_1}, |2a_j/a_{j+1}|^{1/(n_{j+1}-n_j)}], j = 1, 2, \cdots, k-1.$$

Hint: Use the method of ex. (30,6).

6. If in ex. (34,5) the coefficients a_j satisfy a linear relation $\lambda_0 a_0 + \lambda_1 a_1 + \cdots + \lambda_k a_k = 0$, with $\lambda_0 \neq 0$, then f(z) has at least one zero in the circle $|z| \leq 2kM$, where $M = \max(1, |\lambda_j/\lambda_0|), j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$. Hint: Show $|a_0/a_j| \leq 2^{n_j}M$ for at least one j, since otherwise $|a_0| > |a_0| (2^{-n_1} + 2^{-n_2} + \cdots + 2^{-n_k}) > M(|a_1| + |a_2| + \cdots + |a_k|)$ in contradiction with the relation $\sum \lambda_j a_j = 0$ [Fekete 4].

7. At least one zero of the polynomial (34,17) lies in each circle which has as diameter the line-segment joining point z = 0 with any of p zeros of (34,18). [Fejér 1a].

8. The polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 \sum_{j=0}^{p} [z^{j}/(n_1 - j)(n_2 - j) \cdots (n_k - j)] + \sum_{j=1}^{k} a_j z^{n_j}, \qquad a_0 \neq 0,$$

has at least p zeros in the circle $|z| \leq \csc^k (\pi/2p)$.

35. Other bounds for lacunary polynomials. A theorem similar to Th. (34,1) but in which the polynomial $f_k(z)$ in eq. (34,18) is replaced by one involving the first p + 1 terms of f(z) will now be established with the aid of Th. (16,2)'.

In Th. (16,2)' let us choose m = p, n = k, $f(z) = P(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_p z^p$, and $g(z) = (n_1 - z)(n_2 - z) \cdots (n_k - z)$. Then $h(z) = f_k(z)$ and

$$|g(0)/g(m)| = \prod_{j=1}^{k} n_j/(n_j - p) > 1.$$

If R is the radius of the smallest circle |z| = R which contains all the zeros of P(z), we learn from Th. (16,2)' on setting $r_1 = 0$ and $r_2 = R$ that all the zeros of $f_k(z)$ lie in the circle

$$|z| \leq R \prod_{j=1}^{k} n_j / (n_j - p) = R'.$$

In view of the definition of ρ_2 as the radius of the smallest circle $|z| \leq r$ containing all the zeros of $f_k(z)$, we conclude that $\rho_2 \leq R'$.

In place of Th. (34,1), we may therefore state the following theorem, in some respects simpler, but not sharper than Th. (34,1).

THEOREM (35,1). If all the zeros of the polynomial

(35,1)
$$P(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^2$$

lie in the circle $|z| \leq R$, at least p zeros of the polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_p z^p + a_{n_1} z^{n_1} + \dots + a_{n_k} z^{n_k},$$

$$0$$

[§35]

lie in the circle

(35,2)
$$|z| \leq R \prod_{j=1}^{k} n_j \phi(n_j, n_j - p + 1)/(n_j - p).$$

Using the values of $\phi(n, p)$ in eqs. (34,5) and (34,6), we may replace ineq. (35,2) by the more specific ones

(35,3)
$$|z| \leq R\left[\prod_{j=1}^{k} n_j/(n_j - p)\right] \csc^k(\pi/2p);$$

(35,4)
$$|z| \leq R \prod_{j=1}^{k} \frac{n_j}{n_j - p} \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} \frac{n_j + i}{n_j - i} = R \prod_{j=1}^{k} \prod_{i=0}^{p-1} \frac{n_j + i}{n_j + i - p}$$

the latter being due to Biernacki [3]. The right sides of (35,2) and (35,3) both have values in excess of R. That they may not be replaced by values less than R is clear from the fact that P(z) is one of the polynomials f(z); that is, the f(z) with $a_j = 0$, all j > p.

It is known, however, that the right side of ineq. (35,3) may be replaced by the smaller bound (34,3), a bound whose derivation is quite complicated. But neither this bound nor those given in (35,3) or (35,4) is known to be attained by at least one of the *p* zeros of smallest modulus for at least one polynomial f(z) of type (34,17). In other words, none of the bounds is as yet known to be the best possible one.

Of the two bounds (35,3) and (35,4), the second has the advantage that, as $k \to \infty$, it approaches a finite limit, provided the series $\sum 1/n_j$ converges. This fact suggests the following theorem of the Picard type, due to Biernacki [1] and [3].

THEOREM (35,2). If the series $\sum 1/m_i$ converges, the entire function

 $f(z) = a_0 + a_{m_1} z^{m_1} + a_{m_2} z^{m_2} + \cdots, \qquad 0 < m_1 < m_2 < \cdots,$

if not identically zero, takes on every finite value A an infinite number of times.

To prove this theorem, let us choose p as any of the numbers m_1, m_2, \cdots , and form the polynomial

$$Q_k(z) = (a_0 - A) + a_{m_1} z^{m_1} + \dots + a_p z^p + a_{m_1} z^{m_1} + \dots + a_{m_k} z^{m_k}$$

in which the last k terms are the k terms following $a_p z^p$ in f(z). Let us denote by R the radius of the circle $|z| \leq R$ in which lie the zeros of the polynomial

$$Q_0(z) = (a_0 - A) + a_{m_1} z^{m_1} + \cdots + a_p z^p.$$

By Th. (35,1), $Q_k(z)$ has at least p zeros in the circle (35,4). The right side of (35,4) may be written as

$$R\prod_{j=1}^{k}\prod_{i=0}^{p-1}\left[1-(p/(n_{j}+i))\right]^{-1}< R\prod_{i=0}^{p-1}\prod_{j=1}^{\infty}\left[1-(p/(n_{j}+i))\right]^{-1}=R_{1}.$$

The infinite products occurring in R_1 converge due to the convergence of the series $\sum 1/m_j$. That is, R_1 is a number independent of k such that in the circle $|z| = R_1$ lie at least p zeros of $Q_k(z)$.

On the other hand, the terms in $Q_k(z)$ are the terms of f(z) - A up to that in z^{n_k} . Since f(z) is an entire function, $Q_k(z)$ converges uniformly to f(z) - Ain any circle $|z| \leq R_1 + \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$. But, by Hurwitz' Theorem (Th. (1,5)), given any sufficiently small positive ϵ , there is at least one zero of f(z) - A in each of the *p* circles of radius ϵ drawn about the *p* zeros of $Q_k(z)$ in $|z| \leq R_1$. Hence, there are at least *p* zeros of f(z) - A in the circle $|z| \leq R_1 + \epsilon$. Due to the fact that *p* is an arbitrary m_j , we conclude that f(z) - A has an infinite number of zeros. That is, f(z) assumes the value *A* an infinite number of times.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. At least p zeros of each of the two polynomials

$$1 + z^{p} + a_{1}z^{n_{1}} + \dots + a_{k}z^{n_{k}},$$

$$1 + z + z^{2} + \dots + z^{p} + a_{1}z^{n_{1}} + \dots + a_{k}z^{n_{k}}$$

lie in each of the circles (35,3) and (35,4) with R = 1.

2. The polynomial

$$P(z) = 1 + z^{p} + a_{1}z^{p+q} + a_{2}z^{p+2q} + \cdots + a_{k}z^{p+kq},$$

where $p \ge p_0$ and q is not a factor of p, has at least p_0 zeros in a circle $|z| \le R(p_0)$ [Landau 2, case $p_0 = 1$; Montel 1, p_0 arbitrary].

3. The trinomial $1 + z^p + az^n$ has at least one zero in each of the sectors

$$|(\arg z) - (2k+1)(\pi/p)| \le \pi/n,$$
 $k = 0, 1, \dots, p-1.$

The limits are attained when $a = p(n-p)^{(n-p)/p}/\omega^n n^{n/p}$ where ω is any pth root of (-1) [Nekrasoff 1, Kempner 5, Herglotz 1, Biernacki 1].

4. If $n_2 \ge 3n_1/2$, the quadrinomial

$$1 + z^p + a_1 z^{n_1} + a_2 z^{n_2}, \qquad p < n_1 < n_2,$$

has at least one zero in each of the sectors

$$|(\arg z) - (2k+1)/(\pi/p)| \leq (\pi/n_1), \qquad k = 0, 1, \dots, p-1.$$

The limits are attained when for k = 1, 2

$$a_{k} = -\{(-1)^{k} p[(n_{1} - p)(n_{2} - p)]^{n_{k}/p}\} / \{(n_{2} - n_{1})(n_{k} - p)(n_{1}n_{2})^{(n_{k} - p)/p} n_{k} \omega^{n_{k}}\},\$$

where ω is a *p*th root of (-1) [Biernacki 1, pp. 603-613].

5. Every quadrinomial $1 + az^p + z^{2p} + bz^n$, n > 2p, a and b arbitrary, has at least p - 1 zeros in the circle $|z| \leq 1$ [Dieudonné 6].

[§35]
CHAPTER IX

THE NUMBER OF ZEROS IN A HALF-PLANE OR A SECTOR

36. Dynamic stability. The problem discussed in the last two chapters, the determination of bounds for some or all of the zeros of a polynomial f(z), may be regarded as that of finding a region which will contain a prescribed number p of zeros of f(z). The converse type of problem is of equal importance. It is the problem of finding the exact or approximate number of zeros which lie in a prescribed region such as a half-plane, a sector or a circular region.

In order to see how this problem arises in applied mathematics, let us, as in Routh [1] and [2], consider the example of a particle of unit mass moving in the x, y plane subject to a resultant force with the x-component X(t, x, y, u, v) and y-component Y(t, x, y, u, v), where (x, y) and (u, v) denote respectively the coordinates and the velocity components of the particle at time t. Let us assume that X and Y possess continuous first partial derivatives in the neighborhood of some value $(0, x_0, y_0, u_0, v_0)$. The equations of motion are then

$$(36,1) du/dt = X(t, x, y, u, v), dv/dt = Y(t, x, y, u, v).$$

Let us denote by $x = x_1(t)$ and $y = y_1(t)$ the solutions corresponding to the set of initial conditions $x(0) = x_0$, $y(0) = y_0$, $u(0) = u_0$, $v(0) = v_0$, and by $x = x_1(t) + \xi(t)$ and $y = y_1(t) + \eta(t)$ the solutions corresponding to the slightly altered set of initial conditions $x(0) = x_0 + \xi_0$, $y(0) = y_0 + \eta_0$, $u(0) = u_0 + \sigma_0$, $v(0) = v_0 + \tau_0$.

Substituting these solutions into eqs. (36,1), subtracting eqs. (36,1) from the resulting equations and setting $\sigma = d\xi/dt$ and $\tau = d\eta/dt$, we find for ξ and η the differential equations

$$\begin{aligned} d\sigma/dt &= X(t, x_1 + \xi, y_1 + \eta, u_1 + \sigma, v_1 + \tau) - X(t, x_1, y_1, u_1, v_1) \\ &= X_x \xi + X_y \eta + X_u \sigma + X_v \tau, \\ d\tau/dt &= Y(t, x_1 + \xi, y_1 + \eta, u_1 + \sigma, v_1 + \tau) - Y(t, x_1, y_1, u_1, v_1) \\ &= Y_x \xi + Y_y \eta + Y_u \sigma + Y_v \tau, \end{aligned}$$

where the partial derivatives X_x , X_y , X_u , X_v , Y_x , Y_y , Y_u , Y_v of X and Y are formed for the intermediate value $(t, x_1 + \theta\xi, y_1 + \theta\eta, u_r + \theta\sigma, v_1 + \theta\tau)$ with $0 \le \theta \le 1$. If ξ_0 , η_0 , σ_0 and τ_0 are all sufficiently small, we may with good approximation compute ξ and η by means of the equations

$$(36,2) \quad d\sigma/dt = A_1\xi + A_2\eta + A_3\sigma + A_4\tau, \qquad d\tau/dt = B_1\xi + B_2\eta + B_3\sigma + B_4\tau,$$

where the coefficients are the real constants obtained on evaluating the above partial derivatives for $(0, x_0, y_0, u_0, v_0)$. As is well known, eqs. (36,2) have

solutions of the form

$$\xi = \lambda e^{\gamma t}, \quad \eta = \mu e^{\gamma t}.$$

On substituting these into eqs. (36,2), we obtain for γ , λ and μ the equations

$$\lambda(\gamma^2 - A_3\gamma - A_1) = \mu(A_4\gamma + A_2), \qquad \lambda(B_3\gamma + B_1) = \mu(\gamma^2 - B_4\gamma - B_2),$$

and, by eliminating μ and λ , we obtain for γ a fourth degree equation with real coefficients

$$f(\gamma) = a_0 + a_1\gamma + a_2\gamma^2 + a_3\gamma^3 + a_4\gamma^4 = 0.$$

Let us assume the roots to be distinct complex numbers $\gamma_k = \alpha_k \pm i\beta_k$, k = 1, 2, so that the general solution of the system (36,2) will be

(36,3)
$$\begin{aligned} \xi &= e^{\alpha_1 t} (\lambda_1 \sin \beta_1 t + \lambda_2 \cos \beta_1 t) + e^{\alpha_2 t} (\lambda_3 \sin \beta_2 t + \lambda_4 \cos \beta_2 t), \\ \eta &= e^{\alpha_1 t} (\mu_1 \sin \beta_1 t + \mu_2 \cos \beta_1 t) + e^{\alpha_2 t} (\mu_3 \sin \beta_2 t + \mu_4 \cos \beta_2 t). \end{aligned}$$

The original solution $x = x_1(t)$, $y = y_1(t)$ is said to be stable if the disturbance functions $\xi(t)$, $\eta(t)$ approach zero as $t \to \infty$. According to eqs. (36,3), this occurs if $\alpha_1 < 0$ and $\alpha_2 < 0$. For stability it is therefore sufficient that all four roots of $f(\gamma) = 0$ have negative real parts. That is, it is sufficient that all four zeros of the characteristic polynomial f lie in the left half-plane.

A refinement is to compare the degrees of stability and of damping of two systems S_1 and S_2 having the characteristic polynomials f_1 and f_2 respectively. If all the zeros of f_1 lie in the half-plane $\Re(z) < \alpha_1$ and those of f_2 in the half-plane $\Re(z) < \alpha_2$, the system S_2 may be regarded as more stable than S_1 if $\alpha_2 < \alpha_1 < 0$. If all the zeros of f_1 lie in sector $|\arg(-z)| < \beta_1$ and those of f_2 in sector $|\arg(-z)| < \beta_2$, the system S_2 may be regarded as having better damping than S_1 if $0 \leq \beta_2 < \beta_1 < \pi/2$ [Cypkin-Bromberg 1, Grossman 1, Koenig 1, Bothwell 1, Fuller-Macmillan 1, Schmutz 1].

For a more detailed review of the problem of stability in relation to the distribution of the zeros of a polynomial, the reader is referred to Bateman [1].

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. In sec. 36 let z = x + iy, $\zeta = \xi + i\eta$, w = dz/dt, $\rho = d\zeta/dt$ and

$$Z(t, z, w) = X(t, x, y, u, v) + iY(t, x, y, u, v).$$

If Z is an analytic function of z and w in the neighborhood of $(z_0, 0, w_0)$, then eqs. (36,2) may be replaced by an equation of the form

$$(36,4) d\rho/dt = M\rho + N\zeta$$

where M and N are complex constants. The particle will have a stable motion

if both zeros of the polynomial $f(\gamma) = \gamma^2 - M\gamma - N$ lie in the left half-plane. 2. If all the zeros of a real polynomial $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} C(n, k) a_k z^{n-k}$ lie in half-plane $\Re(z) \leq -\rho < 0$, then $\rho^k \leq a_{m+k}/a_n$ for $m = 0, \overline{1}, \cdots, n-k$ [Zajac 1]. Hint: Express the a_j in terms of the elementary symmetric functions of the zeros of f. 37. Cauchy indices. We shall now proceed to the determination of the number of zeros of a polynomial in a given half-plane. For simplicity we shall start with the upper half-plane $\Im(z) > 0$.

Our method will consist in applying Th. (1,6) to the case that line L is the axis of reals and the direction for traversing L is from $z = -\infty$ to $z = +\infty$. Hence, if an *n*th degree polynomial f has no zeros on the real axis, the numbers p and q,

(37,1)
$$p = (1/2)[n + (1/\pi)\Delta_L \arg f(z)], \quad q = (1/2)[n - (1/\pi)\Delta_L \arg f(z)],$$

are the number of zeros which f has in the upper and lower half-planes respectively.

We shall find it convenient to throw f into the form

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$$

and write

(37,2)
$$a_k = a'_k + ia''_k, \qquad k = 0, 1, \cdots, n-1,$$

where a'_k and a''_k are real and not all a''_k are zero. Then on the x-axis

(37,3)
$$f(x) = P_0(x) + iP_1(x),$$

where

(37,4)
$$P_0(x) = a'_0 + a'_1 x + \dots + a'_{n-1} x^{n-1} + x^n, P_1(x) = a''_0 + a''_1 x + \dots + a''_{n-1} x^{n-1}.$$

Furthermore, on the x-axis, using the principal value of arc cot $\rho(x)$,

(37,5)
$$\arg f(x) = \operatorname{arc} \operatorname{cot} \rho(x), \quad \rho(x) = P_0(x)/P_1(x).$$

In order to calculate the net change in $\arg f(x)$, let us denote the real distinct zeros of $P_0(x)$ by x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{ν} ($\nu \leq n$) and let us assume that these are arranged in increasing order,

$$(37,6) x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_{\nu} .$$

Since $f(x) \neq 0$, no x_k is also a zero of $P_1(x)$. From the graph of arc cot ρ or otherwise, we may infer that, ϵ being a sufficiently small positive number, the change Δ_k arg f(z) in arg f(z) as z = x varies from $x_k + \epsilon$ to $x_{k+1} - \epsilon$, will according to eq. (37,5) have the values

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_k \arg f(z) &= -\pi & \text{if } \rho(x_k + \epsilon) > 0 \text{ and } \rho(x_{k+1} - \epsilon) < 0, \\ \Delta_k \arg f(z) &= +\pi & \text{if } \rho(x_k + \epsilon) < 0 \text{ and } \rho(x_{k+1} - \epsilon) > 0, \\ \Delta_k \arg f(z) &= 0 & \text{if } \rho(x_k + \epsilon)\rho(x_{k+1} - \epsilon) > 0. \end{aligned}$$

In brief, for $k = 1, 2, \cdots, \nu - 1$,

(37,7)
$$\Delta_k \arg f(z) = (\pi/2)[\operatorname{sg} \rho(x_{k+1} - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_k + \epsilon)].$$

We shall now compute the changes $\Delta_0 \arg f(z)$ and $\Delta_{\nu} \arg f(z)$, as z = x varies from $-\infty$ to x_1 and from x_{ν} to $+\infty$ respectively. Since x_1 and x_{ν} are the smallest

and largest zeros of $P_0(x)$,

sg $\rho(x_1 - \epsilon) = \operatorname{sg} \rho(-\infty)$, sg $\rho(x_y + \epsilon) = \operatorname{sg} \rho(+\infty)$,

provided $P_1(x) \neq 0$ for $x < x_1$ and $x > x_r$. In this case

(37,8)
$$\Delta_0 \arg f(z) = (\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_1 - \epsilon), \quad \Delta_v \arg f(z) = -(\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_v + \epsilon).$$

Let us suppose however that $P_1(y_k) = 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, \mu$ with $\mu \leq n - 1$ and

$$-\infty = y_0 < y_1 < y_2 < \cdots < y_{\alpha} < x_1 < y_{\alpha+1} < \cdots < y_{\beta} < x_{\nu} < y_{\beta+1} < \cdots < y_{\mu} < y_{\mu+1} = \infty.$$

Then there is no net change in $\arg f(z)$ as z = x varies from y_k to y_{k+1} for $0 \le k < \alpha$ or $\beta < k \le \mu$. Also

$$\operatorname{sg} \rho(x_1 - \epsilon) = \operatorname{sg} \rho(y_{\alpha} + \epsilon), \quad \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_{\nu} + \epsilon) = \operatorname{sg} \rho(y_{\beta+1} - \epsilon)$$

for sufficiently small positive ϵ . Hence, eq. (37,8) remains valid even if P_1 has zeros for $x < x_1$ or $x > x_{\nu}$.

From (37,7) and (37,8) we may compute the net change $\Delta_L \arg f(x)$ as x varies from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$. This net change is

$$\Delta_L \arg f(z) = \frac{\pi}{2} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{\nu-1} \left[\operatorname{sg} \rho(x_{k+1} - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_k + \epsilon) \right] + \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_1 - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_\nu + \epsilon) \right\}.$$

That is,

(37,9)
$$\Delta_L \arg f(z) = \pi \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \left[\frac{\operatorname{sg} \rho(x_k - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(x_k + \epsilon)}{2} \right].$$

Defined as the *Cauchy Index* of the function $\rho(x)$ at the point $x = x_k$ [Cauchy 2], the bracket in eq. (37,9) has the values -1, or +1 or 0 according as $\rho(x_k - \epsilon) < 0$ and $\rho(x_k + \epsilon) > 0$, $\rho(x_k - \epsilon) > 0$ and $\rho(x_k + \epsilon) < 0$ or $\rho(x_k - \epsilon)\rho(x_k + \epsilon) > 0$. If, therefore, σ is the number of x_k at which, as x increases from $-\infty$ to ∞ , $\rho(x)$ changes from - to + and τ the number of x_k at which $\rho(x)$ changes from + to -, then eq. (37,9) may be rewritten as

(37,10)
$$\Delta_L \arg f(z) = \pi(\tau - \sigma).$$

In view of eqs. (37,1) and (37,10) we may state the Cauchy Index Theorem essentially as presented in Hurwitz [2].

THEOREM (37,1). Let

(37,11)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n = P_0(z) + i P_1(z)$$

where $P_0(z)$ and $P_1(z)$ are real polynomials with $P_1(z) \neq 0$. As the point z = x moves on the real axis from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$, let σ be the number of real zeros of $P_0(z)$

at which $\rho(x) = P_0(x)/P_1(x)$ changes from -to +, and τ the number of real zeros of $P_0(z)$ at which $\rho(x)$ changes from +to -. If f(z) has no real zeros, p zeros in the upper half-plane and q zeros in the lower half-plane, then

(37,12) $p = (1/2)[n + (\tau - \sigma)], \quad q = (1/2)[n - (\tau - \sigma)].$

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

170

1. All the zeros of the f(z) of Th. (37,1) lie in the upper (lower) half-plane if $P_0(x)$ has *n* real zeros x_k and if, at each x_k , $\rho'(x_k) < 0$ (> 0).

2. Let $F(z) = A_0 + A_1 z + \cdots + A_{n-1} z^{n-1} + (-i)^n z^n$,

$$P_0(z) = a'_0 + a'_1 z + \cdots + a'_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n,$$

$$P_1(z) = a''_0 + a''_1 z + \cdots + a''_{n-1} z^{n-1},$$

where $a'_k = \Re(i^k A_k)$ and $a''_k = \Im(i^k A_k)$. Let σ be the number of real zeros of $P_0(y)$ at which the ratio $\rho(y) = P_0(y)/P_1(y)$ changes sign from - to + and τ the number of real zeros of $P_0(y)$ at which $\rho(y)$ changes sign from + to -, as y varies through real values from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$. If F(z) has p zeros in the left half-plane $\Re(z) < 0$ and q zeros in the right half-plane $\Re(z) > 0$ and if p + q = n, then p and q are given by eqs. (37,12). Hint: Apply Th. (37,1) to f(z) = F(iz).

3. If in Th. (37,1) $P_0(x)$ has *n* real zeros x_k and $P_1(x)$ has n-1 real zeros X_k with $x_1 < X_1 < x_2 < X_2 < \cdots < X_{n-1} < x_n$, then p = 0 and q = n if $(-1)^n P_1(x_1) < 0$, but p = n and q = 0 if $(-1)^n P_1(x_1) > 0$.

4. If p = q - n = 0 or p - n = q = 0, then for arbitrary real constants A and B the polynomial $AP_0(z) + BP_1(z)$ has n distinct real zeros [Hermite 2; Biehler 1; Laguerre 1, pp. 109 and 360; Hurwitz 2; Obrechkoff 6].

5. If $P_0(x)$ has *n* real zeros x_k with $x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n$ and if $P_1(x) > 0$ for $x_1 < x < x_n$, then p = m and q = m or q = m + 1 according as n = 2m or n = 2m + 1. If $P_1(x) < 0$ for $x_1 < x < x_n$, the values of p and q are interchanged.

6. If the f(z) of Th. (37,1) has exactly r real zeros $\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_r$ and if in computing σ and τ the sign changes of $\rho(x)$ at the points ξ_k be not included, then

$$p = (1/2)(n - r + \tau - \sigma)$$
 and $q = (1/2)(n - r - \tau + \sigma)$

7. If P(z) is an *n*th degree polynomial and $P^*(z) = \overline{P}(-z)$, then the (n-1)st degree polynomial

$$P_1(z) = [P^*(z_1)P(z) - P(z_1)P^*(z)]/(z_1 - z_1),$$

where $|P^*(z_1)| > |P(z_1)|$, has one less zero than P(z) at points z for which $\Re(z)\Re(z_1) > 0$ and has the same number of zeros as P(z) at points z for which $\Re(z)\Re(z_1) < 0$. Hint: Use Rouché's Theorem (Th. (1,3)) to show that P(z) and $P(z) + \lambda P^*(z)$ where $|\lambda| < 1$ have the same number of zeros in both halfplanes $\Re(z) > 0$ and $\Re(z) < 0$ [Schur 3; Benjaminowitsch 2; Frank 2].

8. Let $f(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (z - z_j) = z^m + a_1 z^{m-1} + \cdots + a_m$,

$$g(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} \prod_{k=j+1}^{m} (z - z_j - z_k) = z^n + b_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + b_n,$$

where n = m(m-1)/2. If all the a_j are real, all the zeros of f(z) lie in the halfplane $\Re(z) < 0$ if and only if $a_j > 0$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, m$ and $b_k > 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Routh 1, 2; Bateman 1].

9. In Th. (37,1), if all the real zeros x_k $(k = 1, 2, \dots, \nu)$ of $P_0(x)$ are distinct, then

$$p = (1/2) \left[n - \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \operatorname{sg} \rho'(x_k) \right], \quad q = (1/2) \left[n + \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} \operatorname{sg} \rho'(x_k) \right]$$

where $\rho'(x) = (d/dx)\rho(x)$. If $\nu = n$, then p = n or q = n according as $\rho'(x_k) < 0$ or $\rho'(x_k) > 0$ for all k.

10. In ex. (37,3), $P_0(x)$ and $P_1(x)$ have interlaced zeros if and only if (1) $G(x) = P_1(x)^2(d/dx)[P_0(x)/P_1(x)]$ has real zeros of only even multiplicity and (2) every zero of G(x) is an m_0 -fold zero of $P_0(x)$ and an m_1 -fold zero of $P_1(x)$ where $|m_0 - m_1| \leq 1$ [Horváth 1].

38. Sturm sequences. By Th. (37,1) we have reduced the problem of finding the number of zeros of f(z) in the upper and lower half-planes to the problem of calculating the difference $\tau - \sigma$. In the case of real polynomials this difference has been computed in Hurwitz [2] by use of the theory of residues and quadratic forms and in Routh [1] and [2] by use of Sturm sequences. We shall follow the latter method. (Cf. Serret [1].)

Let us construct the sequence of functions $P_0(x)$, $P_1(x)$, $P_2(x)$, \cdots , $P_{\mu}(x)$ by applying to $P_0(x)$ and $P_1(x)$ in (37,4) the division algorithm in which the remainder is written with a negative sign; viz.,

(38,1)
$$P_{k-1}(x) = Q_k(x)P_k(x) - P_{k+1}(x), \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, \mu - 1,$$

and in which $P_{k-1}(x)$, $P_k(x)$, $P_{k+1}(x)$ and $Q_k(x)$ are polynomials with

$$\deg Q_k(x) = \deg P_{k-1}(x) - \deg P_k(x) > 0 \qquad (\deg \equiv \text{degree of}).$$

The algorithm is continued until, for μ sufficiently large, $P_{\mu}(x) \equiv Cg(x)$ where C is a constant and g(x) is the greatest common divisor of $P_0(x)$ and $P_1(x)$. If g(x) is not a constant, its zeros are non-real since $f(x) \neq 0$ at points x of the real axis. In any case, therefore, for all real x

(38,2)
$$\operatorname{sg} P_{\mu}(x) = \operatorname{const.} \neq 0.$$

As x varies from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$, let us consider

(38,3)
$$\mathscr{V}\{P_k(x)\} \equiv \mathscr{V}\{P_0(x), P_1(x), \cdots, P_{\mu}(x)\},\$$

the number of variations of sign in the sequence $P_0(x)$, $P_1(x)$, \cdots , $P_{\mu}(x)$. This number cannot change except possibly at a zero ξ of some $P_k(x)$.

If $0 < k < \mu$, then $P_k(\xi) = 0$ implies according to eq. (38,1) that $P_{k-1}(\xi) = -P_{k+1}(\xi)$. This in turn implies that $P_{k-1}(\xi)P_{k+1}(\xi) < 0$, for otherwise $P_{k-1}(\xi) = P_{k+1}(\xi) = 0$ and consequently $P_j(\xi) = 0$ for all j > k including $j = \mu$, in contradiction to eq. (38,2). In brief, $P_k(\xi) = 0$ with $0 < k < \mu$ does not entail at $x = \xi$ any change in $\mathscr{V}\{P_k(x)\}$.

In the case that $P_0(\xi) = 0$, we have already indicated that for any sufficiently small positive number ϵ , sg $P_1(\xi) = \text{sg } P_1(\xi - \epsilon) = \text{sg } P_1(\xi + \epsilon) \neq 0$. If also $\operatorname{sg} P_0(\xi - \epsilon) = \operatorname{sg} P_0(\xi + \epsilon)$, no change in $\mathscr{V}\{P_k(x)\}$ occurs at $x = \xi$. If, however,

$$(38,4) \qquad P_0(\xi-\epsilon)P_1(\xi-\epsilon) > 0, \qquad P_0(\xi+\epsilon)P_1(\xi+\epsilon) < 0,$$

then $\mathscr{V}\{P_k(x)\}$ will increase by one at $x = \xi$; whereas, if

$$(38,5) P_0(\xi-\epsilon)P_1(\xi-\epsilon) < 0, P_0(\xi+\epsilon)P_1(\xi+\epsilon) > 0,$$

 $\mathscr{V}{P_{k}(x)}$ will decrease by one at $x = \xi$. But, as $P_{0}(x)P_{1}(x) = \rho(x)[P_{1}(x)]^{2}$,

(38,6)
$$\operatorname{sg} [P_0(x)P_1(x)] = \operatorname{sg} \rho(x)$$

in the neighborhood of any zero x_k of $P_0(x)$. In terms of the numbers σ and τ defined in Th. (37,1), ineqs. (38,4) are satisfied by τ zeros x_k of $P_0(x)$ and ineqs. (38,5) are satisfied by σ zeros x_k of $P_0(x)$. This means that

(38,7)
$$\tau - \sigma = \mathscr{V}\{P_k(+\infty)\} - \mathscr{V}\{P_k(-\infty)\}.$$

In view of this result, we may restate Th. (37,1), as

Тнеокем (38,1). Let

$$(38,8) f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n = P_0(z) + i P_1(z),$$

where $P_0(z)$ and $P_1(z)$ are real polynomials and $P_1(z) \neq 0$, be a polynomial which has no real zeros, p zeros in the upper half-plane and q zeros in the lower halfplane. Let $P_0(x)$, $P_1(x)$, \cdots , $P_u(x)$ be the Sturm sequence formed by applying to $P_0(x)/P_1(x)$ the negative-remainder, division algorithm. Then

(38,9)
$$p = (1/2)[n + \mathscr{V}\{P_k(+\infty)\} - \mathscr{V}\{P_k(-\infty)\}],$$

(38,10)
$$q = (1/2)[n - \mathscr{V}\{P_k(+\infty)\} + \mathscr{V}\{P_k(-\infty)\}].$$

(38,10)
$$q = (1/2)[n - \mathscr{V} \{P_k(+\infty)\} + \mathscr{V} \{P_k(-\infty)\}].$$

In order to compute the right sides of eqs. (38,9) and (38,10), let us write the term of highest degree in $P_k(x)$ as $b_k x^{m_k}$, $b_k \neq 0$, and that in $Q_k(x)$ as $c_k x^{n_k}$. Clearly, $b_0 = 1$, $b_1 = a''_{m_1}$; $m_0 = n$, $m_1 \leq n - 1$, $m_2 \leq n - 2$, $m_3 \leq n - 3$, $\cdots, m_{\mu} \leq n - \mu; n_1 = n - m_1; n_2 = m_1 - m_2, n_3 = m_2 - m_3, \cdots, n_{\mu} = m_1 - m_2$ $m_{\mu-1} - m_{\mu}$. By equating the coefficients of $x^{m_{k}}$ on both sides of eq. (38,1), we find that

(38,11)
$$c_k = b_{k-1}/b_k \neq 0.$$

Obviously, sg $P_k(+\infty) = \text{sg } b_k$ and sg $P_k(-\infty) = (-1)^{m_k} \text{sg } b_k$. In consequence,

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(+\infty)\} &= \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(-\infty)\} \\ &= \mathscr{V}\{1, b_{1}, \cdots, b_{\mu}\} - \mathscr{V}\{(-1)^{n}, (-1)^{m_{1}}b_{1}, \cdots, b_{\mu}\} \\ (38,12) &= \mathscr{V}\{1, c_{1}, c_{2}, c_{1}c_{2}c_{3}, \cdots, c_{1}c_{2}\cdots c_{\mu}\} \\ &- \mathscr{V}\{1, (-1)^{n-m_{1}}c_{1}, (-1)^{n-m_{2}}c_{1}c_{2}, \cdots, (-1)^{n-m_{\mu}}c_{1}c_{2}\cdots c_{\mu}\} \\ &= \mathscr{N}\{c_{1}, c_{2}, \cdots, c_{\mu}\} - \mathscr{N}\{(-1)^{n_{1}}c_{1}, (-1)^{n_{2}}c_{2}, \cdots, (-1)^{n_{\mu}}c_{\mu}\} \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{N}\{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_{\mu}\}$ denotes the number of negative λ_j in the set λ_1 , $\lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_{\mu}$.

Of special interest is the case that $\mu = n$ when each $n_k = 1$. In that case, eq. (38,12) becomes

$$\mathscr{V}\{P_k(+\infty)\} - \mathscr{V}\{P_k(-\infty)\} = \mathscr{N}(c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n) - \mathscr{P}(c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n)$$

where $\mathscr{P}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n)$ designates the number of positive λ_j in set $\{\lambda_j\}$. In this case,

 $\mathscr{N}(c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n) + \mathscr{P}(c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n) = n = p + q$

so that Th. (38,1) becomes

COROLLARY (38,1a). If in Th. (38,1) $\mu = n$ and if c_k denotes the coefficient of the linear term of the quotient $Q_k(x)$ in eq. (38,1), then

$$(38,13) p = \mathscr{N}\{c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n\} and q = \mathscr{P}(c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n).$$

A further simplification in the case $\mu = n$ results from the fact that $Q_k(x) = c_k x + d_k$ with $c_k \neq 0$. This permits us to write eq. (38,1) in the form

(38,14)
$$\frac{P_{k-1}(x)}{P_k(x)} = c_k x + d_k - \frac{P_{k+1}(x)}{P_k(x)}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n-1.$$

From eqs. (38,14) we may eliminate $P_2(x)$, $P_3(x)$, \cdots , $P_n(x)$ and put the answer in the continued fraction form



Conversely, if $P_1(x)/P_0(x)$ can be expanded in such a continued fraction, then $\mu = n$ in the negative-remainder, division algorithm. Writing the continued fraction (38,15) more compactly, we may reformulate Cor. (38,1a) as

COROLLARY (38,1b). If for the $P_0(x)$ and $P_1(x)$ of Th. (38,1) there exists the continued fraction expansion (38,15) abbreviated as

(38,16)
$$\frac{P_1(x)}{P_0(x)} = \frac{1}{(c_1x+d_1)} - \frac{1}{(c_2x+d_2)} - \frac{1}{(c_3x+d_3)} - \cdots - \frac{1}{(c_nx+d_n)}$$

where $c_j \neq 0$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$, then $p = \mathcal{N}(c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n)$ and $q = \mathcal{P}(c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n)$.

This result is due to Wall [1] in the case of real polynomials f(z) and to Frank [1] in the case of complex polynomials f(z).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. All the zeros of f(z) have positive imaginary parts if and only if $\mathscr{V}\{P_k(+\infty)\} - \mathscr{V}\{P_k(-\infty)\} = n$, or if and only if all $c_j < 0$ in eq. (38,15). (Cf. Wall [1] and Frank [1].)

2. If F(z), $P_0(z)$ and $P_1(z)$ are defined as in ex. (37,2), the number p of zeros of F(z) in the half-plane $\Re(z) < 0$ and the number q of zeros of F(z) in the half-plane $\Re(z) > 0$ are given by the eqs. (38,9), (38,10) and (38,13) and Cor. (38,1b).

3. If $F(z) = A_0 + A_1 z + \dots + A_{n-1} z^{n-1} + e^{-n\alpha i} z^n$, $P_0(z) = a'_0 + a'_1 z + \dots + a'_{n-1} z^{n-1} + z^n$ where $a'_k = \Re(e^{k\alpha i}A_k)$ and $P_1(z) = a''_0 + a''_1 z + \dots + a''_{n-1} z^{n-1}$ where $a''_k = \Im(e^{k\alpha i}A_k)$, and $F(z) \neq 0$ for arg $z = \alpha$ or $\alpha + \pi$, then the number p of zeros of F(z) in the sector $\alpha < \arg z < \alpha + \pi$ and the number q of zeros of F(z) in the sector $\alpha + \pi < \arg z < \alpha + 2\pi$, if p + q = n, are given by eqs. (38,9), (38,10) and (38,13) and Cor. (38,1b).

4. Let the f(z) of Th. (38,1) have exactly r real zeros ζ_1 , ζ_2 , \cdots , ζ_r , let $g(z) = (z - \zeta_1)(z - \zeta_2) \cdots (z - \zeta_r)$ and define $P_0(z) + iP_1(z) = f(z)/g(z)$. Then

$$p = (1/2)[n - r + \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(+\infty)\} - \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(-\infty)\}]$$

and

$$q = (1/2)[n - r - \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(+\infty)\} + \mathscr{V}\{P_{k}(-\infty)\}].$$

5. Let $f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k z^{n-k}$ be a real polynomial, $f^*(z) = (-1)^{n+1}f(-z)$, and $f_1(z) = f(z) - \lambda z \{f(z) + f^*(z)\}$, where $\lambda = a_0/(2a_1)$. Then deg $f_1 = n - 1$ and $\Delta_L \arg \{f_1(iy)/f(iy)\} = -\pi \operatorname{sg} \lambda$, where $L: \Re(z) = 0$. Hint: Write $f_1(z) = (1 - \lambda z)\{1 - \phi(z)\}$, where $\phi(z) = \{\lambda z/(1 - \lambda z)\}\{f^*(z)/f(z)\}$. Show $|\phi(iy)| < 1$ for all real y. [Brown 2.]

6. In the notation of ex. (38,5) define the polynomials $f_j(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} a_k^{(j)} z^{n-j-k}$ by the relations $f_{j+1}(z) = f_j(z) - \lambda_j z \{f_j(z) + f_j^*(z)\}, \ \lambda_j = a_0^{(j)}/(2a_1^{(j)}), \ j = 0, \ 1, \ \cdots, \ n-1$. Let p_j and q_j be the number of zeros of f_j in the right and left half-planes respectively. Then $p_0 - q_0 = \sum_{j=1}^n \operatorname{sg}(a_0^{(j)}a_0^{(j-1)})$. Hint: Use ex. (38,5) to show that

$$(q_{j+1} - p_{j+1}) - (q_j - p_j) = \operatorname{sg}(a_0^{(j)} a_0^{(j+1)}).$$

[Brown 2.]

39. Determinant sequences. Continuing the discussion of the case $\mu = n$ treated in Cor. (38,1a) and Cor. (38,1b), we observe that p and q have been expressed as functions of the c_j which in turn we shall now express as functions of the coefficients of f(z) (cf. [Routh 1, 2] and [Frank 1]).

Let us write

(39,1)
$$P_k(x) = b_{n-k,0} + b_{n-k,1}x + \dots + b_{n-k,n-k}x^{n-k}, \quad b_{n-k,n-k} \neq 0$$

with $b_{j,k} = 0$ if j < 0 or k < 0. Comparing (39,1) with eqs. (37,4), we see that

(39,2)
$$b_{n,n} = 1;$$
 $b_{n,j} = a'_j;$ $b_{n-1,j} = a''_j,$ $j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$

On substitution from eq. (39,1) into eq. (38,1) we obtain the relation

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-k+1} b_{n-k+1,j} x^{j} = (c_{k}x + d_{k}) \sum_{j=0}^{n-k} b_{n-k,j} x^{j} - \sum_{j=0}^{n-k-1} b_{n-k-1,j} x^{j}$$

Equating corresponding powers of x on both sides leads us to the following system of equations for the c_k .

(39,3)
$$b_{n-k+1,n-k+1} - c_k b_{n-k,n-k} = 0,$$

(39,4)
$$b_{n-k+1,n-k} - c_k b_{n-k,n-k-1} - d_k b_{n-k,n-k} = 0,$$

$$b_{n-k+1,j} - c_k b_{n-k,j-1} - d_k b_{n-k,j} + b_{n-k-1,j} = 0,$$

(39,5)

Let us define

(39,6)
$$B_{n-k,j+1} = b_{n-k+1,j+1} - c_k b_{n-k,j}$$

From (39,3), (39,4) and (39,5) it follows that

(39,7)
$$c_k = b_{n-k+1,n-k+1}/b_{n-k,n-k}$$
,

(39,8)
$$d_k = B_{n-k,n-k}/b_{n-k,n-k},$$

(39,9)
$$b_{n-k-1,j} = -B_{n-k,j} + d_k b_{n-k,j}$$

Let us define the matrix M_{2n-1} with 2n - 1 rows and columns as

[§39]

 $j=0,\,1,\,\cdots,\,n-k-1.$

We shall now show that by a succession of elementary row operations we may reduce M_{2n-1} to the matrix M'_{2n-1} defined as

$b_{n-1,n-1}$	$b_{n-1,n-2}$	$b_{n-1,n-3}$	$b_{n-1,n-4}$	• • •	$b_{n-1,0}$	0	0	•••	0]
0	$b_{n-1,n-1}$	$b_{n-1,n-2}$	$b_{n-1,n-3}$	•••	$b_{n-1,1}$	$b_{n-1,0}$	0	•••	0
0	0	$b_{n-2.n-2}$	$b_{n-2,n-3}$	•••	$b_{n-2,1}$	$b_{n-2.0}$	0	•••	0
0	0	0	$b_{n-2,n-2}$	•••	$b_{n-2,2}$	$b_{n-2,1}$	$b_{n-2,0}$	•••	0
0	0	0	0	•••	$b_{n-3,2}$	$b_{n-3,1}$	b _{n-3,0}	•••	0
•	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	• • •	•
•	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	•••	•
0	0	0	0	•••	•	•	•	•••	b _{0,0} _

Let us define the row matrices with 2n - 1 elements:

$$r_{j,k} = [0, 0, \dots, 0, b_{n-j, n-j}, b_{n-j, n-j-1}, \dots, b_{n-j, 0}, 0, 0, \dots, 0],$$

$$R_{j,k} = [0, 0, \dots, 0, B_{n-j, n-j}, B_{n-j, n-j-1}, \dots, B_{n-j, 0}, 0, 0, \dots, 0],$$

in which the first k-1 and last n-k+j-1 elements are zeros. Then from eqs. (39,6) to (39,9) it follows that

$$r_{j-1,k} - c_j r_{j,k} = R_{j,k+1}, \qquad d_j r_{j,k} - R_{j,k} = r_{j+1,k+1}.$$

We may then write

$$M_{2n-1} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{1,1} \\ r_{0,1} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{0,2} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ r_{1,n-1} \\ r_{0,n-1} \\ r_{1,n} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M'_{2n-1} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{1,1} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{2,3} \\ r_{2,4} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ r_{n-1,2n-3} \\ r_{n-1,2n-2} \\ r_{n,2n-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Starting with M_{2n-1} , let us construct the following sequences of matrices by applying the indicated row operations.

$$\begin{vmatrix} r_{1,1} \\ r_{0,1} \\ r_{0,1} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{0,2} \\ \vdots \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{1,3} \\ r_{1,n-1} \\ r_{1,2} \\ r_{1,3} \\ r_{$$

The latter matrix has the same first three rows as M'_{2n-1} and on omission of the first two rows and columns would have the same form as M_{2n-3} . It could therefore be reduced to M'_{2n-1} by repetition of the above row operations.

Let us denote by Δ_k the determinant formed from the first 2k - 1 elements of the first 2k - 1 rows and columns of matrix M_{2n-1} and let us denote by Δ'_k the corresponding determinant of matrix M'_{2n-1} . It is well known that the above operation on the rows of M_{2n-1} make $\Delta'_k = \Delta_k$. Thus

(39,10)
$$\Delta_1 = \Delta'_1 = b_{n-1,n-1}$$

(39,11)
$$\Delta_k = \Delta'_k = b_{n-1,n-1}^2 b_{n-2,n-2}^2 \cdots b_{n-k-1,n-k-1}^2 b_{n-k,n-k-1} b_{n-k-1} b_{n-$$

,

for $k = 2, 3, \dots, n$. Since $b_{j,j} \neq 0$ for $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$, it follows then that sg $b_{n-k,n-k} = \operatorname{sg} \Delta_k$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$.

Due to eq. (39,7) and due to the relation $b_{n,n} = 1$, we find that

(39,12)
$$\mathscr{N}[c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_n] = \mathscr{N}[1, b_{n-1,n-1}, b_{n-2,n-2}, \cdots, b_{0,0}],$$

and hence from eqs. (39,10) and (39,11) and Cor. (38,1a) that

$$(39,13) \qquad p = \mathscr{V}[1, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, \Delta_n], \qquad q = \mathscr{V}[1, -\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, (-1)^n \Delta_n].$$

As a summary of the preceding results, let us state

THEOREM (39,1). Let the coefficients of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1z + \cdots + a_{n-1}z^{n-1} + z^n$ be written in the form $a_k = a'_k + ia''_k$, where a'_k and a''_k are real. Assume $f(z) \neq 0$ for z real. Let Δ_k denote the determinant formed from the first 2k - 1 elements in the first 2k - 1 rows and columns of the matrix

a_{n-1}''	a''_{n-2}	a_{n-3}''	a_{n-4}''	•••	a ₀ "	0	0	•••	0
1	a'_{n-1}	a'_{n-2}	a'_{n-3}	•••	a'_1	a'_0	0	•••	0
0	a_{n-1}''	a_{n-2}''	a_{n-3}''	• • •	a_1''	a″	0	• • •	0
0	1	a'_{n-1}	a'_{n-2}	•••	a'_2	a'_1	a'_0	•••	0
	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	• • •	•
•	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	• • •	•
0	0	0	0	• • •	a''_{n-1}	a''_{n-2}	a_{n-3}''	•••	a"

Then if $\Delta_k \neq 0$ for $k = 1, 2, 3, \dots, n$, the number p of zeros of f(z) in the upper half-plane is equal to the number of variations of sign in the sequence $1, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, \dots, \Delta_n$, whereas the number q of zeros of f(z) in the lower half-plane is equal to the number of permanences of sign in this sequence.

For the practical purpose of finding the numbers p and q for a given polynomial, the computation of the determinants Δ_k may prove to be quite laborious. Particularly when the computation is to be done by machine, the use of the method leading to the proof may be preferable to the use of the theorem. That is to say, it may be more convenient in such a case to reduce the given matrix M_{2n-1} to the canonical form M'_{2n-1} by successive steps each of which (especially when the a_i are real) can be readily performed on a computing machine. The $b_{k,k}$ needed in eq. (39,12) are the elements in the main diagonal of matrix M'_{2n-1} .

EXERCISE. Prove the following.

1. Let D_k denote the determinant formed from the first 2k elements in the first 2k rows and columns of the square matrix $(2n \times 2n)$

1	a_{n-1}	a_{n-2}	a_{n-3}	•••	<i>a</i> ₀	0	0	• • •	0	
1	\bar{a}_{n-1}	\bar{a}_{n-2}	\bar{a}_{n-3}	• • •	\bar{a}_0	0	0	• • •	0	
0	1	a_{n-1}	a_{n-2}	•••	<i>a</i> ₁	a_0	0	•••	0	
0	1	\bar{a}_{n-1}	\bar{a}_{n-2}	• • •	\bar{a}_1	\bar{a}_0	0	• • •	0	
0	0	1	a_{n-1}	•••	a_2	<i>a</i> ₁	a_0	• • •	0	
0	0	1	\bar{a}_{n-1}	•••	\bar{a}_2	\bar{a}_1	\bar{a}_0	• • •	0	
•	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	•••	•	
0	0	0	0	• • •	\bar{a}_{n-1}	\bar{a}_{n-2}	\bar{a}_{n-3}	• • •	ā0	

Then the Δ_k of Th. (39,1) may be written as $\Delta_k = (i/2)^k D_k$.

40. The number of zeros with negative real parts. We now return to the problem which, as we indicated in sec. 36, is of importance in the study of dynamic stability. Given the polynomial

$$F(z) = z^{n} + (A_{1} + iB_{1})z^{n-1} + \dots + (A_{n} + iB_{n})$$

where the A_j and B_j are real numbers, we wish to find the number p of its zeros in the half-plane $\Re(z) > 0$ and the number q of its zeros in the half-plane $\Re(z) < 0$. In particular, we wish to find the conditions for q to be n.

Let us form the polynomial

$$f(z) = i^{n}F(-iz) = a_{0} + a_{1}z + \cdots + a_{n-1}z^{n-1} + z^{n}$$

where $a_k = a'_k + ia''_k = i^{n-k}(A_{n-k} + iB_{n-k})$. Thus for $m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$,

$$a'_{n-4m} = A_{4m}$$
, $a'_{n-4m-1} = -B_{4m+1}$, $a'_{n-4m-2} = -A_{4m+2}$, $a'_{n-4m-3} = B_{4m+3}$;

 $a''_{n-4m} = B_{4m}$, $a''_{n-4m-1} = A_{4m+1}$, $a''_{n-4m-2} = -B_{4m+2}$, $a''_{n-4m-3} = -A_{4m+3}$. If we further define

$$A_j = B_j = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad j > n,$$

we may write the determinant Δ_k of Th. (39,1) as

By shifting certain rows and columns and changing the signs of certain rows and columns, we may change (40,1) to the form given in Th. (40,1) below.

Since the substitution -iz for z corresponds to a rotation of the plane by an angle $\pi/2$ about z = 0, f(z) has p zeros in the upper half-plane and q zeros in the lower half-plane. According to Th. (39,1), F(z) has therefore as many zeros in the half-planes $\Re(z) > 0$ and $\Re(z) < 0$ as there are variations and permanences respectively in the sequences of the determinants (40,1).

Thus, we have proved

THEOREM (40,1). Given the polynomial having no pure imaginary zeros

$$F(z) = z^{n} + (A_{1} + iB_{1})z^{n-1} + \dots + (A_{n} + iB_{n}) \qquad (A_{j}, B_{j} real),$$

let us form the determinants $\Delta_1 = A_1$ and

	A_1 ,	A_3 ,	A_5 ,	•••,	$A_{2k-1},$	$-B_2$,	$-B_4$,	•••,	$-B_{2k-2}$
	1,	A_2 ,	A_4 ,	···,	A_{2k-2} ,	$-B_1$,	$-B_3$,	•••,	$-B_{2k-3}$
	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•••	•
	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•••	•
Λ	0,	0,	0,	••••,	A_k ,	0,	0,	···,	$-B_{k-1}$
-k	0,	B_2 ,	B_4 ,	•••,	B_{2k-2} ,	<i>A</i> ₁ ,	A_3 ,	···,	A _{2k-3}
	0,	B_1 ,	B_3 ,	•••,	B_{2k-3} ,	1,	A_2 ,	···,	A _{2k-4}
	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•••	•
	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•••	•
	0,	0,	0,	•••,	B_k ,	0,	0,	•••,	A_{k-1}

for $k = 2, 3, \dots, n$, with $A_j = B_j = 0$ for j > n. Let us denote by p and q the number of zeros of F(z) in the half-planes $\Re(z) > 0$ and $\Re(z) < 0$ respectively. If $\Delta_k \neq 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, then

$$p = \mathscr{V}(1, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, \Delta_n),$$

and

$$q = \mathscr{V}(1, -\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, (-1)^n \Delta_n).$$

In the case $\Delta_k > 0$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, this theorem is stated explicitly in Frank [1] and in Bilharz [3], the latter with the Δ_k in the form (40,1).

Of special interest is the case that F(z) is a real polynomial. In that case, $B_j = 0$ for all j; $\Delta_1 = \delta_1$ and $\Delta_k = \delta_k \delta_{k-1}$, where δ_k is the determinant defined in Th. (40,2) below.

Since sg $\Delta_1 \Delta_2 = \text{sg } \delta_2$ and sg $\Delta_k \Delta_{k+1} = \text{sg } (\delta_{k-1} \delta_{k+1})$ for $k = 2, 3, \dots, n-1$, we may state the following theorem.

THEOREM (40,2). Given the real polynomial

$$F(z) = z^n + A_1 z^{n-1} + \cdots + A_n,$$

let us form the determinants $\delta_1 = A_1$ and

$$\delta_{k} = \begin{vmatrix} A_{1}, & A_{3}, & A_{5}, & \cdots, & A_{2k-1} \\ 1, & A_{2}, & A_{4}, & \cdots, & A_{2k-2} \\ 0, & A_{1}, & A_{3}, & \cdots, & A_{2k-3} \\ 0, & 1, & A_{2}, & \cdots, & A_{2k-4} \\ \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdots & \cdot \\ 0, & 0, & 0, & \cdots, & A_{k} \end{vmatrix}$$

for $k = 2, 3, \dots, n$, with $A_j = 0$ for j > n. Let us denote by p and q the number of zeros of F(z) in the half-planes $\Re(z) > 0$ and $\Re(z) < 0$ respectively, where

p + q = n. Furthermore, let us define r = 0 or 1 according as n is even or odd and let us set

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_{2k-1} &= (-1)^k \delta_{2k-1} ;\\ \epsilon_{2k} &= (-1)^k \delta_{2k} . \end{aligned}$$

If $\delta_k \neq 0$ for $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$, then

$$p = \mathscr{V}(1, \,\delta_1, \,\delta_3, \cdots, \,\delta_{n-1+r}) + \mathscr{V}(1, \,\delta_2, \,\delta_4, \cdots, \,\delta_{n-r}),$$

$$q = \mathscr{V}(1, \,\epsilon_1, \,\epsilon_3, \cdots, \,\epsilon_{n-1+r}) + \mathscr{V}(1, \,\epsilon_2, \,\epsilon_4, \cdots, \,\epsilon_{n-r}).$$

In particular, if $\delta_k > 0$ for all k, then p = 0 and q = n. This leads us to the well-known result due to Hurwitz [2] which we state as the

HURWITZ CRITERION (Cor. (40,2)). If all the determinants δ_k defined in Th. (40,2) are positive, the polynomial F(z) has only zeros with negative real parts.

Real polynomials whose zeros all lie in the left half-plane are called *Hurwitz* polynomials. The class of all such polynomials will be denoted by \mathcal{H} .

If $f \in \mathcal{H}$, all the coefficients a_i of f may be taken as positive, since we may write

$$f(z) = a_0 \prod (z + \gamma_j) \prod [(z + \alpha_j)^2 + \beta_j^2] = a_0 z^n + a_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$$

where $a_0 > 0$, $\gamma_j > 0$, $\alpha_j > 0$. The converse is not necessarily true as is shown by the example

$$x^{3} + x^{2} + 4x + 30 = (x + 3)[(x - 1)^{2} + 9].$$

Nevertheless, if we know that all $a_i > 0$, we need to calculate only half the number of the determinants δ_k if we use the following result due to Liénard-Chipart [1].

THEOREM (40,3). In Th. (40,2), $F \in \mathcal{H}$ if and only if the following three conditions are satisfied:

(1) $A_n > 0;$

(2) either $A_{n-2j} > 0, j = 1, 2, \cdots, [n/2]$ or $A_{n-2j+1} > 0, j = 1, 2, \cdots, [(n+1)/2];$ (3) either $\delta_{2j} > 0, j = 1, 2, \cdots, [n/2]$ or $\delta_{2j-1} > 0, j = 1, 2, \cdots, [(n+1)/2].$

In this statement [k/2] denotes the largest integer not exceeding k/2. This theorem is an immediate consequence of the following.

THEOREM (40,4). In Th. (40,2), let us write

$$F(z) = G(z^2) + zH(z^2)$$

where

$$G(u) = A_n + A_{n-2}u + A_{n-4}u^2 + \cdots$$

$$H(u) = A_{n-1} + A_{n-3}u + A_{n-5}u^2 + \cdots$$

Let also assume $\delta_n \neq 0$ and set

$$\mathscr{V}_0 = \mathscr{V}(1, \, \delta_1, \, \delta_3, \, \delta_5, \, \cdots), \qquad \mathscr{V}_e = \mathscr{V}(1, \, \delta_2, \, \delta_4, \, \delta_6, \, \cdots).$$

[§40]

Then, if $G(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0,

(40,2)
$$p = 2\mathscr{V}_0$$
 for $n = 2m$,
(40,3) $p = 2\mathscr{V}_0 - (1/2)[1 - \operatorname{sg} A_1]$ for $n = 2m - 1$,

whereas, if $H(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0,

(40,4)
$$p = 2\mathscr{V}_0 + (1/2)[\operatorname{sg} A_1 - \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}A_n)]$$
 for $n = 2m$,

(40,5)
$$p = 2\mathscr{V}_0 - (1/2)[1 - \operatorname{sg}(A_{n-1}A_n)]$$
 for $n = 2m - 1$.

REMARK. Corresponding results involving \mathscr{V}_e instead of \mathscr{V}_0 may be obtained by use of the relation $\mathscr{V}_0 = p - \mathscr{V}_e$ given in the Th. (40,2).

PROOF. Let us show that we can determine p by finding the number p_1 of zeros that a certain polynomial of degree m has in the right half-plane.

We begin with the cases n = 2m when

$$G(u) = u^m + A_2 u^{m-1} + A_4 u^{m-2} + \cdots + A_n,$$

$$H(u) = A_1 u^{m-1} + A_3 u^{m-2} + \cdots + A_{n-1}.$$

Let us set

$$f(z) = i^n F(-iz) = (-1)^m [G(-z^2) - iz H(-z^2)].$$

Thus in (37,3) and (37,5)

(40,6)
$$P_0(x) = (-1)^m G(-x^2), \qquad P_1(x) = (-1)^{m+1} x H(-x^2),$$
$$\rho(x) = -G(-x^2) / [x H(-x^2)].$$

Now from (40,6) it follows that

(40,7) sg
$$\rho(x) = \mp$$
 sg $[G(-x^2)/H(-x^2)]$ according as sg $x = \pm 1$.

Case I. $G(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0 and n = 2m. We may write

(40,8)
$$G(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{\mu} (u + u_k) G_0(u),$$

where $0 < u_1 < u_2 < \cdots < u_{\mu}$ and $G_0(u) \neq 0$ for real u. Hence

$$P_0(x) = (-1)^m \prod_{k=1}^{\mu} (-x^2 + u_k) G_0(-x^2).$$

In the notation of (37,6)

$$x_k = -u_{\mu-k}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, \mu; \quad x_k = u_{k-\mu}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad k = \mu + 1, \mu + 2, \cdots, 2\mu.$$

Thus (37,9) becomes

(40,9)
$$\Delta_L \arg f(z) = (\pi/2)(S_1 + S_2)$$

where

$$S_{1} = \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} [\operatorname{sg} \rho(-u_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}} - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(-u_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \epsilon)],$$
$$S_{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} [\operatorname{sg} \rho(u_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}} - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(u_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \epsilon)].$$

Let us set

(40,10) $\omega(u) = G(u)/H(u).$

Then from (40,6) and (40,7)

$$sg \ \rho[\pm (u_k^{\frac{1}{2}} + \epsilon)] = \mp sg \ \omega(-u_k - \eta),$$

$$sg \ \rho[\pm (u_k^{\frac{1}{2}} - \epsilon)] = \mp sg \ \omega(-u_k + \eta),$$

where

(40,11)
$$0 < \eta = 2\epsilon u_1 - \epsilon^2 \leq 2\epsilon u_k \pm \epsilon^2 \quad \text{for } 0 < \epsilon < 2u_1.$$

Hence,

$$S_1 = S_2 = \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} [\operatorname{sg} \omega(-u_k - \eta) - \operatorname{sg} \omega(-u_k + \eta)].$$

Comparing (40,10) with (37,5), we conclude that

$$\Delta_L \arg \phi(z) = (\pi/2)S_1$$

where

(40,12)
$$\phi(z) = G(z) + iH(z)$$

and thus from (37,9), (37,10) and (37,12) [applied to f and then to ϕ] and (40,9) we conclude that

(40,13)
$$p = (1/2)[2m + (2/\pi) \Delta_L \arg \phi(z)] = 2p_1$$

where p_1 is the number of zeros of $\phi(z)$ in the upper half-plane.

To determine p_1 , we rotate the plane about the origin $\pi/2$ radians clockwise, setting

$$\Phi(z) = (-i)^m \phi(iz) = (-i)^m [G(iz) + iH(iz)].$$

Since

$$(-i)^m G(iz) = z^m - iA_2 z^{m-1} - A_4 z^{m-2} + iA_6 z^{m-3} + A_8 z^{m-4} + \cdots,$$

$$(-i)^{m-1} H(iz) = A_1 z^{m-1} - iA_3 z^{m-2} - A_5 z^{m-3} + iA_7 z^{m-4} + \cdots,$$

we infer that

(40,14)
$$\Phi(z) = z^m + \sum_{k=1}^m (\alpha_k + i\beta_k) z^{m-k}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{2k-1} + i\beta_{2k-1} &= (-1)^{k-1}A_{4k-3} + i(-1)^k A_{4k-2}, \\ \alpha_{2k} + i\beta_{2k} &= (-1)^k A_{4k} + i(-1)^k A_{4k-1} \end{aligned}$$

[§40]

for $k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. On substituting these values of α_k and β_k for the A_k and B_k respectively in (40,1), we find

$$\Delta_{k} = \begin{vmatrix} A_{1} & A_{3} & A_{5} & \cdots & A_{4k-3} \\ 1 & A_{2} & A_{4} & \cdots & A_{4k-4} \\ 0 & A_{1} & A_{3} & \cdots & A_{4k-5} \\ 0 & 1 & A_{2} & \cdots & A_{4k-6} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & A_{2k-1} \end{vmatrix} = \delta_{2k-1}.$$

By Th. (40,1). $p_1 = \mathscr{V}_0$ and thus (40,2) follows.

Case II. $H(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0 and n = 2m.

Since G may now have positive zeros v_k , we modify (40,8) by writing

$$G_0(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{v} (u - v_k) G_1(u)$$

where $0 < v_1 < v_2 < \cdots < v_v$ and $G_1(u) \neq 0$ for real u. Since $H(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0,

$$\operatorname{sg}\,\omega(v_k+\epsilon)=\operatorname{sg}\,\omega(v_{k+1}-\epsilon)$$

for sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$. Hence,

$$S_3 = \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} [\operatorname{sg} \omega(v_k - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \omega(v_k + \epsilon)]$$

= sg $\omega(v_1 - \epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \omega(v_\nu + \epsilon)$
= sg $\omega(+0) - \operatorname{sg} \omega(\infty)$
= sg $(A_n/A_{n-1}) - \operatorname{sg} A_1$.

However, since

$$G_0(-x^2) = \prod_{k=1}^{\nu} (-x^2 - v_k) G_1(-x^2) \neq 0$$

for real x, there are no additional terms in (37,9) corresponding to S_3 . Accordingly, we must modify (40,13) to read

$$p = (1/2) \{ 2m + (2/\pi) [\Delta_L \arg \phi(z)] - S_3 \}$$

= 2p_1 + (1/2) [sg A_1 - sg (A_{n-1}A_n)],

as in (40,4).

We next consider the cases n = 2m - 1, where

$$f(z) = i^{n}F(-iz) = (-1)^{m-1} \left[zH(-z^{2}) + iG(-z^{2}) \right]$$

so that

$$H(u) = u^{m-1} + A_2 u^{m-2} + A_4 u^{m-3} + \dots + A_{n-1},$$

$$G(u) = A_1 u^{m-1} + A_3 u^{m-2} + A_5 u^{m-3} + \dots + A_n,$$

$$P_0(x) = (-1)^{m-1} x H(-x^2), \qquad P_1(x) = (-1)^{m-1} G(-x^2),$$

$$\rho(x) = x H(-x^2)/G(-x^2),$$

$$g \rho(x) = \pm \text{ sg } [H(-x^2)/G(-x^2)] \quad \text{according as sg } x = \pm 1.$$

(40,15)

184

Case III. $H(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0 and n = 2m - 1. Let us write

(40,16)
$$H(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{\mu} (u + u_k) H_0(u)$$

with $0 < u_1 < u_2 < \cdots < u_{\mu}$ and $H_0(u) \neq 0$ for u real. Then, as $P_0(x)$ has a zero at x = 0, we must modify (40,9) to read

(40,17)
$$(2/\pi) \Delta_L \arg f(x) = \operatorname{sg} \rho(-\epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(+\epsilon) + S_1 + S_2.$$

Let us set

(40,18)
$$\sigma(u) = uH(u)/G(u).$$

Then, defining η as in (40,11), we find from (40,15) that

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{sg} \rho[\pm (u_k^{\frac{1}{5}} \pm \epsilon)] = \pm \operatorname{sg} \left[H(-u_k - \eta)/G(-u_k - \eta)\right] = \mp \operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k - \eta), \\ & \operatorname{sg} \rho[\mp (u_k^{\frac{1}{5}} \pm \epsilon)] = \mp \operatorname{sg} \left[H(-u_k + \eta)/G(-u_k + \eta)\right] = \pm \operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k + \eta), \\ & S_1 = \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} [+\operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k - \eta) - \operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k + \eta)], \\ & S_2 = \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} [-\operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k + \eta) + \operatorname{sg} \sigma(-u_k - \eta)] = S_1, \\ & \operatorname{sg} \rho(-\epsilon) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(+\epsilon) = -2 \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}/A_n) = + \operatorname{sg} \sigma(-\eta) - \operatorname{sg} \sigma(\eta). \end{split}$$

Hence, for $\psi(z) = zH(z) + iG(z)$,

(40,19)
$$(2/\pi) \Delta_L \arg \psi(x) = S_1 - 2 \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}/A_n).$$

From (37,9), (37,12), (40,17) and (40,19) we now deduce:

$$p = (1/2)[2m - 1 - \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}A_n) + S_1]$$

= (1/2)[2m - 1 + sg (A_{n-1}A_n) + (2/\pi) \Delta_L \operatorname{arg} \psi(x)]
= 2p_1 - (1/2)[1 - sg (A_{n-1}A_n)].

Finally, since $\psi(u)$ is identical with $\phi(u)$, we again find that $p_1 = \mathscr{V}_0$ and so we have established (40,5).

Case IV. $G(u) \neq 0$ for u > 0 and n = 2m - 1.

Since H may now have positive zeros v_k , we modify (40,16) by writing

$$H_0(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{r} (u - v_k) H_1(u)$$

where $0 < v_1 < v_2 < \cdots < v_v$ and $H_1(u) \neq 0$ for real u. As in Case II, we calculate

$$S_3 = \sum_{k=1}^{n} [\operatorname{sg} \sigma(v_k - \eta) - \operatorname{sg} \sigma(v_k + \eta)]$$

= sg $\sigma(+0) - \operatorname{sg} \sigma(\infty) = + \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}/A_n) - \operatorname{sg} A_1$

which added to (40,19) leads to the formula

$$(2/\pi) \Delta_L \arg \psi(x) = S_1 - \operatorname{sg} (A_{n-1}/A_n) - \operatorname{sg} A_1.$$

Since $\Delta_L \arg f(x)$ is the same as in (40,17), we find that

$$p = (1/2)[2m - 1 + (2/\pi) \Delta_L \arg \psi(x) + \operatorname{sg} A_1]$$

= $p_1 - (1/2)[1 - \operatorname{sg} A_1].$

This establishes (40,3) and completes the proof of Th. (40,4).

Clearly, the Hurwitz Criterion, Cor. (40,2), is an immediate consequence of Th. (40,3). For other proofs of Cor. (40,2) we refer the reader to Bompiani [1], Orlando [1] and [2], Fujiwara [1] and [4], Schur [3], Vahlen [1], Obrechkoff [6] and [12], Wall [1], Neimark [1], Gantmacher [1], Bueckner [1], and Talbot [1].

Regarding the practical computation of the δ_k , the reader is referred to the remarks following Th. (39,1). In the cases that some of the δ_k are zero, a useful formula is the following due to Orlando [1]:

(40,20)
$$\delta_n = (-1)^{n(n+1)/2} z_1 z_2 \cdots z_n \prod_{k=2}^n \prod_{j=1}^{k-1} (z_j + z_k) = A_n \, \delta_{n-1}$$

where z_j are the zeros of F(z). Eq. (40,20) may be established by a mathematical induction on *n*. By (40,20) the condition $\delta_{n-1} = \delta_n = 0$ implies that either $z_j = 0$ for some *j* or $z_j = -z_k$ for some *j* and *k*, and conversely. If, however, $\delta_n \neq 0$, we refer to the result given in Gantmacher [1, p. 239] to the effect that, if $\delta_m \neq 0$, $\delta_{m+1} = \delta_{m+2} = \cdots = \delta_{m+2h-1} = 0$, $\delta_{m+2h} \neq 0$, $m < m + 2h \leq n$, then in the expression $p = \mathscr{V}[1, \delta_1, \delta_2/\delta_1, \cdots, \delta_n/\delta_{n-1}]$

we take

$$\mathscr{V}[\delta_m/\delta_{m-1}, \delta_{m+1}/\delta_m, \cdots, \delta_{m+2h+1}/\delta_{m+2h}] = h + (1/2)\{1 - (-1)^h \text{ sg } [(\delta_m/\delta_{m-1})(\delta_{m+2h+1}/\delta_{m+2h})].$$

We refer also to the discussion in sec. 44.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Th. (40,2) is valid for the number of zeros of the real polynomial

 $\phi(z) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 z + \cdots + \alpha_n z^n, \qquad \alpha_0 > 0,$

in the half-planes $\Re(z) > 0$ and $\Re(z) < 0$, when the δ_k are replaced by the determinants

$$\delta'_{k} = \begin{vmatrix} \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{3} & \alpha_{5} & \alpha_{7} & \cdots & \alpha_{2k-1} \\ \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{4} & \alpha_{6} & \cdots & \alpha_{2k-2} \\ 0 & \alpha_{1} & \alpha_{3} & \alpha_{5} & \cdots & \alpha_{2k-3} \\ 0 & \alpha_{0} & \alpha_{2} & \alpha_{4} & \cdots & \alpha_{2k-4} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \alpha_{k} \end{vmatrix}.$$

Hint: Apply Th. (40,2) to $F(z) = (z^n/\alpha_0)\phi(1/z)$.

2. Let $f(z) = a_0 z^n + \cdots$, $a_0 > 0$ and $g(z) = b_0 z^n + \cdots$, $b_0 > 0$ be real polynomials. Let $h(z) = f(z) + \lambda g(z)$. If $f \in \mathcal{H}$, then

$$d = \sup \{ |\lambda| ; \lambda \text{ real}, h \in \mathcal{H} \}$$

has the value $d = \min [b_0^{-1}a_0, \beta_k^{-1}\gamma_k], k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, where γ_k^{-1} is the sum of the absolute values of the elements in the inverse of the matrix with determinant δ_k [see Th. (40,2)] and β_k is the max $|b_j|$ over all b_j occurring in the determinant form δ_k computed for g(z) [Parodi 2b].

3. If in Th. (40,1) \vec{F} has a pure imaginary zero, then $\Delta_n = 0$. If in Cor. (40,2) F has a pair of conjugate imaginary zeros, $\delta_{n-1} = 0$. Hint: Show that Δ_n in Th. (39,1) is the discriminant of the polynomials (37,4).

4. The real parts of the zeros of F(z) in Th. (40,2) are the zeros of $D_{n-1}(\alpha)$, the determinant δ_{n-1} corresponding to the polynomial $F(z - \alpha)$ [Koenig 1]. Hint: Use ex. (40,3).

5. In the cases n = 4 and 5, the hypotheses of Th. (40,3) imply those of Cor. (40,2) [Fuller 1]. Hint: For n = 4 show that $A_3\delta_2 = \delta_3 + A_1^2$ and for n = 5 that $A_3\delta_3\delta_2 = A_1^2\delta_4 + \delta_3^2 + A_1A_5\delta_2^2$.

6. If the division algorithm (38,1) is applied to the F of Th. (40,2), then the corresponding $P_k(z)$ has the form

(40,21)
$$P_{k+1}(z) = S_{k-1}(z)P_0(z) + T_k(z)P_1(z)$$

involving the real polynomials

$$S_{k-1}(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_{kj} z^{k-j}, \qquad T_k(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \beta_{kj} z^{k-j}.$$

If the coefficients of z^{ν} on both sides of (40,21) are equated for $\nu = n + k - 1$, n + k - 2, \cdots , n - k - 1, the resulting system of 2k + 1 equations in the 2k + 1 unknowns α_{kj} and β_{kj} has δ_k as its determinant [Talbot 1].

7. If the polynomials

$$g(z) = (z - a_1)(z - a_2) \cdots (z - a_n), \quad h(z) = (z - b_1)(z - b_2) \cdots (z - b_n)$$

have real zeros with $a_1 < b_1 < \cdots < a_n < b_n$, then the polynomial $f(z) = g(z) + (\lambda + i\mu)h(z)$, $\mu \neq 0$, has all its zeros in the upper (lower) half-plane if $\mu > 0$ ($\mu < 0$) and λ is real [Han-Kuipers 2].

8. If P and Q are real polynomials and if f(z) = P(z) + iQ(z) has p zeros in the upper and q in the lower half-plane with $p \ge q$, then $F(z) = P(z) + \lambda Q(z)$ has also p zeros in the upper half-plane if $\Im(\lambda) > 0$ and at least p - q real distinct zeros if $\Im(\lambda) = 0$ [Montel 7]. Hint: Allow λ to vary continuously from $\lambda = i$ to λ real. A zero of F can leave the upper half-plane only by first crossing the real axis—an impossibility.

9. The zeros of $F(z) = \det (a_{jk} + z\delta_{jk})$, where $\delta_{jj} = 1$ and $\delta_{jk} = 0$ for $j \neq k$, all lie in the left half-plane if $\Re(a_{kk}) > 0$ and $|a_{kk}| > \sum_{j \neq k} |a_{jk}|$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Parodi 1]. Hint: Apply Th. (31,1).

10. Let
$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} a_k z^k$$
, $g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k z^k$ $(a_k, b_k \text{ real })$,
 $\psi(z) = \lambda f(z) + (1 - \lambda)g(z)$, λ real

[§40]

If deg $\psi = m = n$ for $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$ and if $\psi(iy) \neq 0$ for all real y, then f has the same number of zeros as g for $\Re(z) > 0$ ($\Re(z) < 0$). Hint: The zeros of ψ are continuous functions of λ .

11. For f as in ex. (40,10) let $F(z) = a_0 + a_m z^m$. If $f(iy)F(iy) \neq 0$ for all real y and if $c[f(iy) + f(-iy)] \ge 0$ for all positive y and for some constant c of modulus one, then f has the same number of zeros as F for $\Re(z) > 0$ ($\Re(z) < 0$) [Bueckner 1]. Hint: Apply ex. (40,10) with $g(z) \equiv F(z)$ and show $|\psi(iy)| \ge$ $|\Re[\psi(iy)]| > 0$ for positive y.

12. For f and g of ex. (40,10) with m = n - 1, form

$$\phi(z) = f(-z)g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{2n-1} c_k z^k, \quad \Phi(z) = c_0 + c_{2n-1} z^{2n-1}.$$

If $\phi(iy)\Phi(iy) \neq 0$ for all real y and if ϕ has the same number of zeros as Φ both for $\Re(z) > 0$ and for $\Re(z) < 0$, then $g \in \mathscr{H}$ implies $f \in \mathscr{H}$. Conversely, all $b_k > 0$ and $f \in \mathcal{H}$ implies $g \in \mathcal{H}$ [Bueckner 1]. Hint: The zeros of Φ are the vertices of a regular polygon centered at z = 0 so that their numbers in the right and left half-planes differ at most by one.

13. The conditions on g and f in ex. (40,12) are satisfied by the following two polynomial pairs:

(a)
$$F(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} A_{n-k} z^k, \quad G(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} B_{n-1-k} z^k,$$

where

188

$$A_{0} = 1, A_{n-1} > 0, A_{n} > 0 \text{ and } A_{j} = 0 \text{ for } j < 0 \text{ or } j > n,$$

$$B_{k} = A_{k} \text{ for } k = n - 1, n - 3, n - 5, \cdots,$$

$$B_{k} = A_{n-1}A_{k} - A_{n}A_{k-1} \text{ for } k = n - 2, n - 4, \cdots;$$

(b) any g such that g(z) and g(-z) have no common zeros and the f with deg $f \leq n-1$ such that f(z)g(-z) + f(-z)g(z) = 2 for all z [Bueckner 1]. 14. If $f \in \mathcal{H}$ and f(0) = 1, then f has the form

$$f(z) = \begin{vmatrix} 1 + c_1 z & -1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & c_2 z & -1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & c_3 z & -1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & c_n z \end{vmatrix},$$

where $c_i > 0$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ [Frank 1, 4; Bueckner 1].

15. Let f_0 in ex. (38,6) be chosen as the F in Th. (40,2). Let $\delta_k^{(j)}$ denote the determinant δ_k for the f_i in ex. (38,6). Then $\delta_k = \delta_i \delta_{k-i}^{(j)}$, $j, k = 0, 1, \dots, n$, $j \leq k$ [Brown 2].

41. The number of zeros in a sector. The right half-plane is the special case $\mathscr{S}(\pi/2)$ of the sector $\mathscr{S}(\gamma)$ comprised of all points z for which

$$|\arg z| \leq \gamma < \pi.$$

In extension of our previous results on the number of zeros of the polynomial

(41,2)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n, \qquad a_0 a_n \neq 0,$$

in the right half-plane, let us now outline the methods of determining the number of zeros of f(z) in the region $\mathscr{G}(\gamma)$.

For this purpose, let us set

$$a_k/a_n = A_k e^{iak}, \quad 0 \leq \alpha_k < 2\pi, \quad z = r e^{i\theta},$$

and

(41,3)
$$F(z) = f(re^{i\theta})/a_n e^{in\theta} = P_0(r,\theta) + iP_1(r,\theta)$$

where

(41,4)

$$P_{0}(r, \theta) = A_{0} \cos [\alpha_{0} - n\theta] + A_{1}r \cos [\alpha_{1} - (n - 1)\theta] + \cdots + A_{n-1}r^{n-1} \cos [\alpha_{n-1} - \theta] + r^{n},$$
(41,5)

$$P_{1}(r, \theta) = A_{0} \sin [\alpha_{0} - n\theta] + A_{1}r \sin [\alpha_{1} - (n - 1)\theta] + \cdots + A_{n-1}r^{n-1} \sin [\alpha_{n-1} - \theta].$$

Let us denote by r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{μ} , $\mu \leq n$, the distinct positive zeros of $P_0(r, \gamma)$ and by $r'_1, r'_2, \dots, r'_{\nu}, \nu \leq n$, the distinct positive zeros of $P_0(r, -\gamma)$, these being labelled so that

$$(41,6) 0 < r_1 < r_2 < \cdots < r_{\mu}, 0 < r'_1 < r'_2 < \cdots < r'_{\nu}.$$

Let us assume that

(41,7)
$$P_0(0, \gamma)P_0(0, -\gamma) = A_0^2 \cos(\alpha_0 - n\gamma)\cos(\alpha_0 + n\gamma) \neq 0,$$

which means, since $A_0 \neq 0$, that for any integer m

(41,8)
$$\alpha_0 \pm n\gamma \neq (2m+1)(\pi/2).$$

In this case the Principle of Argument (Th. (1,2)) leads to

THEOREM (41,1). Let the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ have p zeros interior to the sector $\mathscr{G}(\gamma)$ and no zeros on the boundary s of this region. Let $\Delta_s \arg f(z)$ be the net change in $\arg f(z)$ as point z traverses s in the positive direction. Then

(41,9)
$$2\pi p = 2n\gamma + \Delta_s \arg f(z).$$

In terms of the ratio

(41,10)
$$\rho(r,\,\theta) = P_0(r,\,\theta)/P_1(r,\,\theta)$$

we may derive a formula similar to (37,9); namely,

(41,11)
$$2n\gamma + \Delta_{s} \arg f(z) = \pi(\kappa + \kappa') + \pi \sum_{j=1}^{\mu} \left[\frac{\operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{j} + \epsilon, \gamma) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{j} - \epsilon, \gamma)}{2} \right] - \pi \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \left[\frac{\operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{j}' + \epsilon, -\gamma) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{j}' - \epsilon, -\gamma)}{2} \right],$$

where κ and κ' are integers (or zero) such that

 $(41,11)' \qquad |\alpha_0 - n\gamma + \kappa\pi| < \pi/2, \qquad |\alpha_0 + n\gamma - \kappa'\pi| < \pi/2.$

For, let us note that, since $f(0) = a_0 \neq 0$, also $f(z) \neq 0$ for all $|z| \leq \epsilon$, ϵ being a sufficiently small positive number. Hence, the number of zeros of f(z) in $\mathscr{S}(\gamma)$ will be the same as in the region $\mathscr{S}^*(\gamma)$ comprised only of the points of $\mathscr{S}(\gamma)$ for which $|z| \geq \epsilon$. Let us denote by Γ the arc of the circle $|z| = \epsilon$ lying in $\mathscr{S}(\gamma)$ and by β the complete boundary of $\mathscr{S}^*(\gamma)$. Then

$$\Delta_{\beta} \arg F(z) = \frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\mu-1} [-\operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{j+1} - \epsilon, \gamma) + \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_j + \epsilon, \gamma)] + \frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu-1} [+\operatorname{sg} \rho(r'_{j+1} - \epsilon, -\gamma) - \operatorname{sg} \rho(r'_j + \epsilon, -\gamma)] + \Delta_{\mu} \arg F(z) + \Delta_0 \arg F(z) + \Delta_{\Gamma} \arg F(z) + \Delta'_0 \arg F(z) + \Delta'_{\nu} \arg F(z),$$

where the last five terms denote respectively the increments in arg F(z) as point z moves along the ray $\theta = \gamma$ from $r = \infty$ to $r = r_{\mu}$ and from $r = r_1$ to $r = \epsilon$, along Γ , and along the ray $\theta = -\gamma$ from $r = \epsilon$ to $r = r'_1$ and from $r = r'_{\nu}$ to $r = \infty$. It is clear that

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_{\mu} \arg F(z) = (\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{\mu} + \epsilon, \gamma), \\ &\Delta_{0} \arg F(z) = \alpha_{0} - n\gamma + \kappa \pi - (\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{1} - \epsilon, \gamma), \\ &\Delta_{0}' \arg F(z) = (\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{1}' - \epsilon, -\gamma) + \kappa' \pi - \alpha_{0} - n\gamma, \\ &\Delta_{\nu}' \arg F(z) = -(\pi/2) \operatorname{sg} \rho(r_{\nu}' + \epsilon, -\gamma), \\ &\Delta_{\Gamma} \arg F(z) = 2n\gamma. \end{split}$$

These formulas lead now to equation (41,11) since

$$\Delta_{\beta} \arg f(z) = \Delta_{\beta} \arg F(z) - 2n\gamma.$$

Let us denote by σ and τ the number of r_j at which, as r increases from 0 to ∞ , $\rho(r, \gamma)$ changes from - to + and from + to - respectively and by σ' and τ' the number of r'_j at which, as r increases from 0 to ∞ , $\rho(r, -\gamma)$ changes from - to + and from + to - respectively, then (41,9) may be written, due to (41,11), as

(41,12)
$$p = (1/2)[(\sigma - \tau) - (\sigma' - \tau') + (\kappa + \kappa')].$$

Since the differences $(\sigma - \tau)$ and $(\sigma' - \tau')$ may be computed by constructing Sturm sequences, we may state a theorem analogous to Th. (38,1) (cf. Sherman [1] and J. Williams [1]).

THEOREM (41,2). Let $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ be a polynomial which has p zeros in the sector $\mathscr{S}(\gamma)$ and no zeros on its boundary s. Let $P_0(r, \theta)$ and $P_1(r, \theta)$ be the real polynomials in r such that

$$f(re^{i\theta})/a_n e^{in\theta} = P_0(r,\theta) + iP_1(r,\theta)$$

and let $P_2(r, \theta), P_3(r, \theta), \dots, P_{\mu}(r, \theta) \equiv K(\theta)$ be the Sturm sequence in r obtained by applying the negative-remainder, division algorithm to $P_0(r, \theta)/P_1(r, \theta)$. Finally, let the number of variations in sign in the sequence $P_0(r, \theta), P_1(r, \theta), \dots, P_{\mu}(r, \theta)$ be denoted by $V(r, \theta)$. Then

(41,13)
$$p = (1/2)\{[V(0, \gamma) - V(\infty, \gamma)] - [V(0, -\gamma) - V(\infty, -\gamma)] + \kappa + \kappa'\}$$

where k and k' are integers satisfying (41,11)'.

Th. (41,2) is a generalization of the Sturm theorem giving the exact number of zeros of a real polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$$

on a given interval of the real axis. This suggests that we also attempt to generalize Descartes' Rule of Signs to complex polynomials.

Before we can proceed to generalize this Rule, we must first formulate a suitable generalization of the concept of the number of variations of sign in a sequence of numbers a_i to cover the case that the a_i are complex numbers. Let us denote by $\mathcal{D}(\gamma)$ the double sector consisting of the two sectors (see Fig. (41,1))

(41,14) $D_1(\gamma): -\gamma \leq \arg z \leq \gamma < \pi/2,$

(41,15)
$$D_2(\gamma): \quad \pi - \gamma \leq \arg z \leq \pi + \gamma.$$

We shall say as in Schoenberg [1] that a variation with respect to $\mathscr{D}(\gamma)$ has occurred between a_k and a_{k+1} if a_k lies in one of the sectors $D_1(\gamma)$ or $D_2(\gamma)$ and a_{k+1} lies in the other sector.

This concept permits us to state the following result due to Obrechkoff [2] in the case $\gamma = 0$ and to Schoenberg [1] when $0 \leq \gamma < \pi/2$.

THEOREM (41,3). If all the coefficients a_i of the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the double sector $\mathcal{D}(\gamma)$, then in the sector $\mathcal{S}(\psi)$ defined by the inequality

$$(41,16) |\arg z| \leq \psi < (\pi - 2\gamma)/n$$

the zeros of f(z) number at most $\mathfrak{B}(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n)$, the number of variations with respect to $\mathfrak{D}(\gamma)$ in the sequence a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n .

To prove Th. (41,3) let us set $z = re^{i\theta}$, $a_k = A_k e^{i\alpha_k}$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, n$ and

(41,17)
$$f(re^{i\theta})e^{-in\theta/2} = Q_0(r,\theta) + iQ_1(r,\theta).$$

If σ , τ , σ' and τ' have the same meaning as above with now

$$\rho(r, \theta) = Q_0(r, \theta)/Q_1(r, \theta),$$

then the above reasoning leads again to eq. (41,12) for the number of zeros of f(z) in the sector (41,16). In particular we infer from (41,12) that, since $\kappa = \kappa' = 0$ here,

(41,18)
$$p \leq (1/2)(\sigma + \tau + \sigma' + \tau') \leq (1/2)(m + m'),$$

where m and m' denote the number of positive real zeros of $Q_0(r, \gamma)$ and $Q_0(r, -\gamma)$ respectively.



FIG. (41,1)

On the other hand, from eqs. (41,2) and (41,17), we have that

$$Q_0(r,\theta) = \sum_{j=0}^n A_j r^j \cos \left\{ \alpha_j - [(n/2) - j] \theta \right\}.$$

Let us assume that

$$|\alpha_j| \leq \gamma \leq \pi/2, \qquad j=0, 1, \cdots, n,$$

and thus that point a_i lies in $D_1(\gamma)$ or $D_2(\gamma)$ according as $A_i > 0$ or $A_i < 0$. Now on the boundary rays $\theta = \pm \psi$ of the sector (41,16),

$$-\pi/2 < -\gamma - (n/2)\psi \leq \alpha_j - [(n/2) - j]\theta \leq \gamma + (n/2)\psi < \pi/2$$

and hence $\cos \{\alpha_j - [(n/2) - j]\theta\} > 0$ for $\theta = \pm \gamma$ and for all *j*. Applying Descartes' Rule of Sign to $Q_0(r, \gamma)$ and $Q_0(r, -\gamma)$, which are real polynomials in *r*, we learn that both

$$m \leq \mathscr{V}(A_0, A_1, \cdots, A_n), \qquad m' \leq \mathscr{V}(A_0, A_1, \cdots, A_n).$$

We now conclude from (41,18) that

$$(41,19) p \leq \mathscr{V}(A_0, A_1, \cdots, A_n)$$

as required in Th. (41,3).

In this extension of Descartes' Rule to complex variables, it is not as yet known whether or not the difference between the right and left sides of ineq. (41,19) is zero or an even integer as it is in the case of real polynomials.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If all the coefficients of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the sector $|\arg z| < \pi/2$, then f(z) has no real positive zeros. More generally, if all the points $z = a_k e^{ik\omega}$ lie in the same convex sector, then $f(z) \neq 0$ on the ray $\theta = \omega$. Hint: Use Th. (1,1) [Kempner 5].

2. If in Th. (41,3) all the a_i are points of the double sector

$$\delta \leq \arg(\pm z) \leq \delta + \psi < \delta + \pi,$$

and if \mathfrak{V} is the number of variations of the a_j with respect to this double sector, then f(z) has in the sector $S((\pi - \psi)/n)$ at most \mathfrak{V} zeros. Hint: Apply Th. (41,3) to $\{f(z) \exp \left[-(\delta + \psi/2)i\right]\}$ [Schoenberg 1].

3. If all the zeros z_k of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie in the sector $A:\delta \leq \arg z \leq \delta + \psi < \delta + \pi$, then the points $(-a_k/a_{k+1}) = b_k$, $k = 0, 1, \cdots, n-1$, also lie in A. Hint: $\sum_{1}^{n} (1/\bar{z}_k) = 1/\bar{b}_0$. According to the proof of Th. (1,1), $1/\bar{b}_0$, as a sum of vectors each of which lies in A, also lies in A and hence b_0 also lies in A. Similarly, express $1/\bar{b}_k$ in terms of the zeros of the kth derivative of f(z) and use Th. (6,1) [Takahashi 1].

4. If $|f(e^{i\theta})| \leq M$ for $f(z) = \sum_{0}^{n} a_{k} z^{k}$ with $a_{0}a_{n} \neq 0$, then the number N of zeros in the sector $0 \leq \alpha \leq \arg z \leq \beta \leq 2\pi$ satisfies the relations

$$Q = |N - [n(\beta - \alpha)/2\pi]| < 16[n \log (M |a_0a_n|^{-\frac{1}{2}})]^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$Q < 16\{n \log [(|a_0| + |a_1| + \dots + |a_n|) |a_0a_n|^{-\frac{1}{2}}]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

[Erdös-Turán 1, 2].

5. The real polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ has at most $V + 2(n\alpha/\pi)$ zeros in the sector $|\arg z| < \alpha < \pi/2$ where $V = \mathscr{V}(a_0, a_1, \cdots, a_n)$ [Obrechkoff 1].

CHAPTER X

THE NUMBER OF ZEROS IN A GIVEN CIRCLE

42. An algorithm. Like that of Chapter IX, the subject of the present chapter is not only of theoretic interest but also of practical importance. It enters in the study of certain questions of stability. These may pertain to a linear difference equation with constant coefficients such as arise for example in econometric business cycle analysis [Samuelson 1] or to the numerical solution of first order differential equations [Wilf 1]. In such cases the requirement for a stable solution is that all the zeros of the characteristic polynomial lie in the unit circle. Similarly the stability of a discretely operating physical system may depend upon the system's transfer function being a rational function with all its poles inside the unit circle [Jury 1, 2].

Let us denote by $p \ (p \leq n)$ the number of zeros which the polynomial

(42,1)
$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n = a_n \prod_{j=1}^n (z - z_j)$$

has in a given circle, which, without loss of generality, may be taken as the unit circle |z| = 1. One way to determine p would be to map the interior of the unit circle |z| < 1 upon the left half w-plane by means of the transformation

(42,2)
$$w = (z-1)/(z+1), \quad z = (1+w)/(1-w).$$

Then p becomes the number of zeros which the transformed polynomial

(42,3)
$$F(w) = (1 - w)^n f((1 + w)/(1 - w))$$

has in left half-plane and so may be found by applying to F(w) the theorems of Chapter IX. (Cf. Hurwitz [3], Frank [1b].) The result thus obtained appears, however, less elegant than that which we shall presently derive by applying Rouché's Theorem (Th. (1,3)) directly to f(z).

Let us associate with f(z) the polynomial

(42,4)
$$f^*(z) = z^n \bar{f}(1/z) = \bar{a}_0 z^n + \bar{a}_1 z^{n-1} + \dots + \bar{a}_n = \bar{a}_0 \prod_{j=1}^n (z - z_j^*)$$

whose zeros $z_k^* = 1/\bar{z}_k$ are, relative to circle |z| = 1, the inverses of the zeros z_k of f(z). This means that any zero of f(z) on the unit circle is also a zero of $f^*(z)$ and that, if f(z) has no zeros on the circle |z| = 1, then $f^*(z)$ has also no zeros on the circle |z| = 1 and has n - p zeros in this circle. Furthermore, on the unit circle, the value of $f^*(z)$ is

(42,5)
$$f^*(e^{i\theta}) = \bar{a}_0 \prod_{j=1}^n (e^{i\theta} - 1/\bar{z}_j) = \frac{\bar{a}_0 e^{in\theta} (-1)^n}{\bar{z}_1 \bar{z}_2 \cdots \bar{z}_n} \prod_{j=1}^n (e^{-i\theta} - \bar{z}_j) = e^{in\theta} \bar{f}(e^{-i\theta})$$

AN ALGORITHM

and, consequently,

(42,6)
$$|f^*(e^{i\theta})| = |f(e^{i\theta})|.$$

From f(z) and $f^*(z)$ let us construct the sequence of polynomials $f_j(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} a_k^{(j)} z^k$, where $f_0(z) = f(z)$ and

(42,7)
$$f_{j+1}(z) = \bar{a}_0^{(j)} f_j(z) - a_{n-j}^{(j)} f_j^*(z), \qquad j = 0, 1, \cdots, n-1.$$

Thus,

(42,8)
$$a_k^{(j+1)} = \bar{a}_0^{(j)} a_k^{(j)} - a_{n-j}^{(j)} \bar{a}_{n-j-k}^{(j)}.$$

In each polynomial $f_i(z)$, the constant term $a_0^{(j)}$ is a real number which we shall denote by δ_i ; viz.,

(42,9)
$$\delta_{j+1} = |a_0^{(j)}|^2 - |a_{n-j}^{(j)}|^2 = a_0^{(j+1)}, \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, n-1.$$

As to the zeros of these polynomials, Cohn [1] has proved two lemmas which we shall combine in the compact form due to Marden [16].

LEMMA (42,1). If f_j has p_j zeros interior to the unit circle C: |z| = 1 and if $\delta_{j+1} \neq 0$, then f_{j+1} has

(42,10)
$$p_{j+1} = (1/2)\{n - j - [(n - j) - 2p_j] \text{ sg } \delta_{j+1}\}$$

zeros interior to C. Furthermore, f_{i+1} has the same zeros on C as f_i .

To prove this lemma, let us begin with the case that $\delta_{j+1} > 0$. From eq. (42,6) with f(z) replaced by $f_j(z)$ and from eq. (42,9), we infer that

$$(42,11) |a_{n-j}^{(j)}f_j^*(z)| < |a_0^{(j)}f_j(z)|, z \in C.$$

Let ϵ (>0) be chosen so small that ineq. (42,11) holds for $z \in C'$: $|z| = 1 - \epsilon$ and that $f_j(z) \neq 0$ for $1 - \epsilon \leq |z| < 1$. It follows from Rouché's Theorem that the polynomial $f_{j+1}(z)$ has in C the same number p_j of zeros as $\bar{a}_0^{(j)}f_j(z)$. Since sg $\delta_{j+1} = 1$, this number is in agreement with formula (42,10).

Let us next take the case that $\delta_{j+1} < 0$. Since now

(42,12)
$$|a_0^{(j)}f_j(e^{i\theta})| < |a_{n-j}^{(j)}f_j^*(e^{i\theta})|,$$

the same reasoning as in the previous case here shows that the polynomial $f_{j+1}(z)$ has in C the same number $(n - j - p_j)$ of zeros as $a_{n-j}^{(j)} f_j^*(z)$. Since now sg $\delta_{j+1} = -1$, this number is also in agreement with formula (42,10).

As to the zeros of f_{j+1} on C, we see from eq. (42,7) that on C every zero of f_j , being also one of f_j^* , is a zero of f_{j+1} and that because of ineq. (42,11) and (42,12) any point on C, not a zero of f_j , is also not a zero of f_{j+1} .

Thus, we have proved that Lemma (42,1) is valid in both cases.

[§42]

Let us now apply Lemma (42,1) to each $f_j(z)$ in the sequence (42,7). We learn thereby that

$$p_1 = (1/2)\{n - (n - 2p) \text{ sg } \delta_1\},$$

$$p_2 = (1/2)\{(n - 1) - [n - 1 - 2p_1] \text{ sg } \delta_2\}$$

$$= (1/2)\{(n - 1) - [(n - 1) - n + (n - 2p) \text{ sg } \delta_1] \text{ sg } \delta_2\}$$

$$= (1/2)\{(n - 1) - (n - 2p) \text{ sg } (\delta_1\delta_2) + \text{ sg } \delta_2\}.$$

The expression for p_2 is the special case of the formula

(42,13)
$$p_j = (1/2)[(n-j+1) - (n-2p) \operatorname{sg} (\delta_1 \delta_2 \cdots \delta_j) + \operatorname{sg} (\delta_2 \delta_3 \cdots \delta_j) + \operatorname{sg} (\delta_3 \delta_4 \cdots \delta_j) + \cdots + \operatorname{sg} \delta_j].$$

Let us assume that we have verified formula (42,13) also for $j = 3, 4, \dots, k-1$ and on that basis let us compute p_k . From eqs. (42,10) and (42,13) with j = k - 1, we obtain

$$p_{k} = (1/2)\{n - k + 1 - [(n - k + 1) - 2p_{k-1}] \operatorname{sg} \delta_{k}\}$$

= (1/2){(n - k + 1) - [(n - k + 1) - (n - k + 2)
+ (n - 2p) \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{1}\delta_{2}\cdots\delta_{k-1}) - \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{2}\delta_{3}\cdots\delta_{k-1})
- \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{3}\delta_{4}\cdots\delta_{k-1}) - \cdots - \operatorname{sg} \delta_{k-1}] \operatorname{sg} \delta_{k}\}
= (1/2){(n - k + 1) - (n - 2p) \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{1}\delta_{2}\cdots\delta_{k}) + \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{2}\delta_{3}\cdots\delta_{k})
+ \operatorname{sg} (\delta_{3}\delta_{4}\cdots\delta_{k}) + \cdots + \operatorname{sg} \delta_{k}\}.

This shows by mathematical induction that formula (42,13) holds for all j, $2 \leq j \leq n$.

In particular, since $f_n(z) \equiv \text{const.}$ and hence $p_n = 0$, we derive from eq. (42,13) with j = n the relation

(42,14)
$$1 - (n - 2p) \operatorname{sg} \left(\delta_1 \delta_2 \cdots \delta_n \right) + \operatorname{sg} \left(\delta_2 \delta_3 \cdots \delta_n \right) \\ + \operatorname{sg} \left(\delta_3 \delta_4 \cdots \delta_n \right) + \cdots + \operatorname{sg} \delta_n = 0.$$

If solved for p, eq. (42,14) yields the value

(42,15)
$$p = (1/2) \left(n - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \operatorname{sg} P_{k} \right)$$

$$(42,16) P_k = \delta_1 \delta_2 \cdots \delta_k, k = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

To interpret formula (42,15), let us denote by ν the number of negative P_k , $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Then, as $(n - \nu)$ is the number of positive P_k , we may write (42,15) as

$$p = (1/2)[n + \nu - (n - \nu)] = \nu.$$

In other words, we have now as in Marden [16] established

THEOREM (42,1). If for the polynomial

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$$

p of the products P_k defined by eq. (42,16) are negative and the remaining n - p are positive, then f(z) has p zeros in the unit circle |z| = 1, no zeros on this circle and n - p zeros outside this circle.

We observe that Th. (42,1) does not contain a hypothesis that $f(z) \neq 0$ for |z| = 1. This is implied in the hypothesis $\delta_n \neq 0$, as will be seen in secs. 44 and 45.

A convenient way to find the δ_k is by construction of the matrix

a_0	a_1	• • •	a_{n-2}	a_{n-1}	a_n
\bar{a}_n	\bar{a}_{n-1}	•••	\bar{a}_2	\bar{a}_1	\bar{a}_0
$a_{0}^{(1)}$	$a_{1}^{(1)}$	•••	$a_{n-2}^{(1)}$	$a_{n-1}^{(1)}$	0
$\bar{a}_{n-1}^{(1)}$	$\bar{a}_{n-2}^{(1)}$	•••	$\bar{a}_{1}^{(1)}$	$\bar{a}_{0}^{(1)}$	0
•	•	• • •	•	•	•
•	•	•••	•	•	•
$a_0^{(n)}$	0	•••	0	0	0_

comprised of the 2n + 1 rows ρ_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, 2n + 1$. Row ρ_1 consists of the coefficients in $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_n z^n$ and row ρ_2 consists of the conjugate imaginaries of these coefficients written in the reverse order. In general

$$\rho_{2k+1} = \bar{a}_0^{(k)} \rho_{2k-1} - a_{n-k}^{(k)} \rho_{2k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$

and row ρ_{2k+2} consists of the conjugate imaginaries of the coefficients of the row ρ_{2k+1} written in the reverse order. Since by definition $\delta_k = a_0^{(k)}$, the δ_k are the first elements in the rows ρ_{2k+1} , $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. If $\delta_j > 0$ for $j = 2, 3, \dots, n$, then $f(z) \neq 0$ in $|z| \leq 1$ or $|z| \geq 1$ according as $\delta_1 > 0$ or $\delta_1 < 0$. If sg $\delta_j = (-1)^j$, then p = 2m + 1 if n = 4m + 1 and p = 2m + 2 if n = 4m + k, k = 2, 3 or 4 and $m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$.

2. Let $\delta_j(r)$ be the values of the δ_j of Th. (42,1) for $a_k = b_k r^k$ and p(r) the corresponding value of p. Then p(r) is the number of zeros of the polynomial $g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_n z^n$ in the circle |z| < r.

3. Let $\delta_j(r, s)$ be the values of the δ_j of Th. (42,1) for $a_j = r^j \sum_{k=j}^n C(k, j) s^{k-j} b_k$ and p(r, s) the corresponding value of p. Then p(r, s) is the number of zeros of $g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_n z^n$ in the circle |z - s| < r.

4. If the a_j are all real and if $0 < a_n < a_{n-1} < \cdots < a_0$, then also all the $a_j^{(k)}$ in eq. (42,8) are real and $0 < a_{n-k}^{(k)} < a_{n-k-1}^{(k)} < \cdots < a_0^{(k)}$, for $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$, and thus $f(z) \neq 0$ in $|z| \leq 1$ [Eneström 1, Kakeya 1, Cohn 1].

5. If $\delta_j \neq 0$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$ but if $\delta_n = 0$, then the zero of the $f_{n-1}(z)$ (see eqs. (42,7)) lies on the circle |z| = 1.

6. If $|a_0| < |a_n|$, f(z) has all its zeros in the unit circle if and only if $f_1^*(z)$ has all its zeros in the unit circle [Schur 2].

7. If a c.r. (characteristic root) of an $n \times n$ matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ lies in the left halfplane, then the corresponding c.r. of the matrix $B = [A - E]^{-1}[A + E]$ lies inside the unit disk and conversely [Wegner 1]. Hint: See sec. 31 and eq. (42,3).

43. Determinant sequences. While the algorithm given in sec. 42 does enable us to find the number p of zeros of the polynomial f(z) in the unit circle, a set of conditions expressed directly in terms of the coefficients of f(z) is desirable, at least from a theoretical standpoint. This type of condition is embodied in the following theorem.

SCHUR-COHN CRITERION (Th. (43,1)). If for the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ all the determinants

	a_0	0	0	•••	0	a_n	a_{n-1}	•••	a_{n-k+1}	
	<i>a</i> ₁	a_0	0	•••	0	0	a_n	• • •	a_{n-k+2}	
	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•••	•	
۸ <u> </u>	<i>a</i> _{<i>k</i>-1}	a_{k-2}	a_{k-3}	• • •	a0	0	0	• • •	a_n	k = 1, 2,, n
$\Delta_k =$	ā _n	0	0	•••	0	\bar{a}_0	\bar{a}_1	• • •	\bar{a}_{k-1}	$, \kappa = 1, 2, \cdots, n$
	\bar{a}_{n-1}	\bar{a}_n	0	•••	0	0	\bar{a}_0	•••	\bar{a}_{k-2}	
	•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	•••	•	
	\bar{a}_{n-k+1}	\bar{a}_{n-k+2}	\bar{a}_{n-k+3}	• • •	ā _n	0	0	• • •	\bar{a}_0	

are different from zero, then f(z) has no zeros on the circle |z| = 1 and p zeros in this circle, p being the number of variations of sign in the sequence $1, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, \dots, \Delta_n$.

Th. (43,1) is due to Schur [2] in the case $\Delta_k > 0$ all k and essentially to Cohn [1] in the general case. We shall follow the derivation in Marden [16].

In order to prove Th. (43,1), we need to express the Δ_k in terms of the δ_k entering in Th. (42,1). For this purpose, we shall first develop a reduction formula for the determinants:

$$\Delta_{k}^{(j)} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{n-j}^{(j)} & a_{n-j-1}^{(j)} & \cdots & a_{n-j-k+1}^{(j)} \\ a_{1}^{(j)} & a_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & a_{n-j}^{(j)} & \cdots & a_{n-j-k+2}^{(j)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{k-1}^{(j)} & a_{k-2}^{(j)} & a_{k-3}^{(j)} & \cdots & a_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & a_{n-j}^{(j)} \\ \bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} & \bar{a}_{1}^{(j)} & \cdots & \bar{a}_{k-1}^{(j)} \\ \bar{a}_{n-j-1}^{(j)} & \bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} & \cdots & \bar{a}_{k-2}^{(j)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \bar{a}_{n-j-k+1}^{(j)} & \bar{a}_{n-j-k+2}^{(j)} & \bar{a}_{n-j-k+3}^{(j)} & \cdots & \bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} \\ \end{vmatrix}$$

where the $a_k^{(j)}$ are the quantities defined in eq. (42,8).

With this in mind, let us introduce the determinant of order 2k

$$\lambda_{k}^{(j)} = \begin{vmatrix} \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -a_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & -a_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \bar{a}_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -a_{n-j}^{(j)} \\ -\bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & -\bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & a_{0}^{(j)} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -\bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & a_{0}^{(j)} \end{vmatrix}$$

To evaluate $\lambda_k^{(j)}$, let us multiply its last k rows by $a_{n-j}^{(j)}$ and add the resulting rows to the first k rows multiplied by $a_0^{(j)}$. Using eqs. (42,8), we thus find

(43,1)
$$\lambda_k^{(j)} = (a_0^{(j+1)})^k.$$

Let us now form the product $\lambda_k^{(j)}\Delta_k^{(j)}$, which is by the laws of determinant multiplication and by eqs. (42,8):

$a_0^{(j+1)}$	0	0	•••	0	0	$a_{n-j-1}^{(j+1)}$	•••	$a_{n-j-k+1}^{(j+1)}$
$a_1^{(j+1)}$	$a_0^{(j+1)}$	0	•••	0	0	0	•••	$a_{n-j-k+2}^{(j+1)}$
•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	• • •	.
$a_{k-1}^{(j+1)}$	$a_{k-2}^{(j+1)}$	$a_{k-3}^{(j+1)}$	• • •	$a_0^{(j+1)}$	0	0	•••	0
0	0	0	• • •	0	${\bar{a}_{0}^{(j+1)}}$	$\bar{a}_{1}^{(j+1)}$	•••	$\bar{a}_{k-1}^{(j+1)}$
$\tilde{a}_{n-j-1}^{(j+1)}$	0	0	•••	0	0	$\bar{a}_{0}^{(j+1)}$	•••	$a_{k-2}^{(j+1)}$
•	•	•	• • •	•	•	•	• • •	•
$\tilde{a}_{n-j-k+1}^{(j+1)}$	$\tilde{a}_{n-j-k+2}^{(j+1)}$	$\bar{a}_{n-j-k+3}^{(j+1)}$	• • •	0	0	0	•••	$\bar{a}_{0}^{(j+1)}$

Developing this determinant with respect to the kth and (k + 1)st columns according to the Laplace method, we obtain the result

(43,2)
$$\lambda_k^{(j)} \Delta_k^{(j)} = a_0^{(j+1)} \bar{a}_0^{(j+1)} \Delta_{k-1}^{(j+1)}$$

If now we use eqs. (43,1), (43,2) and (42,9), we are led to the following conclusion.

LEMMA (43,1). The determinants $\Delta_{k}^{(j)}$ satisfy the relation

(43,3)
$$\Delta_{k}^{(j)} = \Delta_{k-1}^{(j+1)} / (\delta_{j+1})^{k-2} \qquad \text{if } \delta_{j+1} \neq 0.$$

Let us now apply Lemma (43,1) to the determinant Δ_k in Th. (43,1), bearing in mind that $a_j \equiv a_j^{(0)}$. Thus, by iteration of (43,3), we have

$$\Delta_{k} = \frac{\Delta_{k-1}^{(1)}}{\delta_{1}^{k-2}} = \frac{1}{\delta_{1}^{k-2}} \frac{1}{\delta_{2}^{k-3}} \Delta_{k-2}^{(2)}, \qquad \text{if } \delta_{1}\delta_{2} \neq 0.$$

When $\delta_1 \delta_2 \cdots \delta_{k+1} \neq 0$, this suggests the formula

$$\Delta_{k} = \frac{1}{\delta_{1}^{k-2}} \frac{1}{\delta_{2}^{k-3}} \cdots \frac{1}{\delta_{k-1}^{0}} \Delta_{1}^{(k-1)} = \frac{\delta_{k}}{\delta_{1}^{k-2} \delta_{2}^{k-3} \cdots \delta_{k-2}}$$

which may be established by mathematical induction.

By virtue of this formula,

$$\frac{\Delta_k}{\Delta_{k+1}} = \frac{\delta_k}{\delta_1^{k-2}\delta_2^{k-3}\cdots\delta_{k-2}} \frac{\delta_1^{k-1}\delta_2^{k-2}\cdots\delta_{k-1}}{\delta_{k+1}} = \frac{\delta_1\delta_2\cdots\delta_{k+1}}{\delta_{k+1}^2}$$

This means that

$$(43,4) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{sg}\left(\Delta_{k}\Delta_{k+1}\right) = \operatorname{sg} P_{k+1}.$$

If now we apply Th. (42,1) in conjunction with eq. (43,4), we may complete the proof of Th. (43,1).

Th. (43,1) may also be proved by using either of the two equivalent Hermitian forms

$$H_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\bar{a}_{n}u_{j} + \bar{a}_{n-1}u_{j+1} + \dots + \bar{a}_{j}u_{n}|^{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{0}u_{j} + a_{1}u_{j+1} + \dots + a_{n-j}u_{n}|^{2},$$

$$H_{2} = \sum_{j,k=0}^{n-1} A_{jk}u_{j}\bar{u}_{k},$$

where A_{ik} are the coefficients in the Bezout resultant

$$B(f,f^*) = \frac{f(z)f^*(w) - f(w)f^*(z)}{z - w} = \sum_{j,k=0}^{n-1} A_{jk} z^{j} w^{n-1-k}.$$

Form H_1 was used in Schur [2] and Cohn [1] and form H_2 was used in Fujiwara [5]. If H_1 or H_2 is reduced to the canonical form of a sum of *n* positive and negative squares, the *p* and *q* of Th. (43,1) are respectively the number of positive squares and the number of negative squares. This method is analogous to that which had been previously used in Hermite [1] to determine the number of zeros of a polynomial in the half-planes $\Im(z) > 0$ and $\Im(z) < 0$.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. With the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ let there be associated the triangular matrices

$$A_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{0} & a_{1} & a_{2} & \cdots & a_{k-1} \\ 0 & a_{0} & a_{1} & \cdots & a_{k-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & a_{0} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

Let \bar{A}_k and A_k^* denote the corresponding matrices for $\bar{f}(z)$ and $f^*(z)$ respectively. Furthermore let M^T denote the transpose of any given matrix M. Then the determinants Δ_k of Th. (43,1) may be written symbolically as

$$\Delta_k = \begin{vmatrix} A_k^T, & \bar{A}_k^* \\ A_k^{*T}, & \bar{A}_k \end{vmatrix}$$
 [Cohn 1].

2. Let A_k^U represent the matrix obtained from A_k by interchanging the *j*th and (k - j)th rows, $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$. Then, if f(z) is a real polynomial,

$$\Delta_k = \det \left[(A_k^* + A_k^U) \cdot (A_k^* - A_k^U) \right]$$
 [Cohn 1].

3. The determinant Δ_n is the resultant of the two polynomials f(z) and $f^*(z)$ and hence vanishes if and only if f(z) has a zero on the circle |z| = 1 or at least one pair of zeros which are symmetric in this circle, or both. Hint: The resultant of two *n*th degree polynomials f(z) and g(z) may be written (cf. Bôcher's *Algebra*, New York, 1924, pp. 198–199) in terms of the corresponding triangular matrices A_n and B_n as

$$R(f,g) = \begin{vmatrix} \bar{A}_n^*, & A_n^T \\ \bar{B}_n^*, & B_n^T \end{vmatrix}$$
[Cohn 1].

44. Polynomials with zeros on or symmetric in the unit circle. In Th. (42,1) and Th. (43,1) we assumed that f has no zeros on the circle C: |z| = 1 and also that none of the δ_j or Δ_j , $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$, is zero.

Let us lift the first restriction partly by assuming that we may factor the polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ in the form

(44,1)
$$f(z) = \psi(z)g(z)$$

where

(44,2)
$$\psi(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{\mu} (z - r_j e^{i\phi_j}) (z - r_j^{-1} e^{i\phi_j}) \prod_{j=1}^{\nu} (z - e^{i\theta_j}),$$

(44,3)
$$g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_k z^k, \qquad 0 \leq k = n - 2\mu - \nu.$$

The factor ψ , having only zeros on or symmetric in C, is said to be *self-inversive*. The factor g will be assumed not to have any such zeros. Now, since

(44,4)
$$\psi^*(z) = (-1)^{\nu} e^{-\sigma i} \psi(z),$$

where

 $\sigma = \theta_1 + \theta_2 + \cdots + \theta_{\nu} + 2(\phi_1 + \phi_2 + \cdots + \phi_{\mu}),$

(44,5)
$$f^*(z) = (-1)^{n-k} e^{-\sigma i} \psi(z) g^*(z).$$

That is, ψ is a common factor of f and f^* . Conversely any common factor of f and f^* has the form (44,2).

The polynomial $\psi(z)$ may be found by applying to f(z) and $f^*(z)$ the Euclid algorithm for finding their greatest common divisor. But $\psi(z)$ may also be found by use of the sequence (42,7) of polynomials $f_k(z)$. In fact, let us denote by $g_k(z)$ the sequence (42,7) in which f(z) is replaced by g(z). Then, since in (44,1)
$a_0 = (-1)^{n-k} e^{i\sigma} b_0$ and $a_n = b_k$, it follows that

$$f_1(z) = (-1)^{n-k} e^{-i\sigma} \bar{b}_0 \psi(z) g(z) - b_k (-1)^{n-k} e^{-i\sigma} \psi(z) g^*(z)$$

and, hence, that

(44,6)
$$\int_{1}(z) = (-1)^{(n-k)} e^{-i\sigma} \psi(z) g_{1}(z)$$

Similarly

(44,7)

$$f_{2}(z) = (-1)^{2(n-k)} e^{-2i\sigma} \psi(z) g_{2}(z),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\vdots$$

$$f_{k}(z) = (-1)^{k(n-k)} e^{-ki\sigma} \psi(z) b_{0}^{(k)},$$

$$f_{k+1}(z)\equiv 0.$$

In other words, if f(z) and $f^*(z)$ have a common factor $\psi(z)$ of degree n - k, it is a factor of all the $f_j(z)$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, and $f_{k+1}(z) \equiv 0$ together with $\delta_j = 0$, j > k.

Conversely, if

(44,8)
$$f_{k+1}(z) = \bar{a}_0^{(k)} f_k(z) - a_{n-k}^{(k)} f_k^*(z) \equiv 0$$

we may show that $f_k(z)$ is a factor common to all the $f_j(z)$ and $f_j^*(z)$, j = k - 1, $k - 2, \dots, 1$, and to f(z) and $f^*(z)$. For, from eq. (42,7) we obtain

$$zf_{j+1}^{*}(z) = a_0^{(j)}f_j^{*}(z) - \bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)}f_j(z),$$

and thus

$$\delta_{j+1}f_j(z) = a_0^{(j)}f_{j+1}(z) + a_{n-j}^{(j)}zf_{j+1}^*(z),$$

(44,9)

$$\delta_{j+1}f_j^*(z) = \bar{a}_{n-j}^{(j)}f_{j+1}(z) + \bar{a}_0^{(j)}zf_{j+1}^*(z).$$

If we substitute from (44,8) into (44,9) with j = k - 1, we find from the equations, if $a_{n-k}^{(k)} \neq 0$,

$$\begin{split} \delta_k f_{k-1}(z) &= [a_0^{(k-1)} + a_{n-k+1}^{(k-1)} (\bar{a}_0^{(k)}/a_{n-k}^{(k)}) z] f_k(z), \\ \delta_k f_{k-1}^*(z) &= [\bar{a}_{n-k+1}^{(k-1)} + \bar{a}_0^{(k-1)} (\bar{a}_0^{(k)}/a_{n-k}^{(k)}) z] f_k(z), \end{split}$$

that $f_k(z)$ is a common factor of $f_{k-1}(z)$ and $f_{k-1}^*(z)$. By application of eqs. (44,9) with $j = k - 1, k - 2, \dots, 0$, we may also show $f_k(z)$ is a factor of f(z) and $f^*(z)$.

The number of zeros of (f/f^*) in the circle |z| < 1 is the same as the number of zeros of g(z) in this circle. If we set $\epsilon_j = b_0^{(j)}$, the ϵ_j are the $\hat{\sigma}_j$ for g(z) and so the number of zeros of f(z) in |z| < 1 is the number of negative products $(\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \cdots \epsilon_j), j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$. Since from eqs. (44,1) and (44,7) we find

$$\begin{aligned} a_0^{(j)} &= (-1)^{(j+1)(n-k)} e^{-(j+1)i\sigma} b_0^{(j)}, \\ a_{n-j}^{(j)} &= (-1)^{j(n-k)} e^{-ji\sigma} b_{k-j}^{(j)}, \\ \delta_{j+1} &= |a_0^{(j)}|^2 - |a_{n-j}^{(j)}|^2 = |b_0^{(j)}|^2 - |b_{k-j}^{(j)}|^2 = \epsilon_{j+1}. \end{aligned}$$

In other words, we have proved the following generalization of Th. (42,1) due to Marden [16].

THEOREM (44,1). For a given polynomial $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$, let the sequence (42,7) be constructed. Then, if for some k < n, $P_k \neq 0$ in eq. (42,16) but $f_{k+1}(z) \equiv 0$, then f has n - k zeros on or symmetric in the circle C: |z| = 1 at the zeros of $f_k(z)$. If p of the P_j , $j = 1, 2, \cdots, k$, are negative, f has p additional zeros inside C and q = k - p additional zeros outside C.

The zeros of $f_k(z)$ may be determined by use of Th. (45,2).

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. The number p in Th. (44,1) may be taken as the number of variations of sign in the sequence 1, Δ_1 , Δ_2 , \cdots , Δ_k of determinants (43,1) [Marden 16; cf. Cohn 1, p. 129].

2. Let f(z) be a real polynomial of degree n and let

$$g(z^2) = (z^2 + 1)^n f((z + i)/(z - i)) f((z - i)/(z + i)).$$

Then f(z) has k zeros on the circle |z| = 1 if and only if g(z) has k positive real zeros [Kempner 2, 3 and 7].

3. Let the polynomials $s_{m,n}$ be defined by the relations $s_{0,n}(z) = 1 + z + \cdots + z^n$,

$$s_{m,n}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} s_{m-1,k}(z), \qquad m = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

Then all the zeros of $S_{m,n}(z) = [d^m/(dz)^m]s_{m,n}(z)$, for $n = m + 1, m + 2, \cdots$, lie on the circle |z| = 1 [Turán 2].

45. Singular determinant sequences. Returning to polynomials f(z) which do not have any zeros on the circle |z| = 1, let us consider the case that, for some $k < n, \delta_1 \delta_2 \cdots \delta_k \neq 0$ but

(45,1)
$$\delta_{k+1} = a_0^{(k+1)} = |a_0^{(k)}|^2 - |a_{n-k}^{(k)}|^2 = 0.$$

In such a case the number p of zeros of f(z) in the unit circle C: |z| < 1 may be found either by a limiting process or by a modification of the sequence (42,7).

The limiting process may be chosen as one operating upon the circle C or upon the coefficients of $f_k(z)$. That is, since $f_k(z)$ has no zeros on the circle C, we may consider in place of $f_k(z)$ the polynomial

which, for $r = 1 \pm \epsilon$ and ϵ a sufficiently small positive quantity, has as many zeros in the circle |z| < 1 as does $f_k(z)$. Alternatively, we may consider in place of $f_k(z)$ the polynomial

(45,3)
$$F_k(z) = (1+\epsilon)a_0^{(k)} + \sum_{j=1}^{n-k} a_j^{(k)} z^j = \epsilon a_0^{(k)} + f_k(z),$$

which, for ϵ a sufficiently small real number, has also as many zeros in the unit circle as does $f_k(z)$.

A more direct procedure for covering the case of a vanishing δ_{k+1} is to modify the sequence (42,7). The modification will apply even when $f_k(z)$ has zeros for |z| = 1.

Observing that, according to (45,1), in

(45,4)
$$f_k(z) = a_0^{(k)} + a_1^{(k)}z + \cdots + a_{n-k}^{(k)}z^{n-k}$$

the first and last coefficients have equal modulus, we shall find useful the following two theorems due to Cohn [1].

THEOREM (45,1). If the coefficients of the polynomial $g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_m z^m$ satisfy the relations:

(45,5)
$$b_m = u\bar{b}_0$$
, $b_{m-1} = u\bar{b}_1$, \cdots , $b_{m-q+1} = u\bar{b}_{q-1}$, $b_{m-q} \neq u\bar{b}_q$

where $q \leq m/2$ and |u| = 1, then g(z) has for $|z| \leq 1$ as many zeros as the polynomial

(45,6)
$$G_1(z) = \bar{B}_0 G(z) - B_{m+q} G^*(z) = \sum_{j=0}^m B_j^{(1)} z^j,$$

where

(45,7)
$$G(z) = (z^{q} + 2b/|b|)g(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{m+q} B_{j}z^{j},$$

(45,8)
$$b = (b_{m-q} - u\bar{b}_q)/b_m$$
,

and

$$|B_0^{(1)}| < |B_m^{(1)}|.$$

THEOREM (45,2). If $g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \cdots + b_m z^m$ is a self-inversive polynomial; i.e., if

(45,9)
$$b_m = u\bar{b}_0$$
, $b_{m-1} = u\bar{b}_1$, \cdots , $b_0 = u\bar{b}_m$, $|u| = 1$,

then g has as many zeros on the disk |z| < 1 as the polynomial

(45,10)
$$g_1(z) = [g'(z)]^* = \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} (m-j) \tilde{b}_{m-j} z^j.$$

That is, g and g' have the same number of zeros for |z| > 1.

Since polynomial $f_k(z)$ in (45,4) is a polynomial g(z) of the type in either Th. (45,1) or Th. (45,2), these theorems permit the replacement of $f_k(z)$ by a polynomial which is also of degree not exceeding n - k and in which relations (45,5) and (45,9) are not satisfied.

Let us first prove Th. (45,1). As the factor $(z^{q} + 2b/|b|)$ does not vanish for $|z| \leq 1$, g(z) has as many zeros for $|z| \leq 1$ as G(z). Since, however, $B_0 = 2(b/|b|)b_0$ and $B_{m+q} = b_m$, we learn from (45,5) that

$$D_1 = |B_0|^2 - |B_{m+q}|^2 = 4 |b_0|^2 - |b_m|^2 = 3 |b_m|^2 > 0,$$

and, from (42,10) with n - j replaced by m and δ_{j+1} replaced by D_1 , we learn that G(z) and $G_1(z)$ have the same number of zeros for |z| < 1. If we compute $G_1(z)$ by use of eqs. (45,6) and (45,7), we find $B_j^{(1)} = 0$ if j > m; that is, $G_1(z)$ is a polynomial of the same degree as g(z). Also,

$$B_0^{(1)} = 4 |b_0|^2 - |b_m|^2 = 3 |b_0|^2,$$

$$B_m^{(1)} = \bar{b}_0 b_m (2 |b| + 3) = |b_0|^2 u(2 |b| + 3)$$

and thus $|B_0^{(1)}| < |B_m^{(1)}|$.

To prove Th. (45,2), we follow Bonsall-Marden [1] in establishing

LEMMA (45,2). If g is a self-inversive polynomial, its derivative g' has no zeros on the circle C: |z| = 1 except at the multiple zeros of g.

It suffices to show that, if $g(\zeta) \neq 0$ for $\zeta \in C$, then $g'(\zeta) \neq 0$. Let us write [cf. eq. (44,2)]

(45,11)
$$g(z) = b_m \prod_{j=1}^m (z - z_j) = b_m \prod_{j=1}^p (z - \gamma_j)(z - \gamma_j^*) \prod_{j=1}^q (z - \lambda_j)$$

where $p \ge 0$, $q \ge 0$ and 2p + q = m, $|\gamma_j| < 1$ and $\gamma_j^* = 1/\bar{\gamma}_j$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$ and $\lambda_j = e^{i\theta_j}$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, q$. (If p or q = 0, we omit the corresponding product in (45,11).) Then

$$g'(\zeta)/g(\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} w_j, \qquad w_j = (\zeta - z_j)^{-1}.$$

But the transformation

(45,12) $w = (\zeta - z)^{-1}$

carries C into the straight line L which passes through the point $w = 1/(2\zeta)$ and is perpendicular to the ray R from the origin to point $w = 1/(2\zeta)$. Since this transformation also carries the points λ_j into points on L and the point pairs γ_j and γ_j^* into point pairs symmetric in L, the centroid $W = (\sum_{1}^{m} w_j)/m$ of the points w_j lies on L and hence $W \neq 0$ as was to be proved.

For the proof of Th. (45,2) we first consider the case that $g(z) \neq 0$ for |z| = 1(i.e., q = 0) and hence, by Lem. (45,2), $g'(z) \neq 0$. For any $\zeta \in C$ we have seen that the corresponding vector W has a positive component along R. As ζ moves counterclockwise on C, the line L rotates clockwise and thus arg $[g'(\zeta)/g(\zeta)]$ decreases by 2π . By the Principle of Argument (Th. (1,2)) g'(z) has one less zero than g(z) inside C and hence the same number of zeros as g(z) outside C.

In the case that $q \neq 0$, we let $\epsilon = (1/4)$ inf $|\lambda_j - \lambda_k|$ for $j \neq k, j, k = 1, 2, \cdots$, draw circles Γ_j of radius ϵ about each λ_j , and let C' be the smallest Jordan curve enclosing C and all the Γ_j , $j = 1, 2, \cdots, q$. Since the vector $(\zeta - \lambda_j)^{-1}$ rotates clockwise as ζ moves counterclockwise on $\Gamma_j \cap C'$, the vector W rotates clockwise as before as ζ moves counterclockwise on C' and we reach the same conclusions. We have thus completed the proof of Th. (45,2). In summary, we may say that, if the first and last coefficients of the $f_k(z)$ in (45,4) have the same modulus, then by applying Th. (45,1) or Th. (45,2) we may replace $f_k(z)$ by another polynomial having the same number of zeros in the circle |z| = 1 as does $f_k(z)$, but having first and last coefficients of unequal modulus. This replacement permits us to resume the computation of the δ_j inasmuch as the new δ_{k+1} is not zero.

EXERCISES. Prove the following.

1. Let $\Delta_k(r)$ be the value of the determinant Δ_k of Th. (43,1) for $a_k = b_k r^k$, $k = 0, 1, \dots, n$. Then the polynomial $g(z) = b_0 + b_1 z + \dots + b_n z^n$ has on the disk |z| < r the number p(r) of zeros and in the ring $r_1 < |z| < r_2$ the number $m(r_1, r_2)$ of zeros, these numbers being

$$p(r) = \mathscr{V}\{1, \Delta_1(r), \Delta_2(r), \cdots, \Delta_n(r)\},$$

$$m(r_1, r_2) = \mathscr{V}\{1, \Delta_1(r_2), \Delta_2(r_2), \cdots, \Delta_n(r_2)\} - \mathscr{V}\{1, \Delta_1(r_1), \Delta_2(r_1), \cdots, \Delta_n(r_1)\}.$$

It is assumed that all the $\Delta_k(r)$, $\Delta_k(r_1)$ and $\Delta_k(r_2)$ are different from zero [Cohn 1].

2. If in the sequence (42,7) $f_k(z)$ is the first $f_j(z)$ of the type g(z) in Th. (45,2), and if the polynomial $f_{k+1}(z) = z^{n-k-1}f'_k(1/z)$ has *m* zeros in the unit circle, then $f_k(z)$ and f(z) have each [n - k - 2m] zeros on the unit circle [Cohn 1].

3. A necessary and sufficient condition for all the zeros of g(z) to lie on the unit circle is that g(z) satisfy conditions (45,9) and that all the zeros of g'(z) lie in or on this circle [Cohn 1].

4. A necessary and sufficient condition that all the zeros of $f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + \cdots + a_n z^n$ lie on the circle |z| = 1 is that in eq. (42,8) all $a_k^{(1)} = 0$ and that also f'(z) have all its zeros in or on this circle [Schur 2].

5. Let N(f, E) and Q(f, E) denote respectively the total multiplicity of the zeros of f on a set E and the number of distinct poles of f on E. Let k and K be polynomials with deg $k > \deg K$; k(z) = f(z)g(z) and K(z) = F(z)G(z) where f, g, F, G are polynomials, f and F are self-inversive and N(g, |z| > 1) = N(G, |z| < 1). Then with $\phi(z) = k(z)/K(z)$

$$N(\phi', |z| > 1) = N(\phi, |z| > 1) + Q(\phi, |z| \ge 1)$$

[Bonsall-Marden 2]. Hint: Use reasoning similar to that for Th. (45,2).

The symbol $\S n$ at the close of an entry in this bibliography signifies that the *n*th section of our book refers to the entry and (or) contains allied material. As far as possible, we have used the abbreviations of the names of journals as given in Mathematical Reviews **29** (1965), 1419–1434.

ACHIEZER, N.

1. Minimum problem and number of zeros in the unit circle, Bull. Acad. Sci. URSS (7) 9 (1931), 1169–1189. (Russian) §43

Alexander, J. W.

- 1. Functions which map the interior of the unit circle upon simple regions, Ann. of Math. 17 (1915), 12-22. §23
- Allardice, R. E.
 - 1. On a limit of the roots of an equation that is independent of all but two of the coefficients, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 13 (1906–1907), 443–447. §34

ANCOCHEA, G.

- Sur l'équivalence de trois propositions de la théorie analytique des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 220 (1945), 579-581.
- Sur les polynômes dont les zéros sont symmetriques par rapport a un contour circulaire, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 221 (1945), 13–15.
- 3. Zeros of self-inversive polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1953), 900–902. §44 ANDREOLI, G.

1. Sui-limit i superiori dei moduli radici complessi di una data equazione algebrica, Rend. Accad. Sci. Fis. Nat. Napoli (3) 19 (1913), 97–105. §§27, 40

ANGHELUTZA, THEODOR

- Sur une extension d'un théorème de Hurwitz, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. Ser. I 12 (1933), 284–288; Acad. Roumaine Bull. Sect. Sci. 16 (1934), 119.
- 2. Une extension d'un théorème d'algèbre, Bull. Soc. Sci. Cluj 7 (1934), 374-376. §30
- 3. Sur une limite des modules des zéros des polynômes, Acad. Roumaine Bull. Sect. Sci. 21 (1939), 221–213; Bull. Soc. Math. France 67 (1939), 120–131. §33
- 4. Sur la détermination de l'indice d'une fonction rationnelle, Mathematica Timişoara 22 (1946), 41-50; Acad. Roumaine Bull. Sect. Sci. 28 (1946), 265-269. §37
- 5. On an upper limit for the moduli of the roots of an algebraic equation, Gaz. Mat. București 54 (1949), 309-311. (Romanian) §27
- 6. The number of roots with positive imaginary parts of an algebraic equation, Acad. Rep. Pop. Române. Bull. Ști. Ser. Mat. Fiz. Chim. 2 (1950), 129–136. (Romanian. Russian and French summaries) §40

 Sur le nombre des racines d'une équation algébrique, dont les parties imaginaires sont postives, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 74 (1950), 130–138.

Anžanyh, I. S.

1. On new stability inequalities, Avtomat. i Telemeh. 22 (1961), 430-442. (Russian. English

summary) Translated as Automat. Remote Control 22 (1961), 373–378. §§31, 40, 43 APARO, ENZO

- 1. Sul calcolo delle radici di un'equazione algebrica, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. (3) 3 (1948), 25–32. \$38
- Un criterio di Routh e sua applicazione al calcolo degli zeri di un polinomio, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei. Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. (8) 25 (1958), 26–30.
 ATKINSON, F. V.
- 1. Über die Nullstellen gewisser extremaler Polynome, Arch. Math. 3 (1952), 83-86. §5 AURIC, A.
 - 1. Généralisation d'un théorème de Laguerre, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 137 (1903), 967-969. §37

BAIER, O.

- 1. Die Hurwitzschen Bedingungen, Ber. Math.-Tagung Tübingen 1946, pp. 40-41 (1947);

 Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 28 (1948), 153-157.
 §40
- BAJŠANSKI, B. M.
- Sur les zéros de la dérivée d'une fonction rationnelle, Srpska Akad. Nauka. Zb. Rad. Mat. Inst. 43 (1955), 131–134. (Serbo-Croation summary) §20 BÁLINT, E.
 - 1. Bemerkung zu der Note des Herrn Fekete, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 34 (1925), 233-237. §24
- BALLIEU, R.
 - Limitations en module et localisations des zéros des polynômes, Mem. Soc. Roy. Sci. Liège (4) 1 (1936), 85-181.
 - Sur les limitations des racines d'une équation algébrique, Acad. Roy. Belg. Bull. Cl. Sci. (5) 33 (1947), 743-750.

BATEMAN, H.

1. The control of an elastic fluid, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 51 (1945), 601–646. §§36–40 BATSCHELET, E.

- 1. Untersuchungen über die absoluten Beträge der Wurzeln algebraischer, inbesondere kubischer Gleichungen, Verh. Naturforsch. Ges. Basel 55 (1944), 158–179. §28
- Über die absoluten Beträge der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Acta Math. 76 (1945), 253-260. §28
- Über die Schranken f
 ür die absoluten Bertr
 äge der Wurzeln von Polynomen, Comment. Math. Helv. 17 (1945), 128–134.
- 4. Über die Abschätzung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Elem. Math. 1 (1946), 73-81. §16
- BAUER, F. L.
 - 1. Ein direktes Iterationsverfahren zur Hurwitz-Zerlegung eines Polynomes, Arch. Elek. Übertr. 9 (1955), 285–290. §40

BELL, H. E.

1. Gershgorin's theorem and the zeros of polynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly 72 (1965), 292-295. §31

BENJAMINOWITSCH, S.

- 1. Über die Anzahl der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung in einer Halbebene und auf ihrem Rande, Lotos 82 (1934), 1–3. §39
- 2. Über die Anzahl der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung in einer Halbebene und auf ihrem Rande, Monatsh. Math. Phys. 42 (1935), 279–308. §§37, 39
- BENZ, E.
 - 1. Über lineare, verschiebungstreue Funktionaloperationen und die Nullstellen ganzer Funktionen, Comment. Math. Helv. 7 (1935), 243–289; especially p. 248. §16

VAN DEN BERG, F. J.

- 1. Over het verband tusschen de wortels eener vergelijking en die van hare afgeleide, Nieuw Arch. Wisk. 9 (1882), 1–14; Naschrift over het verband tusschen de wortels eener vergelijking en die van hare afgeleide, ibid. 60; Over het meetkundig verband tusschen de wortelpunten eener vergelijking en die hare afgeleide, ibid. 11 (1884), 153–186; Nogmaals over afgeleide wortelpunten, ibid. 15 (1888), 100–164, 190. §4
- BERLOTHY, S.

- 1. Über die Lage der Nullstellen von Linearkombinationen eines Polynoms und seiner Ableitungen in bezug auf einen Punkt, Tôhoku Math. J. 37 (1933), 52-68. §§13, 18
- 2. Über einige mit dem Satz von Kakeya verwandte Sätze, Math. Z. 37 (1933), 61–76. §30
- 3. Elementare Sätze über die Abgrenzung der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung, Acta. Sci. Math. Litt. Sci. Szeged 6 (1934), 209–221. §§27, 33

BIEBERBACH, L. and BAUER, L.

1. Vorlesungen über Algebra, Leipzig, Berlin, 1933; pp. 187-193, 204-221.

§§1, 6, 13, 15, 16, 19, 23, 34, 37, 42

^{1.} Sur les équations algébriques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 99 (1884), 745-747.§6BERNSTEIN, S.

^{1.} Leçons sur les propriétés extrémales (Collection Borel) Paris, 1926. §6 BERWALD, L.

BIEHLER, C.

 Sur une classe d'équations algébriques dont toutes les racines sont réeles, J. Reine Angew. Math. 87 (1879), 350-352.

BIERNACKI, M.

- 1. Sur les équations algébriques contenant des paramètres arbitraires, Thèse, Bull. Acad. Polonaise, Classe des Sciences Maths., Sér. A, 1927, pp. 541-685; C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 177 (1923), 1193-1194; ibid. 183 (1926), 106-107. §\$26, 34, 35
- 2. Sur l'équation du troisième degré, Mathematica (Cluj) 8 (1934), 196-200. §28
- 3. Sur les zéros des polynômes et sur les fonctions entières dont le développement taylorien présente des lacunes, Bull. Sci. Math. France (2) 69 (1945), 197–203. §§26, 35
- 4. Sur les zéros des polynômes, Ann. Univ. Mariae Curie-Skłodowska. Sect. A (1955), 81-98.

BILHARZ, H.

1. Über die Frequenzgleichung bei Stabilitätsuntersuchungen nach der Methode der kleinen Schwingungen, Jahrbuch 1940 der Deutschen Luftfahrtforschung, **1940**, 1565–1574.

§§36, 39

§6, 16, 17, 43

- Geometrische Darstellung eines Satzes von Hurwitz f
 ür Frequenzgleichungen f
 ünften und sechsten Grades, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 21 (1941), 96–102.
- 3. Bemerkung zu einem Satze von Hurwitz, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 24 (1944), 77-82. §§39, 40
- Vereinfachtes Kriterium f
 ür Hurwitzsche Gleichungen sechsten Grades, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 28 (1948), 275–276.

BIRKHOFF, G. D.

1. An elementary double inequality for the roots of an algebraic equation having greatest absolute value, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (1914), 494–495. §27

BLUMENTHAL, O.

1. Über rationale Polynome mit einer Minimumseigenschaft, J. Reine Angew. Math. 165 (1931), 237-246. §31

BÔCHER, M.

1. Über die Reihenentwickelungen der Potentialtheorie, Göttingen, 1894; pp. 215–218. 89

- 2. Some propositions concerning the geometric representation of imaginaries, Ann. of Math. 7 (1892), 70-76. §§4, 6
- 3. The roots of polynomials that satisfy certain differential equations of the second order, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1897), 256–258. §9
- 4. A problem in statics and its relation to certain algebraic invariants, Proc. Amer. Acad. Arts Sci. 40 (1904), 469-484. §§9, 11, 20

DE BOER, F.

1. Extension du théorème de Rolle, Arch. Néerland. 19 (1884), 207–240. §§5, 6 BOHL, P.

1. Zur Theorie der trinomischen Gleichungen, Math. Ann. 65 (1908), 556–566. §34 BOMPIANI, E.

1. Sulle condizioni sotto le quali un'equazione a coefficienti reali ammette solo radici con parte reale negativa, Giorn. Mat. 49 (1911), 33-39. §40

BONSALL, F. F. and MARDEN, M.

- 1. Zeros of self-inversive polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1952), 471-475.
- \$§42, 45
 2. Critical points of rational functions with self-inversive polynomial factors, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 111–114.

BOTHWELL, F. E.

- 1. Stability of voltage regulators, Trans. Amer. Inst. Elec. Engrs. 69 (1950), 1430-1433. §40
- 2. Nyquist diagrams and the Routh-Hurwitz stability criterion, Proc. I.R.E. 38 (1950), 1345–1348 §40

BOTTEMA, O.

 The Routh-Hurwitz condition for the biquadratic equation, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 59 = Indag. Math. 18 (1956), 403–406.

 Zur Stabilitätsfrage bei Eigenwertproblemen, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 61 = Indag. Math. 20 (1958), 501-504.
 §40

BOYD, A. V.

- 1. Linear transformations of sequences, Amer. Math. Monthly 68 (1961), 262–263. §43 BRAUER, A.
 - 1. Limits for the characteristic roots of a matrix, Duke Math. J. 13 (1946), 387-395. §31
 - 2. Limits for the characteristic roots of a matrix. II, Duke Math. J. 14 (1947), 21-26. §31
 - 3. Limits for the characteristic roots of a matrix. III, Duke Math. J. 15 (1948), 871-877. \$31
 - 4. On algebraic equations with all but one root in the interior of the unit circle, Math. Nachr. 4 (1951), 250-257. §43
 - 5. Limits for the characteristic roots of a matrix. IV. Applications to stochastic matrices, Duke Math. J. 19 (1952), 75–91. §31
 - 6. Limits for the characteristic roots of a matrix. V, Duke Math. J. 19 (1952), 533-562.
 - Matrices with all their characteristic roots in the interior of the unit circle, J. Elisha Mitchell Sci. Soc. 68 (1952), 180–183.
 - 7a. Über die Lage der charakteristischen Wurzeln einer Matrix, J. Reine Angew. Math. 192 (1953), 113–116.
 - 8. Bounds for the ratios of the co-ordinates of the characteristic vectors of a matrix, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 41 (1955), 162–164. §31
 - The theorems of Lederman and Ostrowski on positive matrices, Duke Math. J. 24 (1957), 265-274.
 - 9. A new proof of theorems of Perron and Frobenius on non-negative matrices. I. Positive matrices, Duke Math. J. 24 (1957), 367-378. §31
 - 10. A method for the computation of the greatest root of a positive matrix, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. 5 (1957), 250-253. §31
 - On the characteristic roots of non-negative matrices, Recent Advances in Matrix Theory, (Proc. Advanced Seminar, Math. Res. Center, U.S. Army, Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1963), pp. 3-38, Univ. of Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wis., 1964.

1. Limits for characteristic roots of a matrix. VI. Numerical computation of characteristic roots and the error in the approximate solution of linear equations, Duke Math. J. 22 (1955), 253-261. §31

BRAUER, A. and MEWBORN, A. C.

- 1. The greatest distance between two characteristic roots of a matrix, Duke Math. J. 26 (1959), 653-662. §27
- BROMBERG, P. V. See CYPKIN, YA. Z.

BROWN, B. M.

1. The mathematical theory of linear systems, Wiley, New York, 1961; pp. 119–152. §42 DE BRUIJN, N. G.

- 1. On the zeros of a polynomial and its derivative, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 49 (1946), 1037-1044 = Indag. Math. 8 (1946), 635-642. §§7, 13
- 2. Inequalities concerning polynomials in the complex domain, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 50 (1947), 1265-1272 = Indag. Math. 9 (1947), 591-598. §§1, 6, 16
- 3. Some theorems on the roots of polynomials, Nieuw Arch. Wisk. (2) 23 (1949), 66-68.

\$\$16, 18 4. An analogue of Grace's apolarity theorem, Nieuw Arch. Wisk. (2) 23 (1949), 69-76. \$15 DE BRUIJN, N. G. and SPRINGER, T. A.

1. On the zeros of a polynomial and its derivative. II, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 50 (1947), 264-270 = Indag. Math. 9 (1947), 458-464. §13

2. On the zeros of composition-polynomials, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 50 (1947), 895-903 = Indag. Math. 9 (1947), 406-414. §16

BUECKNER, H.

1. A formula for an integral occurring in the theory of linear servomechanisms and control systems, Quart. Appl. Math. 10 (1952), 205-213. §40

- ČAKALOV (TCHAKALOFF), L.
 - Sur une généralisation du théorème de Rolle pour les polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 202 (1936), 1635–1637.

BRAUER, A. and LA BORDE, H. T.

- 2. Sur un problème de Laguerre, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 204 (1937), 842-844; Sur un problème de Laguerre et ses généralisations, ibid. 205 (1937), 355-357. §17
- 3. Über einen Satz von Laguerre und seine Verallgemeinerungen, Math. Ann. 115 (1938), 163-174. §17
- 4. Sur les domaines d'univalénce des polynômes algébriques, Ann. Univ. Sci. Budapest Eötvös Sect. Math. 3-4 (1960/61), 357-361. §25
- 5. Sur la distribution des zéros d'une classe de polynômes algébriques, C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. 13 (1960), 249-252. (Russian summary). **§17**
- CARGO, G. T. and Shisha, O.
 - 1. Zeros of polynomials and fractional order differences of their coefficients, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 7 (1963), 176–182. §30
- CARMICHAEL, R. D.
 - 1. Elementary inequalities for the roots of an algebraic equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (1917-1918), 286-296. §27
- CARMICHAEL, R. D. and MASON, T. E.
- 1. Note on the roots of algebraic equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (1914), 14-22. §27 CAUCHY, A. L.
 - 1. Exercises de mathématique, in Oeuvres (2) Vol. 9, 1829, p. 122. **§27**
 - 2. Calcul des indices des fonctions, in Oeuvres (2) Vol. 1, 1829, pp. 416-466; J. École Polytech. §37
- 25 (1837), 176-229.
- ČEBOTAREV, N. G.
 - 1. Über die Fortsetzbarkeit von Polynomen auf geschlossene Kurven, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 32 (1941), 3-6. §§1, 44
 - 2. On Hurwitz's problem for transcendental functions, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 33 (1941), 479-481. §37
 - 3. On entire functions with real interlacing roots, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 35 (1942), 195-197. §§37, 40
 - 4. On some modification of Hurwitz's problem, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) §37 35 (1942), 223–226.

ČEBOTAREV, N. G. and MEIMAN, N. N.

- 1. The Routh-Hurwitz problem for polynomials and entire functions, Appendix by G. S. Barhin and A. N. Hovanskii on real quasipolynomials, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 26 §§37, 40 (1949).
- CESÀRO, E.
 - 1. Solution de la question 1338 proposée par Laguerre, Nouv. Ann. Math. (3a) 4 (1885), §6 328-350 §6
 - 2. Sur la distribution des zéros, Nouv. Ann. Math. (3) 6 (1887), 36-43.
 - 3. Relazioni fra radici dell'equazioni cubica e quelle della sur derivata, Period Mat. Livorno <u></u>§4 (2) 3 (1900), 81-83.

CHAMBERLIN, E. and WOLFE, J.

87 1. The critical points of certain polynomials, Duke Math. J. 20 (1953), 71-76.

- 2. Note on a converse of Lucas's theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 203-205. §6 CHANG, T. H.
- 1. Verallgemeinerung des Satzes von Kakeya, Tôkoku Math. J. 43 (1937), 79-83. **§30** CHIPART, M. H. See LIÉNARD, A.
- CIPPOLA, M.
 - 1. Il teorema delle continuita delle radici de un'equazioni algebrica, Escercitazioni Mat. §1 4 (1921), 17-22.
- COBLE, A. B.

1. Über die Anzahl der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung in einem Kreise, Math. Z. 14 §§15, 16, 27, 42, 43, 45 (1922), 110–148.

COLOMBO, G.

- 1. Intorno alla distribuzione degli zeri di certi polinomi, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. **§**37 Sci. Fiz. Mat. Nat. (8) 3 (1947), 530-535.
- COLUCCI, A.
 - 1. Sopra i polinomi definite e le equazioni algebriche a coefficienti complessi, Rend. Sem. §§37, 40 Mat. Roma. 3 (1939), 84–95.

^{1.} A covariant of three circles, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (1921), 434-437. §22 COHN, A.

COOLIDGE, J. L.

1. The continuity of the roots of an algebraic equation, Ann. of Math. 9 (1908), 116–118. §1 COPPEL, W. A.

1. Stability and asymptotic behavior of differential equations, D. C. Heath Co., Boston, 1965; Appendix. §§36-40

VAN DER CORPUT, J. G. See SCHAAKE, G.

CORRAL, J. J.

1. Nuevos teoremas que resuelven el problema da Hurwitz, Imprenta Clasica Espanola, Madrid, 1921. §40

 Nueva solucion del problema de Lord Kelvin sobre ecuaciones de coefficientes reales, Rev. Real Acad. Ci. Exact. Fis. Natur. Madrid 22 (1928), 25-31.

COTTON, E. and YUAN, M. M.

1. Sur les critères de stabilité de Rouih et de Hurwitz, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 72 (1948), 115–128. §§36–40

COUFFIGNAL, L.

1. Recherches de mathématiques utilisables. Sur les conditions de stabilité des systèmes oscillants, Rev. Sci. 83 (1945), 195-210. §§36, 40

COWLING, V. F. and THRON, W. J.

1. Zero-free regions of polynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly 61 (1954), 682-687. §30

2. Zero-free regions of polynomials, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 20 (1956), 307–310. §30 Спемен, Н.

1. Über den Zusammenhang zwischen den Routhschen und den Hurwitzschen Stabilitätskriterien, Z. Agnew. Math. Mech. 25/27 (1947), 160–161. §40

CREMER, H. and EFFERTZ, F. H.

1. Über die algebraischen Kriterien für die Stabilität von Regelungssystemen, Math. Ann. 137 (1959), 328–350. §40

CREMER, L.

 Ein neues Verfahren zur Beurteilung der Stabilität linearer Regelungs-Systeme, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 25/27 (1947), 161–163.

ČUPR, K.

1. Généralisation d'un problème de Hurwitz, J. Math. Phys. Prague 57 (1928), 81-86. §37 CURTISS, D. R.

- 1. A note on the preceding paper (Walsh [6]), Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (1922), 181-184. §15
- 2. A mechanical analogy in the theory of equations, Science 55 (1922), 189-194.

§§3, 6, 7, **9**, 11, 13, 20, 23

§36

§40

§31

CYPKIN, YA. Z.

1. Theory of impulse systems, Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1958; pp. 423–427. (Russian) §42 CYPKIN, YA. Z. and BROMBERG, P. V.

1. On the degree of stability of linear systems, Bull. Acad. Sci. URSS Cl. Sci. Tech. [Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR] 1945, 1163–1168. (Russian) §36

DALL' AGNOLA, C. A.

 Sulla distribuzione delle radici della derivita di una funzione razionale, Rend. Reale Accad. Lincei 13 (1904), 337-339.

Derwidué, L.

- 1. Sur certains équations de Hurwitz, Mathesis 65 (1956), 37-40.
- 2. Introduction à l'algèbre supérieure et au calcul numérique algébrique, Masson, Paris, 1957.
- 3. Sur le nombre des racines à partie réelle positive des équations algébriques, Mathesis 66 (1957), 144-151. §40
- 4. Sur des équations obtenues à partir de déterminants, Mathesis 67 (1958), 214-217. §40

5. Sur la localisation des zéros des polynômes à coefficients complexes, Mathesis 68 (1959), 13-23. §40

DESPLANQUES, J.

1. Théorème d'algèbre,	J. de Math. Spec	. 9 (1887), 12-13
DIAS AGUDO, F. R.	•	

- 1. On a theorem of Kakeya, Gaz. Mat. Lisboa 13 (1952), no. 53, 1-3. (Portuguese) §30 DIONÍSIO, J. J.
 - 1. On the localization of the characteristic roots of a matrix, Univ. Lisboa Revista Fac. Ci. A(2) 8 (1960), 33-38. §31

DIEUDONNÉ, J.

- 1. Sur une généralisation du théorème de Rolle aux fonctions d'une variable complexe, Ann. of Math. (2) 31 (1930), 79–116. §23
- Recherches sur quelques problèmes relatifs aux polynômes et aux fonctions bornées d'une variable complexe, Thèse, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3) 48 (1931), 247–272, 273–320, 321–358.
- 3. Sur les polynômes dont toutes les racines sont intérieures au cercle unité, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 56 (1932), 176–178. §§23, 25
- Sur le théorème de Grace et les relations algébriques analogues, Bull. Soc. Math. France 60 (1932), 173-196.
- Sur quelques propriétés des polynômes, Actualités Sci. Indust. No. 114, Hermann, Paris, 1934,

 §
 §23, 25
- 6. Sur une équation quadrinome, Mathematica (Cluj) 10 (1935), 37-45. §35
- Sur quelques points de la théorie des zéros des polynômes, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 58 (1934), 273-296.
- Sur le module maximum des zéros d'un polynôme, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 198 (1934), 528-530.
 §§32, 34
- 9. Sur un problème de la théorie des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 199 (1934), 999-1001.
- Sur la variation des zéros des derivées des fractions rationnelles, Ann. École Norm. (3) 54 (1937), 101–150; Sur les zéros de la dérivée d'une fraction rationnelle, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 198 (1934), 1966–1967; Sur les dérivées des fractions rationnelles, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 203 (1936), 975–977.
- 11. La théorie analytique des polynômes d'une variable, Mémor. Sci. Math. No. 93 (1938). §§6, 8, 13, 15-20, 23, 24, 27-30, 32-35, 40, 42, 43, 45
- 12. L'aspect qualitatif de la théorie analytique des polynômes, Ann. of Math. 40 (1939), 748-754. §§34, 35
- Quelques résultats quantitatifs de théorie analytique des polynômes, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 19 (1940), 121–132.

DINI, U.

- Un teorema sui limiti superiori e inferiori dei moduli della radici di un'equazione algebriche, Ann. Mat. 1 (1898), 77–81.
- DI POALA, J. See SHERMAN, S.
- DOBRZCKI, S.
 - 1. On the geometry of zeros of polynomials, Prace Mat. 2 (1956), 94-116. (Polish. Russian and English summaries) §§6, 27

Dočev, K.

- Some theorems on the geometry of zeros, Búlgar. Akad. Nauk. Izv. Mat. Inst. 7 (1963), 51-60. (Bulgarian. Russian and English summaries.)
- 2. On a theorem of N. Obreškov, Bulgar. Akad. Nauk. Izv. Mat. Inst. 6 (1962), 83-88. (Bulgarian. Russian and French summaries.) §16

DUNKEL, O.

1. Sufficient condition for imaginary roots of algebraic equations, Ann. of Math. 10 (1908), 46-54. §40

ECHOLS, W. H.

- 1. Note on the roots of the derivative of a polynomial, Amer. Math. Monthly 27 (1920), 299-300. §7
- EFFERTZ, F. H. See CREMER, H.

EGERVÁRY, E.

- 1. On a maximum-minimum problem and its connection with the roots of equations, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 1 (1922), 38-45. §§15, 16
- 2. Eine auf die symmetrischen multi-linear Formen bezügliche Minimum-aufgabe, Mat. Fiz. Lapok 29 (1922), 21–43. §15
- Über die Wurzeln trinomischer Gleichungen, Mat. Fiz. Lapok 37 (1930), 36-57. (Hungarian. German summary) §34
- 4. On a generalization of a theorem of Kakeya, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 5 (1931), 78-92.

§30

§18

EGGLESTON, H. G.

1. Convexity, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics and Mathematical Physics, No. 47, Cambridge Univ. Press, New York, 1958; pp. 34-38. §5 ENESTRÖM, G. 1. Remarque sur un théorème relatif aux racines de l'équation $a_n x^n + \cdots + a_0 = 0$ où tous les coefficients sont réels et positifs, Tôhoku Math. J. 18 (1920), 34-36. Translation of a Swedish article in Öfversigt af Konigl. Vetenskaps Akademiens Förhandlingar. 50 (1893), 405–415. §§30, 42 Erdös, P. 1. Some remarks on polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947), 1169-1176. §42 2. On extremal properties of the derivative of polynomials, Ann. of Math. (2) 41 (1940), 310-313. §6 3. Some unsolved problems, Michigan Math. J. 4 (1957), 291-300. §1 ERDÖS, P, HERZOG, F. and PIRANIAN, G. 1. Polynomials whose zeros lie on the unit circle, Duke Math. J. 22 (1955), 347-351. §44 2. Metric properties of polynomials, J. Analyse Math. 6 (1958), 125-148. §8 ERDÖS, P. and NIVEN, I. 1. On the roots of a polynomial and its derivative, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 54 (1948), 184-190. §13 ERDÖS, P. and TURÁN, P. 1. On a problem in the theory of uniform distribution. I, II, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 51 (1948), 1146-1154, 1262-1269 = Indag. Math. 10 (1948), 370-378, 406-413. **§**41 2. On the distribution of roots of polynomials, Ann. of Math. (2) 51 (1950), 105-119. §41 ERIM, K. 1. Ein algebraisches Theorem, Université d'Istanbul, Faculté des Sciences, Istanbul, 1948; pp. 33-38. §28 EVANS, J. P. See WALSH, J. L. FAEDO, S. 1. Un nuovo problema di stabilità per le equazioni algebriche a coefficienti reali, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 7 (1953), 53-63. §40 FAN, KY. 1. A comparison theorem for eigenvalues of normal matrices, Pacific J. Math. 5 (1955), 911-913. §31 2. Topological proofs for certain theorems on matrices with non-negative elements, Monatsh. Math. 62 (1958), 219–237. §31 3. Note on circular disks containing the eigenvalues of a matrix, Duke Math. J. 25 (1958), 441-445. §31 Faragó, T. 1. Ueber Nullfreie Bereiche von Polynomen, Period. Polytech. 8 (1964), 101-114. §27 FAVARD, J. 1. Sur les zéros des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris. 192 (1931), 716-718. §16 2. Les théorèmes de la moyenne pour les polynômes, Actualités Sci. Indust. No. 302, Hermann, Paris, 1936. §16 3. Remarques sur le théorème de Grace, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 60 (1936), 79-96. §16 Fejér, L. 1a. Über die Wurzel von kleinsten absoluten Beträge einer algebraischen Gleichung, Math. Ann. 65 (1908), 413-423. §34 1b. Sur la racine de moindre module d'une équation algébrique, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 145 (1907), 459-461. §34 2. Ueber Kreisgebiete, in denen eine Wurzel einer algebraischen Gleichung liegt, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 26 (1917), 114-128. §13 3. Ueber die Lage der Nullstellen von Polynomen die aus Minimumforderungen gewisser Art entspringen, Math. Ann. 85 (1922), 41-48. §§5, 6 4. Ueber ein trigonometrisches Analogon eines Kakeyaschen Satzes, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 38 (1929), 231–238. §30 5. Trigonometrische Reihen und Potenzreihen mit mehrfach monotoner Koeffizientenfolge, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 39 (1936), 18-59. §30

214

FEKETE, M.

- 1. Über die Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen mit bekannten ersten Koeffizienten, Math. Term. Értesito (Acad. Sci. Budapest) 36 (1918), 363-372. (Hungarian) §34
- 2. Beweis eines Satzes von Jentzsch, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 31 (1922), 42-48. <u>§8</u>
- 3 Ueber Zwischenwerte bei komplexen Polynomen, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 1 (1923), 98-100. §§8, 24
- 4. Analoga zu den Sätzen von Rolle und Bolzano für komplexe Polynome und Potenzreihen mit Lücken, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 32 (1924), 299-306. §§8, 34
- 5. Ueber Gebiete, in denen komplexe Polynome jeden Wert zwischen zwei gegebenen annehmen, Math. Z. 22 (1925), 1-7. §§8, 24
- 6. Ueber die Nullstellenverteilung bei Polynomen, deren Wert an zwei Stellen gegeben ist, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 34 (1925), 220-233. §§8, 24
- 7. Ueber Wertverteilung bei rationalen Funktionen einer komplexen Veränderlichen, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 4 (1929), 234–243. §§8, 24
- 8. On the structure of extremal polynomials, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 37 (1951), 95-103. §§5-7

FEKETE, M. and VON NEUMANN, J. L.

- 1. Über die Lage der Nullstellen gewisser Minimumpolynome, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 31 (1922), 125-138. §7
- FEKETE, M. and WALSH, J. L.
 - 1. On the asymptotic behavior of polynomials with extremal properties and of their zeros, J. Analyse Math. 4 (1955), 49–87. §5 §5 **§**5
 - 2. On restricted infrapolynomials, J. Analyse Math. 5 (1956/57), 47-76.
 - 3. Asymptotic behavior of restricted extremal polynomials and their zeros, Pacific J. Math. 7 §5 (1957), 1037–1064.

FERENTINUO-NICOLACOPOULOU, J.

1. Two new methods for the localization of zeros of polynomials in one variable, Thesis, Athens University, Athens, 1964. (Greek. French summary.) §§27, 28 FICHERA, G.

1. Alcune osservazioni sulle condizioni di stabilità per le equazioni algebriche a coefficienti reali, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. (3) 2 (1947), 103-109. §§37, 40

Ford, L. R.

- 1. On the roots of the derivative of a rational function, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. 33 (1915), 103-106. §20
- FOUSIANIS, CHR.
 - 1. Sur un théorème de M. M. Carathéodory et Fejér, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 197 (1933), §34 1184-1185.
 - 2. Sur les racines des équations algébriques, Atti. Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. (6) 17 (1933), 794-797. §34
- 3. Sur les zéros des polynômes, Prak. Akad. Athenon 9 (1934), 22-26. §28 FRANK, E.
 - 1. On the zeros of polynomials with complex coefficients, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 52 (1946), 144–157; ibid. 52 (1946), 890–898. §§38, 39, 40, 42
 - 2. On the real parts of the zeros of complex polynomials and applications to continued fraction expansions of analytic functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 62 (1947), 272-283. §37
 - 3. On methods for the location of the zeros of complex polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947), 52, Abstract 30. §§42, 43
 - 4. On certain determinantal equations, Amer. Math. Monthly 59 (1952), 300-309. §40 §40

5. A note on certain determinantal equations, Math. Nachr. 19 (1958), 182-185.

6. Calculation of the zeros of a polynomial, Univ. Lisboa Revista Fac. Ci.A(2) 8 (1960), 5-19. §40

FRISSEL, H. F. See SHERMAN, S.

FROBENIUS, G.

1. Über Matrizen aus positiven Elementen, S.-B. Kgl. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin 26 (1908), 471-476 §31

FRY, T. C.

1. Some numerical methods for locating roots of polynomials, Quart. Appl. Math. 3 (1945), 89-105 §40

FUJIWARA, M.

- 1. Ueber die Wurzeln der algebraischen Gleichungen, Tôhoku Math. J. 8 (1915), 78–85. §40
 - 1a. Ueber die Polynome von der kleinsten totalen Schwankung, Tôhoku Math. J. 3 (1913), 129-136.
 - Einige Bemerkungen über die elementare Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Tôhoku Math. J. 9 (1916), 102–108. §§4, 18, 37
 - 3. Ueber die obere Schranke des absoluten Betrages der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung, Tôhoku Math. J. 10 (1916), 167–171. §30
 - 4. Ueber die Bezoutiante zweier Polynome, Jap. J. Math. 2 (1925), 9-12. §§40, 43
 - 5. Ueber die algebraische Gleichungen deren Wurzeln in einem Kreise oder in einer Halbebene liegen, Math. Z. 24 (1926), 160–169. §§40, 43
- Fuller, Ă. T.

1. Stability criteria for linear systems and realizability criteria for RC networks, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 53 (1957), 878-896. §40

- FULLER, A. T. and MACMILLAN, R. H.
 - 1. Expressions for the damping and natural frequency of linear systems, Quart. J. Mech. Appl. Math. 9 (1956), 345-359. §40

GAGAEV, B. M.

1. Landau's theorem for polynomials, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 3 (1948), no. 2 (24), 229–233. (Russian) §34

- GANTMAHER (GANTMACHER), F. R.
 - 1. Applications of the theory of matrices, translation from Russian by J. L. Brenner, Interscience, New York, 1959. §31

Gasapina, U.

1. Il teorema fondamentale dell'algebrica, Period. Mat. (4) 35 (1957), 149–163. §1 GASPAR TEIXEIRA, JOSÉ

- 1. Sur une certaine classe de polynômes à coefficients complexes, Anais Fac. Ci. Pôrto 29 (1944), 81-88. §27
- 2. Some applications of the analytic theory of polynomials, Gaz. Mat. Lisboa 12 (1951), no. 50, 77-80. (Portuguese) §§27, 40, 43
- GAUSS, K. F.
 - Collected Works, Vol. 3, p. 112; Vol. 8, p. 32; Vol. 10, part II (By L. Schlesinger), pp. 189-191.
 - Beiträge zur Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Abh. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, Vol. 4 (1850), Ges. Werke, Vol. 3, pp. 73-102.

GAVRILOV, L.

- 1. Über F-Polynome. V. Über K-Fortsetzbarkeit der Polynome, Bull. Soc. Phys.-Math. Kazan (3) 12 (1940), 139-146. §1
- Sur la K-prolongation des polynômes, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 32 (1941), 235-236.
- 3. On K-prolongable polynomials, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 37 (1942), 246-249. (Russian) §1
- 4. On the continuation of polynomials, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 4 (1949), no. 3 (31), 181–182. (Russian) §1
- 5. On K-extension of polynomials, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 36 (78) (1955), 271-274. (Russian) §1
- 6. On the K-continuability of polynomials, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 135 (1960), 515-516 (Russian); translated as Soviet Math. Dokl. 1 (1961), 1273-1275. §1

GERSCHGORIN, S.

1. Über die Abgrenzung der Eigenwerte einer Matrix, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 7 (1931), 749-754. §31

GONGGRYP, B.

1. Quelques théorèmes concernant la relation entre les zéros d'un polynôme et ceux d'un polynôme de degré inférieur, J. Math. Pures Appl. (7) 1 (1915), 353-365. §6

- GOODMAN, R. E. (O'DONNELL, R. E.)
 - 1. A note on the location of the zeros of polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1952), 116-119. §41

216

 K-polar polynomials, Pacific J. Math. 12 (1962), 1277-1288. A certain class of polynomials, Pacific J. Math. (to appear). 	§15 §15
GRACE, J. H. 1. The zeros of a polynomial, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 11 (1902), 352-357.	
GROSSMAN K. H. §§4, 6,	15, 23
 Elementare Begründung und Verschärfung des Hurwitzschen Stabilitätskrite Schweiz. Arch. Angew. Wiss. Tech. 14 (1948), 242–247. 	<i>riums</i> , §40
GUGGENHEIMER, H.	877
2. On a note by Q. G. Mohammad, Amer. Math. Monthly, 71 (1964), 54–55.	§27 §27
HADWIGER, H.	
1. Über Wurzelnabschätzungen bei algebraischen Gleichungen, Mathematica Cl (1939), 157–159.	uj 15 §27
Haenzel, G.	
1. Ein neuer Satz über die Nullstellen ganzer rationaler Funktionen, SB. Berlin. Ges. 27 (1928), 16–19.	Math. §4
HAN, KHWAT IIK	
1. On the zeros of polynomials of the form $\beta f(z) = zf'(z)$, Dissertation, Univ. Inde 1957.	onesia, §13
HAN, KHWAT TIK and KUIPERS, L.	
 On a proof of the Lucas theorem concerning the zeros of the derivative of a polyn Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 58=Indag. Math. 17 (1955), 435-437. Some remarks on the Cauchy index theorem, Tohoku Math. J. (2) 9 (1957), 23 	<i>iomial</i> , §17 8–242. §37, 40
HARADZE (KHARADSE), A.	,- , ,
 Eine Anwendung des Graceschen Faltungssatzes, Mitt. Georg. Abt. Akad. Wiss. U (1940), 175–180. (Russian. German summary) 	SSR 1 §16
Науазні, Т.	
 On a theorem of Mr. Kakeya's, Tôhoku Math. J. 2 (1912–13), 215. On the roots of an algebraic equation, Tôhoku Math. J. 3 (1913), 110–115. Relation between the roots of a polynomial and its derivative, Ann. of Math. 15 	\$30 \$30 (1914),
112–113.	80
HEAWOOD, P. J.	(1007)
1. Geometrical relations between the roots of $f(x) = 0$, $f'(x) = 0$, Quart. J. Math. 38 84-107.	(1907), §§4, 23
HEIGL, F. 1. Über die Abschätzung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen. Monatsh. Math. 62	(1958).
16-55.	§30
2. Einige Schranken für die Absolutbeträge der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Mo Math. 63 (1959). 287–297	natsh. 827
3. Zur Verteilung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Monatsh. Math. 66 (1962), 31	3-321.
4. Neuere Entwicklungen in der Geometrie der Polynome, Jber. Deutsch. Math 65 (1962/63) Abt 1 97-142 8827 32 33	Verein. 40 43
Heine, E.	40, 45
1. Handbuch der Kugelfunctionen, Bd. I (2nd ed.), J. Springer, Berlin, 1878; pp. 472-4	76. §9
HEINHOLD, J. 1. Zur Abschätzung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Monatsh. Math. 59	(1955),
203–216.	§30
HERGLOTZ, G. 1. Ueber die Wurzeln trinomischer Gleichungen. Leipziger Berichte. MathPhys.	Klasse
74 (1922), 1–8.	§35
 Ueber die Wurzelanzahl algebraischer Gleichungen innerhalb und auf dem Einheit Math. Z. 19 (1924), 26–34. 	skreis, §43
Hermite, C.	-
 Sur le nombre des racines d'une équation algébrique comprise entre des limites donn Reine Angew. Math. 52 (1854), 39-51; also in Oeuvres complètes, Vol. 1, pp. 39 § 	<i>iées</i> , J. 7–414. §38, 43

2. Sur l'indice des fractions rationnelles, Bull. Soc. Math. France 7 (1879), 128-131; Oeuvres complètes, Vol. 3, pp. 509-512.	; also in §37
 I. Un critère de stabilité déduit du théorème de Sturm, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 228 1183-1184. 	3 (1949), §38
2. Un critère de stabilité pour les équations caractéristiques a coefficients réels ou co Recherche Aéronautique 1949, no. 9, 19-23.	mplexes, §37
HERZOG, F. See ERDOS, P.	
HILBERT, L.	
1. Resolution des equations $z^n = z - a$, Bull. Sci. Math. 65 (1941), 21-50.	§ 34
HILLE, E.	0.05 01
1. Analytic function theory, Vol. 11, Ginn, Boston, 1962.	882, 31
1. Functional analysis and semi-groups, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. Vol. 31, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, P. J. 1957	rev. ed., 814
HÖRMANDER I	814
1 On a theorem of Grace Math Scand 2 (1954) 55-64 881	4 15 20
Horváth. Ján	,, 10, 20
1. A note on a property of a pair of real polynomials, MatFyz. Časopis. Slover Vied. 10 (1960), 105–110. (Slovak. Russian and English summaries)	n. Akad. §37
HOUSEHOLDER, A. S.	
 On the matrices with non-negative elements, Monatsh. Math. 62 (1958), 238-242. Localization of the characteristic roots of matrices, Recent Advances in Matrix (Proc. Advanced Seminar, Math. Res. Center, U.S. Army, Univ. Wisconsin, N Wis., 1963), pp. 39-60, Univ. Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wis., 1964. 	§31 Theory Aadison, §31
3. Theory of matrices in numerical analysis, Blaisdell Publ. Co., New York, 1964.	
HURWITZ, A. 1 Under die Mullatellen der Bererlierben Frunction Math. Ann. 22 (1990) 246 24	(f) alao
in Math. Werke, Vol. 1, pp. 266–286.	\$1
Theilen besitz, Math. Ann. 46 (1895), 273–284; Math. Werke, Vol. 2, pp. 3	533–545. §§37, 40
3. Ueber einen Satz des Herrn Kakeya, Tôhoku Math. J. 4 (1913–14), 89–93; Math Vol. 2, pp. 626–631.	. Werke, §§30, 33
IGLISCH, R.	** .*
1. Zur Stetigkeit der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung, Jber. Deutsch. Math 7 (1944), 520-521.	-verein. §1
IKWIN, F. 1. Polation between the same of a national interval function and its devination App	of Math
1. Kelalion between the zeros of a rational integral function and its derivative, Kill. (16 (1914–15), 138.	§6
1 Note on the roots of algebraic equations Toboky Math I 30 (1929) 468-471	833
I. Note on the roots of algebraic equations, Tonoka Math. 5. 50 (1727), 400-471.	300
 Sur les zéros des polynômes contenant des paramètres arbitraires, Ann. Univ. Curie-Skiowdowska Sect. A 5 (1951). 31-92. 	Mariae §§17, 32
2. Sur les zéros d'un polynôme contenant un paramètre arbitraire, Ann. Polon. Math. 304-311.	3 (1957), §§17, 32
Jarominek, V.	
1. The equivalence of the Routh-Hurwitz and the Markov stability criteria, Dok Nauk SSSR 130 (1960), 1224–1227 (Russian); translated as Soviet Physics (1960), 78–82.	l. Akad. Dokl. 5 §40
JENSEN, J. L. W.	
1. Recherches sur la théorie des équations, Acta Math. 36 (1913), 181-185.	§7
JENTZSCH, K. 1 Aufgabe 526 Arch Math Phys 25 (1917) 196	88
IIHEI-RÉNOV I	30
 Sur les affixes des racines d'un polynôme et du polynôme dérivé, C. R. Acad. S 142 (1906), 700. 	ci. Paris 84
2. Sur un problème de mécanique, Nouv. Ann. de Math. 7 (1907), 385-395.	§6

218

JUNG, H. W. E.

1. Zwei merkwürdige Punkte des Dreiecks, Hallische Monographien no. 6, p. 3, Max Niemeyer Verlag, Halle (Saale), 1948. §4

JURY, E. I.

- 1. Sample-data control systems, Wiley, New York, 1958. §§40, 42, 43
- 2. The theory and application of z-transform methods, Wiley, New York, 1964. §§40, 42, 43 JURY, E. I. and PAVLIDIS, T.
 - 1. Stability and aperiodicity constraints for system designs, IEEE Trans. Circuit Theory 1 (1963), 137-141. §40

KAC, A. M.

1. On the criterion of aperiodic stability, Prikl. Mat. Meh. 15 (1951), 120. (Russian) §40 KAKEYA, S.

- 1. On the limits of the roots of an algebraic equation with positive coefficients, Tôhoku Math. J. 2 (1912–1913), 140–142. §§30, 42
- On the zero points of a power series with positive coefficients, Tôhoku Math. J. 3 (1913), 21-22.
- 2. On zeros of a polynomial and its derivatives, Tôhoku Math. J. 11 (1917), 5-16. §§15, 23, 25
- 3. On algebraic equations having the roots of limited magnitude, Proc. Phys.-Math. Soc. Japan (3) 3 (1921), 94-100. §§15, 18
- 4. On the smallest convex polygon of the roots, Proc. Phys.-Math. Soc. Japan (3) 4 (1922), 118-124. §6

KARAMATA, J.

- Sur la limite inférieure des modules des zéros des fonctions analytiques, Publ. Acad. Roy. Serbe. 127 (1927), 103–117.
- KARAMATA, J. and TOMIĆ, M.

1. Considérations géométriques relatives aux polynômes et séries trigonométriques, Acad. Serbe Sci. Publ. Inst. Math. 2 (1948), 157–175. §30 KELLEHER, S. B.

- 1. Des limites des zéros d'un polynome, J. Math. Pures Appl. 2 (1916), 169–171. §27 KELLOGG, O. D.
- 1. On bounded polynomials in several variables, Math. Z. 27 (1928), 55–64. §14 KEMPNER, A. J.
 - 1. Extract of a letter to the editor (remarking on Kakeya's Theorem), Tôhoku Math. J. 4 (1914), 94-95. §30
 - Ueber irreduzible Gleichungen die unter ihren Wurzeln auch solcher mit rationalen reellen Teil oder mit rationalem absolutem Betrag zulassen, Arch. Math. Phys. (3) 25 (1916), 236-242.
 - 3. On equations admitting roots of the form $e^{i\theta}$, Tôhoku Math. J. 10 (1916), 115-117. §44
 - 4. On irreducible equations admitting roots of the form $\alpha + \rho e^{i\theta}$, Tôhoku Math. J. 13 (1918), 253–265. §44
 - Ueber die Separation komplexer Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Ann. 85 (1922), 49-59.
 - 6. On the separation and computation of complex roots of algebraic equations, Univ. Colorado Studies 16 (1928), 75–87. §41
 - 7. On the complex roots of algebraic equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 41 (1935), 809-843. §§41, 44

KIMURA, K.

1. Ueber die Nullstellen von den Polynomen und den Potenzreihen, Tôhoku Math. J. 35
(1932), 233-236.§§32, 33

KLEIN, F.

KNESER, H.

^{1.} Über lineare Differentialgleichungen der zweiten Ordnung, Göttingen, 1894; pp. 211–218. §9

KLINGENBERG, W.

^{1.} Die Anzahl der Nullstellen eines Polynoms in Gebieten mit stückweise rationalen Randkurven, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 7 (1956), 304–316. §38

^{1.} Zur Stetigkeit der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung, Math. Z. 48 (1942), 101-104. §1

 KOEHLER, F.
 1. Bounds for the moduli of the zeros of a polynomial, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 414-419.

KOENIG, J. F.

- 1. On the zeros of polynomials and the degree of stability of linear systems, J. Appl. Phys. 24 (1953), 476-482. §40
- Којіма, Т.
 - 1. On a theorem of Hadamard's and its application, Tôhoku Math. J. 5 (1914), 58. §30
- 2. On the limits of the roots of an algebraic equation, Tôhoku Math. J. 11 (1917), 119–127. §30 Königsberger, L.
 - 1. Ueber die Abgrenzung der Lösungen einer algebraischen Gleichung, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 26 (1908), 343-359. §27
- KONONENKO, V. O.

 A form of the Routh-Hurwitz criteria, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Otd. Tehn. Nauk Meh. Mašinostr. 1960, no. 4, 125–128. (Russian) §40 Koshliakov, N. S.

- 1. On a class of transcendental equations, Messenger of Math. 55 (1926), 132-135. §37 KRALL, A. M.
 - 1. An extension and proof of the root-locus method, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. 9 (1961), 644-653. §40

KRAWTCHOUK, M.

- 1. Démonstration de la continuité des racines des équations algébriques, Mémoir. Sci. Kief. 2 (1924), 71. (Ukranian) §1
- 2. Note sur la distribution des racines des polynômes derivés, Enseignement Math. 25 (1926), 74-77. §6

KREIN, M.

1. On the theory of symmetric polynomials, Rec. Math. Moscow 40 (1933), 271–283. (Russian. German summary) \$43

KREIN, M. and NEIMARK, M.

- Über eine Transformation der Bezoutiante die zum Sturmsche Satze führt, Comm. Inst. Sci. Math. Mécan. Univ. Kharkoff (10) 4 (1934), 33-39.
- 2. The method of symmetric and Hermitian forms in the theory of the distribution of roots of algebraic equations, Kharkov, 1936. (Russian) §§40, 43
- KRISHNAIAH, P. V.

1. On Kakeya's theorem, J. London Math. Soc. 30 (1955), 314–319. §30 KUIPERS, L. (See also HAN, KHWAT TIK)

- 1. Note on the location of zeros of polynomials, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 53 (1950), 482-486 = Indag. Math. 12 (1950), 134-138. §17
- 2. Note on the location of zeros of polynomials II, Simon Stevin 28 (1951), 193–198. §17
- 3. Note on the location of zeros of polynomials III, Simon Stevin 31 (1957), 61-72. §18 KUIPERS, L. and SCHEELBEEK, P. A. J.

1. Zeros of functions of a quaternion variable, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 62 = Indag. Math. 21 (1959), 496-501. §6

KUIPERS, L. and VELDKAMP, G. R.

1. Commentary on the special case of the Gauss-Lucas theorem in the geometry of the zeros of polynomials, Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 61 = Indag. Math. 20 (1958), 430-433. §§4, 6

KUNIYEDA, M.

1. Note on the roots of algebraic equations, Tôhoku Math. J. 9 (1916), 167-173; ibid. 10 (1916), 185-188. §27

§30

KUROKAWA, R.

1. A theorem in algebra, Tôhoku Math. J. 3 (1913), 173-174.

LABORDE, H. T. See BRAUER, A.

LAGUERRE, E.

- 1. Œuvres, vol. 1, pp. 31, 48-66; 133-143; 200-202. §§10, 13, 14, 16, 37 LANDAU, E.
 - 1. Ueber den Picardschen Satz, Vierteljahrsschrift Naturforsch. Gesellschaft Zürich 51 (1906), 252-318. §§32, 34

- Sur quelques généralisations du théorème de M. Picard, Ann. École Norm. (3) 24 (1907), 179-201. §§32, 34, 35
- Abschätzung der Koeffientensumme eine Potenzreihe, Arch. Math. und Physik (3) 21 (1913), 253.
- 4. Ueber eine Aufgabe aus der Funktionentheorie, Tôhoku Math. J. 5 (1914), 97-116. §27
- Sur quelques théorèmes de M. Petrovitch relatifs aux zéros des fonctions algébriques, Bull. Soc. Math. France 33 (1905), 1-11.
- LANGE-NIELSEN, F. R.
 - Sur une généralisation du théorème de Rolle, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 170 (1920), 922–924; Norsk Math. Tidsskr 2 (1920), 97–104.
- DE LA VALLÉE POUSSIN, CH. J.
 - 1. Sur les relations qui existent entre les racines d'une équation algébrique et celles de la dérivée, Mathesis. 22 (1902), Suppl., 1-20. §5
- LAX, P. D.
 - 1. Proof of a conjecture of P. Erdös on the derivative of a polynomial, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 50 (1944), 509-513. §6
- LEAU, L.
 - 1. Note sur la continuité des racines d'une équation algébrique, Rev. Math. Spéc. 19 (1908–09), 113–114. §1
- LEDERMANN, W.
 - 1. Bounds for the greatest latent roots of a positive matrix, J. London Math. Soc. 25 (1950), 265-268. §31
- LEGEBEKE, G.
 - Sur propriété des racines d'une équation dérivée, Archives Néerland. 16 (1881), 271–278; ibid. 8 (1882), 75–80.

LEONHARD, A.

1. Neues Verfahren zur Stabilitätsuntersuchung, Arch. Electrotechnik 38 (1944), 17–28. §40 LEVIN, B. JA.

- 1. Hermite's criterion for integral functions of exponential types. I, II, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 41 (1943), 47–50; ibid. (N.S.) 41 (1943), 99–100.
 §§37, 40
- LÉVY, L.
 - 1. Extraite d'une lettre (giving a demonstration, due to M. Picard, of a Pellet type of theorem due to M. D. Mayer, Nouv. Ann. 10); Nouv. Ann. (3) 11 (1892), 147-148. §28

2. Sur la possibilité de l'équilibre électrique, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 93(1881), 706-708. §31 LIÉNARD, A. and CHIPART, M. H.

- Sur le signe de la partie réele des racines d'une équation algébrique, J. Math. Pures Appl. (6) 10 (1914), 291-346; C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 157 (1913), 691-694; ibid. 157 (1913), 837-840.
- Liénard, A.
 - 1. Conditions pour qu'une équation algébrique ait toutes ses racines négatives ou à partie réelle négative, Rev. Math. Spéc. 21 (1911), 153–155. §40
 - 2. Signe de la partie réele des racines d'une équation algébrique, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 15 (1936), 235-250. §40

LINFIELD, B. Z.

- 1. On certain polar curves with their application to the location of the roots of the derivatives of a rational function, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 25 (1923), 239–258. §4
- On the relation of the roots and poles of a rational function to the roots of its derivative, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (1921), 17-21.

LIOUVILLE, M. J.

1. Extension du théorème de Rolle aux racines imaginaires, J. Math. Pures Appl. (2) 9 (1864), 84-88. §5

LIPKA, S.

- 1. Ueber die Abgrenzung der Wurzeln von algebraischen Gleichungen, Acta. Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 3 (1927), 73–80. §66
- Zur Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen mit positiven Koefficienten, Acta. Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 5 (1931), 69–77.
- 3. Eine Verallgemeinerung des Rouchéschen Satzes, J. Reine Angew. Math. 160 (1929), 143-150. §1

- 4. On a generalization of Rolle's Theorem, Acta. Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 6 (1933), 180-183. §23
- 5. Über Abzählung der reelen Wurzeln von algebraischen Gleichungen, Math. Z. 47 (1941), 343–351. §41
- Über die Lage der Wurzeln von algebraischen Gleichungen, Monatsh. Math. Phys. 50 (1941) 125–127.
- 7. Ueber ainige Sätze von Zeichenwechsel, Math. Naturwiss. Anz. Ungar. Akad. Wiss. 60 (1941), 70-82. §41

LOEWY, A.

 Algebraische Gleichungen, Pascal's Repertorium der höheren Mathematik, Vol. 1, pp. 337–357, Leipzig, Berlin, 1910.
 §§27, 34, 37, 38

LOMNICKI, A.

- 1. Sur les méthodes qui servent à limiter supérieurement les modules des racines des équations algébriques, Enseignement Math. 23 (1924), 84–91. §27
- Loria, G.
 - 1. Curve Piane Speciali, Algebriche e Trascendenti, Ch. XV, Geometria dei polinomi, Vol. 1, pp. 513-527, Ulrico Hoepli, Milano, 1930. §5
- Luroth, J.
 - 1. Bemerkungen über die Auflösung der trinomischen Gleichungen, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 27 (1909), 393-401. §35

LUCAS, F.

- Propriétés géométriques des fractions rationnelles, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 77 (1874), 431-433; ibid. 78 (1874), 140-144; ibid. 78 (1874), 180-183; ibid. 78 (1874), 271-274. Sur une application de la méchanique rationnelle a à la théorie des équations, ibid. 89 (1879), 224-226. §6
- 2. Géométrie des polynômes, J. École Polytech. (1) 46 (1879), 1-33. §5

§5

§44

- 3. Statique des polynômes, Bull. Soc. Math. France 17 (1888), 2-69. §§5, 6 MACDONALD, H. M.
- 1. The zeros of Bessel's functions, Proc. London Math. Soc. 29 (1898), 575-584. MACDUFFEE, C. C.
 - 1. Some applications of matrices in the theory of equations, Amer. Math. Monthly 57 (1950) 154–161. §31

MACLANE, G. R.

1. On a conjecture of Erdös, Herzog and Piranian, Michigan Math. J. 2 (1953-54), 147-148.

MACMILLAN, R. H. See Fuller, A. T.

MAHLER, K.

- 1. An application of Jensen's formula to polynomials, Mathematika 7 (1960), 98-100. §27
- 2. On the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, Proc. Roy. Soc. Ser. A 264 (1961), 145-154. §27
- 3. On some inequalities for polynomials in several variables, J. London Math. Soc. 37 (1962), 341-344. §14
- 4. On two extremum properties of polynomials, Illinois J. Math. 7 (1963), 681-701. §16

5. A remark on a paper of mine on polynomials, Illinois J. Math. 8 (1964), 1-4. §16 MAKAI, E. and TURÁN, P.

 Hermite expansion and distribution of zeros of polynomials, Magyar Tud. Akad. Mat. Kutató Int. Közl. 8 (1963), 157-163.

MALIK, M. A.

 On extremal properties of the derivatives of polynomials and rational functions, Canad. Math. Bull. 7 (1964), 121-131.

MALO, E.

1. Note sur les équations algébriques dont toutes les racines sont réeles, J. Math. Spéc. (4) 4 (1895), 7–10. §16

MALUSKI, A.

 Sur la continuité des racines d'une équation algébrique, Bull. Soc. Math. France 37 (1909), 33-57.

MANSION, P.

1. Sur l'extension du théorème de Rolle aux racines imaginaires des équations algébriques, Ann. Soc. Sci. Bruxelles 13 (1888), 42–45. §§5, 6 MARCUS, M. and MINC, H.

- 1. A survey of matrix theory and matrix inequalities, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, 1964. §31 MARDEN, M. (See also BONSALL, F. F.)
 - 1. On the roots of the derivative of a polynomial, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 14 (1928), 726-727. §21
 - 2. Zero-free regions of a linear partial fraction, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 32 (1929), 363-370. §8
 - 3. On the zeros of linear partial fractions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 32 (1930), 81-109. §§18, 21
 - 4. On the zeros of certain rational functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 32 (1930), 658-668.
 - 5. On Stieltjes polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 33 (1931), 934-944.
 - 6. A rule of signs involving certain orthogonal polynomials, Ann. of Math. (2), 33 (1932), 118-124. §41
 - 7. A generalization of Weierstrass' and Fekete's mean-value theorems, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 38 (1932), 434-441. §24
 - 8. Further mean-value theorems, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 39 (1933), 750-754.
 - 9. The location of the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, Amer. Math. Monthly 42 (1935), 277–286. §§1, 23
 - 10. On the zeros of the derivative of a rational function, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 42 (1936), 400-405. §§17, 18, 21
 - Kakeya's problem on the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 45 (1939), 355-368.
 - 12. The zeros of certain composite polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 49 (1943), 93-100. §16
 - A note on the zeros of sections of a partial fraction, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 51 (1945), 935-940.
 - 14. A note on lacunary polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 54 (1948), 546-549. §§16, 34, 35
 - 15. A refinement of Pellet's theorem, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 54 (1948), 550-557. §§29, 30
 - 16. The number of zeros of a polynomial in a circle, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 34 (1948), 15-17. §§42, 43, 44
 - The zeros of certain real rational and meromorphic functions, Duke Math. J. 16 (1949), 91-97.
 - On the derivative of an entire function of finite genre, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 34 (1948), 405–407.
 - On the zeros of rational functions having prescribed poles, with applications to the derivative of an entire function of finite genre, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 66 (1949), 407–418.
 - On the polynomial solutions of the generalized Lamé differential equation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 1 (1950), 492–497.
 - On the zeros of infrapolynomials for partly arbitrary point sets, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 10 (1959), 391-394.
 - 22. Location of the zeros of infrapolynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly 70 (1963), 361-371. §5
 - The critical points of a linear combination of Green's functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 107 (1963) 369–381.
 - 24. A generalization of a theorem of Bôcher, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. Ser. B: Numer. Analysis, Walsh Jubilee Volume, 3 (1966) (to appear).

MARKOVITCH (MARKOVIĆ), D.

- Sur la limite supérieure des modules des zéros des polynômes, Publ. Math. Univ. Belgrade 6-7 (1938), 36-47.
- Sur quelques limites supérieures des modules des zéros d'un polynôme, Mathematica (Cluj) 15 (1939), 8-11.
- Sur la limite supérieure des modules des racines d'une équation algébrique, Acad. Serbe Bull. Acad. Sci. Mat. Natur. A no. 6 (1939), 91–97.
- Sur la limite inférieure des modules des zéros d'un polynôme, Acad. Serbe. Sci. Publ. Inst. Math. 2 (1948), 236-242.
 §27
- 4. Sur le théorème de Grace, Premier Congrès des Mathématiciens et Physiciens de la R.P.F.Y., 1949, Vol. II, Communications et Exposés Scientifiques, pp. 67-71, Naučna Knjiga, Belgrade, 1951. (Serbo-Croatian. French summary)

§8 §9

§24

- 5. Extension d'un théorème de Hurwitz, Bull. Soc. Math. Phys. Serbie 1 (1949), no. 3-4, 113-115. (Serbian. French summary). §35
- 6. Domaines contenant le zéro du plus petit module des polynômes, Acad. Serbe Sci. Publ. Inst. Math. 3 (1950), 197-200. §33
- 7. On the composite polynomials, Bull. Soc. Math. Phys. Serbie 3 (1951), no. 3-4, 11-14. §27 MARTY, F.

1. Sur une inégalité entre les zéros d'un polynôme, Bull. Sci. Math. 56 (1932), 276-281. §\$30, 32, 33

- MASON, T. E. See CARMICHAEL, R. D.
- MEDLIN, G. W.

1. On bounds for the greatest characteristic root of a matrix with positive elements, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1953), 769-771. §31

MEIMAN, N. N. (See also ČEBOTAREV, N. G.)

- 1. On the problem of Hemrite-Hurwitz for entire transcendental functions, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 40 (1943), 46-49. §§37, 40
- On the distribution of zeros of an entire function, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 40 (1943), 179-181.
- 3. An estimation of the distance between two zeros for a class of entire functions, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 53 (1946), 11-14. §37
- 4. Some problems on the distribution of the zeros of polynomials, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 4 (1949), no. 6 (34), 154–188. (Russian) §§37, 40
- MEWBORN, A. C. See BRAUER, A.

MIGNOSI, G.

- 1. Teorema di Sturm e sue estensioni, Rend. Cir. Mat, Palermo 49 (1925), 1–164. (History, bibliography.) §§37, 38
- MINC, H. See MARCUS, M.

MINKOWSKI, H.

1. Theorie der konvexen Körper, inbesondere Begründung ihres Oberflächenbegriffs, Ges. Abhandlungen Berlin 2 (1911), 176–182. §17

Mirsky, L.

- 1. Matrices with prescribed characteristic roots and diagonal elements, J. London Math. Soc. 33 (1958), 14-21. §31
- 2. Estimates of zeros of a polynomial, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 58 (1962), 229-234. §28
- 3. Partial sums of zeros of a polynomial, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 13 (1962), 151-155. §27

MITCHELL, H. B.

1. On the imaginary roots of a polynomial and the real roots of its derivative, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 19 (1918), 43-52. §7

MITROVIĆ, D.

1. Une généralisation de certaines formules de Montel, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 256 (1963), 1212–1213. §§27, 28

MOHAMMAD, Q. G.

1. On the zeros of polynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly 69 (1962), 901–904. §27 MOND, B. and SHISHA, O.

1. Zeros of polynomials in several variables and fractional order differences of their coefficients, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards Sect. B 68 (1964), 115–118. §30

MONTEL, P.

- Sur les modules des zéros des polynômes, Ann. École Norm. Sup. (3) 40 (1923), 1-34; C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 174 (1922), 850-852; ibid. 174 (1922), 1220-1222. §\$34, 35
- Sur la limite supérieure du module des racines d'une équation algébrique, C. R. Soc. Sci. Varsovie 24 (1932), 317–326; Sur la limite supérieure des modules des zéros des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 193 (1931), 974–976.
- Sur quelques limites pour les modules des zéros des polynômes, Comment. Math. Helv. 7 (1934-35), 178-200; Sur quelques limitations pour les modules des zéros des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 199 (1934), 651-653; Sur quelques nouvelles limitations des modules des zéros des polynômes, ibid. 199 (1934), 760-762.

- 4. Sur quelques rapports nouveaux entre l'algèbre et la théorie des fonctions, Mathematica (Cluj) 9 (1935), 47–55. §28
- 5. Sur les bornes des modules des zéros des polynômes, Tôhoku Math. J. 41 (1936), 311-316. §§32, 33
- 6. Remarque sur la note précédente (Ancochea [2]), C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 221 (1945), 15. §13

7. Sur les zéros des polynômes associés à un polynôme, Acta. Sci. Math. (Szeged) 12 (1950), 131–136; Sur les zéros des polynômes à coefficients réels associés à un polynôme, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 229 (1949), 501-502. §§37, 40

MONTGOMERY, J. C.

1. The roots of a polynomial and its derivative, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 47 (1941), 621-624. §25

MORDELL, L. J.

1. On a circular region enclosing a root of an algebraic equation, J. London Math. Soc. 4 (1929), 202–204. §20

MORRIS, J.

1. The Routh and Routh-Hurwitz stability criteria. Their derivation by a novel method using comparatively elementary algebra, Aircraft Engrg. 33 (1961), 25-27. §40

MOTZKIN, T. S. and OSTROWSKI, A.

1. Über den Fundamentalsatz der Algebra, S-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. (1933), 255-258. **§**5

- MOTZKIN, T. S. and WALSH, J. L.
 - 1. On the derivative of a polynomial and Chebyshev approximation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1953), 76-87. 85
 - 2. Least pth power polynomials on a real finite point set, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 78 (1955), 67-81; Least pth power polynomials on a finite point set, ibid. 83 (1956), 371-396. §§4, 5 §5
 - 3. Underpolynomials and infrapolynomials, Illinois J. Math. 1 (1957), 406-426.
 - 4. Location of zeros of infrapolynomials, Compositio Math. 14 (1959), 50-70 §§5, 6, 19
 - 5. Polynomials of best approximation on a real finite point set. I, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 43 (1957), 845–846; Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 91 (1959), 231–245. §7
 - 6. Polynomials of best approximation on an interval. II, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 48 (1962), 1533–1537. §5

NAKAHARA, T.

- 1. A covariant of three circles, Tôhoku Math. J. 23 (1924), 97.
- NAVOT, I.
 - 1. A simple geometrical and physical relation between the zeros of Hurwitz polynomials and the zeros of their even and odd parts, IRE Trans. CT-9 (1962), 189-190. §37

NEIMARK, YU. I.

- 1. On the problem of the distribution of the roots of polynomials, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR (N.S.) 58 (1947), 357-360. (Russian) **§40**
- 2. The structure of the D-decomposition of a space of polynomials and the diagrams of Vyšnegradskii and Nyquist, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 59 (1948), 853-856; The structure of the D-decomposition of the space of quasi-polynomials and the diagrams of Vyšnegradskii and Nyquist, ibid. 60 (1948), 1503-1506. (Russian) §§37, 40

NEIMARK, M. See KREIN, M.

NEKRASSOFF, P.

1. Über trinomische Gleichungen, Math. Ann. 29 (1887), 413-430.

VON NEUMANN, J. L. See FEKETE, M.

NIVEN, I. See ERDÖS, P.

NOVOSELOV, V. S.

1. Necessary and sufficient conditions that the roots of a polynomial not have positive real parts and that the multiplicity of the zero and imaginary roots not exceed a given number, Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 33 (75) (1953), 215–218. (Russian) §40

OBREŠKOV (OBRECHKOFF), N.

- 1. Sur un problème de Laguerre, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 117 (1923), 102-104. §16
- 2. Über die Wurzeln von algebraischen Gleichungen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 33 (1924), 52-64. **§**41
- 3. Über einige Multiplikatoren in der Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 35 (1926), 301-304. §41

§22

§35

- 4. Sur les racines des équations algébriques, Tôhoku Math. J. 38 (1933), 93-100. §20
- 5. Sur les polynômes univalents, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 198 (1934), 2049-2050.
- 6. Über algebraische Gleichungen die nur Wurzeln mit negativen Realteilen besitzen, Math. Z. 45 (1939), 747-750. §§37, 40 **§16**

§23

- 7. Sur les zéros des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 209 (1939), 1270-1272.
- 8. Sur les zéros des dérivées des fonctions rationnelles, C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. Math. Nat. 1 (1948), no. 2-3, 5-8. §§8, 18, 19, 20
- 9. Generalization of Descartes' theorem on imaginary zeros, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 85 (1952), 489–492. (Russian) **§41**
- 10. Sur les racines des équations algébriques, Annuaire [Godišnik] Fac. Sci. Phys. Math. Univ. Sofia, Livre 1, Partie II, 47 (1952), 67–83. (Bulgarian. French summary) §41
- 11. Sur une généralization du théorème de Poulain et Hermite pour les zéros réels des polynômes réels, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 12 (1961), 175-184. (Russian summary); Sur quelques théorèmes pour les zéros des polynômes réels, Bulgar. Akad. Nauk. Izv. Mat. Inst. 4 (1960), no. 2, 17-41. (Bulgarian. Russian and French summaries); Sur le théorème de Hermite et Poulain, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 249 (1959), 21-22. §16
- 12. Verteilung and Berechnung der Nullstellen reeler Polynome, VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin, 1963. §§6, 7, 15, 16, 37–40
- 13. Some algebraic covariants and zeros of polynomials, Bulgar. Akad. Nauk. Izv. Mat. Inst. 7 (1963), 89–126. (Bulgarian. Russian and French summaries) §13

OCCHINI, L.

- 1. Ein Verfahren zur getrennten Berechnung der Real- und Imaginärteile der Nullstellen eines Polynomes, Arbeitsgruppe für elektronische Rechenanlagen der T. H. München, Mitteilung No. 7/Reihe M, 1954. §38
- Beitrag zu Walls Verfahren der getrennten Berechnung von Real- und Imaginärteilen der Nullstellen eines Polynoms, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 36 (1956), 139-145. (English, French and Russian summaries) §40

OCCHIPINTI, R.

- 1. Su alcune semplici relazioni fra le radici di una equazione algebrica e quelle della derivata, Giorn. Mat. 48 (1910), 244-252. §4
- O'DONNELL, R. E. See GOODMAN, R. E.

OISHI, K.

1. On the roots of an algebraic equation $f + k_1 f' + \cdots + k_n f^{(n)} = 0$, Tôhoku Math. J. 20 (1922), 1–17. §18

OKADA, Y.

ONICESCU, O.

1. The total number of zeros and poles in the system of a complex variable, Sci. Rep. Tokyo Kyoiku Daigaku Sect. A 5 (1956), 158-162. **§1**

ORLANDO, L.

- 1. Sui problema di Hurwitz relativo alle parti reali delle radici di un equazione algebrica, Math. Ann. 71 (1912), 233-245. §40
- 2. Sopra alcuni polinomii definite, considerati da Hurwitz, Atti. Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. (5) 22 (1913), 213–215; ibid. 191 (1910), 801–805; ibid. 192 (1910), 317–321, 430–435; ibid. 20 (1911), 742-745. **§40**

OSTROWSKI, A. M. (See also MOTZKIN, T. S.)

- 1. Sur la continuité relative des racines d'équations algébriques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 209 (1939), 777–779; Recherches sur la méthode de Graeffe et les zéros des polynômes et des séries de Laurent, Acta. Math. 72 (1940), 99-155; Chapitres III et IV, ibid. 72 (1940), 157-257; Addition à notre mémoire: "Recherches sur la méthode de Graeffe et les zéros des polynômes et des séries de Laurent," ibid. 75 (1943), 183-186. §§1, 28
- 2. On a theorem of J. L. Walsh concerning the moduli of routs of algebraic equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 47 (1941), 742-746. §28
- 3. Mathematische Miszellen. XXIV. Zur relativen Stetigkeit von Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 58 (1956), Abt. 1, 98-102. §1

^{1.} On some algebraic equations whose roots are real and distinct, Tôhoku Math. J. 14 (1918), 328-333. §37

^{1.} Sur les zéros de certains polynômes, Mathematica (Cluj) 1 (1929), 141-145. §35 ONO, I.

- 4. Über das Nichtverschwinden einer Klasse von Determinanten und die Lokalisierung der charakteristischen Wurzeln von Matrizen, Compositio Math. 9 (1951), 209-226. §31
- 5. Bounds for the greatest latent root of a positive matrix, J. London Math. Soc. 27 (1952), 253-256. §31
- 6a. Note on bounds for determinants with dominant principal diagonal, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1952), 26-30. §31
- 6b. Über die Stetigkeit von charakteristischen Wurzeln in Abhängigkeit von Matrizenelementen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 60 (1957), Abt. 1, 40-42. §§1, 31
- 7a. Über einige Sätze von Herrn M. Parodi, Math. Nachr. 19 (1958), 331-338. §28
- 7b. Über Eigenwerte von Produkten Hermitescher Matrizen, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 23 (1959), 60-68. §31
- 8. A quantitative formulation of Sylvester's law of inertia, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 45 (1959), 740–744. §31
- 9. On an inequality of J. Vicente Gonçalves, Univ. Lisboa Revista Fac. Ci. A. 8 (1960), 115-119. §28
- 10. Solutions of equations and systems of equations, Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. IX, Academic Press, New York, 1960. §§1, 31
- 11. On some conditions for nonvanishing of determinants, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1961), 268-273. §31
- 12. Note on a theorem by Hans Schneider, J. London Math. Soc. 37 (1962), 225-234. §31
- 13. On positive matrices, Math. Ann. 150 (1963), 276-284.
- 14. Positive matrices and functional analysis Recent advances in matrix theory, (Proc. Advanced Seminar, Math. Res. Center, U. S. Army, Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1963), pp. 81-101, Univ. of Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wis., 1964. §31
- OSTROWSKI, A. M. and SCHNEIDER, H.
 - 1. Bounds for the maximal characteristic root of a non-negative irreducible matrix, Duke Math. J. 27 (1961), 547-553. §31

PAPADEMETRIOS, J. G.

1. On the upper limit of the modulus of p zeros of a polynomial, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 16 (1935), 10–13. (Greek) §28

PARKER, W. V.

1. Characteristic roots and the field of values of a matrix, Duke Math. J. 15 (1948), 439-442.

§31 2. Characteristic roots of a set of matrices, Amer. Math. Monthly 60 (1953), 247-250. §31 PARODI, M.

- 1. La localisation des valeurs caractéristiques des matrices et ses applications, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1959. (Convenient reference for papers appearing before 1959 on characteristic roots of matrices.) §31
- 2a. Condition suffisante pour que tous les zéros finis de la dérivée du rapport de deux polynômes d'Hurwitz solent à partie réelle négative; applications aux matrices H, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 239 (1954), 147–149. §40 §40
- 2b. Sur les polynômes d'Hurwitz, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 238 (1954), 1466-1467.
- 3. Sur la localisation des zéros des polynômes lacunaires, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 82 (1958), 67-72; see also Complément à un travail sur les polynômes lacunaires, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 247 (1958), 908–910. §34
- 4. Sur quatre méthodes d'étude des zéros des polynômes, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 82 (1958), 106-107. §31
- 5. Sur les matrices stochastiques, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 249 (1959), 1436-1437. §31
- 6. Sur la localisation des racines des équations réciproques, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 83 (1959), 21-23; see also C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 248 (1959), 902-904. §§27, 31
- 7. Sur la détermination d'une borne supérieure des zéros d'un polynôme, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 250 (1960), 1953-1954. §30
- 8. Sur la localisation des zéros des polynômes dont les coefficients ont des valeurs voisines, Bull. Sci. Math. (2) 84 (1960), 65-73. §17
- 9. Sur une méthode de localisation des zéros d'un polynôme, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 245 (1962), §31 1903-1904.
- 10. Sur une généralisation d'un résultat antérieur, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 255 (1962), 2874-2875.

§31

§34

- 11. À propos du problème de Landau-Montel, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 255 (1962), 1839. **§**34
- 12. Sur un procédé de formation d'une matrice dont les valeurs propres sont les zéros d'une combinaison linéaire, à coefficients constant, de polynômes récurrents, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 256 (1963), 3796–3798. §§17, 31

PASSAQUINDICI, M.

- 1. Sulla stabilità dei polinomi e delle matrici, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 13 (1959), 77-88. §40
- PASTOR, J. R. See REY PASTOR, J.

PAVLIDIS, T. See JURY, E. I.

- PELLET, M. A.
 - 1. Sur un mode de séparation des racines des équations et la formule de Lagrange, Bull. Sci. Math. 5 (1881), 393–395. §28
 - 2a. Sur la racine de plus petit module des équations, Bull. Sci. Math. 48 (1924), 265-267. §34
 - 2b. Théorèmes sur les équations, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 178 (1923), 1254-1255.
 - §34 2c. Un nouveau théorème sur les équations, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 178 (1923), 1416-1417.

§34

PERRON, O.

1. Algebra, Vol. II, Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1951. §31

PETROVIČ (PETROVICH), M.

- 1. Théorème sur la nombre des racines d'une équation algebrique comprises à l'intérieur d'une circonférence donnée, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 129 (1899), 583-586, 873-875. §43
- 2. Remarque sur les zéros des séries de Taylor, Bull. Soc. Math. France 29 (1901), 303-312. §27
- 3. Sur une suite de fonctions rationnelles rattachées aux équations algébriques, Bull. Soc. Math. France 36 (1908), 141–150. §43
- 4. Equations algébriques et transcendantes dépourvues de racines réelles, Bull. Soc. Math. France 41 (1913), 194–206. §43

PETTERSON, E. L.

1. Eine obere Grenze der Gradzahlen ganzer rationaler Funktionen als Folgerung funktionentheoretischer Beziehungen, Ark. Mat. Astronom. Fys. 34B (1947) no. 3, 1-8. §27

PHILLIPS, R. S. See HILLE, E.

PIRANIAN, G. See ERDÖS, P.

PÓLYA, G.

- 1. Sur un théorème de Stieltjes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 155 (1912), 767-769. <u>89</u>
- 2. Über Annäherung durch Polynome deren samtliche Wurzeln in einem Winkelraum fallen, Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen Math.-Phys. Kl. 1913, 326-330. **§**41
- 3. Über das Graeffesche Verfahren, Z. Math. und Phys. 63 (1914), 275-290. §40
- 4. Sur les opérations fonctionnelles linéaires échangeable avec la dérivation et sur les zéros des polynômes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 183 (1926), 413-414. §§6, 17
- 5. Über die algebraisch-funktionentheoretischen Untersuchungen von J. L. W. V. Jensen, Mat.-Fys. Medd. Danske Vid. Selsk. 7 (1927), 1-33. §7
- 6. Über einem Satz von Laguerre, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 38 (1929), 161-168. §16
- 7. Some problems connected with Fourier's work on transcendental equations, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 1 (1930), 21-34. §7
- 8. Remarks on Weyl's note "Inequalities between the two kinds of eigenvalues of a linear transformation," Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 36 (1950), 49-51. §31

PÓLYA, G. and SCHUR, I.

1. Über zwei Arten der Faktorfolgen in der Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 144 (1914), 89–113. §17

PÓLYA, G. and SZEGÖ, G.

1. Aufgaben und Lehrsatze aus der Analysis, Vol. II, Springer, Berlin, 1925; pp. 56-66, 242-253. §§6, 9, 10, 12–20, 23, 27, 34, 35

POPKEN, J.

1. On the irrationality of π , Math. Centrum Amsterdam. Rapport ZW 1948-014 (1948), 5 pp. (Dutch) §40

Ρορονιςιυ, Τ.

1.	Remarques ser les équations algébriques dont les équations dérivées ont toutes les racin réelles, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 200 (1935), 184–186.	es 23
2.	Sur un problème de maximum de Stieltjes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 202 (1936), 1645-164	7. §9
Porter	R, M. B.	
1a.	On a theorem of Lucas, Proc. Nat. Acad. U. S. A. 2 (1916), 247-248.	<u></u> 36
1b.	Note on Lucas' theorem, Proc. Nat. Acad. U. S. A. 2 (1916), 335-336.	<u>\$</u> 6
Radó,	Τ.	
1.	On the roots of algebraic equations, Mat. Fiz. Lapok 28 (1921), 30-37. (Hungaria	n) 28
RAHMA	NN, Q. I.	
1.	On the zeros of a class of polynomials, Proc. Nat. Inst. Sci. India Part A 22 (1956), 137-13	9. 28
2.	The influence of coefficients on the zeros of polynomials, J. London Math. Soc. 36 (196) 57-64.	I), 17
RALJEV	nć. Š.	
1.	Sur une droite et sur un segment caractéristique dans les polygones des zéros des polynôme Srpska Akad. Nauk. Zb. Rad. 35 Mat. Inst. 3 (1953), 89-94. (Serbo-Croatian. Frend summary)	<i>:s</i> , ch 86
2.	Remarque sur un théorème de M. Marden, Srpska Akad. Nauk. Zb. Rad. 55 Mat. Inst. (1957), 69-72. (Serbo-Croatian. French summary)	6 44
RAYMO	ond, FH.	
1.	Remarque sur la stabilité en connexion avec les valeurs propres d'une matrice, C. R. Aca Sci. Paris 228 (1949), 1564–1565. §§31,	.d. 37
REDHE	ffer, R. M.	
1.	The fundamental theorem of algebra, Amer. Math. Monthly 64 (1957), 582–585.	§1
REUTT	er, F.	
1.	Die Werteverteilung ganzer rationaler Funktionen, Jber. Deutsch. MathVerein. : (1941), 258–282.	51 §4
Rey P.	astor, J. (Pastor, J. R.)	
1.	On complex roots of algebraic equations, Rev. Mat. HispAmer. (2) 6 (1931), 129-15 (Spanish) §	ю. 40
RICHAI	rd, J.	
1.	Continuité des racines d'une équation, Rev. Math. Spéc. 10 (1900), 499-500.	§1
Rober	tson, M.	
1.	A note on schlicht polynomials, Trans. Roy. Soc. Canada (3) 26 (1932), 43-48. §	23
Rogos	INSKI, W.	
1.	Ueber positive harmonische Entwicklungen und typisch-reelle Potenzreihen, Math. Z. (1932), 93–121. §	35 40
Roseni	BLOOM, P. C.	
1.	Distribution of zeros of polynomials, Lectures on functions of a complex variable, Un of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor, Mich., 1955; pp. 265–285.	iv. 43
ROUCH	ié, E.	
1.	Mémoire sur la série de Lagrange, J. Ecole Polytech. 22 (1862), 217–218.	§1
R оитн 1.	t, E. J. A treatise on the stability of a given state of motion, Macmillan, London, 1877; pp. 1–10)8.
2.	\$\$36, 37, Dynamics of a system of rigid bodies, 6th ed., Pt. II, pp. 221 et seq., Macmillan, Londo \$\$36, 37.	38 m, 38
Dunny	1905. 33 50, 57,	
КОВІ М: 1.	Analytic methods in the study of zeros of polynomials, Pacific J. Math. 13 (1963), 237–24	9. 28
2.	Some results on the location of the zeros of polynomials, Pacific J. Math. 15 (196: 1391-1395	5), 27
3.	Some results in the location of the zeros of linear combinations of polynomials, Trans Amer. Math. Soc. 116 (1965), 1–8.	15. 17

4. Some inequalities for polynomials and their zeros, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1965), 72-75. §15

RUBINSTEIN, Z, and WALSH, J. L.

1. On the location of the zeros of a polynomial whose center of gravity is given, J. Analyse Math. 12 (1964), 129-142. §15

RUDNICKI, J.

- 1a. Remarque sur un théorème de Mr. Walsh, Bull. Acad. Roumaine 7 (1934), 527-529. §27
- 1b. Sur un théorème de Mr. J. L. Walsh, Ann. Soc. Polon. Math. 11 (1933), 14-18. §27
- 1c. Remarque sur un théorème de Mr. Walsh, Mathematica (Cluj) 8 (1934), 136-138. §27 RUSEV, P.
 - 1. Über die Verteilung der Nullstellen einer Klasse ganzer Funktionen, C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. 14 (1961), 7-9. (Russian summary) §17

SALIHOV, N. P.

- 1. Bounds for the zeros of a polynomial, Vestnik Moskov. Univ. Ser. I Mat. Meh. 1962, no. 4, 13-16. (Russian. English summary) §27
- On the solution of an algebraic equation by N. I. Lobačevskii, Vestnik Moskov. Univ. Ser. I Mat. Meh. 1962, no. 3, 24–33. (Russian. English summary) §28
- SAMUELSON, P. A.

1. Conditions that the roots of a polynomial be less than unity in absolute value, Ann. Math. Statist. 12 (1941), 360-364. §43

SANIELEVICI, S.

- 1. On the problem of Hurwitz, Acad. R. P. Romine Bul. Sti. A 1 (1949), 543-550. (Romanian. Russian and French summaries) §40
- SARANTOPOULOS, S.
- 1. Sur un théorème de M. Landau, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 174 (1922), 591-592. §34 Schaake, G. and van der Corput, J. G.
 - 1. Ungleichungen für Polynome und trigonometrische Polynome, Compositio Math. 2 (1935), 321-361; Berichtung, ibid. 3 (1936), 128. §6
- SCHAEFFER, A. C. and SZEGÖ, G.

1. Polynomials whose real part is bounded on a given curve in the complex plane, Amer. J. Math. 62 (1940), 868-876. §6

SCHEELBEEK, P. A. J. (See also KUIPERS, L.)

1. On the geometry of zeros of a class of functions of a quaternion variable, Techniche Hogeschool te Delft, Delft, 1960, 79. (Dutch summary) §§6, 7, 17

SCHMIDT, E.

1. Die asympottische Bestimmung des Maximums des Integrals über das Quadrat der Ableitung eines normierten Polynomes, Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Sitzungsber, Phys. Math. Kl. (1932), 321.

- SCHMIDT, H.
 - 1. Bemerkung zu der Arbeit von L. Cremer: Ein neues Verfahren zur Beurteilung der Stabilität linearer Regelungs-Systeme, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 28 (1948), 124–125.

§§37, 38, 40

§41

2. Zur Frage, ob alle Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung einen negative Realteil haben (Stabilitätsfrage), Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 30 (1950), 382–384. §40

SCHMUTZ, O.

- 1. Koeffizientenbedingungen zur Kontrolle des Dämpfungsgrades bei Ausgleichvorgängen (verallgemeinerte Hurwitzbedingungen), Ing.-Arch. 21 (1953), 33-41; errata, ibid. 22 (1954), 293. §§36, 41
- SCHNEIDER, H. (See also Ostrowski, A. M.)
 - 1. An inequality for latent roots applied to determinants with dominant principal diagonal, J. London Math. Soc. 28 (1953), 8-20. §31
 - 2. Regions of exclusion for the latent roots of a matrix, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 320-322. §31
 - 3. Note on the fundamental theorem on irreducible non-negative matrices, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. 11 (1958/59), 127-130. §31
 - 4. Recent advances in matrix theory, Univ. of Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wisc., 1964.

§31

SCHOENBERG, I. J.

- 1. Extensions of theorems of Descartes and Laguerre to the complex domain, Duke Math. J. 2 (1936), 84-94. §41
- 2. A note on multiply positive sequences and the Descartes rule of signs, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (2) 4 (1955), 123-131. §41

SCHULZ, W.

- 1. Bemerkung zu einer Abhandlung von Herrn Takahashi, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 45 (1935), 172–180. §27
- 2. Zur Lage der Nullstellen von Polynomen mit reellen positiven Koeffizienten, Deutsche Math. 1 (1936), 633-635. §30
- SCHUMACHER, K. S.
 - 1. Ueber das asymptotische Verhalten der Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung mit zielstrebigen Koeffizienten, Arch. Math. 2 (1950), 267–272. §1
- SCHUR, I. (See also POLYA, G.)
 - Zwei Sätze über algebraische Gleichungen mit lauter reellen Wurzeln, J. Reine Angew. Math. 144 (1914), 75-88.
 - Über Potenzreihen, die in Innern des Einheitskreises beschränkt sind, J. Reine Angew. Math. 147 (1917), 205–232; Über Polynome, die nur in Innern des Einheitkreis verschwinden, ibid. 148 (1918), 122–145.
 - Über algebraische Gleichungen, die nur Wurzeln mit negativen Realteilen besitzen, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 1 (1921); 307-311.
 - Untersuchungen über algebraische Gleichungen. I. Bemerkungen zu einem Satz von E. Schmidt, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Sitzungsber. 7/10 (1933), 403–428.
 - 5. Über die charakteristischen Wurzeln einer linear Substitution mit Anwendung auf die Theorie der Integralgleichungen, Math. Ann. 66 (1909), 488-510. §31

SCHURRER, A.

1. On the location of the zeros of the derivative of rational functions of distance polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1958), 100–112. §§20, 21

SEGRE, B.

- 1. Intorno ad un teorema di Kakeya, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. 12 (1933), 123–130. §30
- 2. Sulla teoria delle equazioni algebriche a coefficienti reali, Mem. Accad. Ital. 5 (1934), 323-346. §30

SERGESCU, P.

- 1. Sur le module minimum des zéros de l'équation trinome, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 181 (1925), 762-763. §35
- 2. Quelques propriétés des polynômes, C. R. Soc. Sci. Varsovie 24 (1932), 310-316. §§27, 28 SERRET, J. A.
 - 1. Cours d'algèbre supérieure, Vol. I, 7th ed., Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1928; pp. 118-132, 276-297. §37

SHAPIRO, H. S.

1. On a class of extremal problems for polynomials in the unit circle, Portugal. Math. 20 (1961), 67–93. §6

SHERMAN, S.

1. Generalized Routh-Hurwitz discriminant, Philos. Mag. (7) 37 (1946), 537-551. §§40, 41 SHERMAN, S., DIPOALA, J. and FRISSEL, H. F.

1. The simplification of flutter calculations by use of an extended form of the Routh-Hurwitz discriminant, J. Aeronaut. Sci. 12 (1945), 385-392. §40

- SHISHA, O. (See also CARGO, G. T. and MOND, B.)
 - 1. A remark on Fejér's theorem on the convex hull of a point-set, Riveon Lematematika 9 (1955), 75-77. (Hebrew. English summary) §5
 - An extension of Jensen's theorem for the derivative of a polynomial and for infrapolynomials, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards Sect. B 66B (1962), 53-55.
 - 3. On the structure of infrapolynomials with prescribed coefficients, Pacific J. Math. 14 (1964), 1039–1051. §5

SHISHA, O. and WALSH, J. L.

1. The zeros of infrapolynomials with some prescribed coefficients, J. Analyse Math. 9 (1961/62), 111-160. §5

- 2. The zeros of infrapolynomials with prescribed values at given points, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 14 (1963), 839-844. §5
- 3. Extremal polynomials and the zeros of the derivative of a rational function, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 (1964), 753-758. §§5, 20
- 4. On the location of the zeros of some infrapolynomials with prescribed coefficients, Pacific J. Math. 14 (1964), 1103–1109. §5

SIEBECK, J.

1. Ueber eine neue analytische Behandlungweise der Brennpunkte, J. Reine Angew. Math. 64 (1864), 175. §4

SINDEN, F. W.

- 1. Ein Oszillationssatz für algebraische Eigenwertprobleme, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 5 (1954), 86-88. §31
- An oscillation theorem for algebraic eigenvalue problems, Mitt. Inst. Angew. Math. Zürich No. 4 (1954), 57 pp. §31

SINGH, S. K.

1. On the zeros of a class of polynomials, Proc. Nat. Inst. Sci. India 19 (1953), 601-603. §27

SOULA, J.

1. Sur les relations qui existent entre les racines d'une équation algébrique de degré n et l'equation dérivée de degré n - 2, Mathematica Timișoara 19 (1943), 60–66. §4

SOURIAU, J. M. See HERRMANN, A.

SPECHT, W.

- 1. Wurzelabschätzungen bei algebraischen Gleichungen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 49 (1940), 179–190. §27
- 2. Abschätzungen der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Z. 52 (1949), 310-321. §28
- Untersuchungen über die Wurzelverteilung algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Nachr. 4 (1951), 126–149.
- 3. Abschätzung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen. II, Math. Z. 53 (1950), 357–363. §30
- 4. Abschätzung der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen. III, Math. Z. 63 (1955), 324-330. §30

§27

§27

§18

- 5. Die Lage der Nullstellen eines Polynoms, Math. Nachr. 15 (1956), 353-374.
- 5a. Die Lage der Nullstellen eines Polynoms II, Math. Nachr. 16 (1957), 257–263.
- 6. Die Lage der Nullstellen eines Polynoms. III, Math. Nachr. 16 (1957), 369-389.
- Algebraische Gleichungen mit reellen oder komplexen Koeffizienten, Enzyklopädie der mathematischen Wissenschaften: Mit Einschluss ihrer Anwendungen, Bd. I, 1, Heft 3, Teil II, Teubner, Stuttgart, 1958.
- 8. Eine Bermerkung zum Satze von Gauss-Lucas, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 62 (1959), Abt. 1, 85–92. §6
- 9. Zur Verteilung der Nullstellen komplexer Polynome, Math. Nachr. 21 (1960), 109–126. §31
- 10. Die Lage der Nullstellen eines Polynoms. IV, Math. Nachr. 21 (1960), 201-222. §18
- 11. Nullstellenschranken für Polynome, J. Reine Angew. Math. 204 (1960), 35-40. §§27, 29

1. On the nature of the curves whose intersections give the imaginary roots of an algebraic equation, Trans. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh 30 (1882) part II. §5 Springer, T. A. See DE BRUIJN, N. G.

STEIN, P. R.

1. A note on the bounds of the real parts of the characteristic roots of a matrix, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards 48 (1952), 106-108. §31

STIELTJES, T. J.

- 1. Sur la fonction rationnelle entière d'une variable complex, Arch. Néerland. 18 (1885), 1-19. §5
- Sur certains polynômes qui verifient une équation différentielle, Acta Math. 6-7 (1885), 321-326.
 STONER, W. J.
 - 1. Theorem on the zeros of polynomials, Proc. Iowa Acad. Sci. 58 (1951), 311-312. §27

^{12.} Zur Werteverteilung der Polynome, J. Reine Angew. Math. 212 (1963), 73-79. §27 SPRAGUE, T. B.

SU, B.

1. Note on a theorem of Fekete, Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo 3 (1937), 118–121. §24 SULLIVAN, C. T.

1. A rational transformation of the complex plane with applications to the roots of polynomials, Trans. Roy. Soc. Canada (3) **30** (1936), 31-39. §§15, 16

- Über Hermitesche Formen mit rekurrierrender Determinante und über rationale Polynome, Math. Z. 11 (1921), 23-57.
- SZEGÖ, G. (See also Pólya, G. and SCHAEFFER, A. C.)
 - Bemerkungen zu einem Satz von J. H. Grace über die Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Math. Z. 13 (1922), 28–55.
 §§15, 16, 17, 18, 23
 - 2. Zwei Extremalaufgaben über Abbildungen, die durch Polynome vermittelt sind, Acta Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 5 (1932), 237–245. §5
 - Bemerkungen zu einem Satz von E. Schmidt über algebraische Gleichungen, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Sitzungsber. 8 (1934), 86–98.
 - Orthogonal polynomials, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. Vol. 23, rev. ed., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R. I., 1959.
- SZEGÖ, G. and ZYGMUND, A.

1. On certain mean values of polynomials, J. Analyse Math. 3 (1954), 225–244. §24 SZMYDTÓWNA, Z.

1. Sur les racines caractéristiques et sur les directions caractéristiques de certaines matrices, Ann. Soc. Polon. Math. 22 (1949), 235–240. §31

- 1. Ueber geometrische Relationen zwischen den Wurzeln einer algebraischen Gleichung und ihrer Derivierten, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 27 (1918), 44–48. §6
- Ueber die Lage der Wurzeln von linearen Verknüpfungen algebraischer Gleichung, Acta Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 1 (1923), 127–138.
- 3. Zur Theorie der algebraischen Gleichungen, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 31 (1922), 238-251. §7
- 4. Ueber einen Satz von M. Fekete, Jber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. 32 (1924), 307-309. §24
- 5. Ueber die Lage der Nullstellen der Derivierten eines Polynoms, Tôhoku Math. J. 35 (1932), 126-135. §§6, 26
- 5a. Ueber die Lage der Nullstellen gewisser Minimal- und Extremalpolynome, Acta Litt. Sci. (Szeged) 6 (1932–34), 49–58.
- 6. Ueber einen Satz von Laguerre, J. Reine Angew. Math. 169 (1933), 186-192. §§13, 33
- Ueber die Lage der nichtreellen Nullstellen von reellen Polynomen und von gewissen reellen ganzen Funktionen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 170 (1934), 133–147; Zur Theorie der algebraische und gewisser transzendenten Gleichungen, ibid. 172 (1934), 25–36.
- 8. Über die Nullstellen gewisser rationaler Funktionen, Tôhoku Math. J. 41 (1936), 415–422. §8
- 9. Verallgemeinerung eines Satzes von Jentzsch, Monatsh. Math. Phys. 51 (1943), 59–62. §8
- Generalization of certain theorems of Szegö on the location of the zeros of polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947), 1164–1169.
- Die Lage der A-Stellen eines Polynoms bezüglich seiner Nullstellen, Acta Univ. Szeged. Sect. Sci. Math. 11 (1947), 147–151.
- 12. Die Polarkreise eines Punktes in bezug auf ein Polynom, Portugal. Math. 7 (1948), 51-57. §§14, 33
- Ein elementargeometrischer Satz und seine Anwendung in der Geometrie der Polynome, Math. Naturwiss. Anz. Ungar. Akad. Wiss. 61 (1942), 776–785.
- Die Nullstellen des Büschels von Polynomen, Math. Naturwiss. Anz. Ungar. Akad. Wiss. 61 (1942), 786–808.
- Der Wertvorrat von Polynomen in gewissen Bereichen, Math. Naturwiss. Anz. Ungar. Akad. Wiss. 62 (1943), 1-12. (Hungarian. German summary) §8
- Sätze über die Lage von Nullstellen, Math. Naturwiss. Anz. Ungar. Akad. Wiss. 61 (1942), 1–13. (Hungarian. German summary) §7

Szász, O.

SZ.-NAGY, G. (J. V.)

- 17. Ueber den Wertvorrat gebrochener rationaler Funktionen in Kreisbereichen, Hungarica Acta Math. 1 (1948), no. 3, 1-13. §31
- Über die Lage der Nullstellen eines Abstandspolynoms und seiner Derivierten, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 55 (1949), 329-342.
 §§6, 7, 13
- 18a. Zur Nullstellenverteilung von Extremalpolynomen, Duke Math. J. 16 (1949), 575-577. \$23
- Über rationale Funktionen, deren Nullstellen und Pole an entgegengesetzten Seiten einer Geraden liegen, Hungarica Acta. Math. 1 (1949), no. 4, 12–16.
 §8
- 20. Uber Wertverteilung gebrochener rationaler Funktionen, Comment. Math. Helv. 23 (1949), 288–293. §§17, 24
- Verallgemeinerung der Derivierten in der Geometrie der Polynome, Acta. Univ. Szeged. Sect. Sci. Math. 13 (1950), 169–178.
- 22. Sur un théorème de M. Biernacki, Ann. Soc. Polon. Math. 23 (1950), 224-229. §25
- 23. Kurzer Beweis eines Satzes über die obere Schranke der absoluten Beträge von mehreren Nullstellen ein Polynoms, Publ. Math. Debrecen 1 (1950), 251–253. §32
- Über Polynome, deren Nullstellen auf einem Kreis liegen, Acta. Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 2 (1951), 157–164.

TAJIMA, M.

1. On the roots of algebraic equations, Tôhoku Math. J. 19 (1921), 173–174. §27 TAKAGI, T.

- 1. Note on the algebraic equations, Proc. Phys.-Math. Soc. Japan 3 (1921), 175–179. §16 TAKAHASHI, SHIN-ICHI
 - 1. Einige Sätze über die Lagen der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Tôhoku Math. J. 31 (1929), 274–282. §§27, 41
 - 2. Über die Lage der Wurzeln algebraischer Gleichungen, Tôhoku Math. J. 34 (1931), 257–259. \$27
 - 3. A note on Kakeya's theorem on algebraic equations, Proc. Phys.-Math. Soc. Japan (3) 13 (1931), 287-291. §30
 - 4. On the algebraic equation whose roots lie in the unit circle, Tôhoku Math. J. 38 (1933), 262-264. §30

TALBOT, A.

1. The number of zeros of a polynomial in a half-plane, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **56** (1960), 132–147. §§38, 40

TAUSSKY, O. (Mrs. Todd)

- 1. A recurring theorem on determinants, Amer. Math. Monthly 56 (1949), 672-676. §31
- 2. Bounds for characteristic roots of matrices. I, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards 46 (1951), 124-125. §31
- 3. A generalization of a theorem of Lyapunov, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. 9 (1961), 640-643. §§31, 40
- 4. A remark on a theorem of Lyapunov, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 2 (1961), 105-107. §§31, 40
- 5. Eigenvalues of finite matrices: Some topics concerning bounds for eigenvalues of finite matrices, Survey of numerical analysis, pp. 279–297, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1962.

On the variation of the characteristic roots of a finite matrix under various changes of its elements, Recent Advances in Matrix Theory (Proc. Advanced Seminar, Math. Res. Center, U. S. Army, Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1963), pp. 125–138. Univ. Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wis., 1964.

THRON, W. J. (See Cowling, V. F.)

THROUMOLOPOULOS, L.

- 1. On the modulus of the roots of polynomials, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 23 (1948), 18-20. (Greek) §27
- 2. On the modulus of the roots of polynomials, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 24 (1949), 68-73. (Greek. French summary) §27

TODA, K.

1. On the location of the roots of linear combinations of some polynomials, J. Hiroshima Univ. 7 (1937), 141–150. §15

^{§31}

TOMIĆ, M. See also KARAMATA, J.

- 1. Généralisation et démonstration géométrique de certains théorèmes de Fejér et Kakeya, Acad. Serbe Sci. Publ. Inst. Math. 2 (1948), 146–156. §30
- Sur un théorème de L. Berwald, Srpska Akad. Nauka. Zb. Rad. 35, Mat. Inst. 3 (1953), 85–88. (Serbo-Croatian. French summary) §30

TONKOV, T. T.

1. A bound for the moduli of zeros of polynomials, Z. Vyčisl. Mat. i Mat. Fiz. 4 (1964), 748-749. (Russian) §27

Tôya, T.

- 1. Some remarks on Montel's paper concerning upper limits of absolute values of roots of algebraic equations, Sci. Rep. Tokyo Bunrika Daigaku A 1 (1933), 275–282. §27
- Tsuji, M.
 - 1. Algebraic equation whose roots lie in a unit circle or in a half-plane, Proc. Japan Acad. 21 (1945), 313-320. §§37, 42

TURÁN, P. (See also ERDÖS, P. and MAKAI, E.)

- 1. Ueber die Ableitung von Polynomen, Compositio Math. 7 (1939), 89–95. §42
- 2. Remark on a theorem of Fejér, Publ. Math. Debrecen 1 (1949), 95-97.
- Sur l'algèbre fonctionnelle, C. R. Premier Congrès des Mathématiciens Hongrois, 1950, 267-290, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1952, 1952. (Hungarian and French. Russian summary) §34
- 4. Hermite-expansion and strips for zeros of polynomials, Arch. Math. 5 (1954), 148-152. §27

5. Remark on the zeros of characteristic equations, Publ. Math. Debrecen 4 (1956), 406-409.

TUTSCHKE, W.

1. Eine Bemerkung zu einer Abschätzung von O. Zaubek für die Nullstellen von Polynomen, Math. Nachr. 25 (1963), 331–333. §1

UCHIDA, Y.

- 1. On the relation between the roots of f(z) = 0 and f'(z), Tôhoku Math. J. 10 (1916), 139–141
- 2. On the roots of an algebraic equation of the form $f + k_1 f' + k_2 f'' + \cdots + k_n f^{(n)} = 0$, Tôhoku Math. J. 14 (1918), 325-327. §18.

UCHIYAMA, S.

1. Sur les sommes de puissances des nombres complexes, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 9 (1958), 257–278. §1

Ullman, J. L.

1. On a theorem of Frobenius, Michigan Math. J. 1 (1952), 189-193. §31

VAHLEN, K. T.

1. Wurzelabzählung bei Stabilitätsfragen, Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 14 (1934), 65-70. §§36, 40

VAN VLECK, E. B.

- 1. On the polynomials of Stieltjes, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1898), 426-438.
- 2. A sufficient condition for the maximum number of imaginary roots of an equation of the nth degree, Ann. of Math. 4 (1903), 191–192. §40
- 3. On the limits to the absolute values of the roots of a polynomial, Bull. Soc. Math. France 53 (1925), 105–125. §§33, 34
- 4. On the location of the roots of polynomials and entire functions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 35 (1929), 643-683. §§6, 7, 15, 16, 23

VAROPOULOS, TH.

- 1. Le théorème de Lucas, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 13 (1932), 27–28. §6
- 2. On a theorem of Wulsh, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 23 (1947), 1–2. (Greek) §27 VARŠAVSKII, L. A.
- 1. On conditions of stability of linear systems, Ž. Tehn. Fiz. 21 (1951), 907–919. §40 VELDKAMP, G. R. See KUIPERS, L.

VERMES, R.

- 1. On Wronskians whose elements are orthogonal polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 (1964), 124-126. §24
- 2. On the zeros of a linear combination of polynomials, Pacific J. Math. 16 (1966) (to appear).

§§17, **2**4

§44

§31

§6

<u>§</u>9

VICENTE GONÇALVES, J.

- 1. L'inégalité de W. Specht, Univ. Lisboa Revista. Fac. Ci. A Ci. Mat. (2) 1 (1950), 167-171. §28
- 2. Quelques limites pour les modules des zéros d'une polynôme, Univ. Lisboa Rebista Fac. Ci. A (2) 6 (1957), 83–121. §27
- 3. Recherches modernes sur les limites des racines des polynômes, Univ. Lisboa Revista Fac. Ci. A (2) 7 (1958), 57-88. §§27-34, 40

VIJAYARAGHAVAN, T.

1. On a theorem of J. L. Walsh concerning the moduli of zeros of polynomials, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Sect. A 16 (1942), 83-86 **§28**

VILENKIN, N. YA.

1. On an estimate of the largest eigenvalue of a matrix, Moskov. Gos. Ped. Inst. Učen Zap. 108 (1957), 55–57. (Russian) §31

VINCZE, I.

1. On a theorem of Eneström-Kakeya, Mat. Lapok 10 (1959), 127-132. (Hungarian. Russian and English summaries) §30

VIOLA, T.

- 1. Sulle equazioni algebriche a coefficienti reali, Rend. Accad Sci. Fis. Mat. Napoli (4) 8 (1938), 76–83; Sulle equazioni algebriche a coefficienti reali, la cui radici hanno parti reali esteine o non interne a un determinato intervallo, ibid. 9 (1939), 15-20. §40
- 2. Sui determinanti di Hurwitz d'un'equazione algebrica, i cui coefficienti sono polinomi dipendenti da quanti si vogliono parametri reali, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. (3) 4 (1949), 40-45. §40

DE VRIES, J.

1. Involutions cubique dans le plan complexe, Rend. Cir. Mat. Palermo 5 (1891), 290. <u></u>§4 VUILLE, C.

1. Sur les zéros des polynômes hypergéométriques et des polynômes de Stieltjes, Thèse, École Polytech. Fédéral de Zurich, (1916), pp. 62-75. §9

VYTHOULKAS, D. P.

- 1. On a theorem of Walsh, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 23 (1948), 15-17. (Greek) §27
- 2. On the modulus of roots of polynomials, Bull. Soc. Math. Grèce 23 (1947), 2-14. (Greek)
- §27 3. On the minimum modulus of a root of a polynomial, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1954), 797-798. §34

VAN DER WAERDEN, B. L.

- 1. Einführung in die algebraische Geometrie, p. 48, J. Springer, Berlin, 1939. §1 §14
- 2. Modern algebra, Vol. I, Ungar, New York, 1949.

WALL, H. S.

1. Polynomials whose zeros have negative real parts, Amer. Math. Monthly 52 (1945), 308-322. §§38, 40.

- WALSH, J. L. (See also FEKETE, M.; MOTZKIN, T. S.; RUBINSTEIN, Z. and SHISHA, O.)
 - 1. On the location of the roots of the Jacobian of two binary forms, and of the derivative of a rational function, (a) Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 19 (1918), 291-298; (b) ibid. 22 (1921), 101–116; (c) ibid. 24 (1922), 31–69. §§7, 20, 22
 - 2a. On the location of the roots of the derivative of a polynomial, C. R. Congr. Internat. des Mathématiciens, Strasbourg, 1920; pp. 339-342; §19
 - 2b. Sur la position des racines des dérivées d'un polynome. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 172 (1921), 662-664. §19
 - 3a. A theorem on cross-ratios in the geometry of inversion, Ann. of Math. 23 (1921), 45-51. §22
 - 3b. Some two-dimensional loci connected with cross ratios, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 23 §22 (1922), 67–88.
 - 3c. A certain two-dimensional locus, Amer. Math. Monthly 29 (1922), 112-114. §22
 - 3d. A generalization of normal congruences of circles, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 28 (1922), 456-462 §22
 - 3e. A theorem on loci connected with cross-ratios, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 46 (1922), 1-13.

§22 §22

3f. Some two-dimensional loci, Quart. J. Pure Appl. Math. 50 (1927), 154-165.

236

- 4. On the location of the roots of the derivative of a rational function, Ann. of Math. 22 (1920), 128-144. §§4, 7
- 5. On the location of the roots of the derivative of a polynomial, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 8 (1922), 139-141. §21
- 6. On the location of the roots of certain types of polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (1922), 163–180. §§15, 17, 18
- 7. An inequality for the roots of an algebraic equation, Ann. of Math. 25 (1924), 285-286. §27
- 8. On the location of the roots of Lamé's polynomials, Tôhoku Math. J. 23 (1924), 312-317.
- § §9, 22 9. On the location of the roots of polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 30 (1924), 51-62.
- \$18 10. On Pellet's theorem concerning the roots of a polynomial, Ann. of Math. 26 (1924–25), 59–64; C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 176 (1923), 1361–1363. \$28, 34
- Sur la position des racines des fonctions entière de genre zero et un, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 180 (1925), 2009–2011.
- 12. Note on the locatian of the roots af a polynomial, Math. Z. 24 (1926), 733-742. §16
- Note on the location of the roots of the derivative of a polynomial, Bull. Soc. Sti. Cluj (Roumaine) 7 (1934), 521-526; Mathematica (Cluj) 8 (1934), 185-190.
- 14. Note on the location of zeros of the derivative of a rational function whose zeros and pales are symmetric in a circle, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 45 (1939), 462–470. §7
- Note on the location of the zeros of the derivative of a rational function having prescribed symmetry, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 32 (1946), 235–237.
- 16. Papers studying the critical points of harmonic functions partly by application of some results on the zeros of the derivative: (a) Nate on the lacation of the critical points of Green's function, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 39 (1933), 775-782; (b) Note on the location af the critical points af harmonic functions, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 23 (1937), 166-169; (c) Lennniscates and equipotential curves of Green's function, Amer. Math. Monthly 42 (1935), 1-17; (d) Nate on the curvature of orthogonal trajectories of Green's function, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 23 (1937), 166-169; (e) Note on the curvature of orthogonal trajectories of level curves of Green's functions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 44 (1938), 520-523; and (f) Nate on the curvature of orthogonal trajectories of Green's functions. III, ibid. 46 (1940), 101-108.
- On the location of the zeros of the derivatives of a polynomial symmetric in the origin, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 54 (1948), 942–945.
- Critical points of harmonic functions as positive of equilibrium in a field of force, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 34 (1948), 111–119.
- On the critical points of functions possessing central symmetry on a sphere, Amer. J. Math. 70 (1948), 11–21.
- The location of critical points of analytical and harmonic functions, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. Vol. 34, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R. 1., 1950.
- Note on the location of the critical points of a real rational function, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1951), 682–685.
- Note on the location of zeros of extremal polynomials in the non-euclidean plane, Acad. Serbe Sci. Publ. Inst. Math. 4 (1952), 157–160.
- A generalization of Jensen's theorem on the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, Amer. Math. Monthly 62 (1955), 91–93.
- On infrapalynomials with prescribed constant terms, J. Math. Pures Appl. 37 (1958), 295-316.
- On the asymptotic properties of extremal polynomials with prescribed constant term, Math. Z. 73 (1960), 339–345.
- A new generalization of Jensen's theorem on the zeros of the derivative of a polynomial, Amer. Math. Monthly 68 (1961), 978–983.
- Asymptotic properties of polynomials with auxiliary conditions of interpolation, Ann. polon. Math. 12 (1962), 17–24.
- A generalization of Fejér's principle concerning the zeros of external polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 14 (1963), 44–51.
- Restricted infrapolynomials and trigonometric infrapolynomials, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 49 (1963), 302–304.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

30. Theorem of Grace on the zeros of polynomials, revisited, Proc. Amer, Math. Soc. 15 (1964), 354-360. §15
31. Geometry of the zeros of the sums of linear functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 114 (1965), 30-39.
32. The location of the zeros of the derivatives of a rational function, revisited, J. Math. Pures Appl. 43 (1965), 353-370. §20
WALSH, J. L. and EVANS, J. P. 1. Note on the distribution of zeros of extremal polynomials, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 40 (1954), 332-337.
WALSH, J. L. and ZEDEK, M. 1. On generalized Tchebycheff polynomials, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 42 (1956), 99-104.
WEBER, H.
Wegner, U.
1. Reinarque sur les valeurs propres des matrices, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 228 (1949), 1200. §43
WEINBERG, L. 1. Test for zeros in the unit circle, J. Appl. Phys. 24 (1953), 1251–1252. §43 WEINBERG J.
1. On the regional location of the roots of certain functions, Tôhoku Math. J. 44 (1937), 175– 177
2. Moduli of the roots of polynomials and power series, Amer. Math. Monthly 48 (1941), 33-36.
3. Polynomials whose roots lie in a sector, Amer. J. Math. 64 (1942), 55-60. §§6, 16 4. Roots of certain classes of polynomials, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 48 (1942), 283-286. §16
1. A new bound for the zeros of polynomials, Amer. Math. Monthly 40 (1933), 18–23. §27 WEVI H
 1. Inequalities between two kinds of eingenvalues of a linear transformation, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 35 (1949), 408-411. §31
1. Unzerlegbare, nicht negative Matrizen, Math. Z. 52 (1950), 642–648. §31
1. A stability criterion for numerical integration, J. Assoc. Comput. Mach. 6 (1959), 363–365. 842
2. Perron-Frobenius theory and the zeros of polynomials, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1961), 247-250. §31
3. Some applications of the inequality of the arithmetic and geometric means to polynomial equations, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 14 (1963), 263-265. §6
1. The distribution of the roots of a complex polynomial equation, Ministry of Supply (London), Aeronaut. Res. Council, Rep. and Memoranda no. 2238 (9323), 1946. §41
 WILLIAMS, K. P. 1. Note concerning the roots of an equation, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 28 (1922), 394–396. §27
Wolfe, J. See Chamberlin, E. Yuam, M. M. See Cotton, E.
 ZAJAC, E. E. 1. Bounds on the decay rate of damped linear systems, Quart. Appl. Math. 20 (1962/63), 383-384.
 ZAUBEK, O. 1. Über eine Abschätzung der Fehlers der Nullstellen ganzrationaler Funktionen einer komplexen Veränderlichen mit fehlerhaften Koeffizienten, Math. Nachr. 25 (1963), 319–329.
ZEDEK, M. (See also WALSH, J. L.)
Soc. 16 (1965), 78–84. §§1, 17

238

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ZERVOS, S.

- Une méthode de minoration des valeurs absolues des zéros des séries de Taylor, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 245 (1957), 394-396.
- 2. Sur la minoration des valeurs absolues des zéros des séries de Taylor, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 245 (1957), 619–622. §28
- 3. Généralisation de la notion de "domaine circulaire" du plan complexe; applications, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 246 (1958), 2706–2709. §12
- 4. Sur la localisation des zéros des séries, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 249 (1959), 219-221. §28
- 5. Aspects modernes de la localisation des zéros des polynômes d'une variable, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3) 77 (1960), 303-410. §14

ZMOROVIČ, V. A.

- On bounds for roots of algebraic polynomials, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 11 (1956), no. 5 (71), 179-183. (Russian)
- 2. On the theory of the distribution of the zeros of algebraic polynomials, Izv. Vysš. Učebn. Zaved. Matematika 1959, no. 4 (11), 56–63. §28

ZNÁM, Š.

1. A remark on the theorem of Eneström-Kakeya, Acta Fac. Nat. Univ. Comenian. 7 (1963), 623–627. (Slovak. Russian and German summaries) §20

ZYGMUND, A. See SZEGÖ, G.

INDEX

abstract hermitian symmetric, 56, 59, 94 homogeneous polynomial, vii, 55, 56, 59, 63, 94 spaces, 55, 63, 94 algebraically closed field, 55-58, 94 analytic theory of polynomials, vii, ix annular region, 68, 145 apolar polynomials, 60, 61, 62, 64, 66, 80 Banach space, 65 Bernstein's Theorem, 23, 55, 59 Bessel norm, 14 polynomial, 14 Bézout resultant, 200 bicircular quartic, 97, 100, 101, 105 binary forms Jacobian, 94, 103 Bôcher's Theorem, 94, 95 Bolzano's Theorem, 112 Cassini oval, 145 Cauchy indices. x, 168, 169 center of force, 51 centroid, 16, 33, 51, 53, 75 characteristic polynomial, 167 characteristic roots, 140-146, 190 circular region, 48, 49, 52, 55, 56, 57, 61, 66, 69, 74, 75, 80, 82, 87, 89, 92, 94-96, 98, 100, 102 closed field, algebraically, 55, 94 Coincidence Theorem, 62, 89, 98 companion matrix, 140, 144 complex masses, 33, 37, 75 composite polynomials, 65-72 conics, 9, 79 continued fraction, 173 continuity of zeros, 3, 5, 141, 148 convex domain, 23 hull, 16, 19, 22-25, 87 of critical points, 21 point-set, 75 region, 24, 30, 32, 34, 36, 41, 62, 66, 73, 74, 83, 84, 86, 89, 110-112, 115, 116, 117, 118

sector, 1, 84, 193 critical points convex hull of, 21 of G(x, y), 9, 24, 28 of a polynomial, 13, 22, 106, 107 of a real polynomial, 25, 28 cross-ratio, 102 derivative of a rational function, 93, 96, 102 Descartes' Rule of Signs, 122, 191-193 determinant sequences, 174 differential equations, 36-42 distance polynomial, 25, 29, 55, 101 domain, convex, 23 dynamic stability, 166 electromagnetic field, 33 elementary symmetric functions, 60, 62 ellipse, 9, 35, 39-41, 78 Eneström-Kakeya Theorem, 136, 137, 139, 197 entire function, 4, 24, 87, 105, 118, 164 equilateral hyperbola, 28, 29, 78 equilibrium point(s), 8, 9, 33, 37, 42, 48, 50, 95 extremal polynomials, 14 Fejér sum, 74 field algebraically closed, 55, 58, 94 of force, 8, 22, 33, 37, 41, 42, 45, 48, 50, 166 first polar, 48, 56, 94 foci of the conic, 9, 79 of the curve of class p, 11 force fields complex masses, 33, 37, 41, 75 covariant, 45 inverse distance law, 7, 8, 33, 37, 45, 46 Newtonian, 8 spherical, 46 Fundamental Theorem of Algebra, x Gauss Theorem, 8, 22 gear-wheel region, 130, 133

generalized stochastic matrix, 146

INDEX

Grace-Heawood Theorem, 107 Grace's Theorem, 61, 63, 66, 73, 107 Green's function, 8, 24, 28 Hadamard's Theorem, 140 Hermite polynomials, 42, 87, 125 Hermitian symmetric forms, 56, 94, 200 abstract, 59 Hilbert space, 65 Hölder inequality, 124, 151 homogeneous co-ordinates, 45 homogeneous polynomial, abstract, 55, 56-59, 63, 64, 94 hull, convex, 16, 19, 22-25, 87 Hurwitz('s) Criterion, 181, 186 polynomials, 181, 187, 188 Theorem, x, 4, 24, 148, 165 hyperbola, 9, 78 equilateral, 28, 29, 92 hyperbolic non-Euclidean (N.E.) plane, 36 incompressible fluid, 8 infrapolynomial(s), vii, 13, 15, 18, 19, 23, 25, 27, 36, 92, 110, 116 restricted, 19, 88 Interpolation Formula, Lagrange, 15, 18 interpolation polynomial, Newton, 59 invariant, 45, 48, 93 inverse distance law, 7, 8, 33, 45, 46 Jacobian of binary forms, 94, 103 Jensen('s) circles, 25, 26, 27, 28, 40 Formula, 73, 129 Theorem, 26, 29, 39-41 Jordan curve, 2, 5, 24, 28, 34 Kakeya-Eneström Theorem, 136, 137, 139, 197 Lacunary polynomial(s), 110, 134, 138, 147, 153, 155, 159, 160, 163 Lagrange Interpolation Formula, 15, 18 Laguerre's Theorem, 50, 51, 53, 57, 95 Lamé differential equation, 36-42 Legendre polynomials, 41 lemniscate, 8 lens-shaped regions, 35 limaçon, Pascal, 67 linear combination(s), 32, 62, 78, 82, 101 of a polynomial and its derivative. 81, 101 of polynomials, 74 of the products of the derivatives, 84 linear relation, 61, 66, 163

linear transformations, 43, 48 line-co-ordinates, 11 Lucas Theorem, 22-25, 30, 33, 41, 48, 49, 53, 66, 89, 113, 158, 162 lune, 71 matrix, companion, 140 matrix methods, vii, 139-146 Mean-Value Theorem, 33, 91, 110 meromorphic function, 86, 118 monotonically increasing norm, 14 nth polar, 56, 59, 65 nearest polynomials, 20 Newton('s) formulas. 6 interpolation polynomial, 59 Newtonian field, 8 non-Euclidean (N.E.) plane, hyperbolic, 36 orthogonal polynomials, 125 orthogonality relations, 16 orthonormal polynomials, 127 p-circular 2p-ic curve, 97, 103 p-valent, 121 functions, 117 parabola, 9 partial fractions, 7 Pascal limaçon, 67 Pellet's Theorem, 128, 130, 132, 147 Picard's Theorem, 147, 164 point-set, convex, 75 polar first, 56, 94 nth, 56, 59, 65 polar derivative, 44, 48, 49, 52, 55, 92 polynomial abstract homogeneous, vii, 55, 56, 59, 94 lacunary, 10, 134, 138, 153-165 nearest, 207 self-inversive, 201, 204, 205 Poulain-Hermite Theorem. 29 Principle of Argument, ix, 1, 27, 189 quadratic forms, 171 quadrinomial, 147, 165 quaternion variable, 27 region, star-shaped, 31, 32 restricted infrapolynomial, 19, 88 resultant of two polynomials, 201 ring, 68, 69 Rolle's Theorem, x, 6, 21, 26, 45, 107 roots, characteristic, 140-146

242

INDEX

Rouche's Theorem, 2, 3, 4, 5, 128, 170, 194, 195 Schur-Cohn Criterion, 198 Schwarz inequality, 129 sectors, 70, 130, 189, 191, 193 self-inversive polynomial, 201, 204, 205 sources, 8 spaces abstract, 94 n-dimensional, 16 spherical force field, 46, 50 stability, 166, 194 stagnation points, 8 star-shaped region, 31, 32, 34, 110, 111, 116, 117 stereographic projection, 46 Stieltjes integrals, 111 polynomial, 37, 38, 41, 42, 105 stochastic matrix, generalized, 146 Sturm sequences, 171, 172, 191 theorem, 191 support-function, 75

supportable set, 63 symmetric forms functions, elementary, 60, 62 Hermitian, 56, 94 *n*-linear, 56, 58

Tchebycheff norm, 13, 20 polynomial, 14, 19 trinomial equation, 80, 147, 165

underpolynomial, 13 univalent function, 110

Van Vleck polynomial, 37, 38, 41 Vandermonde determinant, 17 vector spaces, 55, 63, 94 velocity field, 33 vortex source, 33

Walsh's Cross-Ratio Theorem, 102 Two-Circle Theorem, 89 Wronskian determinant, 113

zeros, continuity of, 3, 5, 148